
Notice of Meeting

HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD

Tuesday, 15 January 2019 - 6:00 pm
Conference Room, Barking Learning Centre, 2 Town Square, Barking, IG11 7NB

Date of publication: 7 January 2019 Chris Naylor
Chief Executive

Contact Officer: Alan Dawson
Tel. 020 8227 2348

E-mail: alan.dawson@lbbd.gov.uk

Membership

Cllr Maureen Worby 
(Chair)

LBBD (Cabinet Member for Social Care and Health Integration)

Dr Jagan John Barking & Dagenham Clinical Commissioning Group

Elaine Allegretti LBBD (Director of People and Resilience)

Cllr Evelyn Carpenter LBBD (Cabinet Member for Educational Attainment and School 
Improvement)

Bob Champion North East London NHS Foundation Trust

Matthew Cole LBBD (Director of Public Health)

Det. Insp. John Cooze Metropolitan Police 

Dr Nadeem Moghal Barking Havering & Redbridge University NHS Hospitals Trust

Sharon Morrow Barking & Dagenham Clinical Commissioning Group

Cllr Margaret Mullane LBBD (Cabinet Member for Enforcement and Community Safety)

Cllr Lynda Rice LBBD (Cabinet Member for Equalities and Diversity)

Nathan Singleton Healthwatch - Lifeline Projects Ltd.



Standing Invited Guests

Cllr Eileen Keller LBBD (Chair, Health Scrutiny Committee)

Stephen Norman London Fire Brigade

Brian Parrott Independent Chair of the B&D Local Safeguarding Adults Board

vacant London Ambulance Service

Ian Winter CBE Independent Chair of the B&D Local Safeguarding Children 
Board

Vacant NHS England London Region 



AGENDA
1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declaration of Members' Interests  
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Members of the Board are asked 
to declare any interest they may have in any matter which is to be considered 
at this meeting.

3. Minutes - To confirm as correct the minutes of the meeting on 7 
November 2018 (Pages 3 - 6) 

BUSINESS ITEMS 

4. Barking Riverside: Developing the health and care model and 
specification for a Health and Wellbeing Hub (Pages 7 - 8) 

5. Health-Based Places of Safety (Pages 9 - 236) 

6. Borough Data Explorer: Opportunities for improved analytical capacity 
for health and wellbeing (Pages 237 - 238) 

7. Update on 'Breezie' Pilot Project (Pages 239 - 246) 

8. Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 2023 (Pages 247 - 263) 

9. Integrated Care Partnership Update (Pages 265 - 289) 

STANDING ITEMS 

10. Forward Plan (Pages 291 - 299) 

11. Any other public items which the Chair decides are urgent  

12. To consider whether it would be appropriate to pass a resolution to 
exclude the public and press from the remainder of the meeting due to 
the nature of the business to be transacted.  

Private Business

The public and press have a legal right to attend Council meetings such as the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, except where business is confidential or certain 
other sensitive information is to be discussed.  The list below shows why items 
are in the private part of the agenda, with reference to the relevant legislation 
(the relevant paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 as amended).  There are no such items at the time of preparing 
this agenda.

13. Any other confidential or exempt items which the Chair decides are 
urgent  



This page is intentionally left blank



Our Vision for Barking and Dagenham

ONE BOROUGH; ONE COMMUNITY;
NO-ONE LEFT BEHIND

Our Priorities

A New Kind of Council

 Build a well-run organisation 
 Ensure relentlessly reliable services
 Develop place-based partnerships

Empowering People

 Enable greater independence whilst protecting the most 
vulnerable

 Strengthen our services for all
 Intervene earlier

Inclusive Growth

 Develop our aspirational and affordable housing offer
 Shape great places and strong communities through 

regeneration
 Encourage enterprise and enable employment

Citizenship and Participation

 Harness culture and increase opportunity
 Encourage civic pride and social responsibility
 Strengthen partnerships, participation and a place-based 

approach

Page 1

Agenda Annex



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Wednesday, 7 November 2018
(6:00  - 8:03 pm)

Present: Cllr Maureen Worby (Chair), Dr Jagan John (Deputy Chair), Elaine 
Allegretti, Cllr Evelyn Carpenter, Bob Champion, Matthew Cole, DI John Cooze 
and Nathan Singleton.  

Also Present: Cllr Eileen Keller and Ian Winter. 

Apologies: Sharon Morrow, Cllr Margaret Mullane and Cllr Lynda Rice, Stephen 
Norman and Brian Parrott.

24. Declaration of Members' Interests

There were no declarations of interest.

25. Minutes (5 September 2018)

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 September 2018 were confirmed as correct.

26. Update on Working Together 2018 and the Annual Report of the Barking and 
Dagenham Safeguarding Children Board

The Board received a report from Ian Winter, Independent Chair of the Local  
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) which included a presentation on the 
approach to the Board’s Annual Report for 2017/18, which in a change of direction 
will incorporate details of the core activities planned for 2018/19 and beyond. He 
referred to the considerable support he has received from the Board and Members 
and officers of the Council in his role as the Independent Chair.
   
The presentation also covered outline proposals to develop the future 
arrangements for the Safeguarding Partnership in accordance with the ‘Working 
Together 2018’ statutory guidance issued by the Department for Education which 
incorporates some significant changes since the last guidance was published in 
2015, crucially the abolition of the requirement for Safeguarding Children Boards, 
which were to be replaced by a model of independent scrutiny.

The Director of People and Resilience pointed out there is a danger in reviewing 
the Partnership of focusing on structures rather than the purpose and aims of this 
Board. Importantly therefore the Council and its statutory partners should use this 
as an opportunity to ensure any changes do not undermine the Board’s democratic 
accountability.      

The Board support the approach being taken with the Annual Report format and 
the planned response to the duties outlined in the statutory guidance regarding 
Safeguarding Partnerships, which includes the procurement of short-term 
specialised support to deliver the programme of work. A further report on the 
progress and direction of this work will be presented to the Board in the New Year, 
prior to producing an outline of the proposed arrangements for submission to the 

Page 3

AGENDA ITEM 3



DfE by June 2019 for implementation by September 2019.   

(The Chair agreed that this item could be considered at the meeting under the 
provisions of Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972 as a matter of 
urgency in order for the Board to be appraised of the latest issues relating to the 
work of the Local Safeguarding Children Board.)

27. Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

The Board at its meeting in March 2018 endorsed the process for the Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy for 2019-2023. In September 2018 the Board were 
updated on the development work including the outcomes and measures which 
emerged from a series of workshops based on the three strategic themes, namely:    

 Best Start in Life
 Early Diagnosis and Intervention
 Building Resilience 

In total nine outcomes emerged which were presented to the Board to consider 
and prioritise. A number of observations were made and the overall view was that 
the objectives were too broad in definition and would benefit from grouping 
together, and from which specific measures could then be agreed.

Taking the above into account the Director of Public Health presented an update 
on the work to develop the Strategy, through which the Board confirmed its wish to 
include a tenth objective on Domestic Abuse. This will be an important focus, and 
the Chair emphasised that all agencies needed to be challenged, together with the 
local community to give this the priority it deserves.   

The Chair felt that the format of the Strategy is now shaping up as an easy to 
understand document with the associated measures linked to each of the 
objectives continuing to evolve. The CCG will be using it to shape its own 
approach as it works towards achieving financial sustainability over the next 2/3 
years. An update to the Board on progress in this respect will be presented in 
January 2019.    

A range of observations were made on the implementation of the Strategy as a 
way of engaging the local community. The Board sought to have the concept of 
‘trauma informed’ approaches clarified so that it was easier to understand what 
this means. Comments were also expressed on parts of the narrative of the 
document which the Director of Public Health will take onboard, in the light of 
which

The Board resolved to approve the draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
2019-2023, as set out at Appendix 2 to the report, for an eight-week period of 
public consultation, subject to the inclusion of a tenth outcome of ‘Domestic Abuse’ 
as well as a number of word changes as highlighted at the meeting. 

28. Ending Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy 2018-2022

Following approval to the content of the above Strategy by the Corporate Strategy 
Group and in the light of a consultation with the Community Safety Partnership the 

Page 4



Board received a report and presentation from the Domestic Abuse Commissioner.  
The Strategy has been developed through a number of stakeholder workshops, 
survivor engagement and testimony and supported by the Council’s Delivery Unit 
who undertook a priority review specific to domestic abuse.

The Borough is regarded as the “worst” in London for domestic violence, a 
message regularly borne out in statistics, but a headline narrative that also raises 
concerns for victims and may dissuade them from reporting abuse. The strategy 
highlights four priorities namely:

 Support Survivors
 Educate and Communicate
 Challenge Abusive Behaviours
 Include Lived Experience

The strategy promotes a gender informed approach to improve outcomes for all 
people including those who identify outside of the gender binary, underpinned by 
trauma informed ways of working.

If this strategy is to succeed it is vital to address what is seen as fragmentation in 
dealing with domestic violence amongst the various agencies, namely the Council, 
the Police and Health including GP’s. Furthermore, one of the major factors 
compounding the issue concerns isolation and therefore how this is tackled in the 
community will be important. In this respect it was suggested that the Board reach 
out to the faith sector to help deal with the complexities of the associated cultural 
issues.  

The Commissioning Director, Adults’ Care and Support, indicated in his 
introduction that the work had run in parallel with the development of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy, and its focus on resilience, and that this  highlighted the extent 
to which domestic violence, and violence against women and girls were 
fundamental to the challenges faced by many people in the Borough. Therefore, 
the strategy was not presented for adoption in the conventional way by all partner 
agencies, but instead what was sought was an indicative approval, a commitment 
to implementing it, and then to receive a further draft with a strong commissioning 
plan which could have the greater impact that was sought.    

The Chair confirmed that she will be making a public statement at the forthcoming 
White Ribbon event calling for a programme of positive action to end domestic 
violence.   

Accordingly, the Board resolved to recommend:

(i) that implementation of the Ending Violence Against Women and Girls 
Strategy 2018 – 2022, as set out at Appendix A to the report begins, and 
pending the refinements that will follow from the agreement of the more 
ambitious Health & Wellbeing Strategy; and 

(ii) that partner organisations also take the steps necessary to ensure that they 
are implementing the strategy and supporting the development of the 
Commissioning Plan through their individual organisational arrangements.

Page 5



29. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2018

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2018 is based upon presentations given to 
three themed workshops which informed the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
in July 2018, which has provided the evidence base for the 2019-2023 Strategy.  

A further report and presentation updated demographic and health data in the 
context of the draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023. The 
presentation focused on three findings to example how the JSNA will support the 
commissioning of services, namely population growth, domestic violence and 
mental health. Three specific questions around these areas were highlighted which 
generated a debate at the meeting, in the light of which the Board resolved to:

(i) Approve the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2018, as set out at 
Appendix A to the report;

(ii) Agree that the findings of the JSNA should be taken into account in the 
development of strategies and the appraisal of strategies developed by 
partner organisations; and

(iii) Support the commissioning of services by partner organisations that align 
with the JSNA findings.

30. Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Framework Performance Report - Q2 
2018/19

The Board were presented with the dashboard of performance information for the 
second quarter (end of September 2018) upon which the Director of Public Health 
highlighted a number of specific positive indicators. 

31. Sub-Group Reports

The Board received and noted the report of the Mental Health Sub-Group including 
details of the actions and priorities for the coming period.

32. Chair's Report

The Board received and noted the Chair’s report which included:

(i) an update on the outcomes of the Integrated Care Partnership workshop 
which took place on 31 October, and

(ii) the success of the “Breezie” pilot to combat social isolation, a specially 
adapted tablet device handed out to more than 60 elderly residents allowing 
them easy connection with friends and family, or local services.  

33. Forward Plan

The Board received and noted the Forward Plan for the remainder of the 2018/19 
municipal year.

Page 6



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

15 January 2019

Title: Barking Riverside: Developing the health and care model and specification for a 
Health & Wellbeing Hub

Report of the Cabinet Member for Social Care & Health Integration

Open Report For Information

Report Author: 
Mark Tyson, Commissioning Director, Adults’ Care & 
Support

Contact Details:
E-mail: mark.tyson@lbbd.gov.uk

Board Sponsor:  Cllr Maureen Worby, Cabinet Member for Social Care & Health 
Integration, Chair of the Health & Wellbeing Board

Summary: 

A workshop was held for Health & Wellbeing Board members on 5 September 2018 to 
discuss the health and wellbeing outcomes sought for the Barking Riverside 
development.  This was the beginning of a five-workshop series looking at elements of 
health and care delivery and the specification for a Health & Wellbeing Hub in the new 
district centre. 

The single client brief for the Hub has been developed based on the discussions at the 
workshops and has been shared with the developers for their initial consideration.  It is 
grounded in an emerging health and care model for the locality.  There is a strong field of 
community engagement activity underway in this part of the borough, and the initial 
design brief has been shaped by involving those leading that activity, as well as a small 
number of further specific conversations with community members.  For the next phase, 
a stronger and deeper emphasis on co-production will be employed, and the initial 
approach to this work is currently being designed.  A proposed longer-term governance 
model has also been drawn up, based around the formation of the ‘Locality 4 Board’, 
which will report to the Health & Wellbeing Board, as well as groups looking at the more 
technical aspects of the development of the Healthy New Town infrastructure. 

These three elements – the design of the Health & Wellbeing Hub and the health/care 
model; the community engagement approach to be taken; and the proposals for the 
Locality 4 Board – will be the subject of a presentation by officers involved in the Barking 
Riverside development. 

Recommendation(s)

The Health & Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

(i) Note the presentation to be delivered;

(ii) Raise questions and give direction on the future development of the Barking 
Riverside Hub and the associated health and care model; 

Page 7

AGENDA ITEM 4

mailto:mark.tyson@lbbd.gov.uk


(iii) Give input to the future direction of the community engagement approach that will 
underpin future work; and

(iv) Give comment and direction on the formation of the Locality 4 Board and its 
relationship with the Health & Wellbeing Board.

Reason(s)

The Barking Riverside development is a unique opportunity to build health and wellbeing 
into a major new town in this part of London, building on its formal designation by NHS 
England as London’s only Healthy New Town.  The first stage has been to develop a 
specification for the Hub so that developers can consider the physical building 
requirements, but this is very much an initial stage, and the presentation will describe the 
important elements of a programme to ensure that the community, both existing and new, 
can shape the delivery of innovative and responsive health and care in the communities 
of Barking Riverside and Thames View. 

Page 8



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

15 January 2019

Title:  Health-Based Places of Safety 

Report of the East London Health & Care Partnership

Open Report  For Information 

Wards Affected: ALL Key Decision: No  

Report Author:  

Dan Burningham, Mental Health Programme 
Director, City and Hackney CCG

Rory McMahon, Assistant Director of 
Transformation, North East London 
Commissioning Support Unit 

Contact Details: 

dan.burningham@nhs.net 
Rory.McMahon1@nhs.net

Sponsor:  

Ceri Jacob, Managing Director of BHR CCGs 

Summary:  

In 2017, the government formally announced changes to section 136 of the Mental Health 
Act 1983 (s136 MHA), through the Policing and Crime Act 2017. These came into effect 
on 11 December 2017.  

Under these amendments, CCGs must ensure plans for the designation, and appropriate 
staffing of CCG-commissioned health-based places of safety.  A health-based place of 
safety is a space where people can be detained under Section 136 of the Mental Health 
Act and assessed. Patients are typically detained under the Mental Health act under 
Section 136 by Police, then transported to a Section 136 Suite to be assessed.

In May 2018 the Healthy London Partnership produced a pan-London business case for 
fewer, better quality health-based places of safety.  This was worked on as one of the 
workstreams of the East London Health & Care Partnership (the Sustainability & 
Transformation partnership for north east London), and the resulting proposals are set out 
in this report. 

The report has been considered by the Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee for 
Outer North East London.  Minutes of the discussion are at 
http://democracy.havering.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=19235  The committee noted the position 
and raised no strong objections. Points were raised in the discussion by representatives of 
the Metropolitan Police and the London Ambulance Service, both accepting that the 
proposals were about improving the quality of care available at places of safety, and 

Page 9

AGENDA ITEM 5

mailto:dan.burningham@nhs.net
mailto:Rory.McMahon1@nhs.net
http://democracy.havering.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=19235


increasing capacity (albeit at fewer sites).  The issues of travel time were considered and 
weighed up (favourably) against the improved quality that would be delivered. 

Given the current development of the Mental Health Strategy, which the Board is due to 
receive later in the year, it was felt useful for there to be a discussion about this 
development at the Board. 

Recommendation(s) 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

(i) Note the East London Health & Care Partnership’s report and appendices 
regarding the proposals to change health-based places of safety; 

(ii) Provide feedback to the Partnership on the proposals; and

(iii) Provide any feedback to the authors of the Mental Health Strategy on how the 
strategy might respond to this development.

 

List of Appendices:  

Appendix A: Report of the East London Health & Care Partnership on Proposals for 
Health-Based Places of Safety

Appendix B: London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Programme, Stakeholder Engagement 
Summary, July 2018, Healthy London Partnership

Appendix C: Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners, HBPoS Business Case, March 
2018, Healthy London Partnership

Page 10



APPENDIX A

SUMMARY

 
A Health-Based Place of Safety (HBPoS) is a space where people can be detained under 
Section 136 of the Mental Health Act and assessed. Patients are typically detained under 
the Mental Health act under Section 136 by Police, then transported to a Section 136 Suite 
to be assessed. 

Since 2015, Healthy London Partnership (HLP) has worked in partnership with London’s 
health and care system to develop a Pan-London business case to inform a specification 
for a new model of care for individuals detained under Section 136. 

The HLP business case proposes that the 20 existing dedicated HBPoS sites across London 
are reduced to nine hubs, each with better facilities and immediately available 24/7 
staffing on site. This includes hubs within North East London. 

The aim is to deliver:
• Better, quality, built environments that offer patients who are vulnerable or acutely 

unwell, the safety, privacy and dignity they deserve. 
 Improved capacity with more rooms being added to fewer sites, to ensure blue light 

services are turned away less often.
 Trained and experienced dedicated staffing to improve the quality and efficiency of 

assessments and the relationships between services.

The HLP business case has been subject to a North East London STP options appraisal 
which was conducted by the STP Workstream 3, with stakeholders from each of the sites. 

This paper details the options and recommendations arrived at as the result of this 
options appraisal, and the subsequent engagement process required for the 
reconfiguration of Health Based Places of Safety and Section 136 detentions, Pan-London 
and within the North East London STP.

RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is recommended that The North East London STP proceed with Option 5, a three site 
HBPoS option in the short term, located with three rooms each at Sunflower Court and 
Homerton Hospital, and one at the Newham Centre for Mental Health. This option is in 
line with the Transition Phase recommended in the HLP business case.

Page 11



After a year of operation, the option will be assessed and a view taken on whether to keep 
the Newham HBPoS, or whether to re-divert the flows and move to a two site solution: 
Homerton and Sunflower Court. 

REPORT DETAIL

Context

Section 136 detainments give the police the power to remove a person from a public place 
when they appear to be suffering from a mental disorder to a place of safety. The person 
will be deemed by the police to be in immediate need of care and control as their 
behaviour is of concern. It is important to point out that a person is not under arrest when 
the decision is made to remove the person to a place of safety, where they can be 
assessed by relevant healthcare professionals. The police power is to facilitate assessment 
of their health and wellbeing as well as the safety of other people around them. 

London’s crisis care system is under significant pressure and does not have the services or 
infrastructure to ensure people experiencing a mental health crisis under a section 136 
detainment receive timely, high-quality care that respects individual needs.

The Pan-London change and engagement process

An HBPoS options appraisal in conjunction with an extensive engagement process, was 
undertaken by the Healthy London Partnership to identify how London’s HBPoS sites 
could meet the developed specification. Over 400 Londoners with lived experience of 
Mental Health crisis and carers have been involved in developing the new model of care 
through an extensive engagement process. 

Workshops, online surveys, and patient statements have been used in order to inform the 
Options Appraisal and recommendations. 

The options appraisal identified several delivery options, with the aim of deciding on an 
optimal Pan-London place of safety configuration including:

 the required number of sites; 
 optimal capacity; and
 optimal locations across London.

The output of this process was a nine-site model. This wider, pan-London process has then 
informed the development of a business case for HBPoS service change across the NEL 
STP.

Current Provision of Health-Based Places of Safety (HBPoS) in North East London 

There are currently four HBPoS sites operating in North East London:

• Sunflower Court, in Redbridge, provided by NELFT (2 assessment rooms)

Page 12



• Newham Centre for Mental Health, in Newham provided by ELFT (one assessment 
room)

• Homerton Hospital, in Hackney provided by ELFT (one assessment room)

• Royal London, in Tower Hamlets, provided by ELFT (one assessment room)

Figure 1 – Health Based Places of Safety within the North East London STP

Key issues within the case for change can be summarised as follows:
• The HBPoS at the Royal London Hospital within Tower Hamlets is situated in a busy 

Accident and Emergency department, potentially compromising patient safety, privacy 
and dignity. The unit is also situated one mile away from mental health teams and 
wards, making an immediate transfer to patients problematic and drawing on staff 
support from mental health teams difficult. For these reasons the RLH is not 
considered an appropriate environment by CQC and HLP.

• The HBPoS at Royal London, Homerton and Newham have no dedicated staff and use 
staff from the wards. This makes it hard to ensure staff with sufficient experience and 
training are available. It therefore does not comply with the recommendations of 
HLP’s business case that staff from wards are not used and that all staff are trained 
and experienced. 

• The HBPoS at Homerton is situated in a rather public space and is not easily accessible. 

Options for Service Delivery 
The following options for delivery of a new model of Health Based Places of Safety within 
the North East London STP were considered. 

Page 13



Option 1: Do nothing - Sunflower Court, Homerton, Royal London, Newham General all 
remain open.

Option 2: Develop an alternative HBPoS to Royal London at Mile End hospital; Homerton, 
Newham and Sunflower Court remain open.

Option 3: Two Sites - Sunflower Court & Homerton and Newham General HBPoS).

Option 4: Two Sites remain open - Newham and Sunflower Court.

Option 5: Three Sites remain - Homerton, Newham and Sunflower Court.

Based on the case for change and the options appraisal alongside an analysis of revenue 
costs, it is recommended that ELHCP proceed with option 5, a three site HBPoS option in 
the short term: 
• Sunflower Court (3 rooms) with a dedicated core staff team 

• Homerton Hospital (3 rooms) and re-located to offer better patient privacy and dignity 
and staffed with a dedicated core staff team

• Newham Centre for Mental Health (1 room).

Figure 2  Option 5, HBPoS Three-Site Option

Page 14



This option expands the Homerton site’s capacity to absorb the potential re-directed s136 
flows from the Royal London. 

Furthermore, the use of option 5 has the following advantages:
 More flexible facilities in terms of capacity in the short-term ,and allows time for 

further planning for a future two-site model if appropriate.  

 Means reduced travel distances compared to Option 3. 

 Enables experienced, qualified staff to be immediately available 24/7 on all sites.

 Incorporates capacity close to the City of London, which has a high number of section 
136s. 

 Facilitates better care for children and young people with two co-located CAMHS sites. 

 Is in keeping with HLPs 13 site transition phase. 

Option 4 (HLP’s recommended final configuration), was rejected in the short-term 
because it was considered that re-directing flows from two sites at once was too risky. It 
was agreed that it would be better to close one site, map the flow, and then assess the 
case for closing a second site. 

It was also agreed that Option 4 would be difficult to deliver in the short-term due to the 
higher revenue and capital cost implications. This could delay the re-diversion of flows 
from Royal London which does not meet standards of patient safety, privacy and dignity.

  IMPLICATIONS AND RISKS

Financial and Activity implications and risks: 

a) Financial Implications

 The Department of Health has funded a £388,200 capital development at 
Homerton (2-3 rooms) and £349,000 at Sunflower court (3 rooms). This element is 
thus cost-neutral to the local healthcare economy.  Revenue costs are currently 
under negotiation with local CCGs.

b) Activity: 

 The model predicts that the additional capacity from the closure of the Royal 
London site will be absorbed by the Homerton; any additional demand will be 
mitigated by the increased use of Street Triage and home treatment teams.  

c) Legal implications and risks: Not applicable to this report. 

d) Human Resources implications and risks:   Not applicable to this report.

Page 15



e) Equalities implications and risks: The preferred option is likely to improve the safety, 
privacy, and dignity of all service users through improved built environments and 
dedicated staffing teams. Older adults and people with disabilities may benefit from 
closer adjacencies to the wards. A dedicated and trained and qualified staff team is 
also more likely to have a better understanding of the needs of BME and LGBT patients 
and share this in good working relationships with the police.

Appendices

London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Programme, Stakeholder Engagement Summary, July 
2018, Healthy London Partnership
Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners, HBPoS Business Case, March 2018, Healthy 
London Partnership

Page 16



Supported by and delivering for London’s NHS, London Councils, Public Health England and the Mayor of London 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London’s Mental Health Crisis 

Care Programme  

Stakeholder Engagement Summary 

July 2018 

  

Page 17

adawson
Text Box
APPENDIX B



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

2 

About Healthy London Partnership 

Healthy London Partnership formed in 2015. Our aim is to make London the 

healthiest global city by working with partners to improve Londoners' health and 

wellbeing so everyone can live healthier lives. 

Our partners are many and include London’s NHS in London (Clinical 

Commissioning Groups, Health Education England, NHS England, NHS Digital, NHS 

Improvement, trusts and providers), the Greater London Authority, the Mayor of 

London, Public Health England and London Councils. 

All our work is founded on common goals set out in Better Health for London, NHS 

Five Year Forward View and the Devolution Agreement.  

About this document 

Since 2015, Healthy London Partnership (HLP) has worked in partnership with 

London’s health and care system to develop a pan-London new model of care for 

individuals detained under Section 136 (s136).  Continuous system wide 

engagement has been integral to the development of the new model of care. This 

document summarises the engagement in terms of activities undertaken, the 

stakeholders involved and how this has fed into the development of the new model 

of care. For further information on the proposed pan-London model of care for s136, 

please refer to the public engagement document.  

  

Page 18

https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/better-health-london-report/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/five-year-forward-view/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/five-year-forward-view/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/london-devolution-mou-and-summary/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

3 

Contents 

Overview of the engagement process ........................................................................ 4 

Key documents and dissemination ............................................................................. 6 

Committees and boards ........................................................................................... 10 

Service user engagement ........................................................................................ 11 

Key presentations and meetings .............................................................................. 23 

Events and workshops ............................................................................................. 36 

Marketing and media ................................................................................................ 41 

 
  

Page 19



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

4 

Overview of the engagement process 
 

It has long been recognised across London that mental health crisis care services 

often fall short in providing effective access, care and treatment for people who are 

among the most vulnerable in our society. London’s crisis care system is under 

significant pressure and does not have the services or infrastructure to ensure 

people experiencing a mental health (MH) crisis receive timely, high-quality care that 

respects individual needs. 

In 2015, HLP worked with stakeholders, including service users and carers, from 

across London’s mental health crisis care system to identify key issues across the 

pathway and to develop a strong case for change. 

A multi-agency group including service users, carers, frontline staff, MH and acute 

trusts, the London Ambulance Service, the three London police services and local 

authorities led the development of London’s s136 Pathway and HBPoS 

Specification, which outlines the minimum standard of care for HBPoS sites and the 

roles and responsibilities of all professionals in the pathway. Extensive engagement 

led to all partners formally endorsing this guidance, which was launched by the 

Mayor of London in December 2016. 

The new model of care was developed from the principles laid out in the guidance. It 

was recognised across the system that in order to meet the specification standards, 

significant changes were needed to the current provision of services.  

A HBPoS options appraisal was undertaken to identify how London’s place of safety 

sites could meet the specification.  The options appraisal identified the optimal pan-

London place of safety configuration including the required number of sites, capacity 

and optimal locations across London. The output of this was a 9 site model with 5 of 

these sites as all-age provision. This then informed the development of a business 

case for service change. 

HLP is now working with London’s crisis care system and service users to support 

implementation of the model of care across London. Next steps include the 

development of business plans in each Sustainability and Transformation 

Partnership (STP) and for these to be taken through local decision making forums in 

order to progress implementation. As part of this process there will be further public 

engagement as further consideration is given at the STP level regarding plans for 

future HBPoS provision. 

The voice of people with mental health problems has been at the heart of the 

programme. A section of this document has been dedicated to engagement with 

service users and carers, describing how they have been involved and how their 

experiences and views have shaped the development of the programme and the 

pan-London s136 model of care.  

Page 20

https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/mental-health-crisis-care-londoners/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/mental-health-crisis-care-londoners/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

5 

Figure 1 below includes the amount of engagement that has taken place throughout 

the life of the programme. Figure 2 provides an overview of staff that have been 

actively engaged more recently since the pan-London guidance has been 

developed. This includes those involved in specific activities to 

support implementation of the guidance throughout 2017 and 2018. Individual STP 

maps are available in appendix 1. 

Figure 1: Summary of engagement throughout the programme  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2: London engagement to implement the guidance throughout 2017 and 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

6 

Key documents and dissemination 

 London's s136 pathway and HBPoS specification (December 2016) 

 Evaluation of South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust’s Centralised 

HBPoS (December 2017) 

 The business case for service change (April 2018) 

 S136 new model of care public engagement document 

1. London's s136 pathway and HBPoS specification 

Since 2015, Healthy London Partnership has worked with London’s health and care 

system to develop a pan-London, new model of care for individuals detained under 

s136. Significant engagement at the outset of London’s mental health crisis care 

(MHCC) programme determined that the s136 pathway was best focussed on at a 

pan-London level and that this would complement other local crisis care service 

development.  

The pan-London s136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety (HBPoS) 

specification, which outlines the minimum standard of care for HBPoS sites and the 

responsibilities of staff within the pathway, was developed through extensive 

engagement with London’s crisis care system, including over 300 service users and 

carers and over 300 frontline staff from London Ambulance Service, London’s police 

forces, mental health and acute trusts. Draft guidance was circulated to over 150 

stakeholders for feedback prior to the final version being developed. An outline of the 

engagement is displayed in the figure below. 

The pathway and specification was also formally endorsed by all NHS stakeholder 

organisations and pan-London forums, London’s three Police forces, London 

Ambulance Service, the Royal College of Psychiatry, Mind and the National Crisis 

Care Concordat Initiative.  

 

 

  

Page 22

https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Londons-section-136-pathway-and-HBPoS-specification-updated-Dec-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/SLaM-Centralised-Health-Based-Place-of-Safety-Evaluation-Nov-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/SLaM-Centralised-Health-Based-Place-of-Safety-Evaluation-Nov-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Business-Case-Crisis-Care-April-2018.pdf


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

7 

Figure 3: Summary of engagement for development of London’s s136 pathway and 

HBPoS specification. 

 
 

 

On the 12th of December 2016, Mayor of London Sadiq Khan launched London’s 

s136 pathway and HBPoS Specification at an event at City Hall (see Events section 

for more details). 

The document was uploaded to the HLP website in order to broaden its reach with 

1863 page views since publication in October 2017. HLP also targeted specific 

stakeholders for distribution including: 

 Metropolitan Police 

 British Transport Police 

 City of London Police 

 London Ambulance Service 

 Mental Health Trusts 

 Local authorities, including London’s AMHP services 

Page 23



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

8 

 Acute Trusts 

 Service users 

2. Evaluation of South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust’s 

Centralised HBPoS 

To understand the impact of SLaM’s new centralised place of safety, piloting the 

pan-London s136 pathway and HBPoS specification, Healthy London Partnership 

worked with service users, SLaM staff, the police, the London Ambulance Service 

and AMHPs to evaluate the new service.  

The evaluation report was circulated in November 2017 to stakeholders across 

London. Information and a link to the report was also included in the End of Year 

crisis care programme update distributed to over 450 stakeholders and in a news 

item on the HLP website. The evaluation itself has also been available on the HLP 

website since November 2017, where so far it has had over 500 page views. 

Since its launch, information from the evaluation has been included in numerous 

presentations and to share learning on the potential impacts of the pan-London new 

model of care. Crucially, the findings from the evaluation, including the service user 

and frontline staff feedback, were used to develop the business case for service 

case.  

3. Business case for service change  

The Business case for service change has been disseminated to a broad range of 

stakeholders via emails, events and meetings including: 

 All 5 of London’s Sustainable Transformation Partnerships (STPs): North Central 

London, North East London, North West London, South West London and South 

East London. 

 London’s Mental Health Trusts 

 London’s Acute Trusts 

 Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) 

 Local Authorities (LA) 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 

 NHS England (London region) 

 NHS Improvement (NHSI) 

Page 24

https://www.healthylondon.org/pilot-shows-health-based-place-safety-improves-care-lifts-pressure-aes/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/evaluation-centralised-health-based-place-safety-south-london-maudsley-nhs-foundation-trust/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

9 

 Greater London Authority (GLA) 

 London Ambulance Service (LAS) 

 All 3 London police services (Metropolitan Police Service, British Transport 

Police and City of London Police) 

 Mind charity  

 Service users 

The Business case for service change was presented to London’s Crisis Care 

Implementation Steering Group for comment in mid-February 2018 and circulated for 

comment to the group members. This included feedback from service users and 

Mind. It was then taken to London’s Mental Health Transformation Board and the 

Urgent and Emergency Care Transformation and Delivery Board for consideration in 

late March 2018 and the NHSE (London) Parity of Esteem Delivery Group in April 

2018. 

The Business case for service change was uploaded to the HLP website where it 

has had 157 page views since publication. A link to the document was provided in 

the April 2018 programme update distributed to over 450 stakeholders. 

4. Other documents and resources developed and disseminated via the HLP 

website and targeted emails to specific stakeholders include: 

 Regular Programme updates, including a 2017 End of Year crisis care 

programme Report. 

 The Voluntary Handover Form (April 2018): A process to support the safe and 

effective handover of patients attending emergency departments (EDs) 

accompanied by police. 

 The Mental Health Crisis Care Toolkit (December 2017): Training slides 

developed by an independent legal expert support local training regarding the 

roles and responsibilities for s136 of the Mental Health Act, including legislation 

changes in which came into effect in December 2017. 

 Posters detailing the roles and responsibilities of each agency involved in the 

s136 pathway as outlined in the new pan-London guidance developed by HLP. 

These were provided on request to MH Trusts, Acute Trusts, LAS and Police 

(December 2017) 

 Posters from the 12 December 2016 launch event for the new London s136 

pathway and HBPoS Specification (December 2016) 

Page 25

https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Voluntary-mental-health-attendance-to-hospital-form.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Mental-health-crisis-care-toolkit-Nov-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/crisis-care-toolkit/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/mental-health-crisis-care-s136-pathway-launch/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

10 

 London s136 pathway: key principles (December 2016) 

 S136 pathway service user scenarios (December 2016) 

 Crisis care sustainability and transformation presentations (December 2016) 

 Improving care for children and young people with mental health crisis in London 

(October 2016) 

 The launch of London’s s136 pathway learning report (December 2016) 

 Improving care for children and young people in mental health crisis in London: 

Recommendations for transformation of services (November 2015) 

Committees and boards 

The following committees provide stewardship of the programme and expert input 

into the development of the s136 new model of care through various engagement 

activities including regular meetings and programme updates. The groups are made 

up of a range of key stakeholders from London’s health and care system including 

mental health and acute trust staff, service users, representatives from all five STP 

areas, the police, LAS, local authorities and senior representatives from all partner 

organisations. 

 London’s Mental Health Transformation Board  

 London’s Urgent and Emergency Care Transformation & Delivery Board  

 NHSE (London) Parity of Esteem Delivery Group 

 Service User and Carer Advisory Group 

 London’s Crisis Care Implementation Steering Group 

 London’s Crisis Care Technical Implementation Group 

 London s136 Commissioning and Payments Task & Finish Group 

 London’s Urgent & Emergency Care Clinical Leadership Group 

 London’s Mental Health Strategic Clinical Network  

The governance structure for the programme is outlined in the figure below. 

 

 

Page 26

https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/london-section-136-pathway-key-principles/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/section-136-pathway-service-user-scenarios/
file:///C:/Users/DALMAR/AppData/Roaming/priand/Desktop/•%09https:/www.healthylondon.org/resource/crisis-care-sustainability-transformation-presentations/
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Improving-care-for-children-and-young-people-with-mental-health-crisis-in-London.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Learning-Launch-of-Londons-s136-pathway.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Emerging-findings-Improving-care-for-children-and-young-people-in-mental-health-crisis-in-London-November-2015.pdf


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

11 

Figure 4: Programme governance structure for London’s Mental Health Crisis Care 

programme 

 

 

Service user engagement 
 

Over 400 Londoners with lived experience of MH crisis and carers have been 

involved in developing the new model of care through an extensive engagement 

process. Below we outline who we involved and why, how service users were 

involved, what we learned from our conversations and how this influenced the 

programme development. There are approximately 5000 s136 detentions in London 

per year; this includes multiple detentions for the same individuals.  

Who was involved and why 
 

Over 400 Londoners have been involved in London’s Mental Health crisis care 

programme, the majority of whom have lived experience of mental health crisis as a 

service user or carer. This has included those with specific experience of the s136 

pathway, and those with experience of the wider crisis care in London. 

Representatives were sought from all areas of London, with black and ethnic 

minority communities and Children and Young people (CYP) also represented.  

Through this, the programme endeavoured to include the input of both a large 

number of service users and to capture the experience in different areas of London 

and for particular groups. Where demographic information was asked for and 

provided, the proportion of white (65%) and BME (35%) represented in the service 

user engagement, reflects the proportion of these groups who are detained under 

s136 in London. A summary of service user and carer engagement and 

demographics for key events in development and implementation of London’s s136 

pathway and HBPoS specification is shown in the table below. Note that 

demographic information was not asked for in all cases. 

 

Page 27



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

12 

Table 1: Service user demographics  

 White BME Information not 

given 

Online survey and focus group 70 23 61 

CYP Focus Group for I 

statements 

0 0 3 

CYP Online survey for I 

statements 

24 5 33 

Crisis Care Summit 0 0 25 

Mental Health Trust focus 

groups 

5 10 32 

Harrow in Mind (Somali group) 0 17 3 

CYP workshop 2 0 0 

Service user and carer 

advisory group 

  11 

S136 Launch   10 

Evaluation of SLAM’s 

centralised place of safety 

  45 

Technical Implementation 

Group and Implementation 

Steering Group 

  4 

Mental Health Act Multiagency 

Training 

  8 

London Ambulance Service 

patient forum 

  10 

Page 28



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

13 

Patient and public network 

meeting 

  4 

Total  405 

 

How service users have been involved  
 

Engagement with service users and carers has taken place at each stage of the 

process from developing the case for change through to implementation. 

Workshops 

Five workshops with over 50 service users and carers were held in each STP in 

London to look at a number of areas of the s136 pathway and HBPoS specification 

in more detail to ensure service user needs and expectations were met. Specific 

ideas were also tested with service users to support the implementation process. 

London’s diverse population has been represented through these workshops 

including all ages and a range of ethnic groups, specific workshops were held for 

children and young people and individuals from BME communities. 

Online survey 

In 2016, Healthy London Partnership’s Mental Health Crisis Care programme 

undertook engagement with service-users and carers to further understand the 

experiences of people who have experienced a mental health crisis in London and 

find out what is important to them when they are in crisis.  

Part of this work involved the charity, Mind, supporting the programme in developing 

an online survey, which focussed on the experiences of those whose crisis led to: 

 attending an ED or 

 being detained under section 135 or 136 of the Mental Health Act by the police 

The survey was live online from 18 January to 24 February 2016 and was promoted 

by HLP, Mind, National Survivor User Network, Young Minds and other partners on 

social media. We received 104 responses by 29 January (the point at which HLP did 

the analysis to inform the I-statements) and 154 by 24 February when it closed. All 

except 6 people (29 January) rising to 10 (24 February) were from across London. 

The service users and carers who took part in the online survey told us about their 

recent experiences of crisis care, including those in EDs and HBPoS sites. Service 

users told us what was good and what could have been better. They also told us 

what was most important to service users when helping to prevent a crisis, during a 

crisis and following a crisis.   

Page 29



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

14 

The information gathered has been used to steer the development of London’s new 

model of care to ensure that it meets the needs of service users.  

Demographic information for those who took part in the survey can be found in 

Appendix 2. 

I statements – focus group and online consultation  

A key output from the service user and carer involvement was the development of ‘I 

statements’. These are first person statements setting out the expectations of how 

Londoner’s wish to be treated before, during and after a MH crisis. Over 200 service 

users co-produced a set of ‘I’ statements through online surveys and focus groups 

facilitated by Mind and YoungMinds. They were then refined through further online 

consultation (see appendix 3).  

Further engagement was also undertaken with children and young people to better 

understand where their experiences and needs might differ from those of adults. 

HLP created an online survey to enable more children and young people to feed 

back on the draft ‘I’ statements. The survey was actively promoted on social media 

and featured on the YoungMinds online blog, which reaches thousands of young 

people across their network.  

The survey was launched on 6th April 2016 and more than 60 young people 

completed it. Their responses were used to redraft the statements to ensure they 

reflect what is most important to Londoners who experience a mental health crisis as 

a young person. The CYP ‘I’ statements (see appendix 4) are to be read alongside 

and not instead of the other statements, which apply to Londoners of all ages. 

The ‘I’ statements reflect service user needs and expectations of London’s mental 

health crisis care and were used in the development of a case for change. The 

statements directly informed London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification and 

the new model of care and will be crucial to the evaluation of the programme. 

BME service user experience 

As part of HLP’s continued service user engagement, in July 2016 a workshop was 

specifically arranged for members of BME communities to ensure that the needs of 

service users from BME communities were well represented within the new model of 

care. The workshop was co-facilitated by Mind and HLP. This was in addition to BME 

service users already represented in the other forums relating to the programme.  

Expert by experience videos and stories 

In spring 2016, HLP filmed with a number of experts by experience to talk about their 

story and experience of being cared for under s136. In 2017, service user 

experiences were included on the Healthy London Partnership website, a Rethink 

blog and were presented at MHCC summit in February 2016 as well. These 

Page 30

https://www.healthylondon.org/our-work/crisis-care/experts-by-experiences/
https://www.rethink.org/news-views/2018/01/improving-londons-mental-health-crisis-care
https://www.rethink.org/news-views/2018/01/improving-londons-mental-health-crisis-care


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

15 

accounts of crisis care in London have been vital to inform the case for change and 

provide on-going drive for the programme.  

London’s crisis care summit 

London’s crisis care summit was held in February 2016 and over 12% of delegates 

were service users from across London with experience of London’s crisis care 

services. Service users were also involved in the event through presentations and 

co-facilitating workshops with clinical staff and key partners. The presentations from 

the service users highlighted examples of substandard crisis care while 

demonstrating an appetite to work together to improve the pathway for Londoners. 

Pan-London s136 pathway launch 

On the 12th of December 2016, Mayor of London Sadiq Khan launched London’s 

s136 pathway and HBPoS Specification at an event at City Hall. Over 10% of 

attendees were crisis care service users. 

Place of safety options appraisal process 

Service users in each STP were engaged in the options appraisal to determine the 

best way to deliver crisis care services across London in order to meet the standards 

set out in London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification. 

Evaluation of SLAM’s centralised place of safety 

The new model of care was piloted in South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation 

Trust (SLAM) in 2017, through the consolidation of 4 sites into 1 purpose built site 

with 24/7 dedicated staffing.  The new purpose built facility was co-designed with 

service users to support delivery of safe, dignified care in a therapeutic setting and 

staff reported being able to use the facilities flexibly to better manage risk and 

respond to the changing needs of the individual in their care.  

Service user surveys were carried out both before and after the centralised HBPoS 

opened. Under the new model, 76% of those surveys were positive about the 

support they received and 64% felt safe (compared with 36% in previous surveys of 

Londoner’s). Furthermore, 79% of service users reported being treated with respect 

and dignity by staff, 63% felt listened to by staff and 94% felt that they understood 

the next steps prior to leaving the unit. 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

16 

Figure 5. Service user perceptions SLAM’s centralised place of safety 2017 

 
 

Service User and Carer Advisory Group / committee representation  

Two service User and Carer Advisory Groups were formed (one for adults and one 

for CYP) to help ensure that service users had meaningful input into the stewardship 

of the programme. In addition to this service users also sit on London’s Crisis Care 

Implementation Steering Group and the Crisis Care Technical Implementation 

Group. 

Other meetings: 

London Ambulance Service (LAS) patient forum (August 2017):Service users 

involved in  the LAS patient forum were gathered  to hear more about the London 

mental health crisis care programme and to provide feedback on the implementation 

plans across London. 

Urgent and emergency care patient and public network meeting (April 2018): 

Programme updates were provided to members of London’s patient and public care 

networks. Their role is to ensure there is patient input into London’s wider UEC 

programme and ensure effective feedback links between local patient groups into 

London-wide work.   

Programme updates 

Regular programme updates every x month? have emailed to service users 

throughout the development of the new model to help keep them engaged and 

informed and to give them an opportunity to feedback to the programme team. 

Page 32



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

17 

London’s crisis care mailbox: 

The crisis care programme team set up a dedicated email address which is widely 

available and advertised on the Healthy London Partnership website and on 

programme updates to allow access to information directly from the programme 

team and to allow all stakeholders, including service users to provide feedback. 

What was learned from the conversations  

A number of issues came out strongly from the surveys, focus group and online 

consultation when respondents were asked about their recent experiences in 

London’s EDs and HBPoS sites.  

These issues can be grouped under the follow themes: access and timeliness of 

care, attitudes and skills of staff, environment, and continuity of care. 

We asked people what the most important thing to them was. The following were the 

most commonly identified areas of importance across the comments left by service 

users: 

 being treated with compassion  

 feeling safe 

 being listened to 

A number of respondents explicitly associated feeling safe with the appropriateness 

of the surroundings and the attitude of staff. 

A significant number of respondents also raised the importance of being taken 

seriously, feeling respected and being able to access care quickly. 

The following areas were identified through the engagement process as particularly 

important in the delivery of crisis care. The survey responses and focus group have 

helped to identify both the current problems across these areas and how service 

users think improvements could be achieved. 

 Access to the right help – less than half of survey respondents knew how to 

access advice and support to get the help they needed when in crisis 

 Timeliness of care – nearly 70% of survey respondents felt there were missed 

opportunities to prevent their mental health deteriorating to crisis point 

 Compassion – only 34% who attended an ED and 27% who attended a place of 

safety agreed that staff had treated them with compassion 

 Choice and Involvement – only 30% felt involved in discussions about their 

mental health problems 

Page 33



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

18 

 Staff attitudes and knowledge – only 36% of those who attended an ED felt 

listened to and that their concerns were taken seriously 

 Environment – 93% of respondents feel that being in an environment that suits 

their needs when in crisis is either important of very important 

 Continuity of care – Over 95% said that receiving appropriate follow-up care 

after their crisis was either important of very important 

Key messages from BME workshop 

 Service users said that HBPoS staff were often not very welcoming. It could 

seem like they were ‘preparing for war’, treating the individual as dangerous and 

showing fear of the individual in crisis. This demonstrated a lack of training and 

the stigma that currently exists. 

 Service users often felt that there was not enough joined up thinking for the 

benefit of the individual in crisis. 

 Staff should be mindful of the individuals’ cultural and spiritual beliefs and do 

their best to provide culturally appropriate care.  

 Those detained under s136 should be provided with a clear explanation of what 

is happening in their own language. 

 Consideration should be given to ensure that those detained can be assessed by 

someone of their own gender if requested.  

 Onward care plans should give consideration to an individual’s social care 

needs, such as housing and employment, as well as addressing their mental 

health need. 

 More information is needed on the voluntary and community services available 

including face-to-face and online support. Where possible, efforts should be 

made to find support groups that align with the individuals cultural and spiritual 

beliefs. Socialising is an important part of support and access to support groups 

and peer-support is needed.  

Key messages from expert by experience videos 

 ED can be distressing and manic for an individual in crisis. ED members of staff 

do not always understand an individual’s mental health need or treat it with the 

same importance as those with a physical health need.  

Page 34



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

19 

 Individuals with mental health needs don’t want to end up in ED but if they do 

they want to know physical and mental health staff are working together to 

coordinate their care.  

 Waiting for long periods of time to access care or get a mental health 

assessment makes a crisis worse. They want to be seen quickly by skilled staff 

that can care for their mental and physical health needs.  

 Individuals don’t always know what is happening and members of staff don’t 

always treat them with compassion.  They want to be seen by skilled staff that 

understand mental health and listen to their needs.  

 Suitable follow-up care not always available for individuals when they need it. 

Individuals want to know about all the services they can turn to in their 

community.  

 A bad experience with the NHS means individuals can lose trust in health 

services and stop engaging in their care. They can then be extremely reluctant to 

seek help from the NHS when they need it.  

 People are extremely hopeful things are going to change and it’s a positive step 

that everyone has been working together to improve the care for patients 

detained under s136.   

Key messages from the options appraisal process 

Service users involved in the optional appraisal process (service user and carer 

advisory groups and reps on the boards) were key to determining the criteria used in 

the process. The figure below shows the priorities for all age service users and CYP. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

20 

Figure 6: Adult and CYP priorities for the pan-London S136 model of care. 

 
 

How feedback and involvement influenced programme development  

 

We were told: People need timely access to care and effective pathways to reduce 

delays. 

What is in progress and what has been done:   

London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification provides an effective pathway 

which aims to reduce delays. Key standards that promote timely access to care 

include: 

 Individuals detained under s136 must be taken to the closest HBPoS to the site 

of detention, regardless of where they are resident.  

 If there is no capacity at the local HBPoS, it is that site’s responsibility to ensure 

that the individual is received into a suitable place of safety. 

 When the HBPoS states that it has capacity, this means it is able to receive the 

detained individual as soon as they arrive on site.  

 When an individual under s136 presents to an ED, the ED cannot refuse access 

unless a formal escalation action has been enacted. 

Page 36



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

21 

 The mental health assessment should be completed within 4 hours of the 

individual arriving at the HBPoS unless there are clinical grounds for delay. 

Under the proposed London model, 88.5% of patients will be 45 minutes or less from 

an HBPoS which is able to provide specialist care through a 24/7 dedicated staffing 

team. Though the reconfiguration will mean that there are a smaller number of sites, 

those sites will have a higher capacity. 

It is expected that access to care on arrival at the site will be quicker, with fewer 

incidences of individuals waiting outside HBPoS sites whilst staff are brought in from 

other areas of the trust to staff the unit. Furthermore, there will be fewer site closures 

and instances of individuals being transported from one trust to another due to 

insufficient capacity at an individual site.  

By providing sufficient capacity at the HBPoS sites, the proposed option for the new 

model of care will reduce the average journey time from 64 minutes to 22 minutes for 

police vehicles and 24 minutes to 22 minutes for ambulance vehicles. This will 

ensure that patients receive emergency clinical care more quickly. Patient 

experience will improve as delays are minimised and they can be seen faster by 

clinical staff trained to care for their needs. 

We were told: Specialised skilled staff must be available to care for patients 24 

hours a day, and not pulled off inpatient wards 

What is in progress and what has been done:   

A key feature of London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification is that all sites 

should have 24/7 dedicated staff teams to ensure that delays do not occur as staff 

are sought from other areas of the trust. Furthermore, there are clear expectation for 

the mental health and physical health competencies for all staff at the HBPoS.  

The roles and responsibilities of all non-HBPoS staff e.g. police, paramedics, ED 

staff etc. are specified in the guidance to ensure clarity as to the expectation for all 

professionals involved in the pathway.  

Under the proposed new model of care, the number of sites () will be reduce to 9 

centres of excellence (however overall capacity will not change), this allows the 24/7 

dedicated staffing to be feasible at all sites. 

Multiagency training has taken place in all mental health trusts and for the London 

ambulance service in order to ensure that professionals involved in the s136 

pathway are clear on their responsibilities under the guidance and the Mental Health 

Act legislation. Further training sessions will take place throughout 2018/19 with the 

focus on ED clinical and operational staff.  

Page 37



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

22 

Furthermore, the programme has supported four of London’s mental health trusts 

with existing dedicated staffing to secure funding from Health Education England and 

to begin setting up rotational nursing programmes to allow mental health nurses to 

develop physical health skills in EDs and ED nurses to develop mental health skills 

by spending time in the HBPoS. These programmes are on-going and hope to be 

implemented pan-London as centres of excellence develop. 

We were told: The HBPoS environment must promote dignity, recovery, comfort 

and confidentiality for the patient. 

What is in progress and what has been done:   

This is achieved both through the physical design of an HBPoS site and staff factors: 

the training of the staff to use the environment effectively, the compassion and 

dignity afforded to patients by staff and the relationships within the staff team and 

with other professionals.  

London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification outlines the requirements for the 

facilities at an HBPoS. Where HBPoS environments have been co-designed with 

patients, this can ensure that the environment meets patient, as well as staff, needs. 

The guidance advises that there is significant service user and carer involvement in 

the governance and monitoring of HBPoS sites. 

The crisis care programme has also supported London trusts to apply for capital 

funding to ensure facilities developed under the new model of care are fit for purpose 

with the right capacity.  

We were told: Proximity to other health services is important, including mental 

health services and EDs to enable access to physical health care if required. 

What is in progress and what has been done:   

Whilst no EDs are dedicated HBPoS sites under the proposed pan-London s136 

new model of care (under guidance from the Royal College of Psychiatry and the 

Royal College of Emergency Medicine) the options appraisal process ensured that 

close proximity to both mental health inpatient beds and 24/7 urgent physical care 

were key criteria points to determine the preferred location of sites in London.  

We were told: Individuals with mental health problems do not want to end up in ED 

and if they do, but if they do they want to know ED and mental health staff are 

working together to coordinate their care.  

What is in progress and what has been done:   

Under the proposed pan-London s136 new model of care, no EDs are designated 

HBPoS sites (under guidance from the Royal College of Psychiatry and the Royal 

College of Emergency Medicine). In addition, London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS 

Page 38



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

23 

specification outlines physical health competencies for HBPoS staff to ensure that 

there are no unnecessary transfers to EDs for minor physical health problems. There 

is also a clear protocol to ensure that individuals under the influence of alcohol are 

not automatically transferred to ED including closer working with paramedics. 

The rotational nursing programme and ED training sessions described above will 

support mental health and ED staff to work together and ED staff to clearly 

understand their role in the s136 pathway.  

How will London’s crisis care programme engage with service users and 

carers in future? 

The input of service users and their carers into the London’s crisis care programme 

is vital for its future success and implementation of the pan-London new model of 

care. Service users continue to be valued members of the Crisis Care 

Implementation Steering Group and Technical Implementation Group. The London 

programme will continue to circulate programme updates and upload material to the 

crisis care pages on www.healthylondon.org.  

Whilst Healthy London Partnership continues to support the crisis care system on a 

pan-London basis, following the business case for service change outlining the 

proposed pan-London HBPoS configuration, STPs are taking ownership of planning 

and delivery at a local level. This will involve public engagement on local plans and 

taking these through decision making forum within the STP footprint.  

London’s crisis care programme has initiated work to develop a plan for evaluating 

the changes resulting from implementation of the new model of care and to collect 

baseline data for this evaluation. Service users and carers will have an important 

role, both by providing insight into current care through focus groups, and through 

input into the design of the evaluation. 

Key presentations and meetings 

Throughout the programme information and updates have been given at a number of 

forums across London. These have been an opportunity to develop plans and 

receive feedback from a wide variety of stakeholders. 

In the table below, a large number of small meetings (1-3 attendees), 

teleconferences and email exchanges have not been included as it is not practicable 

to detail such a significant number of interactions with senior stakeholders and 

frontline staff from police, LAS and NHS trusts.  

 

 

Page 39

http://www.healthylondon.org/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

24 

Meeting Date Audience Purpose 

London’s Urgent 

and Emergency 

care Clinical 

Leadership 

Group 

Monthly Urgent and 

emergency care 

clinical leads from 

London 

Regular updates on the 

MHCC programme and 

securing feedback/ 

clinical input into the 

development of the s136 

pathway and pan-London 

model of care; an 

opportunity to increase 

support and engagement 

for the programme to 

support implementation, 

particularly around ED 

issues.  

Mental Health 

London 

Transformation 

Board 

Regular  

attendance 

Senior London 

Mental health care 

stakeholders 

Formal reporting updates 

provided as this is a pan-

London Board within HLP 

governance. This 

included the presentation 

of the final business case 

for endorsement. 

Feedback and input from 

the group sought to 

inform and steer 

development of the 

programme.  

London’s Urgent 

and Emergency 

Care 

Transformation 

and Delivery 

board 

Regular 

attendance 

Senior London 

urgent and 

emergency care 

stakeholders 

Formal reporting updates 

provided as this is a pan-

London Board within HLP 

governance. This 

included the presentation 

of the final business case 

for endorsement. 

Feedback and input from 

the group sought to 

inform and steer 

development of the 

programme. 

Page 40



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

25 

London Learning 

Disability and 

Mental Health 

Commissioners 

Network Meeting  

June 2018, 

February 

2017 

London Learning 

Disability and Mental 

Health 

Commissioners 

 

General update on the 

MHCC programme 

ensuring links with MH 

and LD commissioning 

and increasing 

engagement efforts 

across London. Recent 

presentation of the 

business case and 

proposed London model 

of care.  Feedback 

sought as well as 

understanding of any 

local issues to help 

inform development/ 

implementation.  

Association of 

Adult Directors of 

Social Services 

Meeting 

June 2018 

and June 

2016 

Adult directors of 

social care London 

 

The London ADASS lead 

has presented to ADASS 

colleagues on the MHCC 

programme over the past 

couple of years outlining 

new guidance and 

London proposals, the 

engagement with AMHPs 

and ensuring comments, 

feedback and potential 

challenges are fed into 

the programme.   

London Health 

Board  

June 2018, 

October 2017 

The Mayor of 

London, leaders 

of London local 

authorities (LA) and 

senior 

representatives from 

the Health Sector in 

the capital. 

Outline of MHCC 

programme 

implementation progress 

and a request for both the 

Board’s and Mayor’s 

continued support and 

input into the programme.   

NHSE (London) 

Parity of Esteem 

Delivery Group 

April 2018, 

September 

2017 

 An overview of the case 

for change and pan-

London model of care 

Page 41

http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

26 

including the business 

case for service change. 

An opportunity to 

increase engagement 

and support from NHS 

London and to align the 

work with the PoE 

agenda/ discuss issues 

relating to this.  

MiCapacity 

workshop 

 

March 2018 MHCC stakeholders 

including MH Trust 

staff, the police, LAS 

and service users. 

Linking the London s136 

pathway with advances in 

the MiDOS MiCapacity 

tool which is looking at a 

pan-London live capacity 

tool for place of safety 

sites/ exploring synergies 

between the two 

programmes and 

opportunities for 

alignment.  

Health Education 

England - 

Delivering the 

Five Year 

Forward View: 

Caring for 

patients at the 

right time and in 

the right place 

 

March 2018 Various London NHS 

staff 

An overview of the MHCC 

work to date with 

particular emphasis on 

the development of a 

rotational nursing 

programme between 

HBPoS and EDs; raising 

awareness of the work 

and an opportunity to 

hear feedback and 

explore synergies with 

other relevant projects at 

the event. 

London Security 

Management 

Specialists 

Managers Forum  

January 2018 Hospital security 

managers from 

across London 

 

An introduction to pan-

London transformation 

programmes, specifically 

what is happening in 

crisis care to increase 

understanding of the 

roles and responsibilities 

Page 42



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

27 

of all staff; understanding 

local issues relating to 

security and garnering 

support for and input into 

the implementation of the 

s136 pathway across 

London with these in 

mind.   

Approved Mental 

Health 

Professional 

(AMHP) London 

Leads Meeting  

 

Various 

dates- 

January 

2018, March 

2017, 

November 

2016, May 

2016, April 

2016 

London AMHP leads Updates on the 

development of the 

MHCC programme with 

support from AMHP leads 

involved in the 

programme; an 

opportunity for AMHP 

feedback/ input into 

development of the 

pathway and 

implementation of the 

new model as well as to 

understand local issues/ 

barriers to 

implementation. 

London’s Urgent 

and Emergency 

Care 

Improvement 

Collaborative 

Event 

December 

2017 

London’s urgent and 

emergency care 

system stakeholders, 

including service 

users. 

Workshop at the event 

dedicated to detailing the 

London guidance with a 

specific emphasis on 

mental health crisis care 

in ED’s. Presentation 

included input from MHA 

legal expert. Aim was to 

understand issues and 

potential barriers to 

implementation and to 

increase awareness and 

support.   

London’s Mental 

Health Trust 

Chairs meeting 

November 

2017 

Mental Health Trust 

chairs from across 

London 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme of work to 

date; an opportunity to 

gain input/ feedback to 

Page 43



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

28 

inform delivery and to 

increase /sustain 

engagement, momentum 

& support for the work. 

Mind London 

CEO Network 

meeting 

 

November 

2017 

Mind charity CEOs 

London 

Overview of the 

programme provided as 

well as asking for 

feedback and support to 

increase third sector and 

service user involvement 

in local implementation of 

the new model of care.  

London’s Mental 

Health Trust 

Chief Operating 

Officers 

Various dates 

2017 

Mental Health Trust 

Chief Operating 

Officers 

Regular updates provided 

to the London MH Trust 

COOs on the 

programmes’ progress. 

Updates provided an 

opportunity to ask for 

feedback and continue 

engagement with senior 

leaders to ensure 

continued momentum 

and support.  

London Mental 

Health Trust 

Cavendish 

Square Group  

 

Various 

dates- 

November 

2017, May 

2017 

Senior 

representatives from 

London’s MH Trusts 

Regular updates provided 

to the London MH Trust 

CEs on the programmes 

progress. Updates 

provided an opportunity 

to ask for expert 

feedback and continue 

engagement with senior 

leaders to ensure 

momentum and support.  

Meetings with 

CAMHS clinical 

leads at each MH 

trust 

August 2017 CAMHS clinical leads 

at each MH trust in 

London 

Meetings to test possible 

options for CYP HBPoS 

provision. Feedback from 

these meetings steered 

programme towards 

having CYP HBPoS 

Page 44



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

29 

provision in each STP 

footprint 

London Clinical 

Senate Council 

Meeting  

 

May 2017, 

July 2017 

Nominated 

representatives of 

the Patient & Public 

Voice, London’s 

Clinical 

Commissioning 

Council, Academic 

Health Science 

Networks, Local 

Education and 

Training Boards, and 

Directors of Public 

Health Network and 

Social Care, and 

appointed senior 

health professionals. 

Intro to HLP and the 

MHCC programme, an 

overview of the work 

undertaken to date and a 

request for specific 

advice and feedback from 

senate members around 

next steps in 

implementation incl. 

barrier and enablers such 

as financial challenges, 

buy-in at both a local and 

pan-London level. 

Metropolitan 

Police Service 

Mental Health 

Liaison Officers 

meeting  

 

May 2017 Metropolitan Police 

Service Mental 

Health Liaison 

Officers 

An overview of the MHCC 

programme to date; 

opportunity to increase 

engagement, ask the 

officers for feedback/ 

input into the multi- 

agency training agenda 

and uncover local issues/ 

potential barriers to 

implementation.   

London’s Mental 

Health Trust 

Directors of 

Nursing meeting 

May 2017 London’s Mental 

Health Trust 

Directors of Nursing 

An overview of the MHCC 

programme to date with 

particular emphasis on 

options appraisal & Pan-

London configuration 

criteria; an opportunity to 

seek feedback, increase 

engagement/ support 

from the nurses and to 

understand if anything 

additional needs to be 

considered during 

Page 45



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

30 

development/ 

implementation.  

London’s Mental 

Health Trust 

Medical Directors 

meeting   

May 2017; 

May 2016, 

May 2015 

London’s Mental 

Health Trust Medical 

Directors 

An overview of the MHCC 

programme to date with 

particular emphasis on 

options appraisal & Pan-

London configuration 

criteria; opportunity to 

increase engagement/ 

garner support from the 

MDs and their clinicians 

to ensure clinical input. 

London ED 

Consultants 

Network meeting 

May 2017 London ED 

consultants 

An overview of the MHCC 

programme to date with a 

particular emphasis on 

the changes in 

legislation; opportunity to 

seek feedback and info 

on ED related issues/ 

potential barriers to 

implementation.  

London Care 

Quality 

Commission 

Mental Health 

Team meeting 

May 2017 Care Quality 

Commission London 

mental health team 

(30 attendees) 

An overview of the MHCC 

programme to date with 

particular emphasis on 

comparison between 

RCPsych guidance and 

the London specification; 

a call for feedback /input 

to direct development 

and a call for support 

from the CQC. 

London Mental 

Health Senior 

Commissioners 

meeting 

Various 

dates- April 

2017, 

February 

2017 

London’s Mental 

Health senior 

commissioners 

Regular updates on the 

progress of the MHCC 

programme and 

opportunity for feedback/ 

input from a 

commissioning 

perspective as well as 

support (e.g. explore 

Page 46



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

31 

local governance & 

nominate a member to 

join the MHCC 

Implementation Steering 

Group). 

London Clinical 

Commissioning 

Group Chief 

Officers meeting  

April 2017, 

July 2017 

Chief officers London 

 

Update on the progress 

of the MHCC programme; 

opportunity for feedback 

to inform development 

and a consultation on 

how the group would like 

to be engaged with 

/updated going forward. 

London Mental 

Health Clinical 

Network 

Leadership 

Group 

Various dates 

2016 

 Regular updates and 

opportunities for 

feedback on the 

programme ensuring 

clinical input into the 

development of the s136 

pathway and pan-London 

model of care. Also an 

opportunity to increase 

support/ engagement for 

the programme to 

support implementation 

London Directors 

of Nursing 

meeting (acute 

and mental health 

trusts) 

October 2016 Directors of nursing 

(45 attendees) 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme to date and 

an opportunity to gain 

input/ feedback to inform 

deliver, increase 

engagement & support 

amongst nursing and to 

understand any issues 

pertaining to this group / 

potential barriers to 

implementation. 

Westminster 

briefing 

October 2016 25 attendees Presentation on London’s 

s136 pathway by Briony 

Sloper (LAS) and Dan 

Page 47



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

32 

Thorpe (Metropolitan 

police) to raise 

awareness and gain 

feedback.  

NHSE (London) 

Sustainability 

and  

Transformation 

Executive 

October 2016 Pan-London An update on the MHCC 

programme and London’s 

new model of care to 

raise awareness and gain 

feedback from NHSEL 

executives to inform 

implementation.  

S136 pathway 

scenario testing 

workshop 

September 

2016 

Multiagency s136 

pathway 

stakeholders (14 

attendees) 

Testing of s136 patient 

scenario pathways with 

stakeholders to 

understand issues, 

barriers to 

implementation and to 

inform delivery of the 

programme. 

BEH Inter-Agency 

Mental Health 

Law Monitoring 

Group 

June 2016 Multi-agency 

stakeholders 

involved in MH law 

within BEH trust 

An update on the MHCC 

programme to date and 

an opportunity to gain 

input, understand issues 

and increase 

engagement / support 

amongst this group. 

London Mental 

Health 

Partnership 

Board meetings 

Oct 2015; Jan 

& Apr 2016 

Senior mental health 

crisis care 

stakeholders 

An introduction to the 

pan-London MHCC 

programme including the 

scope of the programme 

and what it is proposed to 

cover in regards to s136, 

ensuring strong links and 

alignment with work that 

was being led by the 

Partnership Board.  

Mental Health Various (May, London urgent and The MHCC subgroup 

Page 48



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

33 

Crisis Care 

Subgroup 

meetings 

Jul, Sep, Nov 

Dec 2015; 

Jan; Mar, 

May, Jun 

2016) 

emergency care and 

MH crisis care 

stakeholders 

was a precursor to the 

Implementation steering 

group (see below). 

Meetings were held to 

inform and progress the 

development of the case 

for change, as well as the 

scope, content and 

direction of the MHCC 

programme.  

London Nursing 

Leadership forum 

June 2016 Acute and mental 

health trust nurses 

(40 attendees) 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme progress and 

an opportunity to gain 

input/ feedback to inform 

direction, hear about 

issues/ potential barriers 

and to increase 

engagement & support. 

London AMHP 

workshop 

discussing 

staffing models 

for AMHP options 

June 2016 

 

London borough of 

Newham AMHPs (12 

attendees) 

Workshop facilitated by 

Simon Pearce (London 

ADASS lead) to discuss 

alternative staffing 

models for AMHPs to 

support implementation 

of the new model of care 

and to hear about 

challenges faced by this 

group that may hinder 

implementation as well as 

possible solutions.  

London borough 

Mental Health 

Officers meetings 

June 2016 Metropolitan police 

borough mental 

health officers (50 

attendees) 

Update provided to 

London’s borough MH 

officers assigned to each 

Trust outlining details of 

the London pathway, 

asking for feedback and 

information on issues 

experienced / barriers 

faced as well as 

expectations from officers 

Page 49



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

34 

and other staff groups to 

inform development of 

the programme.   

St. Mary’s 

Psychiatric 

Liaison team 

meeting 

April 2016 Psychiatric Liaison 

Team (8 attendees) 

Engagement and 

feedback on the s136 

pathway and HBPoS 

specification as well as 

understanding local 

issues and concerns/ 

potential barriers to 

implementation. 

ED mental health 

subgroup 

meeting (St. 

Mary’s hospital) 

April 2016 ED staff members Engagement and 

feedback on the s136 

pathway and HBPoS 

specification as well as 

understanding local 

issues and concerns/ 

potential barriers to 

implementation. 

St. Thomas’ ED 

Psychiatric 

Liaison team 

April 2016 Psychiatric Liaison 

Team (8 attendees) 

Engagement and 

feedback on the s136 

pathway and HBPoS 

specification as well as 

understanding local 

issues and concerns/ 

potential barriers to 

implementation.  

Camden and 

Islington MH 

Trust acute 

divisional 

meeting 

April 2016 Camden and 

Islington MH Trust 

Staff members 

Engagement and 

feedback on the s136 

pathway and HBPoS 

specification; 

understanding local 

issues and sharing the 

pathway development to 

date; call for input/ 

feedback to shape 

development.  

Page 50



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

35 

London Chief 

Executive 

Officers (CEO) 

Mental Health 

Trusts (Individual 

meetings) 

Various 

meetings 

throughout  

2016 

Individual meetings 

between programme 

team and each MH 

trust CEO in London 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme progress; an 

opportunity to gain input / 

feedback to inform 

development and 

increase /sustain 

engagement, momentum 

& support. To explore 

local challenges and 

plans with the CEO. 

Implementing the 

Urgent and 

Emergency Care 

Vision in London 

November 

2015 

Broad range of 

London urgent and 

emergency care 

stakeholders 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme progress; an 

opportunity to gain input / 

feedback to inform 

development and 

increase /sustain 

engagement, momentum 

& support. 

NHS England 

National Mental 

Health Team 

July 2015 NHS England 

national MH team 

members 

An update on the MHCC 

Programme progress and 

a call for feedback; an 

opportunity to define the 

input & support this group 

has to offer in terms of 

informing development.  

South London 

and the Maudsley 

NHS Foundation 

Trust induction 

day 

May 2015 HBPoS new staff 

members 

Supporting pilot site 

induction and its 

alignment with London’s 

s136 pathway; helping 

staff understand what 

they are piloting and the 

expectations around the 

project. 

London Police 

Force s136 

workshop 

May 2015 Police officers from 

all three of London’s 

police forces (40 

attendees) 

Workshop lead by Chief 

Inspector from the Met 

Police to understand 

issues faced by front-line 

officers and to ensure 

Page 51



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

36 

they are addressed in the 

London s136 pathway 

guidance.    

 

Events and workshops 

This section outlines additional specific activities associated with programme 

stages 
 

London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Summit 
 

London’s first Mental Health Crisis Care Summit was held at the KIA Oval on 25th 

February 2016 to share learning and best practice in crisis care and explore the 

changes required in order to meet the needs and expectations of Londoners facing a 

mental health crisis. The summit brought together multi-agency partners including 

local crisis concordat groups, the Urgent & Emergency Care networks and key 

partners such as the Police and London Ambulance Service, to promote partnership 

working and strategic alignment across national, London and local initiatives. The 

day comprised of three sessions that allowed delegates to hear from national and 

London mental health leaders, receive updates on different crisis care programmes 

and participate in ‘share and learn’ workshops that focussed on good practice and 

innovation.  

200 delegates attended the day from numerous agencies across all five of London’s 

UEC Networks. There was strong representation from commissioners, providers, 

clinicians, managers, local authorities and service users. 

Feedback on the event received from delegates via evaluation forms and feedback 

cards was overall positive.  Comments highlighted the multiple opportunities to learn 

from others and hear from service users, while suggestions for improvement 

included covering less content in the agenda and further involving service users in 

the design and delivery of the event.   

Feedback and discussions from the event was used to inform the development of the 

programme. 

London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification development 
 

Over 50 meetings, workshops and pan-London forums took place to inform the case 

for change and the development of London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS 

Specification, including: 

 Service user and carer engagement (as outlined in separate section). 

Page 52



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

37 

 Establishment of CYP working group (including CAMHS and commissioners) 

 Site visits and meetings with pan London organisations including the London 

Ambulance Service and London’s three police forces 

 Engagement with acute trust and mental health trust staff including liaison 

psychiatry staff. 

 MH liaison officer workshop 

 Police frontline officer workshop 

 Scenario testing workshop 

London’s s136 pathway and HBPoS specification launch event 
 

On the 12th of December 2016, Mayor of London Sadiq Khan launched London’s 

s136 pathway and HBPoS Specification at an event at City Hall. The event brought 

together over 100 delegates from across London’s crisis care system to recognise 

the significant partnership work undertaken and to build momentum to ensure the 

collaboration continued to implement the guidance.  There was significant 

representation from service users, frontline and senior staff from Acute and Mental 

Health Trusts, commissioners, London’s police forces, London Ambulance Service, 

Local Authorities and the voluntary sector. Over 10% of attendees were service 

users and all organisations that formally endorsed the guidance were present at the 

event.  

The event offered a chance to hear from service users and leaders across London’s 

crisis care system, and to provide facilitated multi-agency discussions to familiarise 

delegates with the new guidance, identify current blockers in the system and 

understand the further work required to ensure its successful implementation.  

The event included presentations from an expert by experience and representative 

of the NSUN voluntary organisation, Sadiq Kahn (Mayor of London), John Brouder 

(Chief Executive of North East London Foundation Trust), Fionna Moore (former 

Chief Executive of London Ambulance Service) and Commander Christine Jones 

(Metropolitan Police and National Lead for Mental Health). Feedback and 

discussions from the event were used to inform the crisis care delivery plan to 

implement the guidance across London. 

173 unique Twitter users used the event hash tag #crisiscare16 in 400 posts. These 

tweets were delivered to over 3 million users and to almost 20 million Twitter 

streams. The launch of the new guidance was picked up by BBC London News and 

featured on both the lunchtime and evening programmes. The item featured service 

user Pat Kenny and Dr Mary Docherty, a psychiatrist from SLaM involved in the 

Page 53

https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/mental-health-crisis-care-londoners/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/mental-health-crisis-care-londoners/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

38 

development of the guidance. Dr Marilyn Plant, clinical lead for the programme, was 

interviewed for BBC Radio London. 

 

Options appraisal workshops 
 

In order to provide a viable solution to the existing issues, it was necessary to 

consider the full range of alternative delivery models for the s136 pathway and 

HBPoS specification. As such, a structured process made up of several steps was 

required to examine the options in order to identify the most desirable alternative to 

the status quo.  

At each stage, a set of criteria was used to measure the different reconfiguration 

options in terms of patient experience and outcomes as well as efficiency 

improvements to the wider system. Before progressing to the next stage of the 

options appraisal process, the criteria was approved by the Crisis Care 

Implementation Steering Group, a group including members from the police, London 

ambulance service, mental health trusts, acute trusts and experts by experience.  

Service user groups provided valuable input into the development of criteria and the 

options appraisal process, as described in the service user section. Frontline staff 

also had strong input into the options appraisal process, including outlining their 

priorities for a ‘good’ staff experience of the s136 pathway; this is shown in the figure 

below.  

Specifically, in May 2017, an options appraisal evaluation workshop was held with 

senior staff from the different stakeholder groups as well as staff from London’s 

mental health and acute trusts, and service users. At the workshop, pan-London 

configuration options were reviewed to provide recommendations for the optimal 

HBPoS configuration for London. The workshop representatives were able to use 

their experience and expertise to review and critique the options, and share opinions 

on the impact each option may have on patient experience, outcomes and the wider 

mental health and acute system. Recommended configuration options were then 

taken to a focussed testing workshop with mental health and urgent and emergency 

care clinical leads in June 2017.  

At the multi-agency evaluation workshop, it was agreed that the assessment 

regarding CYP HBPoS sites should be completed in a more focussed session with 

Children and Adult Mental Health Services (CAMHS) clinicians and commissioners 

and needed to incorporate wider developments occurring across the CAMHS 

system. Therefore, a separate CYP options appraisal workshop was held in June 

2017 which explored the HBPoS site configuration for CYP in the context of other 

CAMHS programmes in London. This workshop was supplemented by further 

engagement with CAMHS clinical leads from each Mental Health Trust which led to 

the notion that there should be one dedicated CYP HBPoS site in each STP to align 

Page 54



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

39 

with local pathways; this was incorporated into the final proposed preferred pan-

London configuration.  

Figure 7: Staff priorities 

 

Following the options appraisal workshops, a dedicated STP implementation 

workshop took place in mid-July 2017, with leads from each footprint. London’s STP 

leads involved in the programme attended the workshop to discuss how to align 

outputs from the London-wide HBPoS options appraisal with local implementation 

and decision making processes. It was agreed at this workshop that more extensive 

testing with stakeholders would take place, as well as taking local Health Based 

Place of Safety configuration proposals through appropriate governance boards and 

forums. With the range of representatives in the room from different London STPs, 

 Staff are part of a dedicated, skilled team that have capacity to appropriately 

manage the service and able to deliver high quality care to those in crisis. Staff 

are able to maximise their skills due to enough throughput of activity through the 

site.   

 Staff feel supported in their role and have access to the right tools and 

resources to carry out their responsibilities to deliver effective patient care.   

 Staff have a clear understanding of their roles and responsibilities within the 

s136 pathway including the powers under the mental health act.  

 The physical environment is pleasant, well equipped with good facilities and 

arranged in a way that supports staff to undertake their role.  

 Staff feel safe whilst carrying out their work and should be supported by clear 

organisational procedures to reduce risk, and ensure appropriate response. 

 Staff are appropriately trained to confidently carry out their role, e.g. training in 

the mental health act and de-escalation, and are provided with opportunity to 

learn and develop through their work.  

 Staff have positive working relationships across the multi-agency pathway to 

allow effective cooperation and to improve morale. 

 There are clear, effective and timely escalation protocols in place that ensure 

staff feel able to call on senior staff when necessary to provide additional 

support.   

 There are clear governance processes in place for staff to feedback on the 

service and effectively manage quality, performance and risk. 

Page 55



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

40 

the group was able to define what needed to happen locally in order to get to the 

proposed configuration for HBPoS sites, including engagement methods and 

timeframes for implementation. 

Programme STP leads tested the proposed short list of configuration options locally 

in late 2017 / early 2018, this included significant engagement with commissioners, 

Trust representatives, service users, Directors of Adult Social Services and 

Approved Mental Health Professionals as well as the London Ambulance Service 

and London’s three police forces.  

AMHP workshop 

An AMHP workshop was held in June 2017 led by Simon Pearce (Association of 

Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS)), with representatives covering all nine of 

London’s MH trusts; this group discussed the challenges that the current AMHP 

service could face with changes in the configuration of HBPoS sites across London. 

The group acknowledged that these challenges could be worked through, and 

proposed options for achieving this, including a pan-London agreement for cross-

borough working and dedicated AMHPs to each HBPoS site.    

Physical health competencies workshop  

A workshop was held in November 2017 between HLP and Health Education 

England (HEE) to scope existing opportunities to improve the physical health 

competencies of HBPoS staff. Discussions highlighted a particular interest in the 

development of rotational nursing programmes between EDs and HBPoS sites out of 

which came the HEE funded HBPoS/ED Rotational Nursing Programme (RNP). 

Twenty-four representatives from seven mental health trusts, four acute trusts (ED 

representatives), the Royal College of Nursing, Health Education England and the 

London Ambulance Service attended the workshop. 

Mental Health Act Multi-agency training 

Engagement with frontline staff involved in the crisis care pathway was further 

strengthened by multiagency training developed by HLP. This training was facilitated 

by an independent legal expert and aimed to inform staff on their roles and 

responsibilities under the new guidance. 

 It was also designed to ensure awareness of the Mental Health Act legislation 

changes and provide an opportunity to discuss with professions from other agencies 

the challenges for the s136 pathway. They also provided the opportunity to distribute 

supporting material for the guidance e.g. roles and responsibility posters for 

displaying in workplaces.  

Over 300 delegates attended the sessions including service users, and frontline staff 

from MH trusts, LAS, police and local authorities. A training toolkit was developed to 

Page 56

https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/crisis-care-toolkit/
https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/crisis-care-toolkit/


London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

41 

allow further training to take place locally. Further training sessions will take place in 

2018, focussing on the ED role in crisis care. 

Marketing and media 

To increase engagement in the development of the s136 new model of care HLP 

undertook a range of marketing activities including: 

 Social media activity e.g. Twitter (50 HLP Tweets from January 2016 – May 

2018) 

 Blogs e.g. Mental Health Today; HSJ; Rethink; and Taking the crisis out of 

mental health crisis care on the HLP site 

 An improving crisis care for Londoners video outlining the success of the SLAM 

pilot evaluation (December 2017) 

 In focus briefing - Healthy London Partnership London’s s136 Pathway and 

HBPoS Specification (December 2017) 

 Online news piece on new funding available to support crisis care (October 

2017) 

 Online news piece - Successful multiagency training for London’s mental health 

crisis care professionals (July 2017) 

 In focus briefing - Treat as One: Bridging the gap between mental and physical 

healthcare in general hospitals (April 2017) 

 Online news piece - Specialist A&E mental health support around the clock 24/7 

(April 2017) 

 Award entries: Shortlisted for the Patient Safety Awards 2018; entered the HSJ 

awards 2017 and 2018; shortlisted for the Healthcare Transformation Awards 

2018. 

 

London’s crisis care programme would like to thank all those involved in the 

programme thus far and going forward for their hard work and support. 

 

 

 

Page 57

https://www.rethink.org/news-views/2018/01/improving-londons-mental-health-crisis-care
https://www.healthylondon.org/taking-crisis-mental-health-crisis-care/
https://www.healthylondon.org/pilot-shows-health-based-place-safety-improves-care-lifts-pressure-aes/
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/In-focus-S136-and-health-based-places-of-safety-Dec-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/new-funding-available-support-londoners-crisis/
https://www.healthylondon.org/successful-multiagency-training-londons-mental-health-crisis-care-professionals/
https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/In-focus-Treat-as-one-19-April-2017.pdf
https://www.healthylondon.org/specialist-ae-mental-health-support-around-clock-24-7/


Supported by and delivering for London’s NHS, London Councils, Public Health England and the Mayor of London 

Appendix 1: STP Engagement Maps 

 Individual STP maps to show engagement that has taken place more recently since 

the pan-London guidance has been developed, including activities to 

support implementation through 2017 and 2018.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

43 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 59



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

44 

 

Page 60



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

45 

Appendix 2: Online survey 2016 demographic information 

The information below was collected at two points: 

 29th January – the point at which responses were analyses in order to develop 

initial drafts of the ‘I’ statements 

 24th February – the survey closure date 

 Characteristic Online survey at 29/1/16 (104 

responses) 

Online survey when closed 

24/2/16 (154 responses) 

Age 

12-17     3 3 

18-24 7 11 12 13 

25-34 14 22 16 17 

35-44 10 16 17 18 

45-54 23 36 31 33 

55-64 9 14 12 13 

65-74 1 1.5 2 2 

75-84     - - 

85 and over     1 1 

Gender 

Male 16 25 27 29 

Female 48 75 66 70 

Other     1 1 

Transgender 

Yes 0 0 1 1 

No 62 100 88 99 

Sexuality 

Bisexual 10 16 13 14 

Gay 3 5 4 4 

Page 61



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

46 

Heterosexual/straight 45 73 65 72 

Lesbian 1 2 3 3 

Other 3 5 5 6 

Religion 

No religion 26 41 33 36 

Christian 28 44 43 47 

Buddhist 1 2 2 2 

Hindu 2 3 3 3 

Jewish 0 0 2 2 

Muslim 0 0 0 0 

Sikh 1 2 2 2 

Other 5 8 7 8 

Long term health condition or disability 

Physical or sensory 12 28 13 22 

Learning or developmental 3 7 4 7 

Other (mainly mental 

health problems, also 

mental health problems 

with physical disability; 

diabetes; COPD; stroke 

survivor; chronic fatigue; 

asthma; vitamin and iron 

deficiency) 

28 65 43 72 

Ethnic group (only groups represented are listed) 

Asian or Asian British - 

Indian 

4 6 7 8 

Asian or Asian British – 

other Asian 

1 2 1 1 

Black or Black British - 

African 

1 2 4 4 

Mixed – White & Asian 1 2 1 1 

Page 62



London’s Mental Health Crisis Care Stakeholder Engagement Audit  July 2018 

47 

Mixed – White & Black 

African 

2 3 2 2 

Mixed – White & Black 

Caribbean 

1 2 1 1 

Mixed – another mixed 1 2 1 1 

White – White British 43 69 61 66 

White – White Irish 1 2 1 1 

White – another white 

background 

5 8 8 9 

Other ethnic group - Arab 0 0 1 1 

Other ethnic group – 

another ethnic background 

3 5 5 5 

Page 63



Supported by and delivering for London’s NHS, London Councils, Public Health England and the Mayor of London 

Appendix 3: Service User ‘I’ statements 

P
age 64



Supported by and delivering for London’s NHS, London Councils, Public Health England and the Mayor of London 

Appendix 4: CYP ‘I’ statement 

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Supported by and delivering for London’s NHS, Public Health England and the Mayor of London 

 

 

 

Mental Health Crisis Care for 

Londoners 

HBPoS Business Case - DRAFT 

March 2018 

 

Page 67

adawson_1
Text Box
APPENDIX C



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  2 

 

Contents 

1 Executive Summary ............................................................................................................. 3 

2 Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 28 

2.1 Introduction and purpose of document ........................................................................ 29 

3 Strategic case .................................................................................................................... 34 

3.1 Mental health crisis care in London ............................................................................. 36 

3.2 Case for change.......................................................................................................... 38 

3.3 Vision and objectives .................................................................................................. 49 

4 Clinical case ....................................................................................................................... 52 

4.1 Existing clinical challenges .......................................................................................... 53 

4.2 Clinical benefits of the preferred option ....................................................................... 57 

5 Economic case ................................................................................................................... 61 

5.1 Options assessment ................................................................................................... 63 

5.2 Indicative economic costs and benefits ....................................................................... 74 

6 Financial case .................................................................................................................... 91 

6.1 Baseline ‘do nothing’ pathway costs ............................................................................ 94 

6.2 Preferred option pathway costs ................................................................................. 106 

6.3 Variance in pathway costs ........................................................................................ 115 

6.4 Transition costs ......................................................................................................... 122 

6.5 Capital costs ............................................................................................................. 123 

6.6 Summary and funding arrangements ........................................................................ 124 

6.7 Risks to financial assessment ................................................................................... 126 

7 Management case ........................................................................................................... 128 

7.1 Transitional phase ..................................................................................................... 129 

7.2 Implementation ......................................................................................................... 133 

7.3 Post implementation ................................................................................................. 143 

8 Commercial case ............................................................................................................. 146 

8.1 Commercial strategy ................................................................................................. 147 

8.2 Synergy with the wider crisis care system ................................................................. 149 

9 Workforce case ................................................................................................................ 151 

9.1 Current staffing arrangements ................................................................................... 152 

9.2 Future staffing arrangements .................................................................................... 157 

Appendix A ............................................................................................................................. 167 

 

  

Page 68



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  3 

 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1.1 Introduction 

The purpose of this document is to provide a business case to support implementation of 

London’s section 136 (s136) new model of care and the proposed reconfiguration of Health 

Based Place of Safety (HBPoS) sites. This is to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of 

treatment and quality of care for people experiencing mental health crisis along the s136 

pathway and the broader crisis care system.  

 

To implement this innovative new model of care, bold action needs to be taken by London’s 

crisis care system. Strong collaboration and new ways of working across healthcare, social care, 

police and third sector organisations are imperative, including breaking down the silos that exist 

between organisations and barriers between physical and mental healthcare. Whilst there must 

be an increased focus on local action to prevent crises occurring, when a crisis does happen, 

people experiencing mental health crisis need to have timely, high quality care, which respects 

individual needs, wherever they are in London.  

 
The voice of people with mental health problems must be at the heart of the changes. Londoners 

say over and over again that their care whilst in crisis does not meet the basics of dignity, 

respect and high quality compassionate care. Services are often not delivered in the right 

environment to help people recover. Londoners are often denied access to HBPoS sites and 

Emergency Departments (EDs), left in the back of police cars and ambulances, or transferred 

unnecessarily between EDs and HBPoS sites due to a lack of appropriate and co-ordinated 

care. There is still not parity of esteem for mental health; as is clearly reflected in the disparity of 

care for people with mental health issues as opposed to physical ones. People with mental 

health problems and clinicians have recognised the opportunity to address a forgotten service 

and make s136 an active part of the crisis pathway. 

 

Whilst the new model of care will have positive impacts on the crisis care system as a whole, it is 

also important to recognise that in order for it to be sustainable, all parts of the wider system 

need to be functioning well including: preventative initiatives which assist in demand 

management (such as Street Triage and Serenity Integrated Mentoring (SIM)), adequate flow 

through inpatient services including reduced delayed transfers of care (DTOC), well-resourced 

and responsive community crisis response, and aftercare teams to support on discharge. The 

ideal pathway for a person in mental health crisis will involve positive, coordinated interactions 

with more than one of a range of services that will support them. 

The optimal pathway for an individual detained under s136 is detailed below. The diagram 

shows the pathway is one element of the wider crisis care system; preventative and early 

“There is a stark disparity in the response from the health and social care system to people 
with mental health vs. physical health problems and this is unacceptable. People with mental 
health crisis needs are often denied access to care by the NHS in a way that is discriminatory 
and may have to be conveyed over many hours to multiple points of care in a police vehicle 
or ambulance in deeply distressing circumstances - sometimes even ending up detained in a 
police cell. It is unthinkable that this would be tolerated for a vulnerable individual who was 
physically in need of urgent care.” Mental health service user (2017)  

Page 69



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  4 

 

intervention services must be in place to prevent people from reaching crisis point as well as 

adequate follow up pathways once assessed at the HBPoS site.  

Figure 1: The pan-London’s section 136 pathway 

 

This business case sets out the rationale for improving London’s s136 pathway and for the 

HBPoS site reconfiguration to proceed, subject to completion of all recommendations herein and 

obtaining regulatory approval and funding. 

 

 

 

 

Page 70



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  5 

 

1.1.2 Strategic Case 

 

 

London is currently facing significant challenges across the crisis care system 
owing to rising levels of mental ill health and challenges with current service 
provision. It is anticipated that services will be required to change to address these 
challenges and become sustainable in the medium term. 

► The vision is to provide safety and high quality care and treatment to people 
detained under s136 by delivering the following six strategic objectives: 

o Enable the improvement in s136 patient outcomes 

o Facilitate access to 24/7 services 

o Ensure appropriate service provision for all ages 

o Concentrate staff expertise to enable a service suitable to patient needs 

o Ensure synergy with the wider crisis care system  

o Deliver value for money 

► Delays in accessing support and on-going treatment negatively impacts 
patient experience and outcomes. 

► The new model of care provides the opportunity to achieve improved access 
and patients outcomes, higher levels of patient satisfaction, positive benefits 
to staff, deliver 24/7 services, reduce inequality and realise efficiencies across 
the local health and care economy and wider society.  

► There is a continued drive for high quality sustainable care in the NHS. People 
with mental health problems, carers, clinicians and regulatory bodies have 
highlighted that there is too much variation in both quality and access across 
different services.  

► Increasing financial and operational pressures are being placed on mental 
health Trusts due to demand for services is increasing. Funding does not meet 
requirements to maintain standards of care; there is a need for all NHS 
organisations to engage in wider transformational change and service 
reconfiguration with other agencies towards highly responsive, effective and 
personalised services for people with urgent physical and mental health needs. 

► South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust (SLAM) has piloted the new 
model of care at their centralised HBPoS site. 

 An average of 15% more admissions are accepted.  

 Having a 24/7 dedicated team has meant there has been only one closure over the 
last year; sites were closed 279 times previously over a 12 month period; 

 The number of individuals taken to an ED before going to the centralised site has 
reduced; 

 96% of individuals detained are being admitted to the HBPoS within 30 minutes of 
arrival;  

 The new purpose built facility provides a physical environment which is much more 
conducive to recovery;  

 76% of service users provided positive feedback, finding the service more respectful 
and responsive; 

 The rate of admission to an inpatient bed has fallen by 13%. 

 

Page 71



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  6 

 

Mental health crisis care in London 

London’s mental health crisis care system is under significant pressure and simply does not 

have the services and infrastructure to ensure that people experiencing mental health crisis 

receive timely, high quality care that respects their individual needs. Across London’s s136 

pathway there are 20 designated HBPoS sites which vary in capacity, facilities, workforce and 

services. Most of the facilities are not fit-for-purpose and cannot handle current and future 

patient activity along the s136 pathway, let alone high quality, effective care. 

There is a requirement for delivery of a new model which ensures that people experiencing a 

mental health crisis have the right care delivered at the right location, at the right time, by staff 

with the right skillset and in suitable facilities. 

Moreover, the potential gains are clear for the NHS and wider public sector from intervening 

earlier, investing in effective, evidence-based care and integrating the care of people’s mental 

and physical health. In addition to the moral imperative and the clear clinical and individual 

benefits, it is important to recognise that there is a financial necessity to manage the challenges 

of the years ahead.  

The proposal is in line with wider policy goals relating to health and social care and particularly 

mental health care provision in England. Providing a better service to those detained under s136 

will contribute to the aims and objectives outlined in the Crisis Care Concordat and the NHS Five 

Year Forward View. It also aligns to Mental Health and Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) 

deliverables within London’s STP plans and ensures the pan-London s136 pathway and Health 

Based Place of Safety specification (endorsed by all key stakeholders and launched by the 

Mayor of London in late 2016) is met.  

Issues across the s136 pathway and current HBPoS configuration   

There are six key issues across London’s s136 pathway and the current HBPoS configuration, 

which all play a role in affecting the experience of those in mental health crisis.  

 Inconsistent quality of care: The care on offer at London’s HBPoS sites can vary due 

to differing levels of staff training and skillsets of the staff allocated to HBPoS sites. 

London’s service users and clinical staff have indicated the current ‘ad-hoc’ staffing 

model, where staff are pulled off wards when a person detained under s136 arrives, is 

not conducive to good patient care, both to those detained under s136 but also those on 

the ward where staffing numbers are depleted for a 12-24 hour period. Some sites 

across London also indicated that nursing and medical staff were not trained in de-

escalation, which is recommended for managing those with disturbed behaviour. 

 

 Inappropriate provision for Children and Young People (CYP): Patients who are 

under 18 require appropriate facilities and specialised staff that can respond to their 

specific needs. However, at present many of London’s HBPoS sites have local protocols 

that restrict children and adolescents from the site. EDs are regularly used as the default 

position when HBPoS sites are unable to manage CYP detained under s136. When this 

occurs children can be in the ED for a 24-72 hour period due to lack of appropriate 

staffing but also the lack of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) beds 

available in London.  

   

Page 72



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  7 

 

 Delayed and unreliable access to care: London’s three police forces, the London 

Ambulance Service (LAS) and NHS Trusts continuously struggle to find capacity at 

HBPoS sites. This is primarily due to sites not having sufficient capacity to meet demand 

and because the absence of 24/7 staffing prevents effective patient flow, both in and out 

of hours. As the number of s136 detentions increase, this adds additional pressure to 

London’s EDs and increases the length of time people are detained due to waiting in the 

back of a police van, ambulance vehicle or in ED.  

 

A typical Emergency Department sees on average 300 patients a day who are in the 

department for an average of 2.5 hours. When an individual detained under s136 is in the 

department they spend on average 12 hours due to their complex health and social 

needs. This means that the care for one person detained under s136 is the equivalent of 

being able to treat ten other patients, based on the time s136 patient spend in 

department being five times that of other patients and requiring twice as much resource.  

 

Treating a s136 patient in A&E takes on average the same resource as treating 10 

physically ill patients and patients are significantly more likely to breach the A&E 4 hour 

standard and 12 hour standard.  In an average A&E department, seeing 300 non-s136 

patients a week, 10 patients equates to 3.3% of standard daily activity and therefore by 

treating s136 patients in a more appropriate environment frees up A&E resource and 

would positively impact on performance against the A&E standards. 

Clinical staff have noted that delays in accessing support and on-going treatment 

negatively impacts patient experience and outcomes. Staff have stated that those who 

experience poor treatment at the start of the pathway are less likely to engage with health 

services, co-produced crisis plans are jeopardised and a lot of the trust between 

clinicians and the patient is lost.1 This is illustrated by the fact that in 2015/2016 there 

were approximately 320 Londoner’s who were detained again under s136 within two 

days.2  

 Challenging treatment environments: A number of HBPoS sites were deemed not fit-

for-purpose by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). It is important that during a mental 

health crisis, the treatment environment supports a good experience for those detained, 

staff efficiency and protects safety including that of staff. This problem in London is 

intensified by the fact that four of the designated HBPoS sites are EDs; whilst in some 

instances it is necessary for mental health crisis patients to attend an ED due to specific 

physical health needs e.g. overdose or self-harm, it is recognised that a busy ED is not 

always the most suitable environment for the care of patients in mental health crisis.   

 Funding issues: Current funding arrangements do not promote Trusts to accept people 

into HBPoS sites based on need but rather a number of people are accepted and 

assessed based on their home address or registered GP. This causes delays and 

inconsistent and variable care across London; patients are denied access to urgent 

mental health care - something that does not happen to Londoner’s who require urgent 

physical healthcare.  

                                                
1
 NHS -  Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety 

Specification 
2
 NHS -  Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety 

Specification 

Page 73



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  8 

 

 Inpatient bed availability: The lack of inpatient beds in London impacts on the s136 

pathway increasing the length of time patients spend at HBPoS sites. In line with the 

Mental Health Act, Approved Mental Health Professionals (AMHPs) cannot complete the 

Mental Health Act assessment until a bed is found. The lack of inpatient beds causes a 

delay in completing the assessment and there is now additional pressure given the 

recent changes to the Mental Health Act3. Currently, the London average is 

approximately 41% of those detained under s136 are admitted to an inpatient ward 

following assessment.  

Evidence from elsewhere in the UK and in London (e.g. Birmingham and South London and 

Maudsley Mental Health Trust) suggests that confronting these issues can lead to improvements 

in patient experience and outcomes, reduced inpatient admissions and decreased readmissions. 

It is important that the rest of London follows suit.  

Pilot of London’s s136 new model of care 

South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust is the first Trust in London to fully implement 

the London s136 pathway guidance and HBPoS specification to provide a 24/7 staffed place of 

safety for adults and children detained under s136. Healthy London Partnership with 

stakeholders from across the crisis care system have evaluated the new model of care which 

has received overwhelmingly positive feedback from service users as well as significant 

improvements in the pressure often experienced by the police, paramedics, EDs and the sites 

themselves. The key findings include: 

 The site accepts on average 15% more admissions than previously across the four sites 

in that area. The activity increase represents the amount of patients turned away at 

previous single occupancy sites located in Croydon, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark; 

 Having a dedicated team at the centralised site has meant that it has only been closed 

once over the past year - a stark improvement - sites were closed 279 times previously 

over a 12 month period; 

 The number of individuals detained under s136 that have had to be taken to an ED 

before going to the centralised site has reduced - partly due to the fact that the staff 

based at the pilot site are better trained to address physical health issues; 

 Individuals detained under section 136 are being admitted to the sites quicker, with 96% 

of cases being admitted within 30 minutes of arrival; 

 The physical environment has been transformed through the new purpose built facility 

which is much more conducive to recovery;  

 Service user’s satisfaction with the centralised site has significantly improved with 76% of 

service users providing positive feedback;  

 The rate of admission to an inpatient bed has fallen by 13% under the new model 

following comprehensive assessment by dedicated staff; and 

 Improving flow will be important to reduce the time patients are detained at the suite in 

light of new legislation. 

The feedback from service users is that they received a more respectful, more responsive and 

less fragmented experience from all agencies involved; from the police and ambulance services, 

to ED and social and mental health services. 

                                                
3
 Revisions to the MHA (1983) changed the length of time an individual can be detained under s136 from 

72 to 24 hours.  

Page 74



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  9 

 

1.1.3 Clinical Case 

 

In the existing system, there are a number of clinical challenges along the s136 pathway which 

affect patient experiences and outcomes. These include: 

 Inconsistent quality of care - Only 14% of people with experience of mental health 

crisis interviewed said that they had the support they needed in a crisis.4 Issues within 

the crisis care system, such as the delays and unsuitable environments discussed 

above, contribute to potentially harmful patient experiences. Patients have also shown a 

clear preference for 24/7, dedicated crisis services even if that means travelling 

marginally further to access care. Patient experiences also vary due to differing levels of 

staff training and skillsets at the HBPoS sites and EDs. Staff who are not dedicated to 

treating mental health crisis patients feel less confident in their ability to contribute to 

mental health assessments; 

 

 Inappropriate provision for CYP - In a survey by the Royal College of Psychiatrists, 

79.1% of respondents reported safeguarding concerns while CYP waited for an inpatient 

bed; 61.9% reported young people being held in inappropriate settings such as paediatric 

and adult wards, police cells, and EDs.5  The use of adult wards and EDs for managing 

                                                
4
 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 

5
 Survey of in-patient admissions for children and young people with mental health problems. RCPsych, Faculty 

Report CAP/01 

London’s mental health crisis system is facing a number of clinical challenges that 

have been identified through significant engagement with people with lived 

experience of mental health crisis, the LAS and clinical staff at both HBPoS sites 

and EDs and corroborated by the CQC, most recently in a report published in July 

2017.  

The new model of care will contribute significantly to improving these challenges and help 

deliver better outcomes to Londoners: 

1. Improve the quality of care by enabling more capacity across the system, better 
environment conditions and suitably trained and dedicated staff teams, enable the 
delivery of a consistent level of care for all, which support reduced inpatient 
admissions and readmissions. 

2. Improve the provision of care for CYP by increasing the capacity of appropriate 
facilities for CYP with suitably trained staff. 

3. Improve access to care by being better placed to accommodate capacity and 
demand, supporting reduced ED admissions, providing dedicated staffing 24/7, 
reducing conveyance time and enabling patients to be assessed and treated 
holistically and comprehensively.  

4. Improve the environment in which care is provided by ensuring patients are 
treated with respect, comfort and dignity and feel safe at all times, in fit-for-purpose 
facilities. 

Implementation will be carried out with strong clinical engagement and leadership to 

ensure clinical quality is maintained and improved at all sites throughout the 

transformation. 

Page 75



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  10 

 

CYP has been described as problematic by stakeholders due to the perceived lack of 

staff expertise together with inappropriate facilities to care for CYP; 

 

 Delayed and unreliable access to care - In 2015, over 100 issues related to HBPoS 

capacity and access across the s136 pathway were reported by frontline police officers.6 

This number increased in 2016 and 2017, with some instances of police officers and 

paramedics recording waits of over seven hours in accessing care, despite it being clear 

that without prompt intervention, a patient’s mental health condition can deteriorate. A 

poor experience at the beginning of the s136 pathway can have traumatising effects for 

individuals, leading to worse clinical outcomes and a reluctance to seek professional help 

in the early stages of any future deterioration in mental health; and 

 

 Unsuitable treatment environments - London’s treatment environments for people 

experiencing mental health crisis vary, but often fail to provide a therapeutic setting for 

patients. In their most recent reports from 2016 and 2017, the CQC rated two London 

HBPoS sites as ‘requires improvement’ and one as ‘inadequate’.  The feedback is even 

worse for those that are transferred to Emergency Departments due to capacity issues; 

only 12% of those assessed in an ED thought their assessment rooms were pleasant, 

comfortable and welcoming. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These benefits have been demonstrated by models both nationally and in London that have 

made changes that reflect the new model of care. 

 

                                                
6
 Metropolitan Police Mental Health Escalation Log (2015) 

The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites seeks to address these challenges 

through: 

 Reducing delays throughout the pathway including improving the access to 

care, approximately 45% and 23% reduction in average police and ambulance 

conveyance times respectively and a 29% reduction in time spent at the 

HBPoS; 

 Improving the treatment environment and staff expertise in both mental and 

physical health to support improved patient experience and outcomes.  

 Reducing approximately 531 unnecessary ED attendances due to improved 

access and improved physical health competencies of HBPoS staff; this 

equates to resources for 5310 additional patients or 12,744 extra hours of 

patient care, which would become available to treat other patients. 

 Each person detained under s136 attending ED accounts for 3.3 percentage 

points of activity (equivalent of 10 other patients) which if not seen will directly 

impact on performance against the four hour and twelve hour standard.   

 Decreasing the overall rates of inpatient admissions and readmissions, 20% 

(1061 admissions) and 48% (2547 readmissions) respectively. 

 Reduction in LAS handover time; LAS estimate a nine minute improvement in 

the handover of s136 patients, it is clear that this will have a positive impact 

on the majority of waiting and handover times across London. 

 

Page 76



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  11 

 

1.1.4 Economic Case 

 

 

The current configuration of HBPoS sites in London is not conducive to meeting 
the standards outlined in the pan-London s136 pathway and HBPoS specification.  

HBPoS sites are historically located where space has been available; however, capacity 
issues, a lack of dedicated, skilled resource (both in and out of hours) and lack of access 
predicated on geographic location of need are all drivers for a change of the current 
configuration. 

► A robust options appraisal has demonstrated a reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is 
required to meet the new model of care. The options appraisal showed a 
preference of moving to:  

o Nine site model for adults with a combined workforce model (further 
details on the workforce model is detailed in the workforce chapter); and  

o Five sites (one in each STP) within the nine site model that provide an 
all-age service.  

► The options appraisal represented the best option to address the mental health 
crisis care problems across London, bringing sustainable improvements and 
lasting benefits for patients, as well as driving improvements in the wider health 
economy. 

► This option is the preferred state for London’s future HBPoS site configuration; 
however a transitional 13 site phase has been developed following STP 
programme leads engaging locally on proposed configurations.  
 

► The indicative benefits of the reconfiguration based on nine sites have been 
quantified by estimating the NHS financial savings as well as measuring the social 
impact of nine key outcomes. 

o NHS financial savings total £14,384k 

  £795k cashable / £13,589k non-cashable 

o Social impact savings (non-cashable) measured at £5,572k 

► The total baseline pathway cost is c. £20,632k p.a. (excluding activity 
growth).  

► The total estimated cost of the reconfiguration is £23,744k which includes the 
following: 

o Pathway cost £20,494k p.a. 

o Transition costs £1,000k 

o Capital costs £2,250k 

► The indicative net present benefit of the reconfiguration over the five year period 
FY17/18 to FY21/22 is £73,927k which includes; 

o Net present value of non-cashable benefits (excluding non-pay costs) 
£66,174k 

o Net present value of the preferred option £7,753k 

Page 77



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  12 

 

Overview 

A detailed options appraisal has been carried out in order to arrive at the preferred option, the 

‘consolidated model’ of nine HBPoS sites. Within the nine site model the outcome of the options 

appraisal was that within each STP, one of the HBPoS sites should provide an all-age service 

with the appropriate facilities. This is to ensure those that are under 18 receive care in a suitable 

HBPoS site with adequate facilities and that EDs are not used.   

Following the options appraisal, further engagement led by programme STP leads took place 

across the system on the preferred option. The engagement process resulted in some STPs 

confirming sites that would be included in a pan-London nine site model whilst others required 

more time to develop local plans, reflecting on other crisis care services and further 

understanding the impact of patient flow across local systems. This is particularly the case (but 

to varying degrees) in North West London (NWL), North East London (NEL) and South East 

London (SEL).  

This resulted in a transitional stage of 13 HBPoS sites across London (including five sites that 

provide an all-age service). The 13 site transitional stage is referenced throughout the following 

chapters with further detail in the management case.   

Options appraisal  

The options appraisal process comprised of three phases: 

 Phase 1a: Site agnostic appraisal 

 Phase 1b: Site specific appraisal 

 Phase 2: Pan – London site configuration assessment 

 Phase 3: Preferred option 

At each phase, a set of criteria was used to reduce the millions of potential configurations to one 

preferred model. These criteria included quality, access to care, deliverability, strategic 

coherence and value for money. Figure 2 provides a map of the preferred 9 site configuration 

following the options appraisal as well as additional sites in the transitional phase (faded 

circles)7. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
7
 City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health received a marginally higher options appraisal score than 

Newham Centre for Mental Health. For this business case, the former is considered the preferred site, 
however as implementation plans progress the preferred site may change. 

Page 78



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  13 

 

 

Figure 2: Pan-London consolidated HBPoS site model  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All sites within the 9 and 13 site model are suited for adult provision, with one site per STP 

providing an all-age service. The preferred CYP sites in the transitional 9 and 13 site model are: 

The Wandsworth Recovery Centre (SWL), Maudsley Hospital (SEL), Highgate Mental Health 

Centre (NCL), and St. Charles (NWL). Newham Centre for Mental Health (NEL) is the preferred 

all-age site in the 13 site model; however, on transition to the 9 site model, the all-age provision 

will need to be reassessed as the Newham Centre is not included.  

Some of the key attributes of the consolidated model are: 

 The location is spread evenly across London, ensuring equity of inner and outer London, 

but also at an STP level. The consolidated approach, with dedicated staffing, also 

ensures that capacity is adequate to deal with fluctuations in demand at peak hours;  

 Eight of the nine sites are within 0.5 miles8 of an ED, ensuring that urgent physical care 

can be accessed if required; 

 100% of the sites are within 0.5 miles of an inpatient mental health bed (both adult and 

CYP); 

 88.5% of the s136 cohort will be 45mins9 or less away from an HBPoS site. For the 

remainder of those detained under s136, the average time would be 53 minutes, with a 

range of 48 – 56 minutes. If patients were to be conveyed by blue light (only when 

suffering a life threatening clinical condition), 100% would be 45mins or less away; and  

                                                
8
 0.5 miles was agreed by service users, carers and operational staff to be the maximum distance HBPoS 

sites should be from inpatient and physical health services. 
9
 45 minutes travel time aligns to the timeframes used for London’s stroke and trauma reconfiguration and 

is consistent with national and international good practice.   

Page 79



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  14 

 

 The utilisation of facilities and staff will significantly improve, with an expected capacity 

utilisation of 58% and workforce utilisation of 62% across the nine sites. Based on 5,307 

s136 patients equating to 58% utilisation, this would provide a range of 5,307-9,150 at 

peak capacity (100% utilisation), providing headroom to allow HBPoS sites to better 

manage peaks and troughs in activity. 

 Furthermore, the experience from SLAM’s centralised HBPoS illustrates that quieter 

periods give time for on-site training and for adequate breaks and reflection in what is on 

other occasions a high intensity environment; this has a positive impact on staff wellbeing 

and contributes to high retention rates.  

Economic costs and benefits 

The Economic Case also outlines the indicative economic costs and benefits of the nine site 

model. This chapter focuses on the nine site model; further information on costs and benefits for 

the 13 site transitional phase is outlined in the management case.  

The total estimated pathway cost of the preferred option is £20,494k p.a. giving a £138k saving 

on the baseline pathway cost of £20,632 p.a. (excluding impact of activity growth). In addition, 

the preferred option assumes transition and capital costs of £1,000k and £2,250k respectively 

will to be incurred through FY17/18 and FY18/19.  In particular, the consolidation of HBPoS sites 

will require an increase in capacity for the majority of sites within the preferred option, for 

example through an increase in the number of assessment rooms, thereby necessitating capital 

investment. These costs are discussed in more detail in the financial case.   

A range of benefits, which are designed to specifically enhance patient experience along the 

s136 pathway, include the financial, economic and social values which will be realised as a 

result of implementing the new model of care which includes the consolidation of HBPoS sites.   

Table 1 below sets out the financial benefits totalling £14,384k which are estimated to be 

delivered, £795k of which is assumed to be cashable, £13,589k non-cashable. In addition, a 

further £5,572k social impact savings have been identified as part of the nine site option 

analysis. Table 2 sets out the indicative benefits per STP / HBPoS, both cashable and non-

cashable, with the allocation calculated on a capitation basis; this will require further review and 

analysis at next business case stage. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  15 

 

Table 1: Benefits overview 

No. Outcome 
Financial (cashable) 
benefit Value p.a 
(£000) 

Financial (non-
cashable) benefit 
Value p.a (£000) 

Benefit of measuring 
social impact (non-
cashable) - Value p.a 
(£000) 

Total Value 
p.a (£000) 

1a
10

 
 Reduced conveyance time 
(ambulance and police 
vehicle)  

£498 - £14 £512 

2 Reduced ED admissions £297 -    £60 £357 

3 
Reduced length of stay at 
HBPoS 

                                 -                                       - £87 £87 

4 Improved staff expertise NA -  NA Qualitative 

5 
Improved HBPoS 
environment 

                                 -                                       - £335 £335 

6 Reduced non-pay costs                                  -    £5,542*                                    -    £5,542 

7 
Reduced inpatient 
admissions 

                                 -    £7,918** £4,606 £12,524 

8 
Reduced HBPoS 
readmissions 

-    £129** £470 £598 

9 
Improving the wider crisis 
care system 

NA NA NA Qualitative 

  Total £795* £13,589 £5,572** £19,956 

*Financial benefits figures included in the preferred pathway costing analysis in section 5 of this business case 

**Total non-cashable benefits figure (£13,619k combined) included in indicative net benefits calculation in subsection 

4.2.5 of this business case 

Table 2: Benefits overview by STP / HBPoS 

 

In total, after considering financial and non-financial savings, the indicative net present value of 

the preferred option over the five year period FY17/18 to FY21/22 is estimated at approximately 

£70,931k which includes: 

 Net present value of non-cashable benefits (excluding non-pay costs) £66,174k; and 

 Net present value of the preferred option £4,757k. 

                                                
10

 Combined benefit for LAS and Police 

STP SEL SWL

HBPoS
Chase Farm 

H

Highgate 

MHC

Lakeside 

MHU

Riverside 

C

 St 

Charles

City & 

Hackney 

MHC

Sunflower 

Ct
Southwark Wandsworth

No. Outcome
Total 

£'000s

1
 Reduced conveyance time 

(ambulance vs. police vehicle) 
£111 £50 £512

2 Reduced ED admissions £78 £35 £357

3 Reduced length of stay at HBPoS £5 £13 £9 £2 £6 £16 £8 £19 £8 £87

5 Reduced non-pay costs £20 £50 £35 £9 £24 £61 £32 £73 £33 £335

6 Reduced inpatient admissions £326 £824 £575 £141 £396 £1,014 £521 £1,205 £540 £5,542

7 Reduced HBPoS readmissions £736 £1,862 £1,300 £319 £894 £2,292 £1,178 £2,723 £1,220 £12,524

8
Improving the wider crisis care 

system
£35 £89 £62 £15 £43 £109 £56 £130 £58 £598

Total £1,303 £2,838 £2,156 £486 £1,363 £3,733 £1,795 £4,339 £1,944 £19,956

£106 £103 £142

£99£74 £72

Indicative preferred option benefits (£'000s)

NCL NWL NEL

Page 81



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  16 

 

Improving the wider crisis care system 

The new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites across London will not only have a 

direct impact on the s136 pathway; it will have wider implications for the entire crisis care system 

in the capital: 

 The first notable benefit is that the new model will future proof services. The reconfigured 

sites allow capacity to be utilised in a more sustainable manner, ensuring that 

infrastructure can better cope with volatility in demand and potential growth in coming 

years; 

 Successful implementation of a pan-London model with improved facilities and a high 

quality standard of care will raise the profile of crisis care as a whole and is likely to 

encourage future service improvement in crisis care services, including potential 

expansion of other services and training; 

 In addition, the new model of care will promote greater synergies between crisis care 

services and other physical and health services within the NHS and well as local demand 

management schemes that are emerging (e.g. Street Triage and the Serenity Integrated 

Mentoring (SIM) model). The specialised 24/7 staffed sites will lead to focal points for 

crisis care activity, providing the opportunity for a solid network of supporting services to 

be developed around the sites and bringing transparency and recognition to an often 

forgotten and ‘ad hoc’ service;   

 The investment will support the broader objective of closing the financial gap between 

physical and mental health care funding. There are direct financial benefits to the 

reconfigured pathway as detailed in Section 5. Furthermore, the new model of care will 

provide a platform from which performance and trends can be appraised across the 

system, establishing the potential for further cost efficiencies; and 

 The new model of care proposes a standardised, consistent s136 pathway across 

London. This presents an opportunity to collect and appraise standardised crisis care 

data. Using this as an initial platform to expand data collection across crisis care, will 

ensure that performance of the whole crisis care system can be effectively evaluated; 

this will support identification and sharing of best practice and identification of 

opportunities for wider service improvement and cost efficiencies.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  17 

 

1.1.5 Financial Case 

 

Financial costs 

To understand the financial implications of the HBPoS reconfiguration, it is necessary to cost 

each step of the s136 pathway and determine the potential impact of the new model. However, 

there are a number of complications with trying to estimate a baseline cost for the s136 pathway, 

including inconsistent pathway practices and a lack of available data. 

Nevertheless, pathway costs have been estimated by utilising existing secondary data sources 

provided by the LAS, Police and the NHS; supplemented through a series of data collection 

audits and surveys. The analysis considered the costs of conveyance, HBPoS sites and EDs 

The current configuration of HBPoS sites in London, with a lack of dedicated, 

specialty skilled resource, results in a cost pressure for most MH Trusts, with staff 

diverted from other roles (often from inpatient facilities) to attend to s136 patients. 

The preferred nine site option is estimated to cost c. £20.5m p.a. compared to the 

baseline pathway cost of c. £20.6m p.a. (excluding impact of activity growth), a decrease 

of £0.1m 

The interim stage of transition to the preferred option will involve a total of 13 sites at an 
estimated cost of c. £23.2m p.a. 

Over the five year period FY18/19 to FY22/23 total costs of the reconfiguration are 

estimated at c. £106.8m, compared to £111.7m per the baseline pathway. This gives a 

net savings of £4.9m, with a NPV of £4.8m.  

The current plan is predicated on the following assumptions: 

► Preferred option is implemented in FY19/20 

► Net activity growth of 16.5% (allow for demographic growth and growth from 
recent statutory changes) 

► Successful delivery of £6.3m financial savings (of which £795k are cashable cost 
savings) 

► £1m transition costs; however, this is only an estimate and it is acknowledged 
that further analysis and refinement is required 

► £2.3m capital expenditure; however, this is only an estimate and it is 
acknowledged that further analysis will be required during implementation 
planning, with capital requirements per site defined with local estates team. A 
transitional stage of 13 sites would require £450k less capital funding 

► £3.3m funding being made available from CCGs / pooling of budgets across STP 
footprints 

Risks inherent to the financial analysis of the s136 pathway and HBPoS specification 

include: 

► Gaps in data collection 

► Robustness of data 

► Access to data 

Page 83



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  18 

 

and determined a total saving of £138k per annum. This saving is primarily a result of non-pay 

savings, which result from a reduction in sites. Table 3 below summarises the annual variances. 

Table 3: Summary of cost variances 

Reference Stakeholders Baseline Preferred Option Variance 

1a11 Police £203k £112k (£91k) 

1b11 Police (with LAS) £435k £333k (£102k) 

212 LAS £1,310k £1,004k (£306k) 

3 ED £297k £0k (£297k) 

4 AMHPs £1,118k £1,175k £57k 

5 Independent s12 

Doctor £378k £302k (£76k) 

6 HBPoS: workforce £5,417k £11,636k £6,219k 

7 HBPoS:  non-pay £11,473k £5,931k (£5,542k) 

 Total £20,632k £20,494k (£138k) 

 

Transition costs  

The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites across London will be a complex undertaking and as such, 

resources will be required to support in the transition.  

It is proposed that implementation will be led locally and coordinated at an STP level. To this 

regard and with detailed implementation planning still to be undertaken, subject to the 

progression of this business case, it is difficult to provide a firm estimate of the level of resource 

required. However, it is acknowledged that resource will be required at both a local level and at a 

pan-London level to support the transition requirements. 

For the purpose of the wider costing exercise it is proposed that £100k will be required per STP 

to support the transition. This establishes a total cost of £500k p.a. in FY18/19 and FY19/20 to 

support the transition. This is however, a high-level estimate and will require further refinement. 

Capital costs  

The consolidation of HBPoS sites will require an increase in capacity for the majority of sites 

which are incorporated within the preferred option. As such, to support this increase in capacity, 

capital investment will be required at many HBPoS sites.  

                                                
11

  1a the cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone and 1b when conveying with LAS. 
12

 The cost to LAS when they convey (always with police). 

Page 84



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  19 

 

Aside from the increase in the number of assessment rooms, the degree to which an existing 

site can accommodate a larger HBPoS will vary. While analysis has been undertaken as part of 

the options appraisal process that considered the percentage of estates that are currently 

utilised for non-clinical purposes, further analysis is required during implementation planning to 

effectively deduce capital requirements per site in collaboration with local estate teams. 

For the purpose of this financial analysis, an assumed capital cost of £150k is utilised per extra 

bed required. This figure is drawn from the Policing and Crime Bill – Amend Police Powers 

under the Mental Health Act 1983, which provides an indicative view of what may be required 

across London. This establishes that an assumed total level of capital investment required 

across London to support the configuration is £2.3m. 

Funding 

At this early stage of the project, the exact funding arrangements for the costs outlined above 

have not been finalised and agreed. However, initial expectations about funding arrangements 

can be summarised as follows: 

 It is likely that variances to pathway costs will be borne by the relevant stakeholders i.e. 

police forces, LAS, Mental Health Trusts; 

 The pan-London transformation work programme has thus far been led by the Healthy 

London Partnership (HLP) in partnership with key stakeholders across London’s crisis 

care system. Going forward, implementation and transition costs will require funding from 

local systems; 

 Transition costs will likely be incurred by the CCGs within the relevant STPs as they 

transform the services at their HBPoS sites. It is important that additional funding is made 

available for this transition as there will be no equivalent income mechanism to support 

them; and 

 The capital costs required to increase capacity at relevant HBPoS sites will likely be borne 

by the local STPs, however national capital funding available through bidding processes 

should be exploited.  

Pooling budgets across CCGs within the relevant STPs, combining spending power, is expected 

to provide funding support for the new model of care. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  20 

 

1.1.6 Management Case 

 

The implementation of a material reconfiguration of any clinical service must be undertaken in a 

robust and sensitive manner. As such, a number of priorities/principles have been proposed that 

should be adhered to during the course of implementation, ensuring that the process meets its 

objectives. These include: 

 Ensuring patient safety; 

 Profiling implementation and developing detailed implementation plans; 

 Ratifying key protocols prior to go-live; 

 Engaging with stakeholders; 

 Aligning with wider crisis care transformation and;  

 Maintaining clinical leadership. 

Transition phase 

As previously mentioned programme STP leads tested the nine site configuration locally through 

significant engagement across the system. From this it was recognised that the changes 

required for the nine site model would not be achievable locally in the short to medium term.  

In light of this, the 13 site model is considered a transition stage to support STPs to implement 

the nine site preferred configuration. The resultant 13 site transition phase is shown below in 

Figure 3. 

Current reconfiguration planning is based on a completion date of 2019/20, subject to 

agreement on financial support and regulatory and Board approvals. To reach the 9 site 

option the following measures are proposed: 

► A 13 site transitional phase has been supported by STPs in the shorter term as 
an interim measure to reach the preferred nine site option.   

► A highly collaborative approach and governance structure, with robust 
governance arrangements will be adopted to manage the reconfiguration and plan 
for the future implementation; key requirements have been identified. 

► A plan to continue engagement with key stakeholders including people with 
lived experience of mental health crisis and their carers will be developed to 
ensure the transition into the new reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is successful. 

► A plan for proposed governance structure post implementation and 
performance management arrangements will be developed; principles for 
governance have been identified and a suggested multi-agency group structure. 
Group roles and governance benefits have been identified. 

► A comprehensive risk assessment, escalation and mitigation process will be 
developed and in place to support the reconfiguration, with risks identified both at a 
local and system wide level. Implementation risks will be identified and assessed 
using a four tiered matrix. Risks will be discussed during implementation and post 
implementation governance forums 

 

Page 86



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  21 

 

Figure 3: HBPoS locations in the 13 site transition phase  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All sites within the 9 and 13 site model are suited for adult provision, with one site per STP 

providing an all-age service. The preferred CYP sites in the transitional 9 and 13 site model are: 

The Wandsworth Recovery Centre (SWL), Maudsley Hospital (SEL), Highgate Mental Health 

Centre (NCL), and St. Charles (NWL). Newham Centre for Mental Health (NEL) is the preferred 

all-age site in the 13 site model; however, on transition to the 9 site model, the all-age provision 

will need to be reassessed as the Newham Centre is not included.  

The total estimated benefits of the transitional phase are marginally higher than the nine site 

model due to decreased travel times. This equates to an additional financial benefit to LAS and 

Police of c. £134k p.a. and an additional £3k p.a. social benefit (non-cashable) accruing to the 

patient due to a reduced travel time.  

The overall costs however are more expensive with 13 sites largely due to 24/7 dedicated 

staffing at each site. The 13 site configuration is estimated to cost c. £23.2m p.a. compared to 

the baseline pathway cost of c. £20.6m p.a. and the nine site configuration of c. £20.5m p.a. 

(excluding impact of activity growth). Of the additional four sites not included in the nine site 

configuration, only two sites need additional capital funding to meet capacity requirements of an 

additional assessment room at each site. This capital investment will total c. £1.8m for the 13 

site configuration, £450k less than the preferred nine site model.  

The timelines for this transition are due to fall within the proposed two year process to move to 

the nine site model. As a result there no additional transition costs expected in addition to the 

£1.0m included as part of the preferred nine site option. 

Structures in place for implementation  

The programme recognises the need for establishing robust governance procedures, risk 

management and a benefits realisation framework prior to implementation. This is to help 

manage key risks and issues that may arise, these include:  

Page 87



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  22 

 

 Diversion and delays from the implementation plan; 

 Lack of buy-in, scepticism and resistance to change; 

 Impact on broader health and crisis care services; 

 The requirement for formal new ways of working; and 

 Availability of both capital and revenue funds. 

Specific examples of implementation structures to consider for the next stage, in order to 

address the key risks and issues outlined above, will include establishing formal arrangements 

for AMHPs working outside of local authority boundaries, reaching an understanding on cross-

charging arrangements for out of area patients, and understanding how this work interacts with 

other key mental health initiatives, such as ensuring adequate inpatient capacity and delayed 

transfers of care (DTOC). 

During and post implementation, a local multi-agency group led by the provider trust providing 

each of the HBPoS sites should exist and should be overseen by the respective UEC network in 

each STP. In addition, a post programme evaluation should be carried out. Due consideration 

should also be given to the pan-London position during implementation as it is important to 

ensure that there is pan-London oversight. 

Post-implementation, in order to assess the impact of the programme at a pan-London level, a 

programme evaluation should take place. Appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs), which 

align with the objectives for the new model of care, would need to be established and agreed 

upon by stakeholders across the crisis care system.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  23 

 

1.1.7 Commercial Case 

 

The requirement to develop a robust commercial strategy is particularly important for this 

transformation programme due to the breadth of stakeholders and delivering a pan-London 

model of care. At this early stage in the programme, it is difficult to predict which services will be 

required as part of the scheme. However, it is expected that services will be required for 

construction, programme support/implementation, recruitment and training. 

A set of objectives have been developed which must be adhered to through development of 

procurement approach. This includes providing optimum value for money, the procurement is 

managed and governed in an open and transparent manner and there is careful planning and 

timing of procurement process.   

In addition, the commercial strategy must recognise the opportunities related to synergies in the 

wider crisis care system. These involve joint investment, shared infrastructure and system wide 

data.  

The new model of care and reconfiguring HBPoS sites across London is the most 
effective option to address current issues across the s136 pathway.  

The new model will bring sustainable improvements and lasting benefits for patients, 
whilst in the medium to long term resulting in a local health economy that is both clinically 
and financially sustainable, delivering improved access, with 24/7 services and patient 
improved outcomes and provision of care. 

The reconfiguration will present an opportunity for broader transformation of the 
crisis care system, including a range of services; a robust commercial process is 
therefore required.  

► With the complex network of stakeholders involved in the reconfiguration, 
oversight of the commercial process is critical to the success of the new model of 
care 

► Whilst it is early in the process to establish the exact service requirements, the 
expectation is that services will be required for construction, programme 
support/implementation, recruitment and training 

► A commercial strategy supporting the reconfiguration will be developed in 
conjunction with proposed transformation plans on a STP basis 

Page 89



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  24 

 

1.1.8 Workforce Case 

 

At present, staff across the crisis care system face a number of issues when it comes to the 

s136 pathway. The roles of the police and LAS, HBPoS staff, AMPHs, s12 doctors and ED staff 

are all affected by operational inconsistencies and efficiencies: 

 Conveyance staff: London’s police forces and LAS are hampered by delays in 

accessing HBPoS facilities, poor communication protocols between their staff and staff at 

HBPoS sites and Emergency Departments and lack of knowledge and clarity regarding 

the roles and responsibilities of each stakeholder group;  

 HBPoS staff: Non-dedicated staffing can cause a number of issues for clinical staff and 

individuals undergoing Mental Health Act assessments at HBPoS sites. It detracts nurses 

and doctors from their substantive posts and leads to varying levels of competencies 

when treating s136 patients. It also leads to low staff satisfaction due to staff being pulled 

off wards and not feeling part of a dedicated, specialised team. A further important 

impact of a lack of dedicated staffing is that on downstream inpatient wards. When staff 

are brought in from other areas to staff the HBPoS, a reduction in staff in those clinical 

Very few London HBPoS sites have dedicated trained staff and staffing levels are minimal 

out of hours; this is despite over 75% of s136 detentions occurring outside of regular 

working hours. Key components of the workforce model in each HBPoS site are:   

► Providing adequate, dedicated staffing 24/7 teams that are suitably skilled in 
both mental and physical health at all HBPoS sites is expected to significantly 
improve patient experience and outcomes, staff experience and reduce cost 
pressures currently experienced from having to pull staff of inpatient wards.  

► Two dedicated specialty workforce models have been proposed: a combined 
staffing model where the HBPoS is co-located with a crisis assessment unit or 
Psychiatric Decision Unit (as seen at South West London St. Georges Mental 
Health Trust), and a stand-alone workforce model (as seen at SLAM) 

► Three possible options have been identified to deliver AMHP services 
following the reconfiguration of sites learning from different models across London; 
however, a more rigorous assessment is required to ensure challenges 
encountered by AMHPs are addressed and an efficient model is created. 

► Greater transparency is needed to ensure appropriate training standards have 
been met in relation to independent s12 doctors and improved payment and 
administration protocols. 

► The future operating model is expected to minimise the number of ED 
presentations due to capacity issues and improved physical healthcare provision 
in the HBPoS sites, both of which will reduce the strain currently experienced by 
London’s Emergency Departments. 

► Development of a clear strategic direction and purpose will facilitate 
transformation of the workforce model as well as a robust workforce strategy that 
includes staff engagement throughout implementation, robust workforce planning 
including network approaches across STPs, values based management and 
leadership and consistent London standards. 

Page 90



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  25 

 

areas will impact on quality of care for patients there, which effects patient experience 

and outcomes;  

 AMHP services: Limited capacity, particularly out-of-hour AMHP availability, and 

inconsistent protocols across boroughs can delay mental health assessments. These 

issues are often amplified for out-of-borough presentations; 

 S12 doctor: The lack of standardised processes for recruitment, administration and 

payment requirements can often delay independent s12 doctors, create a lack of 

transparency in the system, and lead to insufficient capacity and variable quality of 

assessments; and 

 ED staff: Unclear policies and responsibilities for liaising and communicating with police 

and HBPoS staff, as well as lack of clarity of the role of EDs in the s136 pathway, can 

exacerbate delays to treatment. In addition, the limitations faced when accessing patient 

notes due to incompatible systems between Acute and Mental Health Trusts are 

challenging for good quality care.  

The pan-London s136 pathway and HBPoS specification outlines key criteria that the future 

workforce model needs to meet. Once met the new model of care will have significant positive 

implications for staff in terms of safety, efficiency, utilisation and new ways of working. In 

addition, the improvements in staff training, communication protocols and multi-agency working 

that are expected will help to engage staff members from all parts of the pathway to help ensure 

successful implementation of the new model.  

Workforce model for HBPoS sites 

During the options appraisal two staffing models were considered, a stand-alone workforce 

model (as seen at South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust) or a combined workforce 

model where staff cover both an HBPoS and PDU (e.g. Psychiatric Decision Unit, seen at South 

West London St. Georges Mental Health Trust). In both models, the creation of a dedicated 

team has significant benefits through addressing some of the challenges related to access and 

quality of care. The dedicated, specialty trained workforce model is innovative and provides an 

opportunity to build a specialised workforce for this largely forgotten service, promoting the s136 

pathway to an active part of the crisis care system. 

The introduction of dedicated 24/7 staffing as part of the reconfiguration of the HBPoS sites will 

address current pressures experienced due to inadequate staffing and facilitate improved quality 

of assessments and resulting patient outcomes. The dedicated team will be able to work more 

closely with patients to understand their needs and identify the best course of action, with any 

plans developed handed over to the next team member on shift. At SLAM’s centralised place of 

safety, which has piloted the new s136 model of care for London, the rate of admission has 

fallen by 13% following implementation of the new model. This has been attributed in large part 

to improved practice following the introduction of the dedicated staff team, together with a close 

working with the Trust’s Acute Referral Centre.  

The concept of the combined unit is to have a psychiatric decision unit and HBPoS co-located; 

this enables a joint workforce that can flex between the decision unit and the HBPoS increasing 

the utilisation of staff and benefitting from a model that provides a broader service to a wider 

range of patients (e.g. the assessment unit receives mental health crisis patients from liaison 

Page 91



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  26 

 

psychiatry, crisis teams and street triage to carry out an informed, collaborative assessment in 

an appropriate mental health assessment facility). As noted above for SLAM however, periods of 

lower utilisation can have positive impacts on staff wellbeing and retention. Each area would 

need to consider the case for each model within their area. 

The benefits of both models are a dedicated 24/7 specialised workforce and whilst it may be 

tempting to create an HBPoS team who have additional roles as supernumerary staff in other 

mental health teams, in the climate of overall low mental health workforce numbers, there is a 

real danger of reliance on these staff members thereby creating the situation where their 

immediate availability for a s136 patient is reduced, or those other areas of care are affected; 

this would mark a return to one of the key issues of the current model of care.  

Costing the 24/7 model 

It is estimated that the preferred 9 site option with 24/7 dedicated workforce would cost £11.6m 

per year. The workforce model that is proposed is based on safe levels of staffing at the HBPoS.  

Whilst the cost associated with providing dedicated 24/7 staffing with the new model of care at c. 

£11.6m p.a., is significantly higher than the staffing cost with the current 20 site model at £5.4m 

p.a., the cost associated with the preferred 9 site model is much more favourable than 

maintaining the current 20 site configuration and introducing 24/7 staffing at a cost of c. £14.7m 

p.a. (an additional £3.1m compared to the preferred option). 

HBPoS staff training and competencies 

Irrespective of which workforce model, healthcare staff who work in an HBPoS should be 

sufficiently trained in mental and physical health to safely and effectively perform their role. The 

provision of a dedicated team allows for s136 specific training to be delivered to a dedicated 

workforce and for the on-going assessment of skills and training needs; this will improve the 

quality of care for individuals detained under s136.  

As well as improving team skills and expertise, training initiatives for dedicated staff teams have 

a clear role in staff development and career progression. This will have positive impacts on 

recruitment and retention, both important issues to address across mental health, as highlighted 

in the Health Education England (HEE) Mental Health workforce plan13.  

Furthermore, a dedicated workforce will allow development of relationships across the 

ED/Mental Health interface, leading to sharing of expertise, improved handover and the 

opportunity to develop novel approaches in partnership to support integrated mental and 

physical healthcare. It is anticipated that adherence to the physical health competencies set out 

in the pan-London guidance will reduce the need for physical health assessments or treatment in 

an ED prior to or during assessment at the HBPoS site. This will reduce the burden on EDs, 

improve the timeliness of assessments and reduce the use of further conveyance by LAS or 

police between HBPoS sites and EDs.  

 

 

                                                
13

 Stepping Forward to 2020/21: Mental Health Workforce Place for England (2017). Health Education 
England. Available at: https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/planning-commissioning/workforce-
planning/mental-health-workforce-plan  

Page 92



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  27 

 

1.1.9 Recommendation and next steps 

This business case sets out the rationale for a new model of care and consolidating HBPoS sites 

across London. The proposal contained herein demonstrates that such a reconfiguration can 

improve outcomes for patients, facilitate the availability of a 24/7 service, concentrate and 

enhance staff expertise, achieve value for money and ensure effective synergies between the 

s136 pathway and broader crisis care. 

However, it is acknowledged that such an undertaking would be delivered in a complex, multi-

stakeholder environment. Furthermore, it also requires an investment of resource, both in terms 

of finance and time. Therefore the steps that should be taken post the conclusion of this 

business case should be considered judiciously, ensuring that due diligence is taken in the 

commitment of further resource. 

It is recommended that the proposal contained within this business case is progressed towards 

implementation, augmented with the following steps: 

 Appropriate consultation is undertaken with key stakeholders as necessary; 

 Each respective STP determines precise capital requirements particular to the sites 

within their jurisdiction; 

 Sources of funding are determined, with relevant submissions made to secure such 

funding; and, 

 The proposals contained within the Management Case are progressed; most notably, the 

establishment of effective implementation governance and the development of detailed 

implementation planning. 

  

Page 93



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  28 

 

2 Introduction 
This section sets out the context of the business case. It details the scope and purpose of the 

change and introduces the reader to the baseline pathway and preferred option. This section is 

structured as follows:  

 Purpose of document 

 Overview 

 Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners 

 Current s136 pathway 

  

Page 94



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  29 

 

2.1 Introduction and purpose of document 

2.1.1 Purpose of this document 

This document sets out the case for reconfiguring Health Based Place of safety (HBPoS) sites 

across London in order to improve the efficiency of treatment and quality of care for patients 

along the section 136 (s136) pathway. Specifically, it details how a consolidated nine-site model 

for adults, including an all-age site within each STP, will address the needs of patients and wider 

stakeholders in improving the s136 pathway and broader crisis care system.  

The business case is intended to support the work carried out to date on mental health crisis 

care in London, specifically the s136 pathway and HBPoS specification. Moving to the 

‘consolidated model’ will enable an improvement in the service provided to patients across the 

crisis care system and will facilitate future improvements to operations. 

The business case follows HM Treasury Green Book guidance by outlining the strategic case, 

economic case, financial case, commercial case and management case for the reconfiguration. 

In addition, the business case specifically details the impacts for clinical outcomes and staff in 

the Clinical Case and Workforce Case respectively.   

2.1.2 Overview 

What is section 136? 

Section 136 (s136) of the Mental Health Act 1983 is the power that allows a police officer to 

detain someone they believe to be mentally disordered and in need of urgent care or control. 

Either finding or being directed towards a person with mental disorder in a public place is not 

sufficient justification to detain under s136.  The power requires the following conditions to be 

met: 

• The individual must appear to the officer to be suffering from mental disorder; 

• The individual must appear to the officer to be in immediate need of care or control; 

• The officer must think that removing the individual is necessary in the individual’s 

interests or for the protection of others; 

• The individual must be found in a public place or anywhere that is not the house, flat or 

room where that person, or any other person, is living; and 

• When practicable, the officer must consult a registered medical practitioner, a registered 

nurse, an Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) or a person of a description 

specified in regulations made by the Secretary of State. 

What is a health based place of safety? 

A HBPoS is used when an individual of any age has been detained under s135 or s136 of the 

Mental Health Act 1983. In law, the place of safety to which the person is taken can be 

residential accommodation provided by the Local Social Services Authority, a hospital as defined 

in the Act, a police station, an independent hospital or care home for mentally disordered 

Page 95



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  30 

 

persons or any other suitable place where the occupier is willing to temporarily receive the 

person. 

The Mental Health Act 1983: Code of Practice 2015 states that the preferred environment is a 

HBPoS where mental health services are provided14. Under the amended legislation of Section 

136A of the Mental Health Act 1983 (which came into force from 11th December 2017), a child 

under 18 detained under s136 may not be removed to, kept at or taken to a place of safety that 

is a police station, and police stations should only be used for adults detained under s136 in 

exceptional circumstances15. Providing mental health assessments within healthcare settings 

improves access to care for patients and avoids the potential stresses associated with police 

stations. In practice, MH Trusts and hospital Emergency Departments are most commonly used. 

How can HBPoS sites be reconfigured? 

To provide the quality of care which mental health crisis patients deserve, it is important that 

individuals are taken to the right environment, with the right staff, providing the right treatment 

that is tailored to their needs. As such, the HBPoS sites in London should meet certain 

standards in terms of infrastructure, workforce and practices. 

At present, there are 20 HBPoS sites operating across London, the vast majority of which have 

1-2 assessment suites. However, this number is not based on capacity requirements, the 

prevalence of s136 detentions in geographic areas or the availability of skilled staff across 

London. Instead, they are historically located where space has been available.  

This historic configuration of sites, some with insufficient capacity and others with minimal 

utilisation, is not fit for purpose within London’s crisis care service ambitions.  

In choosing how many HBPoS sites should operate, in which locations and with what capacity, 

there are a multitude of initial options. However, by assessing the options based on access and 

quality of care, deliverability, value for money and strategic coherence, this list can be 

considerably refined. The options assessment in Section 4.1 details this process. 

A final optimal model of nine adult sites, with a combined workforce was arrived at as the 

‘preferred option’ for the reconfiguration. For CYP the change proposes that one site within each 

STP will have suitable facilities and staff expertise to provide an all-age service. 

2.1.3 Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners 

This case builds on a series of reports over the past number of years which set out a clear and 

compelling case for transforming how mental health crisis care is delivered in London. The Crisis 

Care Concordat (2014)16 and more recently The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health 

(2016)17, Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View (2017)18 and Implementing the Five 

                                                
14

 Mental Health Act 1983: Code of Practice 
15

 Section 136A of Mental Health Act 1983 
16

 Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat. Improving Outcomes for People Experiencing Mental Health 
Crisis. HM Government (2014) 
17

 The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health. Independent Mental Health Taskforce to the NHS in 
England (2016) 
18

 Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View. NHS (2017) 

Page 96



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  31 

 

Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016)19, have put the spotlight on improving the quality 

and efficiency of crisis care in the UK.  

More specifically, this document follows the recommendations and guidance set out in ‘Mental 

Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London's section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of 

Safety specification’. The guidance document, developed in collaboration with partners across 

the crisis care system aligns with the overarching principle in the Crisis Care Concordat (2014)20 

of cooperation and collaboration: 

“We commit to work together to improve the system of care and support so people in crisis 

because of a mental health condition are kept safe and helped to find the support they need – 

whatever the circumstances in which they first need help – and from whichever service they turn 

to first.” 

The key principles of the guidance are listed below and have been used to inform the options 

appraisal and business case process throughout: 

 If there is no capacity at the local HBPoS when the police officer makes initial contact it is 

that site’s responsibility to ensure that the individual is received into a suitable place of 

safety, through agreed escalation protocols or making alternative arrangements, whether 

the individual is from that area or not. When the HBPoS states that it has capacity, this 

means it is able to receive the detained individual as soon as they arrive on site; 

 Under exceptional circumstances when an individual under s136 presents to an 

Emergency Department with no physical health needs (due to limited HBPoS capacity) 

the Emergency Departments cannot refuse access unless a formal escalation action has 

been enacted; 

 If someone appears to be drunk and showing any ‘aspect’ of incapability (e.g. walking 

unaided or standing unaided) which is perceived to result from that drunkenness, then 

that person must be treated as drunk and incapable. A person found to be drunk and 

incapable by the police should be treated as being in need of medical assistance at an 

Emergency Department or other alcohol recovery service (where available); 

 An Emergency Department can itself be a Place of Safety within the meaning of the 

Mental Health Act. Therefore, if protracted physical health treatment or care is required, 

where appropriate the Acute Trust should accept the s136 papers and take legal 

responsibility for custody of the individual for the purpose of the Mental Health 

assessment being carried out; 

 Every HBPoS should have a designated s136 coordinator available 24/7 who is assigned 

to the HBPoS at all times. Adequate, dedicated clinical staff must be available 24/7 to 

ensure staff members do not come off inpatient wards; 

 HBPoS staff (including both nursing and medical staff) should have adequate physical 

health competencies to prevent unnecessary Emergency Department referrals; 

                                                
19

 Implementing the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016) 
20

 Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat. Improving Outcomes for People Experiencing Mental Health 
Crisis. HM Government (2014) 

Page 97



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  32 

 

 HBPoS and local Acute Trusts should have clear pathways and protocols and the 

relationships to deliver these for those with physical health problems but for whom urgent 

transfer to an ED is not the optimum course of action. These should include triage, 

advice and where possible outreach systems to support appropriate responsive and 

timely physical health care to those in a Health Based Place of Safety; 

 While a police officer or an AMHP has the legal responsibility for authorising the transfer 

of the detained individual, coordinating the conveyance of individuals between HBPoS 

and Emergency Departments and vice versa should be undertaken by the Mental Health 

Trusts and Acute Trusts respectively, led by the s136 coordinator. Coordinating and 

arranging transport is not the police’s role unless there is mutual agreement between 

parties that it is in the best interest of the individual and there is resource to provide 

support; 

 If the s12 doctor (or in exceptional circumstances another doctor with adequate mental 

health experience) sees the individual before the AMHP and is satisfied that there is no 

evidence of underlying mental disorder of any kind, the person can no longer be detained 

and must be immediately released, even if not seen by an AMHP; 

 When a Mental Health Assessment is required the legal duty to assess falls upon the 

AMHP service for the area where the person is at the point when the assessment is 

needed, in this case the borough in which they are currently being detained under s136; 

and 

 The mental health assessment should be completed within 4 hours of the individual 

arriving at the HBPoS unless there are clinical grounds for delay. 

2.1.4 Current s136 pathway 

The s136 pathway is complex in nature, involving multiple stakeholders that varies across 

STPs. Figure 4 provides an illustration of the pathway, from pick up to decision to discharge.  

Figure 4: s136 pathway 

 

Police 
Conveyance  

Police with 
Ambulance 

Conveyance    

HBPoS 

s12 Doctor 

AMHP 

Discharge 

Inpatient 

Community 

ED visit 
due to 

physical 
health care 

needs 

s136 
Pathway

ED visit due to 
lack of HBPoS 

capacity 

S136 
Pick 
Up 

Page 98



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  33 

 

When a person is officially detained under s136 by the Police, the individual is taken to a 

place of safety by the LAS and police, unless they require physical health care, in which 

case, they are first taken to an Emergency Department and eventually transferred to the 

HBPoS. Under s136 of the MHA, the individual detained cannot leave until they have had a 

formal assessment of their mental health by a suitably trained doctor. If the individual is 

found to have no underlying mental disorder of any kind, the person is no longer within the 

scope of the MHA and is to be discharged at the earliest opportunity, even if the AMHP has 

not yet seen them.  

However, if the individual is deemed to have an underlying mental disorder, they must also 

be assessed by an AMHP and a decision made regarding the care needed, for example an 

inpatient admission or community referral. Where the individual does not agree to an advised 

admission on an informal basis, in order that the AMHP can apply for MHA admission under 

section 2 or 3 of the MHA, medical recommendations for the admission are required from 

two medical professionals, one of whom must be an independent s12 doctor, The maximum 

detention period under s136 of the MHA is 24 hours from arrival at a place of safety.  

  

Page 99



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  34 

 

3 Strategic case 
This section sets out the strategic context and the case for change, together with the supporting 

investment objectives for the scheme. The section is structured as follows: 

 Mental health crisis care in London 

 Case for change 

 Vision and objectives 

Page 100



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  35 

 

 

 

London is currently facing significant challenges across the crisis care system owing to 
rising levels of mental ill health and challenges with current service provision. It is 
anticipated that services will be required to change to address these challenges and 
become sustainable in the medium term. 

► The vision is to provide safety and high quality care and treatment  to people 
detained under s136 by delivering the following six strategic objectives: 

o Enable the improvement in s136 patient outcomes 

o Facilitate access to 24/7 services 

o Ensure appropriate service provision for all ages 

o Concentrate staff expertise to enable a service suitable to patient needs 

o Ensure synergy with the wider crisis care system  

o Deliver value for money 

► Delays in accessing support and on-going treatment negatively impacts patient 
experience and outcomes. 

► The new model of care provides the opportunity to achieve improved access and 
patients outcomes, higher levels of patient satisfaction, positive benefits to staff, 
deliver 24/7 services, reduce inequality and realise efficiencies across the local 
health and care economy and wider society.  

► There is a continued drive for high quality sustainable care in the NHS. Service 
users, clinicians and regulatory bodies have highlighted that there is too much variation in 
both quality and access across different services.  

► Increasing financial and operational pressures are being placed on mental health 
Trusts due to the demand for services increasing. Funding does not meet requirements to 
maintain standards of care; there is a need for all NHS organisations to engage in wider 
transformational change and service reconfiguration with other agencies towards highly 
responsive, effective and personalised services for people with urgent physical and 
mental health needs. 

► South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust (SLAM) has piloted the new 
model of care at their centralised HBPoS site. 

 An average of 15% more admissions are accepted.  

 Having a 24/7 dedicated team has meant there has been only one closure over the last 
year; sites were closed 279 times previously over a 12 month period; 

 The number of individuals taken to an ED before going to the centralised site has 
reduced; 

 96% of individuals detained are being admitted to the HBPoS within 30 minutes of arrival;  

 The new purpose built facility provides a physical environment which is much more 
conducive to recovery;  

 76% of service users provided positive feedback, finding the service more respectful and 
responsive; 

 The rate of admission to an inpatient bed has fallen by 13%. 

 

Page 101



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  36 

 

3.1 Mental health crisis care in London 

3.1.1 Overview 

Mental illness is the single largest cause of disability in the UK and each year about one in four 

people suffer from a mental health problem. Yet despite its harmful physical and economic 

impacts, the response to mental health lags significantly behind physical health.  

In London, mental health crisis care is an example of a system which does not meet the quality 

and efficiency standards of other services in the NHS. The treatment pathway for individuals 

detained due to mental disorder, which sits under s136 of the Mental Health Care Act 1983, has 

come under increasing pressure in recent years due to inadequate infrastructure and service 

provision as well as the increasing prevalence of mental health crises in the Capital.21 

There are a number of cases which illustrate that timely, high quality care is not always available 

to individuals who are experiencing a mental health crisis. In surveys conducted by the Healthy 

London Partnership in 2016, only 14 per cent of people said they had the support they needed in 

a crisis.22 

However, the challenges presented within this system are well recognised and significant 

progress has been made in recent years to improve the service. In 2014, the London Mental 

Health Crisis Commissioning Standards were agreed to ensure equity between physical and 

mental health. In addition, London’s Mental Health Trusts and their key partners developed an 

action plan focused on s136 of the Mental Health Act. For example, the work of the Mental 

Health Partnership Board sought to reduce the use of police cells for those detained under s136 

and since October 2016 the use of police cells in London has fallen below one per month.23  

It was decided in 2015 that there should be a pan-London focus on the section 136 pathway and 

Health Based Place of Safety sites to improve the current inconsistencies across London and 

often inadequate care for those who are some of London’s most vulnerable. This led to the 

development of London’s s136 Pathway and HBPoS specification. Further detail on the 

development of this guidance is given below. Delivery of a new model of care, with a 

reconfiguration of HBPoS sites, the locations where detained individuals are transferred to by 

police officers under s136, is among the proposed changes which aims to improve quality and 

access for patients in mental health crisis care in London – and is the subject of this business 

case.  

3.1.2 Model of care and stakeholder engagement 

In 2015, a crisis care multiagency professional group was established with representation from 

Mental Health and Acute Trusts, the LAS, the Met Police, social services and general practice. 

This group led the development of the new model of care that includes the pan-London s136 

pathway and a specification for HBPoS. 

The new model of care was developed using a partnership model to ensure sufficient 

engagement with stakeholders across the system. This included active engagement with the 

following stakeholders: 

                                                
21

 Mental Health Network NHS Confederation (2016): Is mental health crisis care in crisis? 
22

 Healthy London Partnership (2016) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 
23

 London Mental Health Partnership Board (2013-2016) Individuals under section 136 held in police cells 

Page 102



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  37 

 

• People with lived experience of mental health crisis and their carers: Over 300 

Londoners with lived experience of a mental health crisis were actively engaged to 

ensure that the guidance meets service user needs and expectations; 

• Police officers: Over 70 police officers from London’s three police forces (The Met 

Police, British Transport Police and the City of London Police Force) to ensure specific 

access and capacity issues were confronted; 

• Mental Health Trusts:  Over 150 front-line and senior staff from all nine of London’s 

Mental Health Trusts were engaged with to inform capacity and infrastructure 

requirements; 

• Urgent and Emergency Care: Over 200 ED staff and liaison psychiatry staff from ED’s 

in each Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) network were engaged in order to assess 

that equitable provision of care and patient outcomes across their footprint can be 

achieved; 

• Approved Mental Health Professionals (AMHPs) & Local Authorities: Over 75 

AMHPs and Local Authority representatives were consulted in developing the model of 

care; and 

• London Ambulance Service (LAS): LAS paramedics, mental health nurses, and mental 

health operational staff were consulted and included in the multiagency professional 

group to ensure capacity and access issues during conveyance were addressed 

appropriately. 

In addition, there was extensive engagement with the voluntary sector, particularly Mind, 

Rethink, NSUN and the National Crisis Care Concordat initiative. The Royal Colleges of 

Psychiatrists and Emergency Medicine and Pan-London forums, for example the Cavendish 

Square Group, also played important roles in the development of the new model of care. 

 

Page 103



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  38 

 

o Only 14% of Londoner’s feel they have support when in a mental health crisis;  

o Only 36% of patients felt safe in their surroundings in London’s HBPoS sites; 

o Recent LAS scene time data for section 136 patients has shown on average more 

than 35% of LAS callouts face significant access issues, averaging 2.5 hours from 

arrival at the hospital to being accepted into the site by staff;  

o On average when section 136 patients present to the Emergency Department they  

remain in the department over 4 hours 70% of  the time and nearly 50% are in the 

department for over 12 hours;  

o Over 75% of section 136 detentions occur out of hours yet few sites in London have 

dedicated, appropriate 24/7 staffing to care for these patients  

 

3.2 Case for change 

3.2.1 Overview 

It has been said recently that London’s crisis care system is itself in crisis. There are significant 

challenges across the system, due to inadequate care and services and also the level of mental 

ill health and crisis that the capital faces.  

The disparity of care for people with mental health issues as opposed to physical ones is still 

disproportionate and all London’s partners, including service users, realise that the status quo is 

not acceptable. Those detained under s136 are often denied access to Health Based Place of 

Safety sites and Emergency Departments (EDs), left in the back of police cars and ambulances, 

or transferred unnecessarily between an ED and mental health trusts due to a lack of 

appropriate and co-ordinated care. Londoners with experience of mental health crisis, together 

with London’s clinicians, tell us over and over again that the care does not meet the basic 

expectations of dignity, respect and high quality compassionate care, and services are often not 

delivered in the right environment to help people recover. There is a real opportunity to address 

a forgotten service and make section 136 an active part of the crisis pathway. 

 

Box 1: Case for Change 

 

Page 104



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  39 

 

Whilst there must be an increased focus on local action to prevent crises occurring, when a 

crisis does happen service users need to have timely, high quality care, which respects 

individual needs, wherever they are in London. This is reiterated by service users who have told 

us they want crisis care that is always available, consistent and respectful across all stages of 

the pathway. There are still many cases which illustrate that this is not available, resulting in EDs 

being a regular default.  

 

A reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is an important step towards overcoming the significant 

challenges and pressures in provision of mental health services and implementing the pan-

London s136 model of care.  This requires delivery of a new model which ensures that the right 

care is delivered at the right location, at the right time, by staff with the right skillset, in suitable 

facilities for patients during a mental health crisis. The status quo is not sufficient to provide this 

level of care to those in need and therefore a change is warranted. In addition, the 

reconfiguration will contribute towards the wider policy goal of embedding mental health care 

within the wider healthcare system, improving parity of esteem and integrating physical and 

mental health care. 

The evidence is clear that improving outcomes for people with mental health problems supports 

them to achieve greater wellbeing, build resilience and independence and optimise life chances, 

as well as reducing premature mortality. 

Moreover, the evidence is equally clear on the potential gain for the NHS and wider public sector 

from intervening earlier, investing in effective, evidence-based care and integrating the care of 

people’s mental and physical health. In addition to the moral imperative and the clear clinical and 

individual benefits, it is important to recognise that there is a financial necessity to manage the 

challenges of the years ahead. 

 

3.2.2 National Context 

Historically, mental health has not had the priority awarded to physical health, has been short of 

qualified staff and deprived of funds. There is a need to provide equal status of mental and 

physical health, equal status to mental health staff and equal funding for mental health services.  

The following paragraphs highlight four areas of the national context which drive the rationale for 

the reconfiguration of the HBPoS sites, which will support achievement of national objectives.  

1. Future direction of NHS 

NHS Five Year Forward Views 

The NHS Five Year Forward View, published in 2014, seeks to provide an equal response to 

mental and physical health and drive towards the two being treated together. It specifies the 

need to break down barriers across systems to integrate urgent and emergency care (UEC) 

services for people of all ages experiencing physical and mental health problems. This aligns 

with Sir Bruce Keogh’s 2013 review of the NHS UEC system in England which highlighted the 

increasing unsustainable pressures on the current system, recommending system-wide 

transformation towards highly responsive, effective and personalised services for people with 

urgent physical and mental health needs. More recently, the Next Steps on the Five Year 

Forward View, published in 2017, outlines the key improvements required to be in place 

Page 105



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  40 

 

through FY18 and FY19, including new specifications for mental health provision for people in 

secure and detained settings. 

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (FYFWMH), published in 2016, further 

emphasises the importance of having an effective, responsive UEC system and highlights the 

need to have mental health care accessible 24 hours a day, seven days a week – a key element 

in the s136 new specification. Implementing improved access to high quality care, more 

integrated services and early interventions will support establishment of services which are 

sustainable for the long term. 

Future in Mind 

Future in Mind, a joint review by NHS England and the Department of Health, outlines the need 

to provide appropriate support to children in crisis in-hours and out-of-hours. In addition, the 

expertise and environment should be age-appropriate. 

An important consideration in the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is to ensure that CYP in crisis 

are transported to where they can receive the appropriate care, and that decisions are not 

related only to convenience of location. 

Crisis Care Concordat 

The Crisis Care Concordat is a national agreement signed by 27 national bodies involved in 

health, policing, social care, housing, local government and the third sector. It sets out how 

organisations can work together to help people experiencing a mental health crisis get the help 

they need. The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites will facilitate organisations to work with each 

other by ensuring that a clear treatment pathway can be supported by appropriate facilities and 

expertise.  

2. Quality expectations 

There is ever increasing scrutiny of mental health NHS providers, mental health independent 

providers, departments and individual healthcare professionals. Findings from the CQC’s 

programme of comprehensive inspections of specialist mental health services 2014 to 2017 

identified many examples of excellent care, but also found too much poor care and too much 

variation in both quality and access across different services. The pressure on services partly 

explains why, at 31 May 2017, 36% of NHS core services and 34% of independent mental 

health core services were rated as requires improvement for safe, with a further 4% of NHS and 

5% of independent core services being rated as inadequate for safe. On too many wards, the 

combination of a concentration of detained patients with serious mental health conditions, old 

and unsuitable buildings, staff shortages and lack of basic training, make it more likely that 

patients and staff are at risk of suffering harm. In addition, people experienced difficulties in 

accessing services best equipped to their needs, there was persistence of restrictive practice 

and poor clinical information systems.24   

3. Operational pressures  

One in four adults experience at least one diagnosable mental health problem in any given year. 

People in all walks of life can be affected and at any point in their lives, including new mothers, 

children, teenagers, adults and older people. Circa.1.8m people were in contact with adult 

mental health and disability services through FY16. From 2015/16 to 2016/17, s136 detentions 

                                                
24

 CQC Report, “The state of care in mental health services 2014 to 2017”  

Page 106



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  41 

 

have increased by 19%. Across England the increasing demand on mental health services, and 

the capacity constraints of these services, are contributing to escalating ED mental health 

presentations. The additional pressures on EDs contribute to Trusts breaching the four and 

twelve hour ED targets. CYP are also facing longer waits for treatment. Meanwhile, this is 

occurring whilst the mental health workforce has been in decline, with a 12% reduction in the 

number of mental health nurses from January 2010 to January 2017. 

4. Financial challenge  

The NHS is undergoing an unprecedented combination of rising demand with funding which falls 

short of what is estimated as required to maintain standards of care, requiring year on year 

efficiencies which are becoming increasingly difficult to deliver. In addition, short-term tactics to 

contain spending, such as holding down NHS staff pay and underinvesting in the NHS estate, 

have now more than run their course, whilst the introduction of access to mental health care 24 

hours a day and the move to seven day working will present significantly higher costs. With the 

deficits across hospitals in England growing and a forecast deficit of £30bn by 202125, all NHS 

organisations need to engage in wider transformational change and service reconfiguration with 

other agencies and providers and local government, housing, education, employment and the 

voluntary sector. 

3.2.3 London Context 

London faces many challenges across the crisis care system with services often falling short in 

providing effective access, care and treatment for the capital’s most vulnerable. Whilst significant 

progress has been made in recent years to address these challenges, there is a requirement for 

a new model which ensures that the right care is delivered at the right location, at the right time, 

by staff with the right skillset. Current key issues with the s136 pathway, all of which impact 

patient experience, are detailed in the paragraphs which follow. 

3.2.3.1 Inconsistent quality of care 

The care on offer at London’s HBPoS sites can vary due to differing levels of staff training and 

skillsets at the HBPoS sites and EDs. London’s service users have indicated the current ‘ad-hoc’ 

staffing model, where staff are pulled off wards when an s136 patient arrives, is not conducive to 

good patient care, both to those detained under s136 but also to those on the ward where 

staffing numbers are depleted for a 12-24 hour period. Some sites across London also indicated 

that nursing and medical staff were not trained in de-escalation, which is recommended for 

managing those with disturbed behaviour. These inconsistencies in quality of care translate into 

poorer clinical outcomes.  

3.2.3.2 Inappropriate provision for Children and Young People (CYP) 

Patients who are under 18 require appropriate facilities and specialised staff that can respond to 

their specific needs. However, at present many of London’s HBPoS sites have local protocols 

that restrict children from the site. Emergency Departments are regularly used as the default 

position when HBPoS sites are unable to manage CYP detained under s136. When this occurs 

children can be in the ED for a 24-72 hour period due to lack of appropriate staffing but also the 

lack of CAMHS Tier 4 beds available in London. 

                                                
25

 NHS Five Year Forward View: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf 

Page 107



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  42 

 

3.2.3.3 Facilities 

One of the primary objectives of the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is to provide a standardised, 

high-quality treatment environment for individuals detained under s136. Evidence suggests that 

mental health facilities which are fit-for-purpose and meet the needs of service users improve 

patient outcomes and safety. Trends also lean towards reduced involuntary admissions and 

overall aggression levels.26 

Overview of existing facilities 

There are currently 20 ‘designated’ HBPS sites across London. Most can only see one patient at 

a time. Instead of their location being based on need or demand, sites are historically located 

where space has been available. This problem in London is intensified by the fact that four of the 

designated HBPoS sites are EDs; whilst in some instances it is necessary for mental health 

crisis patients to attend ED due to specific physical health needs e.g. such as overdose or self-

harm, it is recognised that a busy ED is not always the most suitable environment for the care of 

patients in mental health crisis.   

London’s HBPoS sites have had varying Care Quality Commission (CQC) ratings. In the most 

recent CQC reports from 2016 and 2017, two Trusts received ‘needs improvement’ ratings, while 

another was rated ‘inadequate’. Key themes from the CQC reports include the lack of dignity, 

comfort and confidentially; inadequate processes regarding the Mental Health Act; staff levels 

and training; and information recording. These themes correspond with national issues. It was 

recently reported that 39% of crisis care services, including HBPoS sites were rated as ‘requires 

improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ for safety.27 This needs to change. 

Service user experiences 

Londoners with lived experience have also 

expressed concerns about the quality of the 

treatment environments. Only 36 per cent of 

Londoner’s detained under s136 said they 

felt safe in an HBPoS.28 In London’s EDs, 

only 12 per cent of those assessed thought 

their assessment rooms were pleasant, 

comfortable and welcoming. These 

assessment rooms have been described as “like a 

police cell”; “padded cell”; “interrogation room”; 

“bunker”; and “glorified storage room”.29 

CYP environments 

In addition, a number of stakeholders interviewed have stated that the HBPoS environment is 

not appropriate for CYP in general and especially for those with learning difficulties.30 One issue 

was that there was limited access to any information at the HBPoS that would help to explain the 

                                                
26

 Hughes, R. (2008) Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses. Agency for Healthcare 
Research and Quality (US) 
27

 https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20170720_stateofmh_report.pd 
28

 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 
29

 Therapeutic Solutions: Section 136 and Mental Health Crisis Presentations in Emergency Departments in London 
30

 Ibid 

Person detained under Section 136 

“I’ve been sectioned before and held in a police cell before 
and that was bad, it was cold and dark and miserable and I 
just curled up on those bunks and cried my eyes out. The place 
they take you now is only a little bit better, and I mean only 
little bit better, it’s not as cold and they don’t make you wear 
those paper suits but it’s still like a police interrogation room 
than a place where you should be getting better.” 

Page 108



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  43 

 

reason for their detention and the process that would follow. This was linked to the non-

therapeutic nature of the environment.  

3.2.3.4 Capacity and delays 

The ability of a pan-London system of HBPoS sites to perform its function relies on its ability to 

provide adequate access to care; this is achieved primarily by ensuring that there is suitable 

capacity, but also by ensuring that there are minimal delays in the pathway. In the existing 

system, capacity issues and delays are negatively impacting those detained under s136 and 

wider stakeholders, such as police forces and EDs. 

Current capacity 

From interviews conducted, it has been deduced that police forces, the LAS and NHS Trusts 

struggle to find capacity at London HBPoS sites.  

In 2015, over 210 issues were reported by frontline police officers in London; half of these were 

specifically related to capacity and access across the s136 pathway31. Monthly comparisons of 

issues logged between 2015 and 2016 show a 30 per cent increase in reports due to delays in 

accessing sites. Similar issues have continued throughout 2017 into 2018.  

The reasons behind these capacity limitations are manifold: 

• Staff availability: Very few London HBPoS sites have dedicated staff and staffing levels 

are generally minimal out of hours - despite over 75% of s136 detentions occurring 

outside of regular working hours (11pm -7am); 

• Temporary closures: While it is rare that an emergency care service for physical health 

shuts down, there has been numerous occasions of temporary closures of HBPoS sites 

due to the lack of dedicated staff and/or damaged facilities; and 

• Low individual site capacity: the dispersed HBPoS sites across London tend to 

predominantly have low capacity. A number of existing sites have a capacity of 1. This 

results in binary utilisation, whereby sites are either completely empty or at capacity at 

any given point in time. 

These capacity issues are exacerbated by a rising number of s136 detentions, as well as 

London’s unique capacity limitations. Whereas police in other parts of the UK can offer support 

to people in crisis beyond detainment, London is limited in its alternatives. This means the 

number of s136 detentions persist, adding increased pressure to London’s HBPoS sites and 

Emergency Departments. 

Impact on the system and patient outcomes 

Access issues and delays along the pathway have wider implications for the range of 

stakeholders involved during an s136 detention.  

Clinical staff have noted that delays in accessing support and on-going treatment negatively 

impacts patient experience and outcomes. Staff have stated that those who experience poor 

treatment at the start of the pathway are less likely to engage with health services, co-produced 

                                                
31

 Metropolitan Police Mental Health Escalation Log (2015) 

Page 109



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  44 

 

crisis plans are jeopardised and trust between clinicians and the patient is lost.32 This is 

illustrated by the fact that in 2015/2016 there were approximately 320 Londoner’s who were 

detained again under s136 within two days.33  

Both national (including MHA legislation) and London policy prevent the use of police cells for 

those detained under s136 which has resulted in a 94% decrease in the use of cells. However, 

the knock on effect has been additional pressure on HBPoS sites and EDs.  

Capacity issues at HBPoS sites have harmful impacts for EDs. As places of safety by law, the 

Met Police instructs all officers to go to the nearest ED when capacity issues arise at HBPoS 

sites. Evidence suggests that prolonged ED stays are associated with increased risk of symptom 

exacerbation and absconsion for those with mental health issues.34 The delays have a strong 

link with poor patient experience leading to increased hospital readmissions and poorer clinical 

outcomes.  

EDs are also experiencing escalating demand from all attendances, and significant resources 

are needed in order to manage the care of those under s136 in the department. Individuals 

detained under s136 spend five times as long in EDs, with over 40% of those in mental health 

crisis in ED breaching the four hour target. A typical emergency department sees on average 

300 patients a day who are in the department for an average of 2.5 hours. When an individual 

detained under s136 is in the department, they spend on average 12 hours due to their complex 

health and social needs. This means that the care for one person detained under s136 is the 

equivalent of being able to treat ten other patients, based on the time s136 patient spend in 

department being five times that of other patients and requiring twice as much resource.  

Treating a s136 patient in A&E takes on average the same resource as treating 10 physically ill 

patients and patients are significantly more likely to breach the A&E 4 hour standard and 12 hour 

standard.  In an average A&E department, seeing 300 non-s136 patients a week, 10 patients 

equates to 3.3% of standard daily activity and therefore by treating s136 patients in a more 

appropriate environment frees up A&E resource and would positively impact on performance 

against the A&E standards. 

National policy direction states that long delays in handing patients over from the care of 

ambulance crews to that of the ED staff, not only result in breaches of the 15 minute handover 

target, but are detrimental to clinical quality and patient experience and costly to the NHS. Under 

the current HBPoS configuration, police and ambulance staff often face long delays accessing 

place of safety sites whilst staff are pulled from other wards, often with the individual detained 

having to wait in an ambulance or police van.  Furthermore, the time taken to convene the 

assessing team and arrange onward care following assessment also contributes to delays; with 

lengthy place of safety admissions impacting patient experience and limiting patient flow, 

contributing to capacity issues.  

The benefits of the new model and reliable access to care will provide the Police and LAS with 

access to the right medical staff to consult with prior to detention, the confidence to take the 

patient to the nearest HBPoS to receive high quality care as well as the opportunity to build 

                                                
32

 NHS -  Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety 
Specification 
33

 NHS -  Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety 
Specification 
34

 NHS -  Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s section 136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety 
Specification 

Page 110



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  45 

 

better working relationships with staff at the sites. All of this will contribute significantly to 

admission avoidance, improved patient flow throughout the system and a better quality service; 

driving a positive impact on the 15 minute ambulance handover time target as well as both the 

four and twelve hour performance across the capital.  

Monitoring and oversight 

There is a role for commissioners and providers to have better oversight when capacity issues 

occur. It was recorded in 2016 that only 32 per cent of London CCGs were using provider, police 

and local authority data to monitor and understand the demand for HBPoS sites (as well as 

outcomes for those detained under s136).35 Over 62 per cent thought they were not compliant in 

instigating joint incident reviews when someone detained under s136 has been refused access 

to a HBPoS, or taken into police custody, or both. 

3.2.3.5 Funding issues 

Current funding arrangements do not promote Trusts to accept patients into HBPoS sites based 

on need, but rather a number of patients instead are accepted and assessed based on their 

home address or registered GP. This causes delays and inconsistent and variable care across 

London; patients are denied access to urgent mental health care - something that does not 

happen to Londoner’s who require urgent physical healthcare.  

3.2.3.6 Inpatient bed availability 

The lack of inpatient beds in London impacts on the s136 pathway increasing the length of time 

patients spend at HBPoS sites. In line with the Mental Health Act, AMHPs cannot complete the 

mental health assessment until a bed is found. The lack of inpatient beds causes a delay in 

completing the assessment and there is now additional pressure given the recent changes to the 

Mental Health Act36. The London average used for this business case is 41% of those detained 

under s136 are admitted to an inpatient ward following assessment37. 

Evidence from elsewhere in the UK and in London (e.g. Birmingham and South London and 

Maudsley Mental Health Trust) suggests that confronting these issues can lead to improvements 

in patient experience and outcomes, reduced inpatient admissions and decreased readmissions. 

It is important that the rest of London follows suit. 

 

3.2.4 Patient volumes and trends 

At present, London’s HBPoS sites provide care for approximately 5,307 s136 patients per 

annum. Given demographic projections, and increasing trends in demand over the past number 

of years, patient volumes are estimated to grow by approximately 16.5% for adults and 17.5% of 

CYP between 2015/16 and 2020/21.  

Of these detentions, over 75 per cent occur out of hours.38 This is illustrated in Figure 5, which 

details the proportion of arrivals by hour of day.  

                                                
35

 CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework report (September, 2016) 
36

 Revisions to the MHA (1983) changed the length of time an individual can be detained under s136 from 
72 to 24 hours.  
37

 Mental Health and Learning Disability dataset (MHLDDS) from July – December 2015 
38

 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: HBPoS audit 

Page 111



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  46 

 

 

 

Figure 5: proportion of activity by time of arrival 

 

The hours of arrival, together with the expected growth in patient volumes puts significant stress 

on the current configuration. The majority of sites do not have dedicated 24/7 staffing, and 

therefore cannot respond to patient needs appropriately. 

3.2.5 Learning from elsewhere 

Leveraging London’s own expertise 

There are two HBPoS sites within London with dedicated 24/7 staffing, South London and 

Maudsley (SLAM) and South West London and St. George’s (SWLSTGs). The experience from 

these sites has been used to inform the s136 new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS 

sites. 

During the options appraisal process and beyond, frontline staff and management from SLAM 

and SWLSTGs have helped to inform the analysis and assumptions supporting this business 

case.  

Below are some of the key advantages and the learning from SLAM and SWLSTG. 

South London and Maudsley (SLAM) 

SLAM’s centralised place of safety is a purpose-built facility, which meets the NHS estates 

standard and is staffed with a specialist team dedicated to providing speedy and expert 

assessments on 24/7 basis. It currently holds four assessment rooms, and two further step-down 

units. One of the two high dependency units has an attached private lounge area and was 

designed to accommodate those under the age of 18, making SLaM’s centralised HBPoS one of 

the few sites across London that has a designated assessment room for this purpose. 

Key advantages: 

 Access to a HBPoS has improved, with the new site accepting an average of 13% more 

s136 referrals each month than across the four sites under the old model; 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23

Hour of Day 

Arrival time 

Page 112



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  47 

 

 Frequent place of safety closures that were experienced in the past due to staffing issues 

and damaged facilities have not been a problem disruption to services due to closures 

reduced from 279 incidents across 4 sites in 2016 to 1 closure in 2017; 

 A dedicated team on site 24/7 has facilitated quicker acceptance of patients into the site, 

with 96% of patients admitted within 30 minutes of arrival; the time which police officers  

have to remain at the place of safety has also improved; 

 Improved physical health capabilities of staff has facilitated a decrease in the number of 

patients going to an ED prior to admission to the HBPoS; 

 Dedicated specialist staffing has facilitated improvement in service user experience, 

quality of assessment provided and interagency working across the s136 pathway; 

 The new purpose built facility, co-designed with service users, has transformed the 

physical environment. The unit has been designed to support delivery of safe and 

dignified care to patients in a therapeutic setting; and 

 The admission rate has decreased by 13% under the new model, with improved practice 

of a dedicated team and close working with the Trust's acute referral team (equates 8 

fewer admissions per month for the trust via the centralised place of safety). 

Key Learning: 

 Further work is required to improve patient flow and ensure patients are always assessed 

and discharged from the site quickly; 

 The availability of inpatient beds for onward admission remains an issue (length of stay 

for individuals requiring admission is on average 10 hours longer than those discharged 

into the community); and 

 Now there is a better understanding of the fluctuations in demand, plans for managing 

both periods of high and low demand, including managing capacity issues and reviewing 

staff utilisation are in progress. 

South West London and St. George’s (SWLSTGs) 

The SWLSTGs model is based on the Birmingham Psychiatric Decision Unit (PDU), which plays 

an important role in the urgent care pathway and has demonstrated significant benefits in 

reducing inpatient admissions and diverting people from the ED. SWLSTGs is a 24-hour mental 

health acute assessment unit that enables more in-depth assessments. It currently has two s136 

assessment rooms and an adjacent psychiatric decision unit with a bed capacity of 5 units. 

Key Advantages: 

 There was a 26% decrease in informal admissions, a 17% reduction in 0-5 day 

admissions and 8.4 fewer occupied beds per day through November 2016 to February 

2017. 

 There has been an improvement in service user experience due to the nature of the 

PDU’s calm and relaxing environment that reduces anxiety levels; 

Page 113



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  48 

 

 A more dynamic workforce model with the ability to interchange staff between the s136 

assessment rooms  and the PDU, which reduces down-time for staff; 

 All service users transferred to the suite are supported to develop a collaborative crisis 

plan to keep on discharge; this has been met positively by service users; and 

 The service has supported the professional  development of nursing assessment skills 

resulting in in a clear pathway for role progression. 

Key Learning: 

 On-going learning will continue to take place from adverse incidents, assessment time 

breaches and advice from regulators, in order to ensure safety and high quality care in 

the unit. As with SLAM, fluctuations in demand need to be understood to ensure staff can 

operate effectively when the unit is at maximum capacity. 

 

  

Page 114



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  49 

 

3.3 Vision and objectives 

3.3.1 Improving London’s section 136 pathway 

Transforming the s136 pathway and HBPoS service sites requires a shared vision across 

London’s crisis care system. As such, all partners involved in this transformation have agreed to 

work in line with the main principle of cooperation and collaboration underpinning the crisis care 

concordat39. 

This overarching vision to provide safety and support to people in mental health crisis is 

underpinned by a number of guiding principles which informed the specification of London’s 

s136 pathway. In addition, it is important that this vision enables the development of strategic 

objectives for the reconfiguration of HBPoS. 

3.3.2 Strategic objectives 

The strategic objectives outlined below highlight the list of aims which the reconfiguration of 

HBPoS sites is trying to achieve and/or contribute to. By setting out a list of objectives,  decision 

makers can assess whether the programme’s objectives are in line with wider policy interests 

and also evaluate the programme post-implementation. These objectives will inform the range of 

economic and clinical benefits identified in this business case and further benefits realisation 

activities thereafter. 

Objective 1: Enable the improvement in patient outcomes 

• The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites should assist all stakeholders in the s136 pathway in 

delivering better patient experiences 

• This includes ensuring that adequate conveyance times, facilities and services on arrival 

are provided to enable better care to those in crisis 

Objective 2: Facilitate access to 24/7 services 

• The reconfiguration should allow those experiencing a mental health crisis to have 

specialist treatment available to them 24/7 

• In addition, the reconfiguration should seek to minimise delays in specialist treatment and 

transport for the benefit of people in mental health crisis, police forces, Emergency 

Departments and clinical staff 

Objective 3: Concentrate staff expertise to enable a service suitable to patient 

needs 

• The reconfiguration should allow individuals to have access to the expertise required to 

enable better outcomes no matter which HBPoS they are transported to 

• Staff should also have adequate physical health competencies to prevent unnecessary 

ED referrals and provide a better experience for those detained under s136 through more 

holistic care. 

                                                
39

 Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat. Improving Outcomes for People Experiencing Mental Health 
Crisis. HM Government (2014) 

Page 115



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  50 

 

Objective 4: Deliver value for money 

• The reconfiguration should be delivered in the context of existing financial constraints 

and funding availability within the UK’s health system 

• This involves minimising the level of capital investment required to deliver the improved 

s136 pathway 

• In addition, the reconfiguration should seek to have sufficient throughput of patient 

activity so that desirable staff utilisation levels are maintained 

Objective 5: Ensure synergy with the wider crisis care system 

• The preferred HBPoS configuration should fit within the wider crisis care system in a way 

which enables other services to benefit from the proposed change 

• An example of these synergies is from future-proofing i.e. the new configuration allows 

for the expansion and/or improvement in the system in the medium to long term 

Objective 6: Ensure appropriate service provision for all ages 

• The reconfiguration should ensure that the specific needs of CYP can be met in a suitable 

care environment.  

• As a result, there will be one HBPoS within each STP that provides services for all ages, 

with appropriate facilities available for CYP patients and sufficient capacity and staff skills 

to provide a 24/7 service. 

3.3.3 Appraisal framework 

In order to appraise options in the Economic Case, and to subsequently evaluate the preferred 

option against the do-nothing alternative, it is necessary that the framework utilised to appraise 

potential options aligns with the broader strategic objectives of the programme. Table 4 sets this 

out in detail. 

  

Page 116



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  51 

 

Table 4: Appraisal framework 

 

  

Objectives Appraisal criteria 

Objective 1: Enable the improvement in s136 

patient outcomes 

 Ensure that the preferred configuration of 
HBPoS sites can best deliver the proposals set 
out in the Specification 

Objective 2: Facilitate access to 24/7 services  Determine what configuration would establish 
sufficiently constant demand to warrant 24/7 
services across all sites 

Objective 3: Concentrate staff expertise to enable a 

service suitable to patient needs 

 Ensure that the preferred configuration can 
maintain the skills required to deliver a high-
quality 24/7 service 

 Ensure that the preferred configuration 
supports sufficient utilisation of resource to 
warrant dedicated HBPoS staff 

Objective 4: Deliver value for money  Consider a configuration which makes best use 
of existing infrastructure and ensures an 
efficient use of resources per patient 

Objective 5: Ensure synergy with the wider crisis 

care system 

 Configuration allows for enhancement of other 
services through HBPoS and the potential for 
future proofing 

Objective 6: Ensure a distinction between the 

service provided to adults and the service provided 

to CYP 

 Ensure that the resource and infrastructure 
requirements for adults and CYP are 
considered separately 

Page 117



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  52 

 

4 Clinical case 
This chapter provides an added focus on the clinical challenges that exist with the existing 

configuration of HBPoS sites, along with an appraisal of proposed clinical benefits that may be 

derived through the proposed reconfiguration.  

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Existing clinical challenges 

 Clinical benefits of the preferred option 

 

 

 

 

 

have been identified through significant engagement with people with lived 

experience of mental health crisis, the LAS and clinical staff at both HBPoS sites 

and EDs and corroborated by the CQC, most recently in a report published in July 

2017.  

The new model of care will contribute significantly to improving these challenges and help 

deliver better outcomes to Londoners: 

1. Improve the quality of care by enabling more capacity across the system, better 
environment conditions and suitably trained and dedicated staff teams, enable the 
delivery of a consistent level of care for all, which support reduced inpatient 
admissions and readmissions. 

2. Improve the provision of care for CYP by increasing the capacity of appropriate 
facilities for CYP with suitably trained staff. 

3. Improve access to care by being better placed to accommodate capacity and 
demand, supporting reduced ED admissions, providing dedicated staffing 24/7, 
reducing conveyance time and enabling patients to be assessed and treated 
holistically and comprehensively.  

4. Improve the environment in which care is provided by ensuring patients are 
treated with respect, comfort and dignity and feel safe at all times, in fit-for-purpose 
facilities. 

Implementation will be carried out with strong clinical engagement and leadership to 

ensure clinical quality is maintained and improved at all sites throughout the 

transformation. 

 

Page 118



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  53 

 

4.1 Existing clinical challenges 

4.1.1 Overview 

London’s current s136 pathway and HBPoS specification does not adequately and consistently 

deliver the quality of care that patients deserve. Stakeholders across the crisis care system 

acknowledge that there are a number of challenges which need to be addressed in order to 

provide patients with timely, high quality care which respects individual needs. 

This section sets out the existing clinical challenges in London’s mental health crisis care 

system. These challenges have been identified through continued engagement and interviews 

with London’s police forces, the LAS, clinical staff and patients with experience of the s136 

pathway and HBPoS sites. The challenges identified are: 

 Delayed and unreliable access to care; 

 Unsuitable treatment environment;  

 Inconsistent quality of care; and 

 Inappropriate provision for CYP. 

In the Financial Case and Economic Case, a number of these challenges are discussed in terms 

of their financial, economic and social impacts. The purpose of the Clinical Case, however, is to 

outline how the existing inefficiencies and inconsistencies along the pathway can be addressed 

through the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites.  

4.1.2 Delayed and unreliable access to care 

Insufficient site capacity, together with non-dedicated staffing, can cause significant delays to 

treatment for patients detained under s136 of the Mental Health Act.  

Delays to care 

A number of stakeholders involved with the s136 pathway have noted continued delays in 

accessing sites, as police forces and LAS struggle to secure capacity at HBPoS sites. In 2015, 

over 100 issues related to capacity and access across the s136 pathway were reported by 

frontline police officers.40 This number increased in 2016, with some instances of police officers 

and paramedics recording waits of over seven hours in accessing care. Box 2 provides an 

example of difficulties police forces have faced in accessing care for individuals detained under 

s136. 

Box 2: Capacity and delays in existing system 

 

                                                
40

 Metropolitan Police Mental Health Escalation Log (2015) 

Police request access to a Health Based Place of Safety but were denied as the site was full, staff at the site 

refused to facilitate arranging elsewhere for the patient to go. Eight hours later officers had the patient 

assessed at a London Emergency Department, following assessment the patient was then transferred back to 

the original site where the Place of Safety was situated to be admitted into an inpatient psychiatric bed. 

Page 119



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  54 

 

There are two primary reasons for these difficulties in accessing care: 

 Individual site capacity; and 

 Insufficient staff availability. 

Many of the current HBPoS sites have minimal capacity, with some only capable of holding one 

individual under s136 at any point in time. The current configuration of sites and their capacity is 

not modelled according to demand and therefore when the volumes of patients presented at 

HBPoS sites exceed the available number of suites, long delays can occur in terms of waiting 

times and travelling times to other sites.  

As the majority of sites do not currently have dedicated staffing, this situation is exacerbated 

outside of regular working hours. Over 75% of s136 detentions occur during this time period, yet 

minimal staffing levels restrict the ability to provide a responsive service. 

Together, these bottlenecks and operational inefficiencies increase conveyance times and 

lengths of stay at HBPoS sites, ultimately delaying patient assessments and elongating the 

service.  

Impact on patients 

For patients, delays in time to assessment can lead to: 

 Increased emotional distress; 

 A delay in receiving appropriate medication; and 

 A breakdown in trust with mental health services. 

Without prompt intervention, a patient’s mental health condition can deteriorate. A poor 

experience at the beginning of the s136 pathway can have traumatising effects for individuals, 

leading to worse clinical outcomes and reluctance to seek professional help in the event of 

another crisis. Unplanned delays can also have a catastrophic impact on a person’s pre-

admission functional ability. In a mental health setting, extended length of stay can lead to 

deconditioning, functional relapse and a loss of confidence.41 

In interviews, clinical staff at London’s HBPoS sites have also noted that these delays in 

accessing support and on-going treatment negatively impacts patient experience and outcomes. 

Staff have stated that those who experience poor treatment at the start of the pathway are less 

likely to engage with health services, co-produced crisis plans are jeopardised and much of the 

trust between clinicians and the patient is lost. This is illustrated by the fact that in 2015/2016 

there were approximately 320 Londoner’s who were detained again under s136 within two days. 

4.1.3 Unsuitable treatment environment 

London’s treatment environments for mental health crisis patients vary, but often fail to provide a 

therapeutic setting for patients. In the most recent reports from 2016 and 2017, the CQC rated 

two Mental Health Trusts as ‘needing improvement’ and one as ‘inadequate’.  

                                                
41

 Right place, right time, better transfers of care, NHS Providers, 2015 

Page 120



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  55 

 

Londoners with lived experiences of the s136 pathway have also expressed concerns about the 

comfort and safety of HBPoS sites. Only 36 per cent of Londoner’s detained under s136 said 

they felt safe in an HBPoS.42 The feedback is even worse for patients that are transferred to EDs 

due to capacity issues. In London’s EDs, only 12 per cent of those assessed thought their 

assessment rooms were pleasant, comfortable and welcoming.43  

It is important that London’s crisis care services can provide patients with the respect, comfort 

and dignity that they deserve during difficult moments in their lives. Poor physical environments 

can make a patient feel intimidated, scared and less likely to engage with treatment during and 

after the intervention. 

4.1.4 Inconsistent quality of care 

Only 14% of patients interviewed say that they had the support they needed in a crisis.44 Issues 

within the crisis care system, such as the delays and unsuitable environment discussed above, 

contribute to potentially harmful patient experiences. Patients have also shown a clear 

preference for 24/7, dedicated crisis services even if that means travelling further to access the 

care. Patient experience also varies due to differing levels of staff training and skillsets at the 

HBPoS sites and EDs. 

The CQC report indicated that nearly a third of nursing and medical staff training was ‘on the job’ 

rather than before they started work in the place of safety. Furthermore, five per cent of places of 

safety indicated that nursing and medical staff were not trained in de-escalation, which is 

recommended for managing disturbed behaviour.45 

On occasion, staff who do not have a dedicated role in treating mental health crisis patients can 

feel less confident in their ability to contribute to mental health assessments.  

4.1.5 Inappropriate service provision for CYP 

CYP suffering a mental health crisis have different needs to adults, which should be reflected in 

the care and environment provided to them.  

However, many CYP patients are not receiving the care that they need in mental health facilities. 

In a survey by the Royal College of Psychiatrists, 79.1% of respondents reported safeguarding 

concerns while CYP were waiting for an inpatient bed; 76.5% reported young people with 

unacceptably high risk profiles having to be managed in the community because of a lack of 

beds; 61.9% reported young people being held in inappropriate settings such as paediatric and 

adult wards, police cells, s136 suites and Emergency Departments.46 

The use of adult wards for managing CYP detained under s136 has been described as 

problematic by stakeholders interviewed as part of the Health Needs Assessment.47 This is due 

to the perceived lack of staff expertise in care for CYP at a number of sites. 

                                                
42

 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 
43

 Ibid 
44

 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 
45

 Care quality Commission: A safer place to be 
46

 Survey of in-patient admissions for children and young people with mental health problems. RCPsych, Faculty 
Report CAP/01 
47

 Section 136 and mental Health Crisis Presentations in Emergency Departments in London, 2016 

Page 121



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  56 

 

This issue in the quality of care for CYP patients is exacerbated by London’s current 

configuration of HBPoS sites, as many instruct that children detained under s136 should instead 

go to the nearest Emergency Department. Over the past two years, one London ED has seen an 

82% increase in the number of CYP patients requiring a mental health assessment. As 

discussed previously, treating anyone detained under s136 in an Emergency Department is not 

appropriate and has a strong link with poor patient experiences, higher readmission rates and 

less desirable clinical outcomes.  

Page 122



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  57 

 

4.2 Clinical benefits of the preferred option 

4.2.1 Overview 

A primary purpose of the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is to address the existing clinical 

challenges along the s136 pathway and within the wider crisis care system in order to deliver 

high-quality, coordinated care for some of the most vulnerable Londoners. By improving access 

to care, providing suitable treatment environments and ensuring a consistent quality of care at 

HBPoS sites, the preferred option will help to deliver better outcomes for those detained under 

s136 in future. In addition, the provision of an all-age HBPoS site in each STP will ensure that 

CYP are provided with appropriate care according to their needs.  

This section outlines how the preferred option will address the current clinical challenges 

identified within the crisis care system. Table 5 maps out how the outcomes of the preferred 

option will address the existing challenges, and lead to clinical benefits. 

Table 5: Clinical benefits map 

Existing challenge Preferred option outcome(s) Clinical benefit(s) 

Delayed and unreliable access 
to care 

 Reduced conveyance time 

 Reduced HBPoS length of 
stay 

 Patients experiencing a 
crisis are treated quicker 

Unsuitable treatment 
environment  

 Improved HBPoS 
environment 

 Reduced ED admissions 

 Fit-for-purpose facilities 
improve patient outcomes 
and reduce aggression 
levels 

Inconsistent quality of care  Improved staff expertise 

 Reduced inpatient 
admissions 

 Reduced readmissions 

 Patients receive better 
quality treatment during 
HBPoS stay 

 Reduction in variation 

Inappropriate provision for CYP  Improved staff expertise  CYP patients are treated by 
paediatric professionals with 
appropriate skills 

 

4.2.2 Clinical outcomes and benefits 

In addressing the challenges discussed previously, the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites will 

produce a number of benefits for patients. The outcomes listed below are also included in the 

Economic Case, however they are discussed in this section purely in terms of their clinical 

benefits. 

Reduced conveyance time 

By providing sufficient capacity at the HBPoS sites, the preferred option will reduce the average 

journey time from 64 minutes to 22 minutes for police vehicles and 24 minutes to 22 minutes for 

ambulance vehicles.  

Page 123



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  58 

 

This will ensure that patients receive emergency clinical care more quickly whilst also denoting a 

time saving for police, ambulance and patients. Patient experience will improve as delays are 

minimised and they can be seen faster by clinical staff trained to care for their needs. 

Furthermore, by reducing the conveyance time for patients, the reconfiguration will contribute 

towards the wider aim of urgent and emergency access to crisis care – making sure that a 

mental health crisis is treated with the same urgency as a physical health emergency; this is vital 

step towards achieving parity of esteem for mental and physical health.48 

Reduced length of stay at HBPoS 

Through dedicated staffing and minimised delays, it is expected that the average length of stay 

at an HBPoS site will reduce slightly from 17.5 hours to 16 hours. This is partially because the 

new configuration seeks to limit the number of assessments which last more than 24 hours to 

zero.  

Where this represents a reduction in waiting time, there is an improvement in patient experience 

as they are seen by a mental health professional and admitted to an inpatient bed, where 

necessary, more rapidly. 

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) note that it is important to start 

building therapeutic relationships as early as possible in order to: 

 Lessen the person's sense of being coerced; 

 Encourage the person to engage with treatment and recovery programmes and 

collaborative decision-making; 

 Create a safe, contained environment; and 

 Reduce the risk of suicide, which is high during the first 7 days after admission. 

This is particularly important for people who have been admitted in crisis.49 

Improved HBPoS environment 

It is a national objective for mental health services in London that people are treated with dignity 

and respect when in crisis, within a therapeutic environment.50 A soothing environment can de-

escalate patients and make them feel safer during treatment. Importantly, it also demonstrates to 

patients that they are respected and cared for by those seeking to help them. This is achieved 

both through the physical design of an HBPoS site and staff factors: the training of the staff to 

use the environment effectively, the compassion and dignity afforded to patients by staff and the 

relationships within the staff team and with other professionals. Where HBPoS environments 

have been co-designed with patients, this can ensure that the environment meets patient, as 

well as staff, needs.  

 

 

                                                
48

 Achieving Better Access to Mental Health Services by 2020. DH, 2014 
49

 Transition between inpatient mental health settings and community or care home settings (NG53). NICE, 2016 
50

 Department for Health, 2014 - Achieving Better Access to Mental Health Services by 2020 

Page 124



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  59 

 

 

Box 3: HBPoS environment 

Evidence suggests that mental health facilities that are fit-for-purpose and meet the needs of 

service users improve patient outcomes and safety. Trends also lean towards reduced 

involuntary admissions and overall aggression levels.51 Staff at the SLAM Centralised Place of 

Safety have experienced that the design of the built environment has supported safety, improved 

dignity and privacy and quality of assessments.  

Figure 6: Service user perceptions of the SLAM centralised HBPoS, 2017  

 

In the Economic Case, this benefit has been quantified and a monetary value of £335k per 

annum has been estimated using the Social Value Bank methodology.  

  

                                                
51

 Hughes, R. (2008) Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses. Agency for Healthcare 
Research and Quality (US) 

“We’re starting to learn how to use the environment in a really positive way in terms of managing risk. 

We use the rooms to step people down and step people up according to their need. That works really 

well for us in terms of managing risk, and it ties in with other initiatives we use in the Trust, like the four 

steps to safety which is a violence and aggression tool.” 

 SLAM Centralised Place of Safety Nurse, 2017 

Page 125



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  60 

 

Reduced Emergency Department admissions 

In the preferred option, it is anticipated that the number of patients sent to ED due to insufficient 

capacity will reduce from 4.5% to zero.  

ED admissions are associated with poor patient experiences, leading to less desirable clinical 

outcomes. As a result, diverting individuals away from Emergency Departments will have clinical 

benefits in terms of reduced hospital readmissions and improved patient experiences.   

If ED admissions due to insufficient capacity are reduced to zero, approximately 200 patients will 

benefit from the improvement in experience. This has been calculated using the Social Value 

Bank’s value for relief from depression/anxiety and is calculated at approximately £10k per 

annum.  

Improved staff expertise 

The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites will concentrate staff expertise at the 9 sites.  

The provision of 24/7 dedicated staffing, together with more focused staff training, will ensure 

that all patients receive a high quality of care upon arriving at an HBPoS site. Furthermore, by 

training staff to contribute to mental health assessments, a sense of ownership and responsibility 

can be fostered within the dedicated sites.   

This improvement in care has not been quantified for the purpose of this business case; 

however, it can be expected that it contributes to the reduction in inpatient admissions and 

reduced repeat presentations which are discussed below. 

Reduced inpatient admissions 

Past case studies, from Birmingham, SLAM and South West London have shown that the 

combination of dedicated staffing, improved facilities and minimised delays in care can lead to a 

significant reduction in inpatient admissions. The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in London, 

together with a combined workforce model, could reduce inpatient admissions by between 20% 

and 26% if results from elsewhere are achieved.  

The reduction in inpatient admissions as a result of the improved s136 pathway and HBPoS 

specification will itself represent a clinical benefit. Avoiding unnecessary admissions to mental 

health inpatient wards illustrates the efficacy of the clinical interventions at the HBPoS site. 

Reduced repeat presentations  

At present, approximately 19.2% of sections are repeat presentations from patients that are 

readmitted through the s136 pathway within six months.52 However, from discussions with key 

stakeholders in the system it is estimated that a reduction to 10% is possible under the preferred 

option.   

As above, the reduction in readmissions as a result of the improved s136 pathway and HBPoS 

specification will itself represent a clinical benefit. Avoiding reoccurrences of mental health crises 

illustrates the efficacy of the clinical interventions at the HBPoS site. 

 

                                                
52

 Therapeutic Solutions: Section 136 and Mental Health Crisis Presentations in Emergency Departments in London 

Page 126



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  61 

 

5 Economic case 
This section sets out the Economic case for reconfiguring HBPoS sites in London. It outlines the 

process for arriving at the preferred option and outlines the indicative costs and benefits of the 

reconfiguration against the do-nothing baseline scenario.  

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Options assessment 

 Indicative economic costs and benefits 

Page 127



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  62 

 

 

The current configuration of HBPoS sites in London is not conducive to meeting the 
standards outlined in the pan-London s136 pathway and HBPoS specification.  

HBPoS sites are historically located where space has been available; however, capacity 
issues, a lack of dedicated, skilled resource (both in and out of hours) and lack of access 
predicated on geographic location of need are all drivers for a change of the current 
configuration. 

► A robust options appraisal has demonstrated a reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is 
required to meet the new model of care. The options appraisal showed a preference 
of moving to:  

o Nine site model for adults with a combined workforce model (further 
details on the workforce model is detailed in the workforce chapter); and  

o Five sites (one in each STP) within the nine site model that provide an 
all-age service.  

► The options appraisal represented the best option to address the mental health 
crisis care problems across London, bringing sustainable improvements and lasting 
benefits for patients, as well as driving improvements in the wider health economy. 

► This option is the preferred state for London’s future HBPoS site configuration; 
however a transitional 13 site phase has been developed following STP 
programme leads engaging locally on proposed configurations.  
 

► The indicative benefits of the reconfiguration based on nine sites have been 
quantified by estimating the NHS financial savings as well as measuring the social 
impact of nine key outcomes. 

o NHS financial savings total £14,384k 

  £795k cashable / £13,589k non-cashable 

o Social impact savings (non-cashable) measured at £5,572k 

► The total baseline pathway cost is c. £20,632k p.a. (excluding activity growth).  

► The total estimated cost of the reconfiguration is £23,744k which includes the 
following: 

o Pathway cost £20,494k p.a. 

o Transition costs £1,000k 

o Capital costs £2,250k 

► The indicative net present benefit of the reconfiguration over the five year period 
FY17/18 to FY21/22 is £73,927k which includes; 

o Net present value of non-cashable benefits (excluding non-pay costs) 
£66,174k 

o Net present value of the preferred option £7,753k 

 

Page 128



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  63 

 

5.1 Options assessment 

5.1.1 Overview 

As expressed in Section 3, there is a clear case for a new model of care, changing the 

configuration of HBPoS sites alongside the development of the new s136 pathway. Stakeholders 

from across the crisis care system have articulated that the care and treatment service that 

users experience throughout different points of the pathway is variable and often inadequate. 

In order to provide a viable solution to the existing issues, it is necessary to consider the full 

range of alternative delivery models for the s136 pathway and HBPoS specification. This section 

describes the process undertaken to evaluate the site configuration options for mental health 

crisis care for London.  

The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in London requires a more complicated and thorough 

options appraisal process than most public spending proposals. This is because, in theory, there 

are a vast number of potential configurations into which HBPoS sites could be organised across 

London: 

 There could be any number of sites in an option ranging from one site for London to 20 

sites (current state)53; 

 Each site could be designated as a HBPoS; or 

 There could be multiple combinations of sites to form a single service. 

As such, a structured process made up of several steps was required to scrutinise the 

alternatives in order to identify the most desirable alternative to the status quo. In order to 

provide a structured, logical and objective approach towards arriving at a preferred option for 

reconfiguration, a three stage process was designed: 

 Phase 1a: Site agnostic appraisal; 

 Phase 1b: Site specific appraisal; 

 Phase 2: Pan – London configuration assessment; and 

 Phase 3: Preferred option. 

At each stage, a set of criteria was used to measure the different reconfiguration options in 

terms of patient experience and outcomes as well as improve wider system efficiencies. Before 

progressing to the next stage, approval was required from the Crisis Care Implementation 

Steering Group. 

As described throughout the following sections, appraisal was undertaken separately for adult 

and CYP groups, with a final subjective assessment carried out in the final steps of the analysis.  

                                                
53

 At present, there are 20 HBPoS sites in operation across London. However, a HBPoS in Highgate is currently 
proposed for development and has therefore been considered as an option for the purpose of this appraisal 

Page 129



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  64 

 

Figure 7 below provides a high-level overview of the appraisal process outlining the key outputs 

delivered at each stage.  

Figure 7: London’s HBPoS options appraisal exercise 

 

Source: Healthy London Partnership 

Following the options appraisal, further engagement led by programme STP leads took place 

across the system on the preferred option. The engagement process resulted in some STPs 

confirming sites that would be included in a pan-London nine site model whilst others required 

more time to develop local plans, reflecting on other crisis care services and further 

understanding the impact of patient flow across local systems. This is particularly the case (but 

to varying degrees) in North West London (NWL), North East London (NEL) and South East 

London (SEL).  

This resulted in a transitional stage being developed. The transitional stage is referenced 

throughout this business case with further detail in the Management Case. 

5.1.2 Phase 1a – site agnostic appraisal 

Figure 8: London’s HBPoS options appraisal step 1a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Overview 

The first step in the options appraisal process was to identify the optimum number of HBPoS 

sites irrespective of the location and/or quality of the sites themselves. However, rather than 

arrive at a specific number of sites, and limit later stages of the analysis, the site agnostic 

appraisal provided a view as to the range within which the optimum number of sites exists.  

The results of this stage of the options assessment have been used to help shape the Pan 

London assessment in phase 2. In addition, the hurdle process helps to reduce the millions of 

alternatives for reconfiguration down to a long list of options. 

Page 130



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  65 

 

Criteria 

The criteria utilised during this stage of the assessment aim to test the degree to which a set 

number of sites can support the core principles within London's section 136 pathway and Health 

Based Place of Safety specification, namely the provision of a 24/7 service, minimising potential 

capital expenditure investment, effectively utilising capacity and resources and providing an 

equitable coverage across London. This produced four hurdle questions to employ as criteria: 

 Does the configuration effectively utilise staff skills? 

 Does the configuration effectively utilise capacity? 

 Does the configuration provide equitable coverage across London? 

 Does the configuration minimise capital expenditure investments? 

Results 

The analysis established that between five and 13 HBPoS sites would be the optimal range for 

adults in London. A configuration with under 5 sites would not provide equitable coverage and 

would require significant capital investment. On the other hand, a configuration with more than 

13 sites would not effectively utilise workforce and capacity and thereby struggle to justify the 

establishment of a 24/7 service. 

Figure 9: Hurdle analysis – adult HBPoS sites 

 

Source: Healthy London Partnership 

a number of sites that is considered to have passed a given criteria test 

a number of sites that is considered not to have passed a given criteria test 

a number of sites that is considered to have passed a given criteria test for one workforce model, but not the other 

Optimal Range 

This analysis establishes that the range deemed to be optimal for the number of HBPoS sites in London serving adult 
patients is between 5 and 13 

Page 131



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  66 

 

For CYP, the same process was undertaken in the site agnostic appraisal. At this stage, the 

optimal number of HBPoS sites for CYP in London was found to be between 1 and 2 sites. A 

larger number of sites would not effectively utilise workforce or capacity in the system and 

importantly, the option to have one or two sites allowed for an optimal concentration of 

appropriate skills.  

Figure 10: Hurdle analysis – CYP HBPoS sites 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Source: Healthy London Partnership 

 

5.1.3 Phase 1b – site specific appraisal 

Figure 11: London’s HBPoS options appraisal step 1b 

 

Overview 

In parallel to determining the optimal number of sites for the configuration, individual HBPoS 

sites were also assessed against a set of criteria in order to determine London’s most viable 

sites for the reconfiguration.  

This objective assessment of individual sites enabled a ranking of the full range of HBPoS sites 

across London and within their respective sustainability and transformation partnerships (STPs), 

which was subsequently utilised in the pan-London appraisal.  

Optimal Range 
This analysis establishes that the range deemed to be optimal for the 

number of HBPoS sites in London serving CYP patients is between 1 and 2 

a number of sites that is considered to have passed a given criteria test 

a number of sites that is considered not to have passed a given criteria test 

Page 132



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  67 

 

Criteria 

Six criteria have been used to assess the HBPoS sites on an individual basis: 

 Proximity to occurrences of s136 detentions (based on pick up locations and areas of 

prevalence); 

 Proximity to inpatient beds; 

 Deliverability (designated HBPoS sites at Emergency Departments are deemed not 

viable); 

 Proximity to 24/7 urgent physical care54; 

 % of non-clinical space to total space available; and 

 Current capacity of the HBPoS site. 

This set of criteria for individual sites has been tested with individual members from both the 

Crisis Care Implementation Steering Group and the Technical Implementation Group meeting 

along with representatives from the STPs, people with lived experience and their carers. Table 6 

illustrates the criteria that has been utilised to rank each of the sites. Each option is scored using 

either a tiered (each option is placed on a 0-1 scale for achievement of goal) or binary (each 

option is given a value of 0 or 1, reflecting yes/no answer) method. High, medium and low 

weightings are provided in order to prioritise the importance of certain criteria.  

Table 6: Site-specific appraisal criteria 

Type Criteria Rationale Weighting 

Access to 

care 

Areas where there are 
high presentations of 
section 136 detentions 

Given the challenges with current service provision there is 
a need to improve the access of care, particularly in areas 
of high s136 activity. It is also well known that a good 
proportion of s136 patients are picked-up near large 
transportation hubs in London.   

High  

Deliverability  Emergency 
Departments that are 
‘designated’ HBPoS 
are deemed unviable 
to be further 
developed 

Royal College of Psychiatry and the Royal College of 
Emergency Medicine both recommend EDs should only be 
used as an HBPoS where medical problems need urgent 
assessment and management, this has been supported by 
London service users and stakeholders across the system.  

High 

Access to 
care 

Proximity to mental 
health inpatient beds 
(adults - general acute 
wards and PICU 
wards, CYP – CAMHS 
beds and CAMHS 
workforce) 

There is a need to be close to other mental health services, 
particularly inpatient beds. For adults this is general 
inpatient beds and Psychiatric Intensive Care Units (PICU), 
for CYP this is more CAMHS Tier 4 and the CAMHS 
workforce.  

High  

                                                
54

 In some cases, individuals detained under s136 require urgent physical care. This is typically delivered at an 
Emergency Department, and this arrangement is expected to continue in the new configuration. 

Page 133



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  68 

 

Access to 
care 

Proximity to 24/7 
urgent physical care 

Feedback throughout the engagement period outlined that 
robust acute and mental health pathways are vital to 
ensure an effective s136 pathway. It is acknowledged that 
sites that are in close proximity to an ED are more likely to 
have well developed pathways and have more effective, 
joint working between physical and mental health staff. 

Medium 

Deliverability % of non-clinical 
space to total space 
available 

This measure looks at the possibility of increasing capacity 
at HBPoS sites, the assumption being that non-clinical 
areas can more readily be used to increase capacity at 
sites.  

Low 

Deliverability Current capacity at 
HBPoS 

This criteria measures the current capacity at each site, 
with the rationale being to minimise the amount of capital 
investment required. 

Low 

Source: Healthy London Partnership 

Results 

The full suite of HBPoS sites were ranked according to each criteria. Please see Appendix A for 

detail on the rankings of HBPoS sites. 

 

5.1.4 Phase 2: Pan – London configuration assessment 

Figure 12: London’s HBPoS options appraisal step 2 

 

Overview 

Following the site agnostic appraisal and site-specific appraisal, an objective pan-London 

configuration appraisal was undertaken in order to arrive at a shortlist of options.  

The first step involved at this stage of the process was to establish a long list of configuration 

options based on the highest scoring configurations from the site specific analysis undertaken in 

step 1b. The long list of configurations was then assessed in two ways: 

 Individual site appraisal criteria that are relevant on a pan-London level and hence 

aggregated to provide an appraisal of a given configuration; and 

 Specific pan-London criteria. 

 

 

Page 134



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  69 

 

Criteria 

The pan-London configuration criteria used at this stage in the assessment are outlined in Table 

7 below. This set of criteria was tested with individual members from both the Implementation 

Steering Group and the Technical Implementation Group along with representatives from the 

STPs, people with lived experience and their carers. The criteria are both objective and 

subjective in nature, and build on the analysis undertaken in Phase 1a and Phase 1b. Each 

option is scored against the baseline model, which is scored as zero; the scoring framework 

interprets whether the new model is an improvement on the current model or not, with the scores 

weighted based on the agreed weighting of that criteria point. High, medium and low weightings 

are provided in order to prioritise the importance of certain criteria. 

Table 7: Pan-London configuration criteria 

Type Configuration criteria Weighting 

Quality Pan-London configuration option delivers London’s 
HBPoS specification (a key component being a 24/7 
staffed service) 

High 

Quality Pan-London configuration option maximises service user 
experience 

High 

Quality Pan-London configuration option maximises staff 
experience (acknowledging multi agencies) 

High 

Quality  Pan-London configuration option ensures improved 
patient outcomes 

High 

Access to care  Option ensures adequate HBPoS capacity to meet peak 
demands and future growth in activity 

High 

Access to care Option ensures appropriate distance between mental 
health inpatient service  and HBPoS site 

High 

Access to care Option ensures minimal conveyance time from pick up to 
the HBPoS site 

High 

Access to care Option ensures appropriate distance between 
Emergency Department and HBPoS site 

Medium 

Access to care Option ensures equitable coverage between sites 
(distance between each HBPoS site in the configuration) 

Low 

Value for money Option provides value for money for London Medium 

Value for money  Option minimises overall capex investment Low 

Deliverability 

  

Option ensures all estates are fit-for purpose and viable 
to deliver an improved service 

Medium 

Strategic coherence  Option aligns to STP wider crisis care visions  High  

Page 135



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  70 

 

Strategic coherence  Option aligns with current agreed acute 
reconfigurations/mental health reconfigurations or service 
developments across wider health and social care.  

Medium 

Strategic coherence  Option ensures comprehensive coverage across London  Medium 

 

Results 

Based on the criteria above, the objective pan-London assessment recommended a 9 site 

configuration of HBPoS sites for adults, with a combined workforce model. The results are 

provided in Table 8 below. 

Table 8: Pan-London appraisal results 

 5 Site Model 9 Site Model 13 Site Model 

Stand-alone Combined Stand-alone Combined Stand-alone Combined 

Objective 

analysis 

-9 -5 -3 1 -5 1 

Subjective 
analysis 

15 15 18 18 12 12 

Total 6 10 15 19 7 13 

 

For CYP, the same process was undertaken, which included further engagement across London 

with CAMHS clinical leads. A 2-site model with a combined workforce scored high in the 

objective analysis; however, it was not supported by both service users and clinicians.  

5.1.5 Phase 3: preferred option 

Figure 13: London’s HBPoS options appraisal step 3 

 

 

 

 

Page 136



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  71 

 

Overview 

In order to arrive at a preferred option, the subjective input of various stakeholders was sought in 

order to ensure that the output from the pan-London assessment in phase 2 proposed a realistic 

and viable alternative to the current configuration.  

This step in the process ensured that appropriate engagement and insights were sought from 

the organisations and individuals which would be directly and indirectly affected by the change. It 

also allowed for a more strategic evaluation of options, with a consideration of other potential 

alternatives for the delivery of crisis care. 

To inform the stakeholders involved in this phase of the assessment, the short list of options, 

including the supporting pan-London appraisal and individual site appraisal scores were 

circulated to the Crisis Care Implementation Steering Group and the Technical Implementation 

Group. This was followed by an evaluation workshop, which gained stakeholder input against a 

list of set focus points.  

Finally, to arrive at the exact configuration of sites, a meeting was held between strategic leads 

in the relevant stakeholder groups. This considered a shortlist of 3 options for the preferred 9-

site, with an HBPoS within each STP providing an all-age service with the appropriate facilities. 

Rather than supersede the objective analysis undertaken in Phases 1 and 2, this subjective 

element of the appraisal process was used to supplement the analysis in order to arrive at the 

correct determination of the preferred option for London. 

Criteria 

Each of the short listed configuration options were subjectively appraised against the pan-

London criteria shown in Table 9 below. 

Table 9: Preferred option decision criteria 

Type Criteria Weighting  

Quality Pan-London configuration option maximises service user 
experience 

High  

Quality Pan-London configuration option maximises staff 
experience (acknowledging multi agencies) 

High 

Quality  Pan-London configuration option ensures improved 
patient outcomes 

High  

Deliverability 

  

Option ensures all estates are fit-for purpose and viable 
to deliver an improved service 

Medium  

Strategic 
coherence  

Option aligns to STP wider crisis care visions  High  

Strategic 
coherence  

Option aligns with current agreed acute 
reconfigurations/mental health reconfigurations or 
service developments across wider health and social 

Medium  

Page 137



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  72 

 

care.  

Source: Healthy London Partnership 

Results 

The subjective assessment of sites, through two evaluation workshops (one for CYP, the other 

for adults), aligned with the results from Phase 2 above – indicating that a nine site combined 

model would be preferred for the HBPoS reconfiguration, with 5 sites (one in each STP) 

providing an all age service, with appropriate facilities55. A shortlist of 3 options were presented 

to the strategic leads, with the final configuration chosen as the preferred option illustrated in 

Figure 14 below (sites in the transitional phase are identified by faded circles).  

Figure 14: Pan-London consolidated HBPoS site model  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transitional stage 

Following the options appraisal, further engagement led by programme STP leads took place 

across the system on the preferred option. The engagement process resulted in some STPs 

confirming sites that would be included in a pan-London nine site model whilst others required 

more time to develop local plans, reflecting on other crisis care services and further 

understanding the impact of patient flow across local systems. This is particularly the case (but 

to varying degrees) in North West London (NWL), North East London (NEL) and South East 

London (SEL).  

                                                
55

 The preferred CYP sites in the 9 site model include: The Wandsworth Recovery Centre (SWL), 
Maudsley Hospital (SEL), Highgate Mental Health Centre (NCL) and St. Charles (NWL). The site of the 
CYP all-age service for NEL in the final 9 site model will require further discussion as the preferred CYP 
site is one of the transitional sites. 

Page 138



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  73 

 

This resulted in a transitional stage of 13 HBPoS sites across London (including five sites that 

provide an all-age service). The additional sites are highlighted in Figure 13 above by faded 

circles. Further detail of the 13 site transitional stage is referenced in the Management Case. 

Page 139



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  74 

 

5.2 Indicative economic costs and benefits 

5.2.1 Overview 

To deliver the new model of care, the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in London will have direct 

and indirect impacts for service users, staff, the NHS and London’s wider society and economy. 

The direct financial implications of the proposed nine site model are outlined in detail in Section 

5, the Financial Case. However, the direct financial costs and savings do not fully account for the 

full range of impacts which will result from the reconfiguration. Instead, to determine the full set 

of costs and benefits of the proposal, a wider consideration of economic and social impacts is 

encouraged by the HM Treasury Green Book. This chapter focuses on the nine site proposal; 

further information on costs and benefits for the 13 site transitional phase are outlined in the 

Management Case. 

The consideration of wider benefits is particularly important for this proposal, as the changes to 

London’s mental health crisis care system are intended to primarily address quality issues and 

because mental health is an investment area for the government. As a result, the case for 

reconfiguration may be primarily grounded on the social and economic benefits discussed in this 

section. 

This section begins by outlining the methodology for identifying and measuring the economic 

and social impacts of this proposal. Where possible, the benefits have been quantified with 

reference to EY’s Social Return on Investment (SROI) methodology, using sources of 

information which are supported by the HM Treasury Green Book. 

It then discusses the benefits identified for this proposal, both qualitative and quantitative, based 

on 9 key outcomes which will result from the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites, namely: 

1. Reduced conveyance time; 

2. Reduced ED admissions; 

3. Reduced length of stay at HBPoS; 

4. Improved staff expertise; 

5. Improved HBPoS environment; 

6. Reduced non-pay costs; 

7. Reduced inpatient admissions; 

8. Reduced readmissions; and 

9. Improving the wider crisis care system. 

  

Page 140



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  75 

 

These outcomes result in benefits across a range of stakeholders and are monetised where 

possible so that a comparison with the costs of the proposal can be carried out.  

While some fiscal savings to the NHS are discussed in this section, the detailed analysis of the 

financial costs and savings along the s136 pathway are presented in Section 5, the Financial 

Case. 

5.2.2 Benefits Methodology 

The proposed new model will have positive impacts for a range of stakeholders across the crisis 

care system in London. These benefits may be through financial savings, economic impacts or 

positive social externalities.  

In order to capture the broad and varied range of benefits appropriately, we have referred to 

EY’s approach to calculating society’s return on investment (SROI). This methodology has been 

specifically tailored to the s136 pathway and HBPoS reconfiguration by utilising the detailed 

analysis and audit which was undertaken as part of the options appraisal process described in 

the section above. 

 

The SROI methodology has been broadly divided into three steps,  are discussed in turn below:  

1. Defining and classifying the costs and benefits for each potential initiative;  

2. Researching likely efficacy and impact of each intervention; and 

3. Applying the costs and benefits across the relevant population to understand society’s 

return on investment in aggregate. 

Step 1: Defining the costs and benefits 

Identifying benefits: pathway based outcomes 

To align our approach to benefits with the financial case and options assessment, the 

methodology employed has focused on the outcomes resulting from the HBPoS reconfiguration 

both on the s136 pathway, for example conveyance times, ED admissions and the HBPoS 

facilities and staff.  

However, in addition to these outcomes, a wider set of implications outside of the s136 pathway 

have also been considered in order to understand the full footprint of the proposed change. 

These outcomes outside of the pathway include reduced inpatient admissions, reduced 

readmissions and a broader objective of improving the wider crisis care system. 

To identify the full suite of outcomes and benefits, a workshop was held with key stakeholders 

and health consultants with experience in this area. This allowed a categorisation and 

assignment of benefits as discussed below. 

Categorising benefits 

The first step in identifying the benefits of the reconfiguration was to seek to understand the 

financial, economic and social impacts of the proposed model. Figure 15 provides an illustration 

to demonstrate the potential benefits of health care projects. 

Page 141



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  76 

 

Figure 15: Benefits categorisation 

 

Stakeholder benefits 

The benefits realised from the outcomes above can further be categorised into the following 

stakeholder groups: 

 Service Users; 

 Relatives and carers of the service users; 

 HBPoS staff; 

 LAS; 

 Police forces; 

 Local authorities; 

 The NHS; and 

 The wider economy. 

Outcomes mapping 

The table and diagram below illustrates how the new model outcomes can be mapped along the 

pathway and assigned to the stakeholder groups. The numbers denote the outcome listed 

below, while the colours indicate which stakeholder groups are affected.  

 

  

Financial 
return: 

cost/benefit £ 

Economic impact:  
cost/benefit £ 

Social and personal return: financial value 

placed upon non-financial cost/benefit → £ 

► Direct benefit or cost to own organisation and 
key partners, e.g., reduced ED use or staff 
costs. Basis for internal business cases and 
traditional ROI 

► Financial benefits and costs to the wider region or 
UK system, such as increased economic output and 
tax revenues. Of interest to central government and 
devolved bodies. 

► E.g., gain in quality adjusted life years, reduced 
anxiety and depression, the cost to volunteers of 
donating their time. Articulates achievement of 
core mission to partners and the public. 

Most NHS cases only consider and monetise direct financial 
benefits, but the treasury green book does encourage a broader, 
more innovative view 

Page 142



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  77 

 

Table 10: Outcomes map 

Outcome 

P
a
ti

e
n

ts
 

F
a
m

il
y
/ 

C
a
re

rs
 

W
id

e
r 

e
c
o

n
o

m
y

 

L
A

S
 

N
H

S
 

H
B

P
o

S
 s

ta
ff

 

P
o

li
c

e
 

L
o

c
a
l 

A
u

th
o

ri
ti

e
s

 

1. Reduced conveyance time         

2. Reduced ED admissions         

3. Reduced length of stay at 
HBPoS 

        

4. Improved staff expertise         

5. Improved HBPoS environment         

6. Reduced non-pay costs         

7. Reduced inpatient admissions         

8. Reduced readmissions         

9. Improving the wider crisis care 
system 

        

 

Figure 16: Outcomes map 

 

Step 2: Researching impact and efficacy 

Once we have understood the types of cost and benefit expected to result from each initiative, 

the next step is attaching a financial value to them as accurately as possible. This involves 

research into the likely efficacy, impact and resource requirements of the interventions under 

consideration using the best sources available. 

Page 143



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  78 

 

Transparency 

As the level of evidence related to each of the benefits will be variable, it is important that the 

research method is rigours and systematic and that the findings are presented in a transparent 

and consistent manner. This means actively identifying any weaknesses or gaps in the evidence 

base. 

There are known limitations to data availability for mental health crisis care in London and as a 

result, we have required the use of external sources and a number of agreed assumptions.  

Credibility and proximity of evidence 

To ensure that the value of this proposal is estimated in a robust, verifiable manner, the most 

reputable sources of information available have been used when quantifying benefits.  

The most credible sources of information are considered in this context to be governmental or 

peer reviewed academic sources – while grey literature and one-off case studies are relatively 

weaker. 

In addition, we have leveraged the audits and modelling work undertaken to date, which has 

provided us with robust assumptions about the cost and time of resources along the baseline 

pathway. Further information on the sources of information utilised in the quantification of 

benefits are provided in Box 4 below. 

Box 4: Information sources for benefits quantification 

 

Step 3: Application to population or programme 

For ease of comprehension, the values derived in step 2 are often best presented at the level of 

each intervention applied to a single suitable individual. However, when developing a business 

case it is important to think about the population an intervention or package of interventions will 

actually be applied to. This will drive the overall levels of cost and benefit experienced by 

society. 

 

Primary sources of information 

The primary sources used for quantifying benefits for the HBPoS reconfiguration were the UK social 

value bank and the New Economy CBA model  - both of which are endorsed by the HM Treasury 

Green Book. 

HACT is the housing sectors ideas and innovation agency. Together with a social impact analysis and 

policy evaluation specialist, HACT have created the largest bank of methodologically consistent and 

robust social values. These values provide an initial assessment of social impact, providing evidence of 

value for money which can be used in full SROI or cost-benefit analyses. This represents a significant 

step forward in the quality of available resources to enable placing social value on qualitative outcomes.  

In a similar fashion, New Economy, in conjunction with central government, have formulated a cost 

database, comprising of more than 600 cost estimates, largely derived from government reports and 

academic studies and cover areas from crime, to education, skills and employment. These costs have 

been quality-assured by HM Government. The database therefore allows for informing proposals for 

implementing new interventions and redesigning or evaluating public services. 

Page 144



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  79 

 

Patient volumes 

To aggregate the benefits, we have used the estimated number of individuals per year who are 

detained under s136: 

 A total of 5307 people detained under s136 are estimated to go through the pathway 

each year;  

 There were 219 CYP detentions between April 2015 and March 2016, leaving an 

estimated balance of 5088 adults detained under s136 per annum. 

Time estimates 

The patient volumes are combined with the estimates of time spent per patient at each stage of 

the pathway to determine a final cost. These time estimates have been derived from the 

baseline audits conducted and using assumptions from prior case studies in Birmingham, 

Yorkshire and South West London. Details of each time-based assumption are provided in the 

following section. 

5.2.3 Indicative benefits 

Overview 

To discuss and where possible, quantify the list of benefits resulting from the new model of care 

and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites, each benefit has been mapped against the list of outcomes 

discussed previously in this section.  

A number of the benefits identified have been quantified and monetised using the Social Value 

Bank, New Economy Model or audit data collected during the options appraisal process. In 

addition, as shown in the outcomes map in Figure 16 these benefits have been mapped to the 

stakeholders at key points along the pathway. 

Table 11 outlines the list of benefits identified for the new model of care, following 

reconfiguration of HBPoS sites for both adults and CYP. The total values are presented per 

outcome and are discussed in the following sub-sections.  Table 12 sets out the indicative 

cashable and non-cashable benefits per STP / HBPoS, with the allocation calculated on a 

capitation basis. This will require further review and analysis at the next business case stage. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 145



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  80 

 

Table 11: Benefits overview 

No. Outcome 
Financial 
(cashable) benefit 
Value p.a (£000) 

Financial (non-
cashable) benefit 
Value p.a (£000) 

Benefit of measuring 
social impact (non-
cashable) - Value p.a 
(£000) 

Total Value 
p.a (£000) 

1 
 Reduced conveyance time 
(ambulance and police 
vehicle)  

£498  - £14 £512 

2 Reduced ED admissions £297 -    £60 £357 

3 
Reduced length of stay at 
HBPoS 

                                 
-    

                                   - £87 £87 

4 Improved staff expertise NA                                   NA NA Qualitative 

5 
Improved HBPoS 
environment 

                                 
-    

                                   - £335 £335 

6 Reduced non-pay costs 
                                 
-    

£5,542*                                    -    £5,542 

7 
Reduced inpatient 
admissions 

                                 
-    

£7,918** £4,606 £12,524 

8 
Reduced repeat 
presentations 

-    £129** £470 £599 

9 
Improving the wider crisis 
care system 

NA NA NA Qualitative 

  Total £795* £13,589 £5,572** £19,956 

*Financial benefits figures included in the preferred pathway costing analysis in section 5 of this business case 

**Total non-cashable benefits figure (£13,619k combined) included in indicative net benefits calculation in subsection 

4.2.5 of this business case 

Table 12: Benefits overview by STP and HBPoS 

 

Figure 17 below illustrates the breakdown of benefits per stakeholder. It is clear that reduced 

inpatient admissions are a key driver of benefits, while both patients and the NHS are main 

beneficiaries.   

 

 

 

 

STP SEL SWL

HBPoS
Chase Farm 

H

Highgate 

MHC

Lakeside 

MHU

Riverside 

C

 St 

Charles

City & 

Hackney 

MHC

Sunflower 

Ct
Southwark Wandsworth

No. Outcome
Total 

£'000s

1
 Reduced conveyance time 

(ambulance vs. police vehicle) 
£111 £50 £512

2 Reduced ED admissions £78 £35 £357

3 Reduced length of stay at HBPoS £5 £13 £9 £2 £6 £16 £8 £19 £8 £87

5 Reduced non-pay costs £20 £50 £35 £9 £24 £61 £32 £73 £33 £335

6 Reduced inpatient admissions £326 £824 £575 £141 £396 £1,014 £521 £1,205 £540 £5,542

7 Reduced HBPoS readmissions £736 £1,862 £1,300 £319 £894 £2,292 £1,178 £2,723 £1,220 £12,524

8
Improving the wider crisis care 

system
£35 £89 £62 £15 £43 £109 £56 £130 £58 £598

Total £1,303 £2,838 £2,156 £486 £1,363 £3,733 £1,795 £4,339 £1,944 £19,956

£106 £103 £142

£99£74 £72

Indicative preferred option benefits (£'000s)

NCL NWL NEL

Page 146



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  81 

 

Figure 17: Benefits by stakeholder 

 

1. Reduced conveyance time 

The total conveyance social savings are set out in Table 13 below and described in more detail 

in the paragraphs which follow. 

Table 13: Conveyance savings 

Stakeholder 

 
Conveyance 

% 
Base case 

9 site model 
with same 

conveyance 
% 

Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 

 
Total Saving 

Police
56

 21% £203,235 £112,428 £90,807 - £90,807 

Police (with 
LAS)

57
 

79% £435,143 £333,474 £101,669 - £101,669 

Ambulance
58

 79% £1,309,914 £1,003,859 £306,055 - £306,055 

Patient    - £13,197 £13,197 

Total    £498,531 £13,197 £512,448 

The first step along the s136 pathway is the detention and conveyance (transport) of the 

individual to the HBPoS site.  

At present, there are significant inefficiencies in the system due to insufficient capacity causing 

delays in conveyance. There are a number of statements from police officers and LAS staff 

which highlight the issues in “bouncing around” the system due to insufficient capacity at 

individual sites. Box 5 provides an example. 

 

 

 

 

                                                
56

 The cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone. 
57

 The cost of conveyance to police when conveying with LAS. 
58

 The cost of conveyance to LAS; this is always with police. 

 £-

 £2,000,000

 £4,000,000

 £6,000,000

 £8,000,000

 £10,000,000

 £12,000,000

 £14,000,000
V

al
u

e 
 

Outcome 

Patient Family/carer Wider economy LAS NHS Local authority HBPoS staff Police

Page 147



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  82 

 

Box 5: Delays in conveyance 

 

These issues are addressed in the new model by ensuring appropriate capacity at the individual 

HBPoS sites. This reduces the average journey from 64 minutes to 22 minutes for police 

vehicles and 107 minutes to 82 minutes for ambulance vehicles (which are accompanied by 

police vehicles). Please see Financial Case for more detail. 

This estimated reduction in conveyance time will have benefits for the police forces, LAS and 

patients. For LAS and the police forces, the time spent conveying those detained under s136 

represents an opportunity cost to the public service staff’s time. This is estimated at £0.97 and 

£2.92 per minute for police officers and LAS staff respectively.59 Given a 21:79 split in volume for 

police forces and LAS, the total savings per annum are estimated at £192,476 (combines 

£90,807 and £101,669 in Table 12 above) and £306,055 respectively. 

In addition to police and LAS benefits, the reduction in conveyance time represents a partial 

reduction in the total time that the individual spends on the s136 pathway. As a result, the 

individual receives a time saving of 21.6 minutes on average. The value of this time is calculated 

using the Department for Transport’s Transport Appraisal Guidance (TAG), which values non-

working time (leisure) at £5.51 per hour.60 Aggregating this for patient volumes provides a total 

benefit of £13,917 for patients due to conveyance. 

In total, taking LAS, police and patient benefits together, the social benefit of this outcome is 

estimated at £512,448. 

2. Reduced ED admissions 

 

A typical emergency department sees on average 300 patients a day who are in the department 

for an average of 2.5 hours. When an individual detained under s136 is in the department they 

spend on average 12 hours due to their complex health and social needs. This means that the 

care for one person detained under s136 is the equivalent of being able to treat ten other 

patients, based on the time s136 patient spend in department being five times that of other 

patients and requiring twice as much resource.  

Treating a s136 patient in A&E takes on average the same resource as treating 10 physically ill 

patients and patients are significantly more likely to breach the A&E 4 hour standard and 12 hour 

standard.  In an average A&E department, seeing 300 non-s136 patients a week, 10 patients 

equates to 3.3% of standard daily activity and therefore by treating s136 patients in a more 

appropriate environment frees up A&E resource and would positively impact on performance 

against the A&E standards. 

                                                
59

 These resource costs have been estimated from audit data from the HBPoS sites 
60

 The use of non-working time is considered to be a conservative approach, as it assumes that 100% of those 
detained are experiencing crisis outside of their own working hours.  

“There was no S136 Suite available across [HBPoS] or neighbouring Trusts.  After 2 hours in the van and no 

sign of a S136 suite becoming available, male was taken to custody suite” 

“Police detain the male under S136 MHA and attend ED for physical health clearance.  Officers are told by a 

nurse that there is a bed at [HBPoS] reserved for him.  Officers attend the HBPoS with the male but are met by a 

nurse who states that there are no beds available” 

Page 148



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  83 

 

It is estimated that the current number of ED attendances as a result of capacity constraints will 

reduce from 6% to zero with the new model of care, with a further 4% reduction driven by the 

impact of improved physical health competencies amongst place of safety staff. This equates to 

531 patients who will not present to London EDs as a result of the new model. Taking the 531 

s136 patients identified, the current additional resource requirement equates to 5310 patients 

being seen, or 12,744 extra hours of patient care, which will become available to treat other 

patients and contribute to improving performance against the 4 and 12 hour ED targets across 

the system in London. 

As quantified above the impact on the department of a person detained under s136 attending 

will be felt by the majority of patients attending at the time of or even after a s136 patient has 

been treated, given the knock on impact the event will have on resources and patient flow.  This 

reduction of available resources will constrain the flow of patients through the department which 

quickly starts to back up to the front door where ambulance handovers will be impacted. 

Therefore, in addition to the LAS estimate of a nine minute improvement in the handover of s136 

patients, it is clear that the new model of care will have a positive impact on the majority of 

waiting and handover times across London. 

The total savings from reduced ED admissions are set out in Table 14 below and described in 

more detail in the paragraphs which follow. 

Table 14: ED savings 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

NHS £297,134 - £297,134 

Patient (time and experience) - £60,207 £60,207 

Total £297,134 £60,207 £357,341 

 

There is a financial benefit to the NHS from this reduction in ED attendances. The average cost 

of an ED attendance is £117.61 However, this is based on an average duration of just 2.5 

hours.62 However, as audit data shows that those detained under s136 spend an average of 12 

hours at ED, this is uplifted in order to take account of the added resource costs. As a result, the 

total annual estimate for the NHS financial savings from reduced ED attendances is £297,134, 

and is also included in the Financial Case. 

In addition to the financial savings, the 531 service users who will not attend ED as a result of 

the capacity or physical health conditions in the reconfigured model will realise both time and 

experiential benefits. 

“In London’s EDs, only 12 per cent of those assessed thought their assessment rooms were 

pleasant, comfortable and welcoming” 63 

The value of time is calculated as per outcome 1 above, while the experiential benefit is 

calculated using the Social Value Bank’s value for relief from depression/anxiety for the 12 

hours. The total patient savings are estimated at £60,207.  

                                                
61

 Manchester New Economy Model, 2016 - http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-
benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database  
62

 http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB23070  
63

 Healthy London Partnership (2015) UEC Programme: ‘I’ statements 

Page 149

http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database
http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database
http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB23070


HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  84 

 

In total, taking both NHS savings and patient savings together, the benefit of this outcome is 

estimated at £357,341. 

3. Reduced length of stay at HBPoS 

 

The total savings from reduced length of stay (LoS) are set out in Table 15 below and described 
in more detail in the paragraphs which follow. 
 

Table 15: LoS savings 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

Patient (time and experience) - £86,673 £86,673 

Total - £86,673 £86,673 

 

At present, the average length of stay at an HBPoS site is approximately 17.5 hours.  Through 

dedicated staffing and minimised delays, it is expected that this will reduce slightly to 16 hours. 

While this is a minimal change, it denotes time savings for each patient. This is valued as per 

Outcomes 1 and 2 above and is estimated at £86,673 per annum. 

It is assumed that there is no saving to the NHS from this reduced LoS as AMPHs and s12 

doctors both charge fixed fees. In addition, HBPoS staff will be dedicated 24/7 and as a result 

there will be no additional saving in resource in costs. However, the reduced LoS will improve 

access to HBPoS sites, thereby reducing conveyance and acceptance times for police and LAS, 

and reducing the use of ED for capacity reasons.  

4. Improved staff expertise 

The new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites will concentrate staff expertise at 9 

sites with one HBPoS within each STP providing an all-age service with the appropriate facilities. 

In the current model, staff are often pulled from wards and do not have the appropriate 

capabilities to treat mental health crisis patients. See Box 6 below for an example. 

Box 6: AMHP staff interview 

 

This improvement in staff expertise will undoubtedly have an effect on a service user’s short 

term and long term outcomes. However, the size of this impact is uncertain and has not been 

measured as part of this business case. Instead, it can be included in the benefit service users 

receive from experience an improved HBPoS setting. It may be argued that a significant 

qualitative benefit will be realised by CYP, as they will receive a more appropriate and focused 

treatment under the new model. 

“The suite is staffed but not by a dedicated team. There is a manager, but the team consists of rotating staff from 

the wards so they’re a team of people, some of whom know what the role is and are very good at the role, some 

of whom are very disinterested in the role in the suite and don’t really understand the role particularly or aren’t 

that interested, so you’ve got a mixed bag of staff”  

AMHP Staff Interview 

Page 150



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  85 

 

In addition, the improvement in staff expertise will have benefits for the staff members 

themselves. The dedicated HBPoS staff will feel more confident in their ability to treat people 

detained under s136, which will add to satisfaction levels. This benefit has not been quantified 

for the purposes of this business case, but for reference purposes, the SVB estimates that a 

feeling of greater confidence can be attributed to approximately £13k per year. It is anticipated 

that there will be benefits in terms of recruitment and retention, which will lead to savings, 

particularly through a reduction in the use of agency staff.  

5. Improved HBPoS environment 

 

The total savings from an improved environment are set out in Table 16 below and described in 
more detail in the paragraphs which follow. 

Table 16: Improved environment savings 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

Patient (experience) - £335,123 £335,123 

Total - £335,123 £335,123 

The new model will ensure that all infrastructure for those detained under s136 at the sites is fit 

for purpose. At present there are notable issues with the facilities, which have negative impacts 

for patients and staff, see Box 7 for details. 

Box 7: HBPoS environment 

 

For patients, ensuring that HBPoS sites are fit for purpose, together with improved staffing levels 

and expertise, will lead to a more therapeutic health care setting. Using the social bank measure 

for relief from depression/anxiety, we have estimated this benefit at £288,485 per annum. 

In addition, the improved HBPoS facilities will help to relieve safety concerns at the sites. These 

themes correspond with national issues. As of 31st May 2017, 36% of NHS and 34% of 

independent core services were rated by CQC as requires improvement for ‘safe’. A further 4% 

of NHS core services and 5% of independent services were rated as inadequate for ‘safe’.64 

6. Reduced non-pay costs 

 

The total non-pay cost savings are set out in Table 17 below and described in more detail in the 

paragraph which follows. 

Table 17: Non-pay cost savings 

                                                
64

 CQC report, The state of care in mental health services 2014 to 2017 

“I’ve been sectioned before and held in a police cell before and that was bad, it was cold and dark and miserable 

and I just curled up on those bunks and cried my eyes out. The place they take you now is only a little bit better, 

and I mean only little bit better, it’s not as cold and they don’t make you wear those paper suits but it’s still like a 

police interrogation room than a place where you should be getting better.” 

London Mental Health Crisis Care Service User 

Page 151



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  86 

 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

NHS £5,541,837 - £5,541,837 

Total £5,541,837 - £5,541,837 

As discussed in detail in Section 5, the Financial Case, the new model of care and 

reconfiguration of HBPoS sites will induce a saving in non-pay cost such as corporate 

overheads, cleaning and estate charges. These costs are primarily driven by the scale of 

facilities with the consolidation in the number of facilities expected to create a financial saving for 

the NHS of £5,541,837. 

7. Reduced inpatient admissions 

The total savings from reduced inpatient admissions are set out in Table 18 below and described 

in more detail in the paragraphs which follow. 

Table 18: Reduced inpatient admission savings 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

NHS - £7,918,089 £7,918,089 

Patient (time and experience) - £3,960,176 £3,960,176 

Family/carer (time) - £437,350 £437,350 

Wider economy - £208,861 £208,861 

Total - £12,524,476 £12,524,476 

Past case studies have shown that the combination of dedicated staffing, improved facilities and 

minimised delays in care can lead to a significant reduction in inpatient admissions. Examples 

include: 

 Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust Psychiatry Decision 

Unit (PDU): An evaluation of the service showed a 26% decrease in inpatient bed 

admissions, saving 6,900 bed days in total65 

 South London and the Maudsley Centralised Place of Safety: The evaluation showed 

a 13% reduction in admissions66. 

 South West London and St. George’s: The PDU established at SWLSTG saw a 

reduction in inpatient admissions of 25%67 

In order to not overstate the potential benefits from this outcome, we have assumed that 

inpatient admissions would reduce by 20%.This accounts for an approximate decrease of 356 

admissions, equivalent to 14,850 bed days given an average length of stay of 41.7 days.68 

This reduction in inpatient admissions will have benefits for a wide range of stakeholders, 

including service users and their families, the NHS and the wider economy.  

                                                
65

 Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London’s Section 136 pathway and HBPoS specification 
66

 Evaluation of South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust’s Centralised Health Based Place of 
Safety. Healthy London Partnership (2017). 
67

 South West London and St. Georges: Lotus Assessment Suite (Psychiatric Decision Unit) Report 
68

 British Journal of Psychiatry, http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/210/2/157.full-text.pdf+html  

Page 152

http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/210/2/157.full-text.pdf+html
http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/210/2/157.full-text.pdf+html


HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  87 

 

For individuals in mental health crisis, avoiding admission to an inpatient ward generates 

significant time savings and experience savings. These are valued using the Social Value Bank 

and TAG values described in Outcomes 1 and 2 above and are estimated at £3,960,176 per 

annum. 

In addition, the relatives and/or carers of service users typically suffer an opportunity cost of time 

from visiting patients during inpatient admission periods. This, as for patients, is estimated using 

DfT’s TAG value for non-working time, with an assumed loss of 8 days.69 

A major financial benefit results from avoided inpatient admissions for the NHS. The Manchester 

New Economy Model provides an estimate of £459 for the fiscal cost of mental health inpatient 

cost per bed day, providing a total saving of £7,918,089.70 

Finally, there may be benefits to the wider economy from reduced readmissions. Employers will 

gain if more individuals become available to work as a result of the proposed changes. This 

positive labour intervention will therefore have an overall impact on productivity in the economy. 

The Manchester New Economy Model values the economic costs of service provision for those 

suffering from mental health disorders at £4,420 per year. Given the average length of stay and 

patient volume assumptions, this saving is estimated at £208,861 per annum.  

8. Reduced repeat presentations 

The total savings from reduced repeat presentations are set out in Table 19 below and 

described in more detail in the paragraphs which follow. 

Table 19: Reduced repeat presentations savings 

Stakeholder 
Financial 
Saving 

(cashable) 

Social Saving 
(non-

cashable) 
Total Saving 

NHS £128,631 - £128,631 

Patient (time and experience) - £46,213 £46,213 

Local authority - £164,580 £164,580 

Wider economy - £3,94829 £3,948 

LAS - £132,039 £132,039 

Police - £122,780 £122,780 

Total £128,631 £469,559 £598,191 

At present, approximately 19.2% of sections are repeat presentations from individuals  are 

readmitted through the s136 pathway within six months.71 However, from discussions with key 

stakeholders in the system it is estimated that a reduction to 10% is possible under the preferred 

option.  For the entirety of London, this would represent a 489 fewer episodes of individuals 

being detained under s136 per year when compared to the current model. In addition, it is 

expected that implementation of new models such as Serenity Integrated Mentoring (SIM) will 

have a positive impact on repeat admissions.  

The entire costs of the pathway, financial, social and economic are therefore saved with respect 

to these 489 patients. The total saving is estimated at £598,191 per annum. 

                                                
69

 The use of non-working time is conservative as it assumes that 100% of re;atives/carers visit outside of working 
hours 
70

 Manchester New Economy Model, 2016 - http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-
benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database 
71

 Therapeutic Solutions: Section 136 and Mental Health Crisis Presentations in Emergency Departments in London 

Page 153

http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database
http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database


HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  88 

 

9. Improving the wider crisis care system 

 

The new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites across London will not only have a 

direct impact on the s136 pathway; it will also have wider implications for the entire crisis care 

system in the capital: 

 The first notable benefit is the new model will future proof services. The reconfigured 

sites allow capacity to be utilised in a more sustainable manner, ensuring that 

infrastructure can better cope with volatility in demand and potential growth in coming 

years; 

 Successful implementation of a pan-London model with improve facilities and a high 

quality standard of care will raise the profile of crisis care as a whole and is likely to 

encourage future service improvement in crisis care services including potential 

expansion of other services and training; 

 In addition, the new model of care will promote greater synergies between crisis care 

services and other physical and health services within the NHS and well as local demand 

management schemes that are emerging (e.g. Street Triage and the Serenity Integrated 

Mentoring (SIM) model). The specialised 24/7 staffed sites will lead to focal points for 

crisis care activity, providing the opportunity for a solid network of supporting services to 

be developed around the sites and bringing transparency and recognition to an often 

forgotten and ‘ad hoc’ service;   

 The investment will support the broader objective of closing the financial gap between 

physical and mental health care funding. There are direct financial benefits to the 

reconfigured pathway as detailed in Section 5. Furthermore, the new model of care will 

provide a platform from which performance and trends can be appraised across the 

system, establishing the potential for further cost efficiencies; and 

 The new model of care proposes a standardised, consistent s136 pathway across 

London. This presents an opportunity to collect and appraise standardised crisis care 

data. Using this as an initial platform to expand data collection across crisis care, will 

ensure that performance of the whole crisis care system can be effectively evaluated; 

this will support identification and sharing of best practice and identification of 

opportunities for wider service improvement and cost efficiencies. 

Whilst the new model of care will have positive impacts on the crisis care system as a whole, it is 

also important to recognise that in order for it to be sustainable, all parts of the wider system 

need to be functioning well including:  

 Preventative initiatives which assist in demand management (such as Street Triage) 

 Flow through inpatient services with adequate beds and low numbers of delayed 

transfers of care (DTOC) 

 Well-resourced and responsive community and crisis response teams for prevention 

of admission and intensive discharge support. 

 S117 aftercare support from social services 

 New initiatives, such as the Serenity Integrated Mentoring (SIM) model to provide 

targeted support to those frequently detained. 

The ideal pathway for a patient in crisis will involve positive interactions with more than 

one of a range of services that will support them. It is also these services, particularly 

Page 154



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  89 

 

demand management initiatives such as street triage and crisis resolution teams that will 

protect against the presence of a well-functioning s136 pathway driving further 

increasing demand. 
 

Figure 18: The ideal journey of a person in mental health crisis on the pan-London 

s136 pathway.  

 

The pathway is one element of a wider crisis care system; preventative and early intervention 

services must be in place to prevent people from reaching crisis point as well as adequate follow 

up pathways once assed at the HBPoS site.  

5.2.4 Indicative costs 

The cost of the new model of care and reconfiguration of London’s HBPoS sites is outlined in 

detail in Section 5, the Financial Case and includes the following expenditure items: 

 Transition costs; 

Page 155



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  90 

 

 Capital costs; and 

 Section 136 pathway variances as a result of the reconfiguration. 

The total estimated cost of the reconfiguration, including total indicative transition and capital 

costs as well as estimated pathway costs for a given year, is £23.7m and is broken down as 

shown in the table below. The costs of the preferred option include the financial savings gained 

along the pathway from LAS and police time savings, together with the NHS savings from 

reduced ED admissions due to capacity issues and lower overheads. 

Table 20: Costs overview 

Type Baseline cost for 

20 sites  

(£000) 

Preferred option 

(£000) 

Variance 

(£000) 

Pathway (per annum) £20,632 £20,494 £138 

Transition £0 £1,000 (£1,000) 

Capital £0 £2,250 (£2,250) 

Total £20,632 £23,744 (£3,112) 

 

5.2.5 Indicative net benefits and NPV 

The potential value of the new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in London can 

only be understood through comparing the full range of costs and benefits of the scheme. This 

includes each of the financial, economic and social impacts which affect the broad range of 

stakeholders involved within and outside of the s136 pathway. To determine to profitability of the 

proposed reconfiguration the Net Present Value (NPV) is calculated. The NPV is described as 

the difference between the present value of cash inflows (benefits) and the present value of cash 

outflows (costs) over a period of time. A positive NPV indicates a profitable investment. 

Tables 21 and 22 below consider the net benefits and costs of the scheme for the period 

FY18/19 to FY22/23. To avoid double counting, the financial savings from reduced overheads 

(non-cashable), lower ED admissions and LAS and police resource costs (latter two both 

cashable) are not included in the benefits identified. 

Whilst the current analysis assumes that all benefits will delivered in full from year 1 (FY18/19), 

there is recognition that the benefits will accrue over time as the new model of care is 

implemented. Furthermore, it is acknowledged that additional costs may arise as a result of 

phased implementation (two sites FY18/19, three sites FY19/20). Further detail will be 

developed to capture the estimated financial impact at the next business case stage. This will be 

dependent on the implementation plans by STP. 

Page 156



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  91 

 

This indicative analysis of costs and associated non-cashable benefits suggests a net present 

value (NPV) of non-cashable benefits of £66.2m over the five year period. The NPV has been 

calculated on the future cash flow over 5 years discounted at 3.5% per annum. 

Table 21: Net present benefits 

 FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21 FY21/22 FY22/23 

Benefits (excl. 

pathway financial 

savings) 

£13,619k £14,156k £14,693k  £15,230k  £15,768k  

Discount factor 
(3.5%) 

0.966 0.934 0.902 0.871 0.842 

Discounted 
benefits 

£13,158k £13,215k £13,252k  £3,272k £13,276k  

Net present non-
financial 
benefits 

£66,174k     

 

The indicative analysis of the variance in costs between the baseline pathway and preferred 

option pathway suggests a NPV of £4.8m over the five year period. The NPV has been 

calculated on future cash flow over 5 years discounted at 3.5% per annum. 

 

Table 22: Net present savings/costs 

 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23 

Variance (cost)/saving (£500k) (£2,750k) £2,154k £3,005k £3,856k 

Discount factor 0.966 0.934 0.902 0.871 0.842 

Discounted (cost)/ Saving 
(£,000) 

(£483k) (£2,567k) £1,942k £2,618k £3,246k 

Net present financial 
savings 

£4,757k     

Together, Table 19 and Table 20 illustrate that the indicative net present value of the 

reconfiguration is approximately £71m (including both cashable and non-cashable benefits). It is 

therefore recommended that the proposal is approved for funding. 

 

6 Financial case 
This section of the business case describes the financial implications of the preferred nine site 

option for the new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in London. As indicated 

Page 157



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  92 

 

previously, further information on costs and benefits for the 13 site transitional phase is outlined 

in the Management Case. The starting point for the analysis is to identify the costs of the current 

s136 pathway to the range of stakeholders within the crisis care system. To determine the cost 

variances as a result of the reconfiguration, this analysis is followed by a breakdown of the costs 

of the preferred option, which is supported by a new model of care for people detained under 

s136.  

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Baseline ‘do nothing’ pathway costs 

 Preferred option pathway costs 

 Variance in pathway costs 

 Transition costs 

 Capital costs 

 Summary and funding arrangements 

 Risks to financial assessment 

Page 158



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  93 

 

 

The current configuration of HBPoS sites in London, with a lack of dedicated, 

specialty skilled resource, results in a cost pressure for most MH Trusts, with staff 

diverted from other roles (often from inpatient facilities) to attend to s136 patients. 

The preferred nine site option is estimated to cost c. £20.5m p.a. compared to the 

baseline pathway cost of c. £20.6m p.a. (excluding impact of activity growth), a decrease 

of £0.1m 

The interim stage of transition to the preferred option will involve a total of 13 sites at an 
estimated cost of c. £23.2m p.a. 

Over the five year period FY18/19 to FY22/23 total costs of the reconfiguration are 

estimated at c. £106.8m, compared to £111.7m per the baseline pathway. This gives a 

net savings of £4.9m, with a NPV of £4.8m.  

The current plan is predicated on the following assumptions: 

► Preferred option is implemented in FY19/20 

► Net activity growth of 16.5% (allow for demographic growth and growth from 
recent statutory changes) 

► Successful delivery of £6.3m financial savings (of which £795k are cashable cost 
savings) 

► £1m transition costs; however, this is only an estimate and it is acknowledged 
that further analysis and refinement is required 

► £2.3m capital expenditure; however, this is only an estimate and it is 
acknowledged that further analysis will be required during implementation 
planning, with capital requirements per site defined with local estates team. A 
transitional stage of 13 sites would require £450k less capital funding 

► £3.3m funding being made available from CCGs / pooling of budgets across STP 
footprints 

Risks inherent to the financial analysis of the s136 pathway and HBPoS specification 

include: 

► Gaps in data collection 

► Robustness of data 

► Access to data 

►  

Page 159



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  94 

 

6.1 Baseline ‘do nothing’ pathway costs  

6.1.1 Overview 

To provide a financial case for the new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites in 

London, there is a clear requirement to provide robust costing for the base case, the ‘do-nothing’ 

option. This enables a greater understanding of the cost impacts along various sections of the 

s136 pathway and allows a further examination of how the proposed changes will be realised 

financially. 

However, there are numerous challenges in trying to estimate a baseline cost for the s136 

pathway: 

 The pathway is inconsistent across the system; 

 There is lack of consistent data, as no pan-London consistent data collection 

methodology exists across what is a complex, multi-stakeholder environment; and 

 Data can be misinterpreted due to the complexity of the pathway with multiple interfaces 

with various stakeholders. 

During the options evaluation process, a mapping exercise was carried out, where the journey of 

an individual detained under Section 136 was recorded from the point of detention to their arrival 

at an HBPoS and subsequent discharge. There can be up to seven different agencies involved 

in this process for an adult and the number is even greater for a child or young person. All of 

these agencies have their own policies, cultures, information/communication requirements (e.g. 

assessments), processes and attitudes towards risk. These agencies include:  

i. The police (including the Metropolitan Police, The City of London Police and British 

Transport Police);  

ii. LAS;  

iii. EDs;  

iv. Mental health trusts (MHTs);  

v. AMHPs;  

vi. Emergency duty teams (EDTs), which may be different organisationally from day 

services; and  

vii. Crisis resolution and home treatment teams (or other referral agencies).  

As a consequence, providing an accurate assessment of cost for the baseline is complex in 

nature. Furthermore, this complexity is exacerbated by the lack of robust data in this area of the 

UK’s health service. Recent literature has identified the need to enhance the robustness of 

existing data for the s136 pathway and related crisis care services. For example, the Royal 

College of Psychiatrists’ ‘Guidance for commissioners’ document (2013), emphasised core 

standards in service provision from initial detention, including the need to establish multi-agency 

groups that will monitor data to develop, implement and assure quality of service. Similarly, the 

Page 160



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  95 

 

Care Quality Commission (2014) undertook a national survey of providers and found that there 

was a lack of an appropriate data capture mechanism to inform the monitoring of service 

provision. 72 

Given such data limitations, the costs of the s136 pathway have been estimated by utilising 

existing secondary data sources provided by the LAS, Police and the NHS; supplemented 

through a series of data collection audits and surveys.  

The baseline pathway costs have been grouped into the following key steps along the s136 

pathway: 

 Cost of Conveyance; 

 HBPoS costs, including the cost of AMHPs, s12 Doctors and assumed overhead costs; 

and 

 ED costs, where an ED is utilised due to lack of capacity at an HBPoS. 

The remainder of this subsection and the following subsection is organised according to these 

headings. Underneath each of these key steps, the cost of specific stakeholder involvement can 

be calculated. Figure 19 below provides a summary of the scope and costs estimates of the 

s136 pathway.  

Figure 19: Summary and scope of baseline costs 

 

  

                                                
72

 CQC national survey of providers 2014 

Police 
Conveyance 

Ambulance 

Conveyance 

HBPoS – staff 
 
 

HBPoS non-pay 

s12 Doctor 

AMHP 

1. £112- £249 

2. £69 - £398 

3. £145 - £256 

4. £178 

5. £333 - £1133 

Discharge 

Inpatient 

Community 

ED visit due 
to physical 
health care 

needs 

s136 
Pathway 

Average Indicative 
Cost per Patient 
£1396 - £2,773 

7. £559 

ED visit due to lack of 

HBPoS capacity 

S136 
Pick Up 

6. 

Page 161



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  96 

 

6.1.2 Summary of baseline pathway costs 

It is estimated that on average, the baseline s136 pathway costs are circa £20.6 million per year. 

Table 23 below provides a summary of the average cost range associated with the s136 

pathway components. The paragraphs which follow describe each component cost in more 

detail. 

Table 23: Baseline pathway costs 

Ref Pathway 

Component 

Indicative annual activity Indicative unit 

cost per patient 

Indicative 

baseline cost 

1a Police 

Conveyance73 

1,114 £182.36 £203k 

1b Police Conveyance 

(with LAS)60 

4,193 £103.79 £435K 

2 Ambulance74 4,193 £312.44 £1,310k 

3 AMHP 5,307 £210.75 £1,118k 

4 Independent s12 

Doctor 

2,123 £178 £378k 

5 HBPoS: Staff Standalone – 617 

Combined – 373 

The remainder – 4,317 

IP - £843 

Discharge -£458 

Community - 

£513  

SLAM – £1,512k 

PDU - £1,151k 

£5,418k 

6 HBPoS: non-Pay   £11,473k 

7 ED 531 £559 £297k 

 Total   £20,632k 

 

 

                                                
73

 1a refers to conveyance activity and costs when police only when conveying alone and 1b when 
conveying with LAS. 
74

 The activity and cost to LAS when they convey; this is always with police. 

Page 162



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  97 

 

6.1.3 Cost of Conveyance 

The total costs of conveyance are set out in Table 24 below and described in more detail in the 
paragraphs which follow. 

 

Table 24: Cost of Conveyance 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

Police  costs
75

  £112-£249 £203,235 

Police conveyance costs (with 
LAS)

76
 

£81-£141 £435,143 

Ambulance conveyance costs
77

 £327-£564 £1,309,914 

 

At present, there are two modes of conveyance by which an individual detained under s136 

arrives at an HBPoS site after initial detention: 

 Either via the LAS  

 via police vehicle (if LAS is not available within an adequate timeframe) 

Note that the police retain legal responsibility for the patient during conveyance and therefore 

will always accompany LAS. 

.Figure 20 provides a snapshot of this step along the s136 pathway. 

Figure 20: Baseline conveyance costs 

 

For both modes of travel, there are three major cost drivers for this step in the pathway: 

 The travel time/distance from initial detention to HBPoS; 

 The frequency of conveyance; and 

 The unit cost of conveyance. 

                                                
75

 The cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone. 
76

 The cost of conveyance to police when conveying with LAS 
77

 The cost of conveyance to LAS; this is always with police. 

Police 
Conveyance 

Ambulance 

Conveyance 

HBPoS  1. £112- £249 

2. £69 - £398 s136 Pathway 

S136 
Pick Up 

Page 163



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  98 

 

The total costs per patient and per annum for conveyance by police conveyance and ambulance 

conveyance are discussed below. Ranges are given for costs per patient, while for the purposes 

of this financial analysis, median figures have been used to aggregate this to an annual amount. 

1. Police conveyance 

a) Without LAS 

 Indicative per patient police conveyance costs: £112 - £249 

 Indicative per annum police conveyance costs: £203k 

Using the cost per patient and the average travel times from detention to HBPoS, it has been 

estimated that conveyance by a police officer in London costs between £112 and £249 per 

person detained. After taking patient activity into account, the cost of conveyances of s136 

patients via the police force is estimated at approximately £203k per annum. This cost includes 

both adult and CYP conveyances. The assumptions used for travel time, activity and unit costs 

are discussed in turn below. 

Travel time 

To determine the baseline travel time for Police conveyances, one year’s worth of data (from 

April ’15 to March ’16) submitted from the British Transport Police has been utilised. The data, 

direct from stakeholder sources, established that Police conveyance ranged on average from 40 

minutes to 84 minutes with a median conveyance of 64 minutes. 

Activity 

To determine activity, an estimate was required of the percentage of activity conveyed via the 

Police alone vs. LAS (with police). Historic trajectories have been analysed to understand how 

the proportion of various means of conveyance has changed. These trajectories have 

demonstrated that the proportion of conveyance by police alone is decreasing; this is in line with 

London’s s136 guidance which states that an ambulance with police support should always be 

used to convey the individual under s136 to a HBPoS.  Combining conveyance data from 

London’s three police forces, it has been estimated that conveyance by police alone represents 

approximately 21% of all conveyances, with LAS conveyance (with police) representing the 

remaining 79%. These figures have been used for the baseline calculations. 

Unit costs 

To establish the unit cost of conveyance via Police, the unit cost is drawn from the National 

Policing Guidelines on Charging for Police Services 2016. This provides a cost figure of £58.20 

per hour and incorporates both direct costs as well as an apportionment of overhead costs 

including equipment and vehicle costs, building costs and back office costs.  

b) With LAS 

 Indicative per patient police conveyance costs: £81 - £141 

 Indicative per annum police conveyance costs: £435k 

Using the cost per patient and the average travel times from detention to HBPoS, it has been 

estimated that conveyance by a police officer in London, whilst accompanying the LAS, costs 

between £81 and £141 per individual detained under s136. After taking patient activity into 

Page 164



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  99 

 

account, the cost of conveyances of s136 patients via the police force, whilst accompanying the 

LAS, is estimated at approximately £435k per annum. This cost includes both adult and CYP 

conveyances. The assumptions used for unit costs are discussed above, whilst the assumptions 

used for travel time and activity are the same as that used for ambulance conveyance, 

discussed in turn below. 

The combined total police conveyance costs in the baseline option are therefore estimated at 

£638k per annum. 

 

2. Ambulance conveyance 

 Indicative per patient ambulance conveyance costs: £245 - £423 

 Indicative per annum ambulance conveyance costs: £1,310k 

Using the cost per patient and the average travel times from detention to HBPoS, it has been 

estimated that conveyance by an ambulance ranges between £245 and £423 per individual 

detained under s136. After taking patient activity into account, the cost of conveyances of s136 

patients via LAS is estimated at approximately £1,310k per annum. This cost includes both adult 

and CYP conveyances. The assumptions used for travel time, activity and unit costs are 

discussed in turn below. 

Travel time 

To determine the baseline travel time for ambulance conveyances, information was drawn from 

six months’ worth of LAS data (from Aug ’16 to Jan ’17). The data, direct from stakeholder 

sources, established that Ambulance conveyance ranged on average from 84 minutes to 145 

min, with a median conveyance of 107 minutes.  

Activity 

As discussed above for police conveyance, it has been estimated that ambulance conveyance 

represents approximately 79% of all conveyances. 

Unit costs 

LAS provided an estimate of the average cost per minute of £2.92 to See, Treat and Convey. 

This is based on reference costs and the average job cycle time.  

6.1.4 Health Based Place of Safety 

The total HBPoS costs are set out in Table 25 below and described in more detail in the 
paragraphs which follow. 
 

Table 25: HBPoS costs 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

AMHP  £145-£256 £1,118,450 

Independent s12 doctor £178 £377,858 

Staff costs £333-£1,133 £5,417,486 

Non-pay costs NA £11,472,647 

 

Page 165



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  100 

 

Once the individual detained under s136 arrives at the HBPoS, there are three key areas of 

activity that can occur: 

 Activities carried out by HBPoS staff: After the handover that occurs between the 

police/ambulance at the place of safety, the person’s immediate needs are assessed by 

the duty doctor; usually a junior doctor. A full mental state examination is carried out by a 

more senior doctor - a Specialist Registrar (SpR), or Consultant Psychiatrist, who will 

either be called to the suite from their normal place of work or, if outside of normal office 

hours, called in from home. If the SpR or Consultant is of the view that the patient is not 

suffering from a mental disorder, they can be discharged directly after this initial 

assessment. 

 Activities carried out by the AMHPs: If the doctor sees the person first and concludes 

that they have a mental disorder, the person must be seen by an AMHP who will 

interview them. The AMHP is a duty social worker with specialist mental health training, 

who is available 24/7 in each borough. If an admission is not required, they will decide 

what (if anything) the person needs in the community, for example a community team 

referral, The patient may agree to informal (voluntary) admission, in which case 

assessment by the section 12 doctor as described below is not required.. 

 Activities carried out by the independent s12 doctor: If the SpR or Consultant feels 

that admission is required but the patient does not consent to this, a second Section 12 

approved doctor and an AMHP will complete a MHA assessment and make a decision 

following that assessment. 

In addition to these activities which drive pay costs, there are non-pay costs such as corporate 

and management overheads which need to be factored into our analysis. Figure 21 below 

provides a snapshot of this step along the s136 pathway.  

 

Figure 21: HBPoS baseline costs 

 

The total costs per patient and per annum for AMHPs, s12 doctors, HBPoS staff and HBPoS 

non-pay expenses are discussed in turn below. 

3. AMHP costs 

 Indicative per patient AMHP costs: £145 - £256 

 Indicative per annum AMHP costs: £1,118k 

HBPoS – staff 
 
 

HBPoS non-pay 

s12 Doctor 

AMHP 

3. £145 - £256 

4. £178 

5. £333 - £1133 

s136 Pathway 

6.  

Page 166



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  101 

 

The provision of AMHP services varies significantly across each of London’s boroughs. This 

variation not only affects patient services, but also impacts on data collection at each HBPoS 

site. A range of data collection methods such as monitoring or audit forms, log-sheets, paper-

based staff records, and bespoke spread sheets have been utilised by different HBPoS sites, 

with little consistency. As a result, it is difficult to compare AMHP costs across services. To solve 

this issue, a survey was conducted with various boroughs to estimate the cost of an AMHP in 

dealing with a section 136 patient. 

From the analysis, it is estimated the average cost of an AMHP assessment can range between 

£145 and £256 per assessment. When aggregated, the estimated baseline cost for AMHPs is 

£1,118k per year. This cost includes AMHP services to both adult and CYP individuals. 

For the purposes of the financial analysis, it is assumed that 100% of the patients are seen by 

an AMHP based on the specification. From Police and LAS data, the annual s136 activity across 

London is 5307 is estimated from Jan 16 to Dec 17. 

The unit cost figures were sourced through research into the contracted hourly rate for AMHPs 

across London. This research determined that the contracted hourly rates varied from 

approximately £28 per hour to £32 per hour. For this business case, a mid-point of £30 per hour 

has been used. It is acknowledged that this figure solely considers the direct cost of contractor 

AMHP activity and does not incorporate an apportionment of overheads. Furthermore, while it is 

noted that there is a greater prevalence of contracted AMHP resources in London, some of 

these resources will be operating via a substantive permanent post. 

To estimate the time spent by AMHPs within the s136 pathway, a data collection exercise was 

undertaken by HLP. The exercise focused on collating data to inform average times spent within 

the pathway. This included average administrative time, travel time to the assessment and the 

actual time required to undertake the mental health assessment. This determined that AMHPs 

on average spend between 292 minutes and 514 minutes on s136 activities per patient. The 

distribution of data collected against each of these time categories is displayed in Figures 22 to 

25 below. 

Figure 22: Distribution of AMHP admin time 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

100

200

300

400

m
in

s
 

AMHP Admin time 

Page 167



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  102 

 

Figure 23: Distribution of AMHP waiting for bed time 

 

Figure 24: Distribution of AMHP patient facing time 

 

Figure 25: Distribution of AMHP travelling time 

 

Table 26: Baseline AMHP resource time 

AMHPs 

(time in mins) 

Admin Waiting 

Time 

Patient 
Facing 

Travel 
time 

Total 

time 

Total 

Cost 

Baseline 92 231 61 38 422 £1,118k 

For the purposes of costing, 422 minutes has been used, a sum of median travel time, patient 

facing, admin and waiting time for AMHPs was used. Using this information, it has been 

estimated the cost of the baseline to be £1,118k. 

4. Independent s12 doctor costs 

 Indicative per patient s12 doctor costs: £178 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

m
in

s
 

AMHP waiting for bed time 

0

20

40

60

80

100

m
in

s
 

AMHP patient facing time 

0

20

40

60

80

m
in

s
 

AMHP travelling time 

Page 168



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  103 

 

 Indicative per annum s12 doctor costs: £378k (assumed call out rate 40%) 

An independent s12 doctor is called if the SpR or Consultant feel that admission is required but 

the patient does not consent to admission. The s12 doctor cost for the pathway is therefore 

influenced by two factors: 

 The frequency in which the s12 doctor is called: The major driver for this cost 

category is the frequency of the s12 doctor call out. However, there is no robust data that 

clearly establishes this figure. From data analysis, it is estimated that 20% of patients are 

informally admitted, while 21% are detained formally. The data is sourced from Mental 

Health and Learning Disability dataset (MHLDDS) from July – December 2015. From this 

data, it can be assumed the s12 doctor was called at least 21% of the time, since 21% of 

the patients got formally admitted. However, a proportion of patients seen by the s12 

doctor will be eventually admitted informally or discharged. As an estimate, 40% 

independent s12 call out rate for the baseline is assumed. 

 The cost charged by the independent s12 doctor: The cost of an s12 doctor is based 

on a fixed fee that is charged for every s12 call out. It is a fixed fee of £178, which is 

standard across England. 

Assuming a 40% call out rate, together with the fixed fee of £178, a baseline cost of £378k per 

annum for s12 doctors has been estimated. This cost includes s12 services provided to both 

adult and CYP individuals. 

5. HBPoS staff costs 

 Indicative per patient HBPoS staff costs: £333 - £1,133 

 Indicative per annum HBPoS staff costs: £5,417k 

As the majority of the HBPoS sites do not have any dedicated staffing arrangements, the 

traditional method of costing the pathway, by adding the whole time equivalent and multiplying 

by their respective unit cost is not possible.  

As an alternative, a time and motion study was undertaken to determine the time that non-

dedicated staff typically spend dealing with a person detained under s136. Excluding places of 

safety78 with dedicated staffing, the average cost of staff per service user ranges from between 

£333 and £1,133. The major drivers for this cost are the length of stay at the HBPoS, the various 

staffing models and the pay band at each of the sites. It is estimated that the indicative cost of 

staff directly involved in the provision of care within HBPoS sites across London is approximately 

£5.4m per year. This includes those sites that have established dedicated staffing and includes 

HBPoS services provided to both adult and CYP individuals. 

Whilst the cost associated with providing dedicated 24/7 staffing with the new model of care at c. 

£11.6m p.a., is significantly higher than the staffing cost with the current 20 site model at £5.4m 

p.a.,the cost associated with the preferred 9 site model is much more favourable than 

maintaining the current 20 site configuration and introducing 24/7 staffing at a cost of c. £14.7m 

p.a. (an additional £3.1m compared to the preferred option). 

                                                
78

 SWLSTGs, and SLAM are excluded when calculating cost per individual detained under s136; however, the cost of 
£4.9m does include SWLSTGs and SLAM staff costs. 

Page 169



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  104 

 

 

Figure 26: Distribution of cost per individual detained under s136 

 

6. HBPoS non-pay costs 

 Indicative per annum HBPoS non-pay costs: £11,473k 

As with pay costs, attempting to establish the proposed non-pay cost of HBPoS sites across 

London is challenging. Multiple stakeholders have iterated the complexity of costing the non-staff 

running costs such as drugs, medications, and estimating capital overheads and estate charges. 

This is, to some degree, driven by the lack of formal data capture undertaken within the 

pathway. Box 8 provides an example of these difficulties. 

Box 8: Non-pay cost identification difficulties 

 

While it is difficult to estimate the various non-pay costs such as management overheads and 

estate charges, it is prudent to assume that HBPoS sites draw on overhead resources. As a 

proxy, data associated with SLAM’s non-pay costs have been tested with finance directors from 

London’s Mental Health Trusts and utilised to estimate a baseline non-pay cost across London. 

This dataset was utilised due to it being the most detailed breakdown of non-pay costs available. 

These non-pay costs are assumed to be driven both on a per site basis and a per patient basis; 

a summary of the non-pay cost of HBPoS across London is provided below. 

Table 27: Baseline non-pay costs 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

£
 C

o
st

 

“The two suites are part of PFIs which are managed by acute trust partners and both the non-staffing running 

costs (utilities, medication, phones, stationary etc ) and capital overheads are integrated within the overall fabric of 

the building. At this stage we don't have a dedicated staffing team for the suites and delegate staffing from our 

wards and Pre Admission Suite when required.” 

Finance Manager 

Page 170



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  105 

 

Non-pay costs Baseline Non-Pay Cost of HBPoS 

sites across London 

Drugs                                £          40k 

Medical Purchases  £        160k 

Transport costs  £        1,037k 

Cleaning   £        700k 

Pharmacy Overhead Allocation  £        160k 

Corporate Overhead Allocation  £    5,142k 

Management Overhead Allocation  £    1,512k 

Estate charges  £    2,722k 

Total  £  11,473k 

 

6.1.5 Emergency Department (ED) 

The total ED costs are set out in Table 28 below and described in more detail in the paragraphs 
which follow. 

Table 28: ED costs 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

NHS  £559 £297,134 

At present, it is estimated that 6% of people detained under s136 are sent to the ED due to 

insufficient capacity in the current configuration of HBPoS sites.79 In addition, a further 4% are 

estimated to attend with other physical health conditions. This adds increased pressure to EDs 

and leads to worse treatment experiences for the individual. Figure 27 below provides a 

snapshot of this step in the pathway. 

Figure 27: ED baseline costs 

 

The average cost of an ED attendance is £117.80 However, this is based on an average duration 

of just 2.5 hours.81 However, as audit data shows that individuals detained under s136 spend an 

average of 12 hours at an ED, this is uplifted in order to take account of the added resource 

costs. As a result, the total annual estimate for the NHS cost of s136 attending the ED is £297k. 

                                                
79

 This estimate has been calculated from audit data from the HBPoS sites 
80

 Manchester New Economy Model, 2016 - http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-
benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database  
81

 http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB23070  

HBPoS 

s136 Pathway 

7. £559 

ED visit due to lack of 
HBPoS capacity 

ED visit for physical 

health reason 

Page 171

http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database
http://neweconomymanchester.com/our-work/research-evaluation-cost-benefit-analysis/cost-benefit-analysis/unit-cost-database
http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB23070


HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  106 

 

6.2 Preferred option pathway costs 

6.2.1 Overview 

Following the detailed analysis undertaken to assess the baseline costs of the s136 pathway 

discussed in the previous subsection, this subsection focuses on assessing the cost of the 

preferred nine site option across the patient pathway. This incorporates understanding the cost 

impact of the consolidation of the existing HBPoS sites into nine sites. Furthermore, it considers 

a dedicated, combined workforce model, consistently applied across all sites in London. 

As in the previous subsection on baseline costs, this section describes the cost associated with 

the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites at each step of the s136 journey. The pathway is divided into 

two parts: 

 The conveyance from initial detention to the HBPoS; and 

 The critical steps that occur at the HBPoS.  

For the cost associated at each of these steps of the pathway, an indicative cost range is 

provided where applicable, along with an estimated overall cost per annum. 

6.2.2 Summary of preferred option pathway costs 

It is estimated that on average, the s136 pathway costs for the preferred option are circa 

£20.5million per year. Table 29 below provides a summary of the average cost associated with 

the s136 pathway components. The paragraphs which follow describe each component cost in 

more detail. Table 30 sets out the indicative pathway component costs per STP / HBPoS, with 

the allocation calculated on a capitation basis. This will require further review and analysis at the 

next business case stage. 

Table 29: Preferred option pathway costs 

Ref Pathway Component Indicative annual 

activity 

Indicative unit 

cost per patient 

Indicative 

preferred 

option cost 

1a82 Police Conveyance 1,114 £101 £112k 

1b69 Police Conveyance (with 
LAS) 

4,193 £80 £333k 

283 Ambulance 4,193 £239 £1,004k 

3 AMHP 5,307 £222 £1,176k 

                                                
82 1a the cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone and 1b when conveying with LAS. 

83 The cost to LAS when they convey; this is always with police. 

 

Page 172



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  107 

 

4 Independent s12 Doctor 1,698 £178 £302k 

5 HBPoS – Staff 5,307 £2,192 £11,636k 

6 HBPoS – non-pay   £5,931k 

7 ED 0 £0 £0k 

 Total   £20,494k 

 

Table 30: Preferred option pathway costs per STP and HBPoS 

 

6.2.3 Cost of Conveyance 

As noted, there are two major routes in which an individual arrives from initial detention to the 

HBPoS; either via a police vehicle or via an ambulance with police support. 

                                                
84

 1a gives the cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone and 1b when conveying with LAS 
85

 The cost to LAS when they convey; this is always with police. 

Ref 

STP NCL NWL NEL SEL SWL Total 

HBPoS 
Chase 
Farm 

Highgate 
MHC 

Lakesid
e MHU 

Riverside 
St. 

Charles 

City and 
Hackney 

MHC 

Sunflower 
Court 

Southwark Wandsworth 
Total 

£’000s 

 
Pathway 
Compon

ent 
Indicative preferred option costs (£’000s) 

1a Police
84

 £23 £23 £31 £24 £11 £112 

1b Police 
(with 
LAS)

71 
£69 £67 £92 £73 £32 £333 

2 LAS
85

 £208 £201 £278 £218 £98 £1,004 

 Total £300 £291 £401 £315 £141 £1,449 

3 AMHP £69 £175 £122 £30 £84 £215 £111 £256 £115 £1,176 

4 Independ
ent s12 
doctor 

£18 £45 £31 £8 £22 £55 £28 £66 £29 £302 

5 HBPoS- 
Staff 

£858 £1,512 £1,185 £858 £858 £1,840 £1,185 £2,155 £1,185 £11,636 

6 HBPoS – 
Non pay 

£349 £882 £616 £151 £424 £1,085 £558 £1,290 £578 £5,931 

 Total £1,294 £2,614 £1,954 £1,047 £1,388 £3,195 £1,882 £3,767 £1,907 £20,494 

Page 173



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  108 

 

The total costs of conveyance are set out in Table 31 below and described in more detail in the 
paragraphs which follow. 

Table 31: Cost of Conveyance 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

Police conveyance costs
86

  £101 £112,427 

Police conveyance costs
73

 (with 
LAS) 

£80 £333,474 

Ambulance conveyance costs
87

 £239 £1,003,859 

 

1. Police conveyance 

a) Without LAS 

 Indicative per patient police conveyance costs: £101 

 Indicative per annum police conveyance costs: £112k 

The total cost for police conveyance (not accompanying the LAS) in the preferred option has 

been estimated at £112k per annum. This cost includes both adult and CYP conveyances. The 

assumptions used for travel time, activity and unit costs are discussed in turn below. 

Travel time 

To assess the impact on conveyance time of the preferred option, data was utilised that detailed 

the pick-up location of historic s136 pan-London activity. This data was overlaid onto the location 

of HBPoS sites within the preferred option, allowing an assessment to be made of average 

conveyance time between the pick-up locations and the location of the consolidated HBPoS 

sites.  

This determined that average conveyances times within the preferred option were between 16 

and 32 minutes, with a median of 22 minutes. For the purpose of this analysis, it is assumed that 

travel time differential between the Police and the Ambulance does not exist, as Ambulance 

vehicles are not allowed to blue light while conveying mental health patients to the HBPoS, 

although this may change in the future.  

Activity 

As stated in Section 5.1.3, the proportion of individuals detained under s136 conveyed by police, 

is decreasing relative to LAS conveyance. Using mathematical prediction, an indicative estimate 

is that 87% of those detained will be conveyed by LAS by 2020, compared to 13% by police 

vehicle. As it is not possible to determine conclusively that the past trend will continue at the 

same pace in the future, the preferred option uses the same conveyance percentages that is 

seen in the baseline - an ambulance conveyance of 79% and a police conveyance of 21%. 

It is noted that there is a risk to increasing activity at HBPoS sites that border London where police 
detention takes place in the outer areas of London. Further investigation into this shows there are two 
Health Based Place of Safety sites that lie within ten miles of the London boundary that could be affected 
by the nine site option. Conveyance to these sites outside of London is likely to primarily come from the 

                                                
86

 1a the cost of conveyance to police when conveying alone and 1b when conveying with LAS. 
87

 The cost to LAS when they convey; this is always with police. 

Page 174



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  109 

 

outer London boroughs in NWL and SEL. To give an indicative estimation of the potential impact, it is 
estimated that activity levels diverted to these sites would be no higher than 10% of activity in the 
affected areas, using current figures this would be 20-23 patients per annum as a result of London’s new 
model of care. However, improved access at HBPoS sites within the London boundary is likely to limit the 
conveyance of those sectioned to sites outside the city. Nonetheless, during and post implementation it 
will be important to be aware of this potential unintended consequence and be open to communication 
with areas outside London in order to monitor and mitigate this risk. 

Unit costs 

As per the baseline costs, the preferred option unit cost per minute is assumed to be £58.2 per 

hour for police forces.  

b) With LAS 

 Indicative per patient police conveyance costs: £80 

 Indicative per annum police conveyance costs: £333k 

The total cost for police conveyance, accompanying the LAS, in the preferred option has been 

estimated at £333k per annum. This cost includes both adult and CYP conveyances. The unit 

cost assumptions are discussed above, whilst the assumptions used for travel time and activity 

are the same as that used for ambulance conveyance, discussed in turn below. 

The combined total police conveyance costs in the preferred option are therefore estimated at 

£446k per annum.  

2. Ambulance conveyance 

 Indicative per patient ambulance conveyance costs: £239 

 Indicative per annum ambulance conveyance costs: £1,004k 

The total cost for ambulance conveyance in the preferred option has been estimated at £1,004k 

per annum. This cost includes both adult and CYP conveyances. The assumptions used for 

travel time, activity and unit costs are discussed in turn below. 

Travel time 

As noted above, the average conveyance time assumed for the preferred option is between 64 

and 111 minutes, with a median of 82 minutes. For the purpose of this analysis, it is assumed 

that travel time differential between the Police and the Ambulance does not exist, as Ambulance 

vehicles are not allowed to blue light while conveying mental health patients to the HBPoS, 

although this may change in the future. 

Activity 

As stated above, we have assumed that the preferred option uses the same conveyance 

percentages that are seen in the baseline - an ambulance conveyance of 79% and a police 

conveyance of 21%. However, it is important to note that the proportion of those detained who 

are conveyed via ambulance may increase in the future. Figure 28 provides an illustration of a 

projected increase in LAS conveyance, although this has not been incorporated in our financial 

analysis. 

Page 175



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  110 

 

Figure 28: Projection of LAS conveyance % 

 

If these projections are accurate, the anticipated shorter journey times, together with the 

increased frequency of usage for ambulance and a decreased usage of police conveyance, will 

require local ambulance services to have more staff and more ambulance vehicles, potentially 

inducing cost increases during conveyance. 

Unit costs 

As per the baseline costs, the preferred option unit cost per minute is assumed to be £2.92 for 

LAS. 

6.2.4 Health Based Place of Safety 

The total HBPoS costs are set out in Table 32 below and described in more detail in the 
paragraphs which follow. 

 

Table 32: HBPoS costs 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

AMHP  £222 £1,175,501 

Independent s12 doctor £178 £302,287 

Staff costs £2,192 £11,636 

Non-pay costs NA £5,830,810 

 

3. AMHP costs 

 Indicative per patient AMHP costs: £222 

 Indicative per annum AMHP costs: £1,176k 

It is estimated that the AMHP cost associated with s136 activity across London is £1,176k per 

annum for the preferred option, which includes AMHP activity for adults only. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

LA
S 

co
n

ve
ya

n
ce

 %
 

LAS conveyance using BTP LAS conveyance for MET

Log. (LAS conveyance using BTP) Log. (LAS conveyance for MET)

Page 176



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  111 

 

There are three drivers that will impact the AMHPs cost for the preferred option, which are as 

follows:  

 Activity - For the preferred option, it is also assumed that 100% of the patients are seen 

by an AMHP, as this is outlined in the s136 specification.  

 Unit cost - It is assumed that hourly rate of AMHPs across London does not change 

between the baseline and the preferred option, and therefore, £30 per hour was utilised 

for the preferred option. 

 Time spent (travel/admin/assessing patient) - As a result of the consolidation of 

HBPoS sites, AMHPs travel time would increase. Given the location associated with the 

9 site model, it is estimated that travel time would increase by 57% from 38 minutes to 59 

minutes on average. The % increase is calculated by the time differential of travelling 

between the baseline case and the preferred option, where AMHPs are travelling from 

their home borough to the closest HBPoS located within their STP, within the 

reconfigured model. 

Table 33: AMHP resource time 

AMHPs 

(time in mins) 

Travel time Patient Facing Admin Waiting Time Total 

time 

Total 

Cost 

Preferred option 59 61 92 231 443 £1,176k 

4. Independent s12 Doctor costs 

 Indicative per patient s12 doctor costs: £178 

 Indicative per annum s12 doctor costs: £302k 

The cost of the s12 doctor for the pathway is influenced by two factors in the preferred option: 

 Frequency: With a 24/7 dedicated speciality workforce, it is envisioned that admission to 

inpatient beds will reduce. Given limited data on s12 doctor call-out rates, the % change 

of the s12 doctor call-out rate is required be estimated.  Both SLAM Centralised Place of 

Safety and SWLSTG PDU, with their dedicated 24/7 staffing teams, have seen a 

decrease in admissions following assessment. Using the SWLSTG PDU as a proxy, a 

20% drop in inpatient admission was evidenced. Using the equivalent % change, it is 

possible to estimate the callout % for an independent s12 doctor. Using this as a basis, 

independent s12 callout % in the preferred option is estimated to be 32%. 

 Cost: The cost of the independent s12 doctor is based on a fixed fee, which is standard 

across England at £178 and therefore is proposed not to change in the preferred option. 

Utilising this information, it is estimated that the cost of s12 activity in the preferred option will 

cost £302k. This cost includes s12 activity for both adult and CYP individuals. 

5. HBPoS staff costs 

 Indicative per patient HBPoS staff costs: £2,192Indicative per annum HBPoS staff costs: 

£11,636k 

Page 177



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  112 

 

The 9 site preferred option is moving away from the predominant existing model of taking staff 

from wards to deliver the service, to a model that provides 24/7 dedicated specialised staff.   

It is estimated that the preferred 9 site option with 24/7 dedicated workforce would cost £11.6m 

per year. The workforce model that is proposed is based on safe levels of staffing at the HBPoS. 

Table 32 below shows an assumed workforce requirement for HBPoS at various bed capacity 

levels. 

Whilst the cost associated with providing dedicated 24/7 staffing with the new model of care at c. 

£11.6m p.a., is significantly higher than the staffing cost with the current 20 site model at £5.4m 

p.a., the cost associated with the preferred 9 site model is much more favourable than 

maintaining the current 20 site configuration and introducing 24/7 staffing at a cost of c. £14.7m 

p.a. (an additional £3.1m compared to the preferred option). 

Table 34: WTE requirement by capacity levels 

Bed Capacity 1 2 3 4 5 6 

 WTE  

New Speciality Doctor Grade              1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Consultant's Post 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.7 

Nursing Band 03                3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0 

Nursing Band 05                3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0 

Nursing Band 06                1.5 3.0 4.5 6.0 7.5 18.0 

Nursing Band 07                1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Admin & Clerical Band 04            1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Similarly, Table 35 below shows the assumed cost of workforce for HBPoS sites of various 

capacity levels. 

Table 35: Pay costs by capacity levels 

Capacity 1 2 3 4 5 6 

New Speciality Doctor Grade              £74k £74k £74k £74k £74k £74k 

Consultant's Post           £68k £63k £73k £82k £91k £89k 

Nursing Band 03                £104k £208k £312k £416k £520k £624k 

Nursing Band 05                £130k £259k £389k £519k £649k £778k 

Nursing Band 06                £84k £168k £253k £337k £421k £505k 

Nursing Band 07                £54k £54k £54k £54k £54k £54k 

Admin & Clerical Band 04            £31k £31k £31k £31k £31k £31k 

Total £545k £858k £1,185k £1,512k £1,840k £2,155k 

Once the cost associated with each capacity level at an HBPoS is determined, it is important to 

understand the capacity required for the preferred option.  

Analysing activity flows from the baseline to the preferred option, accounting for demand 
patterns and growth, capacity requirement at each of the consolidated sites was determined for 
the preferred option. Table 36 below shows the capacity and workforce cost breakdown by the 
HBPoS for the preferred option for the adult population only. This only includes the s136 staff, 
without any wrap around service cost included, noting that some places of safety which already 
have dedicated staff members might have a different workforce mix.  

Table 36: Preferred option HBPoS staff costs 

Page 178



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  113 

 

STP HBPoS Capacity Workforce 

cost 

North Central 

London 
Chase Building, Chase Farm Hospital 

2 £858k 

North Central 

London 
Highgate Mental Health Centre 

4 £1,512k 

North East 

London 
City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health  

5 £1,840k 

North East 

London 
Sunflowers Court, Goodmayes Hospital 

3 £1,185k 

North West 

London 
St. Charles 

2 £858k 

North West 

London 
Riverside Centre, Hillingdon Hospital 

2 £858k 

South East 

London 

Lakeside Mental Health Unit - West Middlesex 

University Hospital 

3 £1,185k 

South East 

London 

Southwark Place of Safety Suite, ES1 Ward, 

Maudsley Hospital (new centralised site) 

6 £2,155k 

South West 

London 

Wandsworth Recovery Centre, Section 136 

Suite, Springfield University Hospital 

3 £1,185k 

Total   £11,636k 

6. HBPoS non-pay costs 

 Indicative per annum HBPoS non-pay costs: £5,931k 

The consolidation of sites will impact non-pay costs at the selected HBPoS sites. It is expected 

that the consolidation will not only reduce costs, but also that the larger sites will individually gain 

from economies of scale.  

Table 37 below provides an assumed breakdown of non-pay costs associated with the preferred 

option. The basis of non-pay costs is drawn from the SLAM HBPoS and the table below is an 

extrapolation of the non-pay costs for the preferred 9 site model. 

Table 37: Preferred option non-pay costs 

Non-pay costs Preferred Option 

Drugs                               £40k 

Medical Purchases £160k 

Transport costs £1,037k 

Cleaning  £315k 

Pharmacy Overhead Allocation £160k 

Corporate Overhead Allocation £2,314k 

Management Overhead Allocation £680k 

Estate charges £1,225k 

Total £5,931k 

 

 

Page 179



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  114 

 

6.2.5 Emergency Department (ED) 

From the Strategic Case, it has been made clear that an ED is not the right environment for an 

s136 patient to be treated, in the absence of urgent physical health needs that cannot be 

address in the HBPoS.  

The total ED costs are set out in Table 38 below and described in more detail in the paragraph 
which follows. 

Table 38: ED costs 

Stakeholder Indicative per patient Indicative per annum 

NHS  £559 £0 
 

It is proposed that the preferred option for HBPoS reconfiguration will reduce the number of ED 

visits due to lack of capacity at the HBPoS. To this end, the preferred option will have adequate 

capacity to deal with s136 demand, where growth and hourly demand pattern is accounted for. It 

is therefore estimated that all pathway costs associated with ED activity due to lack of capacity 

to reduce to zero.  

  

Page 180



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  115 

 

6.3 Variance in pathway costs 

6.3.1 Overview 

Following the detailed analysis undertaken to assess the current costs of s136 services across 

the patient pathway discussed in section 3.1 and subsequently the cost of the preferred option in 

section 3.2, the next step is to understand and highlight any cost differentials between the 

baseline and the preferred option. This section discusses the incremental costs or savings 

related to delivering the preferred option and whether these savings are cashable for the NHS. 

The pathway is divided into two parts, as follows:  

 The conveyance from initial detention to the HBPoS; and 

 The critical steps that occur at the HBPoS.  

For the cost variance at each step of the journey, consideration is made to the variance drivers 

and alternative scenario’s considered for the preferred option. 

6.3.2 Summary of pathway cost variances 

It is estimated that on average, the s136 pathway cost for the preferred option induces a net 

saving of £138k per annum. This is primarily driven by non-pay costs which are expected to be 

non-cashable. It should be noted however, that if the non-pay costs are excluded, the preferred 

option would induce an incremental cost of £5.4m above the baseline. 

Table 39 provides a summary of the variance associated the s136 pathway estimates. The 

paragraphs which follow describe each component cost in more detail. 

Table 39: Pathway cost variances 

Stakeholders Baseline Preferred Option Variance 

Police £203k £112k (£91k) 

Police (with LAS) £435k £333k (£102k) 

LAS £1,310k £1,004k (£306k) 

ED £297k £0k (£297k) 

AMHPs £1,118k £1,175k £57k 

Independent s12 Doctor £378k £302k (£76k) 

HBPoS: workforce £5,417k £11,636k £6,219k 

HBPoS:  non-pay £11,473k £5,931k (£5,542k) 

Total £20,632k £20,494k (£138k) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 181



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  116 

 

Figure 29: Cost differential for baseline and preferred option broken by stakeholders 

 

Figure 30: Absolute cost variance from base case to preferred option by stakeholder 

 

 

 

 

 

Baseline Preferred Option

HBPoS:  non-pay £11,473 £5,931

HBPoS: workforce £5,417 £11,636

Independent s12 Doctor £378 £302

AMHPs £1,118 £1,175

ED £297 £0

LAS £1,310 £1,004

Police (combined) £638 £446

£0

£5,000

£10,000

£15,000

£20,000

£25,000

C
o

st
 (

£
0

0
0

s)
 

(£8,000)

(£6,000)

(£4,000)

(£2,000)

£0

£2,000

£4,000

£6,000

£8,000

-150

-100

-50

0

50

100

150

Stakeholders Police
(combined)

LAS ED AMHPs Independent
s12 Doctor

HBPoS:
workforce

HBPoS:  non-
pay

Absolute variance in £(000s) % Change

Page 182



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  117 

 

6.3.3 Cost of Conveyance 

1. Police conveyance 

a) Without LAS 

Table 40 illustrates the cost variance of the base case with the preferred option for police 

conveyance, not accompanying the LAS. 

Table 40: Police conveyance cost variance 

Conveyance type Base case Preferred Option Variance 

Police £203k £112k (£91k) 

b) With LAS 

 

Table 41 illustrates the cost variance of the base case with the preferred option for police 

conveyance, accompanying the LAS. 

Table 41: Police conveyance cost variance accompanying the LAS 

Conveyance type Base case Preferred Option Variance 

Police88 £435k £333k (£102k) 

 

2. Ambulance conveyance 

Table 42 illustrates the cost variance of the base case with the preferred option for ambulance 

conveyance. 

Table 42: Ambulance conveyance cost variance 

Conveyance type Base case Preferred Option Variance 

Ambulance89 £ 1,310k £ 1,004k       (£306k) 

    

The assumptions behind these variances are described below. 

Cost per unit 

There is no difference in the cost per minute from the baseline to the preferred option.  

Conveyance time 

Through the consolidation of sites established by the preferred option, it is expected that, with 

fewer HBPoS sites in London, initial conveyance time will increase. However, it is also 

acknowledged that, through improved capacity within the consolidated sites, the number of 

incidents where further conveyance is required due to an individual detained under s136 arriving 

                                                
88

 This is the cost to police only. The cost to the LAS is given in table 40. 
89

 This is the cost to LAS only. The cost to the police is given in table 39. 

Page 183



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  118 

 

at a site which is at capacity, will reduce. Box 9 provides an example from the Metropolitan 

Police escalation log which illustrates the type of delays faced within the current s136 pathway. 

 

Box 9: Delays current s136 pathway 

 

Figure 30 below depicts the conveyance time from the base case scenario to the preferred 9 site 

option for Police conveyance. The base case of 2090 sites includes inefficiencies in the system 

driven by the police conveying an individual to a site which is then found to be at capacity. This 

results in either further conveyance time to an alternate place of safety or waiting at the place of 

safety.  

Moving from the inefficient model, to the efficient 2091 site model, where patients are taken to the 

closest HBPoS without any bottleneck or operational inefficiency reduces the average travel time 

significantly. However, the travel time increases as the number of sites decrease from the 21 

efficient site model to the preferred 9 site model, as expected. 

Figure 31: Police conveyance time from base case to preferred option 

 

Similarly, the conveyance time for the ambulance from the base case scenario to the 9 site 

model will influence the pathway cost for the conveyance of the preferred option. 

Figure 32: LAS conveyance time from base case to preferred option 

                                                
90

 Because the calculation of travel time utilises actual data, Highgate Mental health trust has been excluded, as this 
site currently does not exist, and therefore, a 20 site for the base case. However, when calculating the travel time in 
the efficient site model, Highgate mental health trust is included in the calculation. 
91

 The 21 site does include Highgate mental health trust 

64 

22 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Basecase configuration
(20 site)

Efficient 21 site model Efficient 9 site model Preferred 9 site model

A
vg

 C
o

n
ve

ya
n

ce
 t

im
e

s 
 

(m
in

s)
 

“There was no S136 Suite available across [HBPoS] or neighbouring Trusts.  After 2 hours in 

the van and no sign of a S136 suite becoming available, male was taken to custody suite” 

“Police detain the male under S136 MHA and attend ED for physical health clearance.  Officers 

are told by a nurse that there is a bed at [HBPoS] reserved for him.  Officers attend the HBPoS 

with the male but are met by a nurse who states that there is no beds available” 

Page 184



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  119 

 

 

Therefore, there is a 42 minute time differential for the Police and a 25 minute time differential 

for the ambulance conveyance from the base case to the preferred option, which is the main 

driver for the cost variance between the baseline and the preferred option. 

Activity 

There is no difference in the proportion of patients conveyed via an ambulance and police from 

the baseline to the preferred option. The same conveyance proportions are assumed, 79% of 

conveyance via the ambulance and 21% conveyance via Police. 

6.3.4 HBPoS 

In this pathway, the four main components that drive a cost variance between the preferred 

option and the base case within the s136 pathway are: 

 AMHPs; 

 Independent s12 doctor; 

 HBPoS staff; and 

 HBPoS non-pay costs. 

3. AMHP costs  

The preferred option for AMHPs costs £1,118k, compared to the base case of £1,175k, 

representing an increased cost of £57k. The main driver for this cost is caused by an increase in 

travel time in the preferred option compared to the baseline. As noted in the baseline analysis, 

the proportion of AMHP time which is dedicated towards travelling represents a relatively small 

proportion of total AMHP activity. 

Table 43: AMHP cost variance 

AMHPs 

(time in mins) 

Travel 

time 

Patient 

Facing 

Admin Waiting 

Time 

Total 

time 

Total Cost % 

change 

from 

baseline 

Baseline 38 61 92 231 422 £1,175k 0% 

Preferred option 
59 61 92 231 443 £1,118k 5.1% 

It is assumed that patient facing time, admin time, and waiting time remain the same for the 

baseline and preferred option.  

107 

82 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Basecase configuration
(20 site)

Efficient 21 site model Efficient 9 site model Preferred 9 site modelLA
S 

- 
A

vg
 c

o
n

ve
ya

n
ce

 
ti

m
e

s 
 (

m
in

s)
 

Page 185



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  120 

 

4. Independent s12 costs  

The cost of an independent s12 doctor for the preferred option is estimated to be £302k, 

compared to the baseline of £378k, a decrease in cost from the baseline of £76k, which is 

cashable. The main driver for this change is driven by lower call-out frequencies for the s12 

doctor in the preferred option compared to the baseline.  

Figure 33: Difference in cost of s12 doctor from base case to preferred option 

 

5. HBPoS staff costs 

The staff cost of HBPoS sites for the preferred option is estimated to be £11.6m, compared to 

the baseline of £5.4m, an increase in cost from the baseline of £6.2m. The main driver for this 

cost is having 24/7 dedicated staffing at each of the HBPoS sites.  

Table 44: HBPoS staff cost variance 

 Baseline Preferred Option Variance 

Staff costs £5.4m £11.6m 115% 

6. HBPoS non-pay costs 

The non-pay cost of HBPoS staff for the preferred option is estimated to be £5.9m, compared to 

the baseline of £11.5m, a decrease in cost from the baseline of £5.6m. The majority of this is 

driven by non-pay costs that are assumed to be driven by the number of HBPoS sites such as 

cleaning, corporate overhead allocation, and management overhead allocation and estate 

charges. It is assumed that the majority of these are non-cashable. Table 45 summarises the 

cost differential between the baseline and the preferred option for non-pay costs. 

Table 45: HBPoS non-pay cost variance 

 Baseline Preferred Option Variance 

Drugs                                £          40k  £        40k  £    0 

Medical Purchases  £        160k   £      160k  £    0 

Transport costs  £     1,037k   £   1,037k  £    0 

Cleaning   £        700k   £      315k  (£ 385k)   

Pharmacy Overhead Allocation  £        160k   £      160k £    0 

Corporate Overhead Allocation  £     5,142k   £   2,314k  (£  2,828k) 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

£

£50

£100

£150

£200

£250

£300

£350

Baseline Preferred option

s-
1

2
 c

al
l o

u
t 

In
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
s1

2
 (

£
,0

0
0

) 

s12 cost % call-out

Page 186



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  121 

 

Management Overhead 

Allocation 

 £     1,512k   £      680k  (£  832k) 

Estate charges  £    2,722k   £  1,224k  (£  1,497k) 

Total  £  11,473k   £  5,931k  (£  5,542) 

 

6.3.5 Emergency Department 

7. Emergency Department costs 

The cost of an unwarranted visit of an s136 patient to an ED is zero in the preferred option, 

compared to the base case of £297k. This is because we assume that the preferred option will 

have adequate capacity and protocols in place, with suitably trained staff, to avoid ED 

presentations of this nature. 

Table 46: ED cost variance 

 Referred to 

ED baseline 

Baseline 

Cost 

Referred to ED 

for the 

preferred option 

Preferred 

option 

cost 

Variance 

 

ED referrals  

 

10%* 

 

£297k 

 

0% 

 

£0 

 

(£ 297k) 

*includes 6% due to capacity issues and 4% for other physical conditions 

Page 187



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  122 

 

6.4 Transition costs 

Table 47 below summarises the assumptions included for the purpose of the wider costing 

exercise. Specifically, it is proposed that a figure of £100k will be required per STP to support 

the transition. This establishes a total cost of £500k p.a. in FY18/19 and FY19/20 to support the 

transition. This is however, a high-level estimate and will require further refinement. 

Table 47: Transition costs 

 Cost  

 
STPs 

 
£500k 

 
Total 

 
£500k 

The new model of care and reconfiguration of HBPoS sites across London will be a complex 

undertaking and as such, resources will be required to support in the transition.  

It is proposed that implementation will be led locally and coordinated at an STP level. To this 

regard and with detailed implementation planning still to be undertaken, subject to the 

progression of this business case, it is difficult to provide a firm estimate of the level of resource 

required. However, it is acknowledged that resource will be required at both a local level and at a 

pan-London level to support the transition requirements. 

These resources may be required to support a number of activities, including: 

 Programme and project management; 

 Internal and public communications; 

 Site assessments and subsequent non-capital development costs; and 

 Development and further refinement of appropriate protocols and ways of working. 

 

Further details about the proposed requirements are provided in the Management Case. 

 

 

Page 188



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  123 

 

6.5 Capital costs 

The new model of care and consolidation of HBPoS sites will require an increase in capacity for 

the majority of sites which are incorporated within the preferred option. As such, to support this 

increase in capacity, capital investment will be required at many HBPoS sites.  

Aside from the increase in the number of beds, the degree to which an existing site can 

accommodate a larger HBPoS will vary. While analysis has been undertaken as part of the 

options appraisal process that considered the percentage of estates that are currently utilised for 

non-clinical purposes, further analysis is required during implementation planning to effectively 

deduce capital requirements per site in collaboration with local estate teams. 

For the purpose of this financial analysis, an assumed capital cost of £150k is utilised per extra 

bed required. This figure is drawn from the Policing and Crime Bill – Amend Police Powers 

under the Mental Health Act 1983, which provides an indicative view of what may be required 

across London. This establishes that an assumed total level of capital investment required 

across London to support the configuration is £2.3m. 

Table 48: Indicative capital costs 

STP HBPoS Baseline 
capacity 

Capacity 
requirement 

Capital 
cost at 
£150k per 
bed * 

North Central 
London 

Chase Building, Chase 
Farm Hospital 

2 2 N/A 

North Central 
London 

Highgate Mental Health 
Centre 

0 4 £600k 

North East London City and Hackney Centre 
for Mental Health  

1 5 £600k 

North East London Sunflowers Court, Good 
mayes Hospital 

2 3 £150k 

North West London St. Charles 1 2 £150k 

North West London Riverside Centre, 
Hillingdon Hospital 

2 2 N/A 

South East London Lakeside Mental Health 
Unit - West Middlesex 
University Hospital 

1 3 £300k 

South East London Southwark Place of Safety  4 6 £300k 

South West London Wandsworth Recovery  2 3 £150k 

Total    £2,250k 

* Further analysis and refinement required with local estate teams during implementation planning, to 

identify actual capital requirements per site location 

Page 189



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  124 

 

6.6 Summary and funding arrangements 

In order to assess the long term financial impact of the implementation of the proposal, a net 

present value of the financial implications has been calculated. This does not include the 

economic and social benefits discussed in the Economic Case. The net present value 

calculation assesses the long term financial impact by adding together the anticipated cost 

savings over the life of the project and deducting all the costs involved, discounting both the 

future costs and savings as an appropriate rate. The discount rate, equal to 3.5%, is used to 

convert the future costs and benefits to the “present value”, so that they can be compared.  

6.6.1 Summary of financial impact and NPV 

Table 47 below summarises the baseline pathway cost, whilst Table 48 summarises the 

preferred pathway cost, the high-level transition and capital costs associated with the preferred 

option. 

This assumes that implementation planning and subsequent transition will be spread across 

FY18/19 and FY19/20. The costs associated with capital development have been assumed to 

fall in FY19/20. 

For the modelling purpose, it is assumed that the preferred option is implemented in FY 19/20. 

Table 49 illustrates the base case – do nothing scenario. The total cost over the five year period 

to FY22/23 is £111.7m. 

Table 49: Baseline pathway costs – 5 year view 

 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23 

Baseline - 

Pathway 

cost  

 

£20,632k 

 

£21,483k 

 

£22,334k 

 

£23,185k 

 

£24,036k 

Table 50 illustrates the costs of implementing the preferred option.  

Table 50: Preferred option costs – 5 year view 

 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23 

Pathway 

cost  

£20,632k £21,483k £20,494k £20,494k £20,494k 

Transition 

cost  

£500k £500k £0k £0k £0k 

Capital £0k £2,250k £0k £0k £0k 

Total  

£21,132 

 

£24,233k 

 

£20,494k 

 

£20,494k 

 

£20,494k 

Under proposed plans for the preferred nine site model, the five year cost of the project will be 

approximately £106.8m.  

Table 51 sets out the variances in costs/savings of the base case pathway compared to the 

preferred nine site option. 

 

 

Page 190



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  125 

 

Table 51: Net present value (financial only) 

 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 FY 21/22 FY 22/23 

Variance 

(cost)/saving 

 

(£500k) 

 

(£2,750k) 

 

£2,154k 

 

£3,005k 

 

£3,856k 

Discount 

factor 

 

3.5% 

 

3.5% 

 

3.5% 

 

3.5% 

 

3.5% 

Discounted 

(cost)/ Saving 

(£,000) 

 

(£483k) 

 

(£2,567k) 

 

£1,942k 

 

£2,618k 

 

£3,246k 

NPV  
£4,757k 

    

There is a net saving of £4.9m with the preferred nine site option, with a positive net present 

value (NPV) of £4.8m.  

However, as discussed in the Economic Case in Section 4, the financial impact of the 

reconfiguration should not be viewed in isolation. Instead, it is important to consider the range of 

clinical, economic and societal benefits which will be enabled by the scheme. The total net 

benefit from the new model of care, consolidating HBPoS sites in London, is estimated at £20m 

per year (financial and non-financial). 

6.6.2 Funding arrangements 

At this early stage of the project, the exact funding arrangements for the costs outlined above 

have not been finalised and agreed. However, initial expectations about funding arrangements 

can be summarised as follows: 

 It is likely that variances to pathway costs will be borne by the relevant stakeholders i.e. 

police forces, ambulance services, Mental Health Trusts; 

 The work programme has thus far been led by the Healthy London Partnership (HLP), 

which is funded by all 32 CCGs and NHSE. However, when HLP have finished their 

programme of work, the continued implementation and transition costs will require 

funding; 

 Transition costs will likely be incurred by the CCGs within the relevant local STPs as they 

transform the services at their HBPoS sites. It is important that additional funding is made 

available for this transition as there will be no equivalent income mechanism to support 

them; and 

 The capital costs required to increase capacity at relevant HBPoS sites will likely be borne 

by the local STPs.  

Pooling budgets across CCGs within the relevant STPs, combining spending power, is expected 

to provide funding support for the reconfiguration.  

Page 191



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  126 

 

6.7 Risks to financial assessment 

The consolidation of HBPoS sites requires a complex programme of change, and in order to 

model the financial implications, a number of assumptions have been made. To test the validity 

of the results, an initial high-level assessment of key sensitivities has been carried out. 

Below are the key risks inherent to the financial analysis of the s136 pathway and HBPoS 

specification. 

Gaps in the data collection 

A literature review to aid this analysis identified that there were a relatively small field of 

academic, peer-reviewed papers (which were mainly highly localised, small-scale and dated 

studies) from which conclusions could be drawn. 

The ad-hoc evidence base which currently exists means that there is a limited knowledge of 

trends or changing patterns in the area, as well as limited ‘service user’ involvement. There are 

few outcome studies other than those that measure the result of a clinical decision to admit an 

individual to an inpatient bed or, otherwise, re-presentation levels.  

A major gap in the literature relates to understanding longer-term outcome measurements, 

including changes in morbidity and mortality rates. Gaps also exist in data collection with EDs, 

as there was very limited robust information on issues such as secondary presentations, 

including dual diagnosis needs. 

Robustness of data 

The scoping component and analysis of all the datasets also identified issues with the 

robustness of the quantitative data collected.  

 Discussions with police leads highlighted coverage and completeness issues with some 

of the data held across the three police forces and for the Mental Health Service Dataset 

(MHSDS) there were coverage issues that resulted in some areas presenting no data 

(e.g. some EDs did not contribute to the system at all).  

 Similar problems were found with the secondary analysis of the HES information derived 

from EDs.  

 Similar issues were identified with other datasets, including data capture issues in the 

MHSDS as a consequence of migration to a new data platform, which resulted in a 

noticeable drop in returns to the system. 

Access to data 

It was not possible to access the primary data sources of any clinical dataset for a number of 

reasons including the following: 

 Concerns over confidentiality;  

 Proprietorial ownership of confidential information, including concerns over second-party 

interpretation of data;  

Page 192



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  127 

 

 Manual recording of some data items;  

 The technical aspects of extracting data; and  

 The resource implications of developing systematic downloads to make them available 

for secondary analysis.  

As a result, for this analysis, access to the MHSDS was derived through extracts of clinical data 

as part of a pre-existing pan-London performance monitoring arrangement. As part of this ‘piggy-

back’ arrangement, the data available was limited to the information routinely used to form 

performance monitoring arrangements – for example, one quarter’s data only. As a result, it was 

not possible to further analyse the data to understand trends or changes in the patterns of 

mental health presentation.  

Data was also supplied on an ad-hoc basis across the London networks by MHTs and AMHPs. 

These covered a number of approaches including 

 The use of bespoke spread sheets encompassing clinical audit data; 

 Logbooks; and  

 Stakeholders’ own analyses of data.  

This pragmatic approach allowed for often complex information to be collected, but this was at 

the expense of developing a consistent, systematic and robust methodology across the whole of 

London. The reports received from across the networks varied in terms of what and when data 

was collected and used different methodologies encompassing various definitions (e.g. the 

definition of ‘repeat presentations’ varied hugely across the data received). Few of the reports 

received defined the counting rules used to analyse data that would allow us to interpret the 

findings presented. These were further compounded by varying definitions of when the ‘clock’ 

started and stopped in relation to the measurement of process times. 

  

Page 193



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  128 

 

7 Management case 
This section of the Business Case describes the transitional stage of 13 HBPoS sites across 

London (including five sites that provide an all-age service), detailing associated indicative costs 

and benefits against the baseline/preferred option scenario. The section also addresses the 

‘achievability’ of the scheme. Its purpose, therefore, is to consider the key considerations and 

governance that will be required to achieve successful implementation along with the actions 

required to transition to an effective governance environment post implementation. 

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Transitional phase 

 Implementation  

 Post-implementation 

 

Current reconfiguration planning is based on a completion date of 2019/20, subject to 

agreement on financial support and regulatory and Board approvals. To reach the 9 site 

option the following measures are proposed: 

► A 13 site transitional phase has been supported by STPs in the shorter term as 
an interim measure to reach the preferred nine site option.   

► A highly collaborative approach and governance structure, with robust 
governance arrangements will be adopted to manage the reconfiguration and plan 
for the future implementation; key requirements have been identified. 

► A plan to continue engagement with key stakeholders, including people with 
lived experience of mental health crisis and their carers, will be developed to 
ensure the transition into the new reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is successful. 

► A plan for proposed governance structure post implementation and 
performance management arrangements will be developed; principles for 
governance have been identified and a suggested multi-agency group structure. 
Group roles and governance benefits have been identified. 

► A comprehensive risk assessment, escalation and mitigation process will be 
developed and in place to support the reconfiguration, with risks identified both at a 
local and system wide level. Implementation risks will be identified and assessed 
using a four tiered matrix. Risks will be discussed during implementation and post 
implementation governance forums. 

 

Page 194



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  129 

 

7.1 Transitional phase 

7.1.1 Overview 

As previously mentioned in the Business Case, following the options appraisal, further 

engagement led by programme STP leads took place across the system on the preferred option. 

The engagement process resulted in some STPs confirming sites that would be included in a 

pan-London nine site model whilst others required more time to develop local plans reflecting on 

other crisis care services and further understanding the impact of patient flow across local 

systems. This is particularly the case (but to varying degrees) in North West London (NWL), 

North East London (NEL) and South East London (SEL).  

In light of this, the 13 site model is considered a transition stage (including five sites that provide 

an all-age service) to support STPs to implement the nine site preferred configuration. The 

resultant 13 site transition phase is shown below in Figure 34. 

Figure 34: HBPoS locations in the 13 site transition phase 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All sites within the 9 and 13 site model are suited for adult provision, with one site per STP 

providing an all-age service. The preferred CYP sites in the transitional 9 and 13 site model are: 

The Wandsworth Recovery Centre (SWL), Maudsley Hospital (SEL), Highgate Mental Health 

Centre (NCL), and St. Charles (NWL). Newham Centre for Mental Health (NEL) is the preferred 

all-age site in the 13 site model; however, on transition to the 9 site model, the all-age provision 

will need to be reassessed as the Newham Centre is not included.  

7.1.2 Thirteen site transitional phase pathway benefits 

Following the detailed analysis undertaken to assess the benefits of the preferred option s136 

pathway discussed in section 4, this subsection focuses on assessing the benefits of the 13 site 

transitional stage model across the patient pathway. This incorporates the financial, economic 

and social impacts.  

Page 195



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  130 

 

The same methodology and approach was applied to identify benefits of the 13 site model, as 

was followed for the preferred option cost benefit analysis, detailed in section 4 of this business 

case. Table 52 below, sets out the financial benefits totalling £20,074k which are estimated to be 

delivered, £930k of which is assumed to be cashable, £13,589k non-cashable. In addition, a 

further £5,555k social impact savings have been identified as part of the thirteen site transitional 

phase option analysis. 

Table 52: Thirteen site transitional stage benefits overview  

No. Outcome 
Financial 
(cashable) benefit 
Value p.a (£000) 

Financial (non-
cashable) benefit 
Value p.a (£000) 

Benefit of measuring 
social impact (non-
cashable) - Value p.a 
(£000) 

Total Value p.a 
(£000) 

1 

 Reduced 
conveyance time 
(ambulance vs. 
police vehicle)  

£633 (vs £498)  - £17 (vs £14) £650 (vs£512) 

2 
Reduced ED 
admissions 

£297 -    £60 £357 

3 
Reduced length of 
stay at HBPoS 

                                 
-    

                                
   - 

£87 £87 

4 
Improved staff 
expertise 

NA   NA Qualitative 

5 
Improved HBPoS 
environment 

                                 
-    

                                   
- 

£335  £335 

6 
Reduced non-pay 
costs 

                                 
-    

£5,542                                    -    £5,542 

7 
Reduced inpatient 
admissions 

                                 
-    

£7,918 £4,606 £12,524 

8 
Reduced repeat 
presentations 

-    £129 £450 (vs £470) £579 (vs £599) 

9 
Improving the 
wider crisis care 
system 

NA NA NA Qualitative 

   £930 £13,589 £5,555 £20,074 

 

The total estimated benefits of the transitional phase are marginally higher than the preferred 

option nine site model (c. £118k higher, which equates to a 1% increase) due to the following: 

 Reduced conveyance times – There are decreases of 69% (from 64 minutes to 20 

minutes) and 31% (from 107 minutes to 74 minutes) in the average journey times for 

police vehicles and LAS (accompanied by police) respectively (this compares to 45% and 

23% for the preferred nine site model), which generates an additional combined financial 

benefit to the Police and LAS of c.£135k p.a. and an additional £3k p.a. social benefit 

(non-cashable) accruing to the patient due to a reduced travel time; and 

 Reduced repeat presentations – There is a decrease in the average travel time for 

repeat presentations for police vehicles and LAS combined from 69 minutes to 63 

minutes from the preferred option nine site model to 13 site transitional phase, which 

generates a decrease of c. £20k social benefit (non-cashable). 

 

All other benefits remain unchanged between the preferred option nine site model and the 13 

site transitional phase option. 

7.1.3 Thirteen site transitional phase pathway costs 

Page 196



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  131 

 

Following the detailed analysis undertaken to assess the baseline and preferred option costs of 

the s136 pathway discussed in section 5, this subsection focuses on assessing the cost of the 

13 site transitional stage model across the patient pathway. This incorporates understanding the 

cost impact of the consolidation of the existing HBPoS sites into thirteen sites. Furthermore, it 

considers a dedicated combined workforce model, consistently applied across all sites.  

The same methodology and approach was applied to identify costs of the 13 site model, as was 

followed for the baseline and preferred option costing analysis, detailed in section 5 of this 

business case. Table 53 below, sets out the estimated average pathway cost for the 13 site 

transitional phase at £23.2m p.a., compared to the baseline and preferred option pathway costs 

of £20.6m p.a. and £20.5m p.a. (excluding impact of activity growth) respectively. 

Table 53: Pathway costs 

Stakeholders Baseline Preferred Option Transitional phase 

Police £203k £112k £108k 

Police (with LAS) £435k £333k £300k 

LAS £1,310k £1,004k £903k 

ED £297k £0k £0k 

AMHPs £1,118k £1,175k £1,176k 

Independent s12 

Doctor £378k £302k £302k 

HBPoS: workforce £5,417k £11,636k £12,502k 

HBPoS:  non-pay £11,473k £5,931k £7,946k 

Total £20,632k £20,494k £23,237k 

The costs are more expensive for the 13 site transitional phase largely due to 24/7 dedicated 

staffing at each site and additional non-pay costs associated with the increased number of sites 

(i.e. estate charges, management/corporate overheads and cleaning costs). 

7.1.4 Transition costs 

The timelines for this transition are due to fall within the proposed two year process to move to 

the nine site model. As a result there no additional transition costs expected in addition to the 

£1.0m included as part of the preferred nine site option. 

7.1.5 Capital costs 

Of the additional four sites not included in the nine site configuration, only two sites require 

additional capital funding to meet the capacity requirements of an additional assessment room at 

each site. As illustrated in Table 52, this capital investment will total c. £1.8m for the 13 site 

configuration, £450k less than the preferred nine site model.  

Page 197



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  132 

 

Table 54: Indicative capital costs for 13 site transitional phase 

STP HBPoS Baseline 
capacity 

Capacity 
requirement 

Capital cost at 
£150k per bed 
* 

North Central 
London 

Chase Building, Chase 
Farm Hospital 

2 2 N/A 

North Central 
London 

Highgate Mental Health 
Centre 

0 4 £600k 

North East London City and Hackney Centre 
for Mental Health  

1 2 £150k 

North East London Sunflowers Court, Good 
mayes Hospital 

2 3 £150k 

North West London St. Charles 1 2 £150k 

North West London Riverside Centre, 
Hillingdon Hospital 

2 3 £150k 

South East London Oxleas House 1 2 £150k 

South East London Southwark Place of Safety  4 5 £150k 

South West London Wandsworth Recovery  2 2 N/A 

Total (9 sites)    £1,500K 

NWL Hammersmith and Fulham 1 1 N/A 

NWL Lakeside Mental Health 
Unit 

1 2 £150k 

NWL Northwick Park 1 1 N/A 

NEL Newham 1 2 £150k 

Total (13 sites)    £1,800k 

* Further analysis and refinement required with local estate teams during implementation planning, to 

identify actual capital requirements per site location 

 

Page 198



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  133 

 

7.2 Implementation 

7.2.1 Overview 

This section discusses the steps that need to be taken in order to put in place the processes, 

workforce and facilities that can deliver London’s s136 pathway and reconfigured HBPoS sites. 

In order to deliver the strategic objectives set out in Section 3, a joined up approach to 

implementation will be required by all stakeholders across the pathway. Establishing a clear plan 

for implementation, together with appropriate governance structures is therefore critical to the 

success of the programme.  

This section sets out the following important considerations for implementing the reconfigured 

HBPoS sites: 

 Priorities for implementation; 

 Options for implementation; 

 Requirements pre-implementation; 

 Governance; 

 Benefits management; and 

 Risks. 

7.2.2 Priorities for implementation 

The implementation of a material reconfiguration of any clinical service must be undertaken in a 

robust and sensitive manner. As such, a number of priorities/principles have been proposed that 

should be adhered to during the course of implementation, ensuring that the process meets its 

objectives. 

• Ensuring patient safety 

The consolidation of HBPoS sites across London inherently requires the closure of some 

existing sites as the reconfiguration is established. This must be undertaken in a manner 

which ensures patient safety throughout. Any decisions associated with implementation 

and transition should consider potential service impact and ensure that plans are put in 

place to transition in a safe manner. Further considerations as to how patient safety can 

be maintained during implementation are proposed later in this section. 

• Profiling of Implementation 

With respect towards the complexity and multi-stakeholder nature of the s136 pathway, 

careful consideration should be applied to the profiling of implementation. Shadow 

running of services is proposed to help mitigate the complexity of implementation, with 

further details around implementation options proposed later in this section. 

 

Page 199



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  134 

 

• Development of detailed implementation plans 

Following consideration of this business case, focus should be applied to the 

development of detailed implementation plans. It is proposed that these are established at 

an STP level. However, it is essential that key stakeholders, including the Police, Local 

Authorities and the LAS, are sufficiently involved in the development of these plans, 

clearly identifying any dependencies. Furthermore, due to the pan-London nature of the 

reconfiguration, pan-London oversight would be required. 

• Key protocols require ratification prior to go-live  

The specification detailed a standard of care, which the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites 

will help deliver.  However, during the course of implementation, there is a need to ensure 

a number of pivotal protocols are established at the point of ‘go-live’. Such consideration 

needs to be applied to: 

► Site capacity breach – whilst the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites is proposed to better 

ensure that capacity can deal with peaks in demand, it should be acknowledged that 

there will be occasions where capacity is reached at a given site due to abnormal 

demand. The pan-London pathway (in addition to the NHSE (London) compact) 

outlines a clear escalation protocol that should be followed in these instances;   

► Clarity over geographic working – the impact of consolidating HBPoS sites will mean 

that a number of arrangements for working will change. This includes the impact on 

AMHPs who may have to travel further to assess patients, there is a need to 

establish how resources can best be managed and funded within the system prior to 

go-live; and 

► Financial impact – whilst the reconfiguration has very much been proposed to benefit 

the service user and the system as a whole, the complex multi-stakeholder and 

commissioning system at it stands may mean  financial flows benefit some parts of 

the system more than others. The commissioning and payment flows will need to be 

adjusted to support implementation of this new model of care.    

• Continued stakeholder engagement 

Due to the multi-stakeholder nature of the reconfiguration, it is recommended that 

comprehensive stakeholder engagement is continued throughout implementation. This 

should ensure that appropriate forums are established to allow stakeholders including 

commissioners, providers, local authorities and service users to be provided with a 

platform to input into and refine plans as they develop. 

• Alignment with wider Crisis Care transformation 

Whilst the focus of consideration here is the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites to support 

implementation of the London s136 pathway, it should be acknowledged that this pathway 

is heavily intertwined with the broader crisis care system. The implementation of the 

pathway and reconfiguration of sites must be undertaken in synergy with changes across 

the broader crisis care system, ensuring that collaborative benefits are realised and that 

any system risks are mitigated. 

Page 200



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  135 

 

• Maintain clinical leadership  

The options appraisal process undertaken in support of the proposed reconfiguration has 

ensured firm clinical leadership throughout. This has helped evolve and refine the 

approach, ensuring that the preferred option has been shaped and approved by clinicians. 

Similarly, clinical leadership must play an integral role in the implementation of the 

reconfiguration. 

7.2.3 Implementation approach 

In transitioning to the new reconfiguration of HBPoS sites, it is proposed that there is a phased 

implementation across London. Sites within the preferred configuration would be geared up to 

deliver the proposed capacity and service before other sites are formally stood down. Key 

protocols can then be phased in, providing an opportunity for systems and resources to 

accommodate new ways of working, prior to formal go-live. The benefits of this approach are set 

out below, along with some risks, which would need to be managed. 

The benefits of a phased implementation are: 

 Implementation risk can be minimised through ensuring that existing infrastructure 
is not decommissioned before the reconfigured infrastructure is ready to 
accommodate new levels of service and new ways of working; 

 In a multi-stakeholder implementation such as this, a phased implementation can 
effectively accommodate variance in readiness of stakeholders to change; 

 The phased approach gives the flexibility to test processes and plans prior to 
formal go-live and provides a possibility to learn lessons from these experiences; 
and 

 This flexible approach allows focus towards those areas/sites which require the 
most significant change as a result of the proposal. 

The risks of a phased implementation are: 

 A phased implementation is likely to incur higher cost of implementation, as there 
will be an element of dual running of resources during the phasing; 

 The process of phasing will likely mean that the implementation process will be 
longer than other alternative models of implementation; and 

 During the phased implementation, there is a risk that sufficient resources are not 
available consistently throughout the course of the process. 

This approach should be tested and verified during implementation planning as more detail is 

developed. Particular attention may be required with regards to how cross boundary flows of 

activity are managed during a phased implementation approach. 

 

 

Page 201



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  136 

 

7.2.4 Requirements pre-implementation 

Consideration needs to be applied to the requirements prior to implementing the reconfiguration 

of HBPoS sites in London. These should be progressed post the submission of this business 

case. 

It is acknowledged that each respective STP should confirm its willingness to embark upon the 

reconfiguration proposed within this business case, subject to more detailed implementation 

planning. The development of detailed implementation planning should be STP led but with full 

engagement and involvement from all key organisational stakeholders involved in the pathway, 

including relevant local authorities, Mental Health and Acute Trusts, the LAS and London’s three 

police forces.  

Whilst due care is required to ensure that the implementation occurs in an effective and safe 

manner, it is also acknowledged that there is an imperative to change the current s136 pathway 

across London. Focus should be applied to ensure that progress is made towards 

implementation at pace for the benefit of London’s service users. 

No definitive view is provided here as to when implementation can take place, as this is very 

much dependent on the individual STP’s requirements and associated readiness for change. 

However, there are a number of considerations that play an integral part in the timeline towards 

implementation and these are summarised below: 

 Detailed implementation planning – implementation plans need to be developed at an 

STP level. These will need to be overseen at a pan-London level to determine synergy 

and coordination between the various plans. These plans need to incorporate a range of 

activities, including estate development requirements, workforce impact assessments, 

communications, capability training, and plans to transition services;  

 Public consultation – it is likely that some areas may be required to publically consult on 

plans prior to progressing towards implementation; 

 Finance and funding approval – due consideration is required towards the requirements 

for funding to support both the transition and operating costs of the reconfigured sites. 

Whilst further details about the specific financial impact across all stakeholders is 

discussed in the Financial Case, the following principles should make up part of the 

implementation planning: 

 Transition Costs – one off transition costs are required to support the 

implementation activities of the reconfiguration. It is proposed that these are 

administered at an STP level. However, some resources will be required at an 

organisational level, especially with respect to resource costs associated with shadow 

operation of services during implementation; 

 Capital Costs – the development of enhanced HBPoS sites require capital 

expenditure to support both increased capacity as well as other refurbishments 

required to bring sites in line with the requirements of the specification. It is 

acknowledged that each STP and those Mental Health Trusts with a requirement to 

develop sites will be doing so from varied bases. Therefore, it is proposed, that as 

part of the STP led implementation planning, Mental Health Trusts, with the support 

Page 202



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  137 

 

of their STPs, develop business cases that detail and substantiate capital 

requirements. This can be supported by the upcoming Department of Health ‘beyond 

places of safety’ capital funding process; and 

 Transformed Pathway Costs – as detailed in the financial case, there may be some 

higher costs of operation for some stakeholders. These costs will need to be factored 

into revenue budgeting for the period post implementation.  

7.2.5 Implementation governance 

Transitioning to the new model of care is a complex task, which needs to be carefully managed 

across a range of stakeholders. To enable effective programme management, a governance 

structure is required which facilitates monitoring and decision making throughout the duration of 

the implementation. 

Some of the key requirements and components for effective implementation programme 

management include: 

 Programme Management Office 

Implementation would be required to be led locally, within existing PMO structures at 

STP level.  The PMO should be tasked with developing and administrating the specific 

implementation plans, as well as maintaining project management assets. The pan-

London oversight will continue to support local implementation, local PMOs should 

ensure a clear path of communication to the pan-London programme, thereby ensuring 

there is clarity over both local and pan-London progress. 

 RACI Matrix 

Due to the complexity of the stakeholder environment within which implementation will 

need to take place, it is proposed that a matrix, defining who should be responsible, 

accountable, consulted and informed should be established and effectively maintained. 

 Change Management 

The complexity of the programme within which there are key stakeholders with conflicting 

priorities, a clear protocol, defining robust escalation policies should be established for 

tracking and enforcing programme change. These protocols and enforcing programme 

change should be co-produced with the local governance structures including key 

stakeholders from across the pathway. 

 Communications Plan 

Since the programme of change involves multiple stakeholders, a detailed system and 

public communication plan must be created to ensure all parties are informed of critical 

decision making. A dedicated team should be in place to communicate relevant 

information to all stakeholders to ensure stakeholders are sign-posted of relevant 

information. 

 

Page 203



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  138 

 

 Risk Management Framework 

With any programme of change of such scale, a dedicated resource and frame work, 

focused on proactive risk identification, management and mitigation, is required. It is not 

enough to identify the risks, but equally important to facilitate mitigation strategies to 

resolve any issues that might arise. 

 Project Performance Reporting 

Given the complexity of the programme within which there are multiple stakeholders, a 

clear reporting mechanism, with clear content for the audience is required. The reporting 

mechanism should be streamlined, with key performance indicators and rhetoric’s tested 

with stakeholders before distribution. 

 Off Target Delivery Mechanism 

No matter the amount of planning, there are likely to be unseen obstacles that will risk 

the delivery of this programme. In such instances, an agreed protocol to mitigate off 

target delivery should be in place. This should be agreed and tested with local 

governance structures and clear escalation procedures should be in place when such 

protocols are to be enforced. 

7.2.6 Benefits management 

Benefits management allows a structured approach towards achieving outcomes as a result of 

change, and involves identifying, planning, measuring and tracking benefits from the start of the 

programme until realisation of the final desired objective.  

A clear approach toward benefits realisation will help ensure maximum value is driven from 

implementing the s136 pathway and should be incorporated into further work undertaken 

towards implementation. A proposed summary of the benefits management approach is 

provided in figure 34 below. 

Figure 35: Benefits management approach 

 

Identify 
benefits 

Develop 

benefits 
realisation 

plan 

Execute the 
plan 

Review and 
evaluate the 

plan 

Page 204



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  139 

 

Identify Benefits – the identification of benefits should draw from those proposed in the 

Economic Case. A means through which these can be appraised and measured should be 

established. The degree to which various stakeholders are able to influence and drive these 

benefits should also be established across the system. 

Develop benefits realisation plan – having determined where influence and accountability lies 

for the various benefits, detailed planning should establish milestones and schedules for these 

benefits that considers the dependencies on the achievement of these benefits. This plan should 

be agile and should evolve as implementation progresses. 

Execute the plan – the benefits realisation plan should be executed, with management of the 

plan being led by the implementation PMO and subsequently transferred into the post-

implementation governance framework. 

Review and evaluate the plan – at a reasonable point, it is considered good practice to review 

the progress made against the plan and share achievements as well as lessons learnt. It is 

recommended that this is undertaken as part of the post-implementation governance framework. 

7.2.7 Risks and mitigations 

Effective risk management is an integral element of the programme to implement the s136 

pathway and reconfigure HBPoS sites. This will help to mitigate against any potential internal or 

external threats to successful delivery of the strategic objectives. 

Identifying risks 

Risks should be identified at both a local and system wide level, effectively logged and 

discussed as part of a standing agenda item during implementation and post-implementation 

governance forums. 

Monitoring and reporting 

A standardised risk register should be utilised to monitor and report risks. This should effectively 

track the probability and impact of risks both pre and post mitigation as well as identifying a risk 

owner. 

The risk assessment utilises a four tiered matrix assessing likelihood and impact of any 

proposed risk, as follows: 

Likelihood 

1. Low – the event is highly unlikely to occur 

2. Medium – the event is likely to occur 

3. High – the event is highly likely to occur 

4. Very High – the event is almost certain to occur 

Impact  

1. Low – the event will have minimal impact on the programme’s plans or objectives 

Page 205



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  140 

 

2. Medium – the event will have a reasonable impact on the programme’s plans or 

objectives 

3. High – the event will have a large impact on the programme’s plans or objectives 

4. Very high – the event will have a catastrophic impact on the programme’s plans or 

objectives 

Consideration of risks have been summarised in Table 55. 

Table 55: Implementation risks 

R
e

f Risk 
L

ik
e

li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c

t 

R
a

ti
n

g
 

Mitigation 

1 Diversion from implementation plan 

The required implementation is a 

complex multi-stakeholder undertaking 

and milestones or timelines may be 

missed. 

3 3 9 A detailed implementation plan 

needs to be shared and signed 

up to by all responsible 

stakeholders. Furthermore, a 

clear off-target delivery plan 

needs to be established to 

provide clear direction as to 

how stakeholders should react 

should a milestone is missed, 

thereby minimising the impact 

on overall programme 

objectives. 

2 Lack of buy-in, scepticism and 

resistance to change 

The required implementation of 

consolidated HBPoS sites will likely be 

a long process and therefore a degree 

of change fatigue is likely. Furthermore, 

challenges are likely to emerge which 

may lead to change resistance. 

4 2 8 Engagement should be 

monitored throughout 

implementation in the form of 

surveys to track any degree of 

change fatigue and/or 

resistance. The overarching 

vision of what is attempting to 

be achieved should also be at 

the forefront of any work 

associated with the change. 

3 Impact on broader health and crisis 

care services 

A number of the proposed benefits rely 

on broader care services to be 

achievable. A number of the benefits 

may not be realised if broader 

resources are not sufficiently prepared 

to support this change. 

2 3 6 As part of implementation 

planning, it is recommended 

that readiness checks are 

undertaken across all services 

that may be impacted by the 

proposed change. These 

include LAS, Emergency 

Departments AMHP services 

and mental health inpatient 

wards. 

Page 206



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  141 

 

4 The requirement for formal new 

ways of working 

The consolidation will require a number 

of new ways of working which will 

require formal agreement prior to 

implementation. Should these new 

ways of working not be established it 

may result in benefits not being 

effectively realised or service quality 

issues emerging. 

2 4 8 Clarity over the protocols and 

processes that require new 

ways of working should be 

established and stakeholders 

required to come to agreement 

identified. Formal agreement 

should be seen as a key 

dependency prior to go-live. 

5 Availability of funds 

This proposal is reliant on capital 

investment which will enable sufficient 

capacity at each of the selected HBPoS 

sites. However, there is a risk that 

funds may not be made available for 

one or more of London’s STPs 

2 4 8 Sufficient engagement across 

partners to ensure sufficient 

funding is allocated to the 

model and clarity over the 

expected benefits and any cost 

savings from implementation 

of the new model. 

6 Staff recruitment issues 

Given the scale of recruitment that may 

be required in the consolidated model, 

it may be challenging to attract and 

retain staff during the implementation 

period.  

 

3 3 9 In line with national priorities, 

funding needs to be made 

available to recruit staff for 

mental health services. Staff 

engagement and recruitment 

plan to be developed. 

Figure 35 below illustrates these primary risks based on the ratings in the table above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 207



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  142 

 

Figure 35: Implementation risks 

 

 

[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] [CELLRANGE] 

0

1

2

3

4

0 1 2 3 4

Im
p

ac
t 

Likelihood 

Staff recruitment 
issues 

Page 208



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  143 

 

7.3 Post implementation 

7.3.1 Overview 

During the planning and implementation stages for the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites, it is 

necessary to consider the future governance model to ensure that the appropriate structures and 

decision making units are established and maintained. In addition, a post programme evaluation 

should be carried out to ensure that objectives are delivered and lessons are learned for service 

transformation and investments. 

7.3.2 Post implementation governance 

The future governance of the pan-London s136 model of care should draw from existing 

governance and best practice principles from other health services. Such governance should be 

embedded within broader crisis care governance arrangements to enable system wide 

oversight. Whilst it is noted that London’s Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) Networks are 

established in different forms across London, it is proposed that they have collective oversight 

for the equitable provision of care across this pathway. 

Principles for governance 

Decisions for the programme following implementation should be driven through business as 

usual commissioning arrangements wherever possible, and should be built on the current 

arrangements to manage this process.  

The proposed principles for governance should include: 

 Sufficient representation from the breadth of stakeholders involved in the s136 pathway; 

 Effective alignment with broader crisis care governance arrangements; 

 A balance of pan-London system oversight with focused local decision making; 

 Clear lines of accountability and escalation; and 

 A decision making framework effectively supplied with accurate, relevant and timely data. 

Proposed governance – multi-agency group 

A local multi-agency group led by the provider trust providing the HBPoS site should exist and 

should be overseen by the respective UEC network. Each group should be positioned within the 

local governance system and have appropriate representation to ensure that there is adequate 

oversight and accountability. 

The multi-agency group must be attended by senior representatives from the HBPoS, local 

Emergency Departments, other Mental Health Trusts in the STP, AMHPs, the Police, LAS and 

Healthwatch (or other patient representatives). The group should ensure membership represents 

all ages. 

The group should perform the following roles: 

 Measure and analyse current performance at the HBPoS; 

 The continuation of the implementation benefits realisation process, ensuring that 

activities are focused on achieving the proposed benefits of reconfiguration; 

Page 209



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  144 

 

 Understand the contact those detained under s136 have had with mental health services 

previously and what alternative pathways or interventions could have been applied to 

prevent the use of s136; 

 Discuss specific case studies where issues have occurred across the pathway to ensure 

learning across the system from these specific cases; 

 Facilitate training initiatives on local policies and protocols which include key partners 

and local Acute trusts; 

 Network with other local multiagency groups across London to ensure consistency of 

service across the s136 pathway; and 

 Ensure the Directory of Services is regularly updated showing the accurate up-to-date 

information regarding the HBPoS. 

 Furthermore, the requirement for pan-London oversight is necessary and will be 

supported through the implementation of the NHSE (London region) compact. 

7.3.3 Governance benefits 

Significant benefits may be derived through the establishment of an effective post-

implementation s136/HBPoS governance framework. A number of the issues identified in the 

implementation process could be mitigated through the establishment of such a framework. 

Such benefits include: 

 Effective asset utilisation – ensuring that London’s resources and infrastructure are 

utilised in the most effective manner possible in the provision of care; 

 Consistency of service – facilitating a consistently high quality service for those detained 

under s136, regardless of where that service is being delivered in London; 

 Proactive risk mitigation – ensuring that data is effectively utilised to support the analysis 

of trends and activity to allow the system to proactively mitigate risks; and 

 Driving best practice – using the framework to identify best practice and drive such 

performance across London. 

7.3.4 Post programme evaluation 

It is recommended that post implementation, an evaluation is undertaken to determine how 

effectively the programme has achieved its objectives. This should consider the original 

objectives of the HBPoS consolidation and the primary issues that the programme was intended 

to address. Evaluation requires measurable outcomes that can be compared against 

benchmarks that are distilled from the original objectives. It is therefore proposed that an 

evaluation framework is developed around the objectives below and is utilised to evaluate 

programme performance. 

 

 

Page 210



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  145 

 

Objective 1: Enable the improvement in patient outcomes and experience  

Has the programme improved patient outcomes and experience for those detained under s136? 

Consideration should be applied to the degree to which the consolidation has impacted patient 

outcomes and experience and whether these have been in anyway negatively impacted during 

implementation. 

Objective 2: Facilitate access to 24/7 services 

Has the programme facilitated access to 24/7 services consistently across London and in 

manner which has long term viability from a financial and workforce perspective? 

Objective 3: Concentrate staff expertise to enable a service suitable to patient needs 

Has the programme established a concentration of staff expertise and can it be demonstrated 

that these capabilities are delivering the services that patients require? 

Objective 4: Deliver value for money 

Has the implementation and consolidation of sites utilised public funds in an efficient and 

effective manner? This should take account of both transitionary costs, capital costs and 

business as usual direct and indirect operational costs. 

Objective 5: Ensure synergy with the wider crisis care system 

Can it be demonstrated that the programme and associated consolidation of sites has benefitted 

the wider crisis care system and moreover can it be demonstrated that the s136 pathway has 

derived benefit through greater synergies with the wider crisis care system? 

In order to evaluate the impact of the programme at a pan-London level, appropriate key 

performance indicators (KPIs) would need to be established and agreed upon by stakeholders 

across all five London STPs, LAS and the Police.  

Possible KPIs could include: 

 Proportion of MHA assessments resulting in involuntary admission, voluntary admission 

and discharge with or without community follow-up; 

 Occasions per month when capacity constraints resulted in ED admission; 

 Number of closures of HBPoS sites per month; 

 Number of sites with 24/7 staffing; 

 Number of occasions per month when time from detention to admission to HBPoS 

exceeded x minutes; and 

 Percentage of s136 patients attending ED for a physical health reason; 

 Percentage of place of safety detention periods exceeding 24 hours, without valid clinical 

reason for extension.  

Page 211



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  146 

 

8 Commercial case 
This section sets out the commercial strategy for the consolidation of HBPoS sites. It considers 

how procurement and contract management will be managed for any capital investment 

requirements associated with the preferred option. 

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Commercial strategy 

 Synergy with wider crisis care system 

 

The new model of care and reconfiguring HBPoS sites across London is the most 
effective option to address current issues across the s136 pathway.  

The new model will bring sustainable improvements and lasting benefits for patients, 
whilst in the medium to long term resulting in a local health economy that is both clinically 
and financially sustainable, delivering improved access, with 24/7 services and patient 
improved outcomes and provision of care. 

The reconfiguration will present an opportunity for broader transformation of the 
crisis care system, including a range of services; a robust commercial process is 
therefore required.  

► With the complex network of stakeholders involved in the reconfiguration, 
oversight of the commercial process is critical to the success of the new model of 
care 

► Whilst it is early in the process to establish the exact service requirements, the 
expectation is that services will be required for construction, programme 
support/implementation, recruitment and training 

► A commercial strategy supporting the reconfiguration will be developed in 
conjunction with proposed transformation plans on a STP basis 

Page 212



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  147 

 

8.1 Commercial strategy 

8.1.1 Overview 

This section sets out the initial plans for procuring and contracting services related to the 

implementation of the new model of care and HBPoS site reconfiguration. Specifically, it sets out 

how the transition programme and capital requirements can be delivered in a manner which is 

timely, cost effective and in accordance with NHS standards. 

The requirement to develop a robust commercial strategy is particularly important for this project 

due to the breadth of stakeholders involved in the transformation to the new model of care. As 

noted in the management case, the implementation of the project will require coordination and 

leadership across London’s STPs. Due to the complex network of stakeholders, oversight of the 

commercial and management processes will be critical to the success of the consolidation.  

8.1.2 Required services 

At this early stage in the transformation process, it is difficult to predict the level of services 

required to deliver a pan-London model of care. Nevertheless, we can expect that the NHS and 

local partners will need to go to market in order to deliver the capital requirements at the reduced 

number of sites. In addition, the regional NHS organisations and HLP will need to provide 

additional ad-hoc support and expertise to support local partners in the implementation phase of 

the programme. The expected services required at this stage are as follows: 

• Construction: Where required, additional facilities at HBPoS sites will need to be 

constructed in order to manage increased capacity; 

• Commissioning: The NHS and local partners will require support with tasks undertaken 

to prepare the new environment, including the buildings and equipment and all training, 

testing and orientation activities for staff;  

• Programme support: This will be required to ensure that the consolidation is suitably 

funded, resourced and established in order to deliver the strategic objectives; and 

• Recruitment and training: Development of recruitment and training plans that enables 

the workforce to deliver the new model of care. 

In addition to these services, there will be a need to consider existing contracting arrangements 

and to recognise any implications for tariffs as a result of the proposal. With regard to the 

existing format of contractual arrangements, transformation of this nature provides an 

opportunity to review and refine commissioning frameworks, potentially exploring alternatives to 

arrangements such as block contracts. 

  

Page 213



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  148 

 

8.1.3 Procurement strategy 

The approach for procuring services for the consolidation of HBPoS sites need to ensure that 

the following objectives are met: 

• Deliver upon the end-user needs: It is essential the end-user requirement is initially 

mapped with procurement aligned to users’ need and thereby, ensuring the procurement 

delivers to the end-user specification; 

• Provide optimum value for money: Qualified suppliers will be assessed on overall 

value for money. This will enable public money to be optimally spent to improve the 

quality and services purchased and help deliver more responsive, flexible and affordable 

services across London; 

• Be managed and governed in an open and transparent manner: To be managed and 

governed in an open and transparent manner is a prerequisite for an effective 

procurement. As the foundation, it determines the ability to provide public services and 

foster competitiveness and fairness; 

• Consider the planning and timing of procurement: Procurement planning is 

important, it helps to decide what to buy, when and from what sources. It also ensures 

that planners can estimate the time required to complete the procurement process and 

flush out the requirement to develop the technical specification or scope of requirement. 

Furthermore, it also helps assess the feasibility of combining or dividing procurement 

requirements into different contract packages; 

• Properly allocate and manage risk: Project risks should be dealt with openly from the 

outset of the project and all stakeholders involved should be encouraged to take an 

active role in identifying, mitigating and apportioning risk to the party best suited to deal 

with it; 

• Ensure equality of access to qualified suppliers: To implement the preferred option, 

contracts worth many millions of pounds will be required for buying goods and services. 

Therefore, the services provided should be geared to ensure equality of access to 

qualified suppliers. This will improve the overall value for money for the goods and 

services purchased, improve the quality and responsiveness of the services and help 

ensure the public money is not spent on practices which lead to unfair discrimination. 

This can be achieved by establishing mechanisms for monitoring contractor’s adherence 

to equality standards approved by the board; and 

• Comply with applicable Government Guidelines and EU Procurement legislation: 

Procurement for wider public sector bodies such as health and local government is 

subject to the public contract regulations. These rules include requirements such as 

advertising all public contracts below the EU thresholds. It is important that procurement 

complies with relevant government guidelines and EU procurement legislation where 

applicable. 

Page 214



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  149 

 

8.2 Synergy with the wider crisis care system 

8.2.1 Overview 

The new model of care, consolidating HBPoS sites across London, presents an opportunity for 

broader transformation of the crisis care system. The s136 pathway does not operate in isolation 

and its effectiveness, patient outcomes and the demand placed upon it are dependent, and in 

turn impact on, on many other elements of the health and social care system. 

A commercial strategy which supports site consolidation should be developed in conjunction with 

proposed transformation plans on a per STP basis. In particular, this should consider: 

 Joint investment – the business case proposes the establishment of a ‘combined’ 9 site 

model, highlighting the potential for the development of broader plans that consider 

investment in crisis care centres. Such an approach is of great importance given the 

pressure to Emergency Departments and mental health inpatient provision. To resolve 

the issue of service demand pressures, it is critical to establish alternatives to Emergency 

Departments and inpatient admission through wider recovery-based models. An 

enhanced mental health pathway means Trusts have to review their existing services 

and care pathways, but it also requires additional investment in new and innovative 

services that will better support people in the community as alternatives to purchasing 

more acute beds. There are various innovative services that will better support the crisis 

care: 

o Psychiatric Decision Unit: These units provide interim mental health care and 

assessment for patients referred from within acute hospital liaison psychiatry 

services, crisis resolution home treatment teams (CRHTT) and from mental health 

street triage. They aim to prevent long waits in EDs and provide an alternative, 

calm and safe environment for patients who require a mental health assessment. 

The units provide a dedicated 24 hour service with the ability to assess patients 

for up to 72 hours (24 hours for those detained under s136) with the ultimate aim 

of supporting the patient back home with an enhanced community package of 

care and avoiding admission where possible. 

o Integrated out-of-hours hub/ Street triage: The principle of these services is to 

undertake informed needs-led assessments that enable more people in crisis to 

be supported in community settings. Traditionally, this is particularly challenging 

outside of normal working hours, when Crisis and Home Treatment Teams often 

do not have the capacity to assess in people in their home environment. When 

assessments take place in Emergency Departments often clinicians are left with 

limited choices, typically to either to send the person home or to admit them. This 

is not offering the best quality experience to the service user and furthermore 

admissions add additional cost pressures to the system. Investment in integrated 

out-of-hour/ street triage services is therefore important for the combined model 

to be effective and for consistent service provision across London. 

 Shared infrastructure – Whilst analysis has been undertaken which aims to minimise, 

where possible, the capital investment needed to support the consolidation, 

consideration should still be given to where the requirements can be served by existing 

Page 215



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  150 

 

infrastructure. Similarly, to achieve greater value for money, where infrastructure 

investment can be undertaken that can be utilised across a greater array of services, this 

should be prioritised. An example of this could be a shared model of transportation for 

mental health patients, where a service for only those who have been detained under 

s136 would not be feasible. The aim would be to provide eligible patients with safe, 

timely and comfortable NHS funded transport, for example through transport to, from and 

between healthcare services and transport to place of residence after inpatient or HBPoS 

admission. 

 System wide data analysis – the standardisation of the s136 pathway will provide a 

foundation for more effective data analysis. The approach needed would be to establish 

across the crisis care system consistent data capture mechanisms, system requirements, 

data flow information governance and shared KPIs. A patient level, outcome based data 

set which delivers robust, comprehensive, regionally consistent and comparable 

information for children, young people and adults who are in contact with Mental Health 

Services would also be required. It may also be possible to use clinical and operational 

data for purposes other than direct patient care. Although there is data available in 

MHSDS which brings together key information from adult and children's mental health, 

learning disabilities, autism spectrum disorder, CYP-IAPT and the early intervention care 

pathway, there are gaps still gaps in the dataset, such as the absence of  detailed 

breakdown of s136 care pathway.  

 Working with non-NHS partners - Police, local authorities and the voluntary sector all 

have important roles across the crisis care pathway and opportunities should be sought 

to work in partnership with non-NHS partners to improve the experience and outcomes of 

crisis care patients.  One particular partnership that demonstrates the potential impact of 

developing relationships and joint services is the Serenity Integrated Mentoring High 

Intensity Network Model. This model sees mental health nurses work with Police officers 

to provide mentoring model based support those who are at high risk of frequent s136 

detentions. Implementation of this programme on the Isle of Wight has led to a significant 

reduction in s136 detentions and there are currently plans for implementation across 

London. 

  

Page 216



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  151 

 

9 Workforce case 
This section highlights the existing workforce issues in the crisis care system and describes how 

these will be addressed by the reconfiguration of HBPoS sites. It discusses the workforce model 

that will be implemented as part of the preferred option and outlines the potential impact on key 

stakeholders.  

This chapter is structured as follows:  

 Current staffing arrangements 

 Future staffing arrangements 

 

 

 

Very few London HBPoS sites have dedicated trained staff and staffing levels are minimal 

out of hours; this is despite over 75% of s136 detentions occurring outside of regular 

working hours. Key components of the workforce model are:   

► Providing adequate, dedicated staffing 24/7 teams that are suitably skilled in 
both mental and physical health at all HBPoS sites is expected to significantly 
improve patient experience and outcomes, staff experience and reduce cost 
pressures currently experienced from having to pull staff of inpatient wards.  

► Two dedicated specialty workforce models have been proposed: a combined 
staffing model where the HBPoS is co-located with a crisis assessment unit or 
Psychiatric Decision Unit (as seen at South West London St. Georges Mental 
Health Trust), and a stand-alone workforce model (as seen at SLAM) 

► Three possible options have been identified to deliver AMHP services 
following the reconfiguration of sites learning from different models across London; 
however, a more rigorous assessment is required to ensure challenges 
encountered by AMHPs are addressed and an efficient model is created. 

► Greater transparency is needed to ensure appropriate training standards have 
been met in relation to independent s12 doctors and improved payment and 
administration protocols. 

► The future operating model is expected to minimise the number of ED 
presentations due to capacity issues and improved physical healthcare provision 
in the HBPoS sites, both of which will reduce the strain currently experienced by 
London’s Emergency Departments. 

► Development of a clear strategic direction and purpose will facilitate 
transformation of the workforce model as well as a robust workforce strategy that 
includes staff engagement throughout implementation, robust workforce planning 
including network approaches across STPs, values based management and 
leadership and consistent London standards. 

Page 217



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  152 

 

9.1 Current staffing arrangements 

9.1.1 Overview 

The s136 pathway is complex in nature, engaging multiple stakeholders across the health and 

social care system and beyond. As a result, a variety of public service staff will be impacted by 

the new model of care and HBPoS reconfiguration.  

For many of those detained under s136, an HBPoS site will be their first experience of a mental 

health facility. Even for individuals who have used mental health services for some time, by the 

very nature of being detained under s136, the person is likely to be in acute distress. It is 

important, therefore, that the person’s experience at the HBPoS is welcoming and caring.   

While the infrastructure and operations along the s136 pathway are important factors in ensuring 

high quality of care, the mental health services provided are ultimately an interaction between 

people. For that reason, the proposed workforce at an HBPoS site is a critical consideration.  

This section outlines the existing staffing arrangements along the s136 pathway. It discusses the 

issues with the workforce model and its implications for patients, staff and the wider system.  

9.1.2 Conveyance staff 

At present, there are a number of issues faced by the staff responsible for conveying those 

detained under s136 to an HBPoS site. These can be categorised into two broad areas: 

 Delays in accessing HBPoS facilities; and 

 The interface between conveyance staff and the NHS secondary care trust staff. 

Delays in accessing HBPoS facilities 

Box 10 provides an example from the MET escalation log which illustrates the type of delays 

which police face in the s136 pathway. 

Box 10: HBPoS access issues 

 

Instances where a patient is waiting in the back of a police van or ambulance due to 

unavailability of beds are not an uncommon in the current model.  

  

“Subject was arrested 0725 hours and taken to ED as she is 9 weeks pregnant and has 

attempted suicide by tying something round her neck.  She has been medically cleared at 

1230 hours and arrived at custody 1243 hours. Assessment has taken place 0126 on 7th 

March and an unacceptable delay on finding a bed has occurred, 1325 hours escalation has 

been sent to Central Mental Health Team. informed me that a bed had been located.  

However due to long wait subject has become suicidal and started to pull out her hair and has 

been taken back to ED.” 

Page 218



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  153 

 

Interface between the conveyances staff and the NHS staff within EDs and Mental 

Health Trusts 

The interface between the conveyance staff (police and LAS) and the NHS staff within EDs and 

Mental Health Trusts has also proved to be a challenge in the past. There are multiple instances 

where communication has broken down due to unclear standard operating procedures, lack of 

understanding of roles and responsibilities for each party and unclear escalation procedures. 

This leads, in some cases, to the conveyance staff taking patients to the closest ED as a default, 

even in the absence of any physical health concerns. 

Box 11: Staff communication issues 

 

9.1.3 HBPoS staffing 

At present, staffing arrangements across London’s HBPoS sites vary significantly. In particular, 

two issues have been identified in London’s HBPoS workforce model: 

 Non-dedicated staffing; and 

 Variability in the s136 experience levels and skills of the HBPoS staff across London. 

Both of these issues can have harmful impacts on patients and other stakeholders within the 

mental health care system and are discussed in turn below. 

Non-dedicated staffing 

At present, there are no dedicated staff at the majority of London’s HBPoS sites other than a 

staff coordinator. The clinical staff who are called upon to assess patients, work within a rota 

system during normal office hours, with the majority of the staff being pulled from wards.  

This lack of immediate availability can have significant consequences in terms of access to care, 

waiting times and the length of stay at the HBPoS. For example, a lack of dedicated staffing may 

mean that the doctor making the initial assessment is delayed due to responsibilities elsewhere, 

or patients may be required to wait in ambulances or police cars for staff to be sourced from 

other wards to staff the site. A reduction of staffing in other areas of the trust could reduce the 

level of care on those clinical areas affected. 

When health based places of safety are unavailable due to staffing shortages, the police need to 

wait until one becomes available or take the person to an ED. Each of these responses is 

unacceptable as they result in the patient being detained in an environment which is highly 

unsuitable for their needs during a time of acute crisis.  

“There was no s136 suite available across [the HBPoS] or neighbouring Trusts. After 2 hours 

in the van and no sign of an s136 suite becoming available, the subject was taken to custody 

suite” 

“Police detain the male under S136 MHA and attend ED for physical health clearance.  

Officers are told by a nurse that there is a bed at [HBPoS] reserved for him.  Officers attend 

the HBPoS with the male but are met by a nurse who states that there are no beds available” 

Page 219



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  154 

 

For each individual detained under s136, the goal is to have a mental health assessment 

concluded as quickly as is practicable, in order to minimise delays in the initiation of a care or 

treatment plan. There are often clinical reasons why this cannot be achieved, such as the 

complexity of individual’s clinical presentation, intoxication or language barriers. However, the 

availability of staff is a major factor increasing the length of stay in some cases.  

Variability in staffing levels & skill-mix 

Depending upon the clinical presentation of s136 patients, support staff may be required from 

other wards. However, at times when wards are very busy it may not always be possible for the 

appropriately skilled staff member to be released in a timely manner to provide a service at the 

place of safety. As a result, patients may receive differing levels of service and quality depending 

on factors which are outside of the HBPoS site’s control, such as the timing of detention and the 

activity of the inpatient wards. In particular, there may not be staff available who have the 

physical health competencies to provide holistic care and avoid unnecessary transfers to EDs.  

In addition, a number of issues with staff training at HBPoS sites have been identified by the 

Care Quality Commission. For example, a third of nursing and medical staff interviewed in 

England received training ‘on the job’ rather than before they started working at the HBPoS. As a 

result, patients may be seen by staff who are not suitably trained. 

Box 12: Benefits of a dedicated team 

 

9.1.4 AMHP services 

AMHPs are responsible for organising and co-ordinating Mental Health Act assessments for 

individuals detained under s136.  

When medical recommendations are made to admit the patient to hospital under a section of the 

Mental Health Act, the AMHP must decide whether to make an application for the patient to be 

detained. This involves a consideration of the individual’s social circumstances and a liaison with 

the patient’s family and ‘nearest relative’.  

Crucially, AMHPs apply the ‘least restrictive alternative’ in deciding whether or not to proceed 

with an application under the Act. This means that the AMHP should have knowledge of local 

available resources which could possibly be deployed to avoid a compulsory admission to 

hospital.  

The current AMHP arrangements across London’s boroughs are varied, as each borough has its 

own AMHP duty service in their respective local authority area.  

“[Before the centralised site] you’d go there on a rota, and you’d literally just sit there. Sometimes you’d 

have two external staff plus the coordinator doing the admin stuff, and rarely you’d see them actually 

interacting with the patients, they were more like bodyguards. But now you’ve got more consistency – staff 

used to be changing every hour, a new face every hour – but now, they’ve got a whole ward and we’re 

there for the whole shift and they have an allocated nurse who’s always available to speak to them.”  

HBPoS Nurse, SLAM 2017 

Page 220



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  155 

 

Out of hours AMHP availability: The office hours are 9 to 5pm, Monday to Friday. Outside of 

these hours during weekdays and weekends, requests for Mental Health Act assessments are 

sometimes dealt with by the Emergency Duty team (EDT)92. They are often staffed by one EDT 

social worker (usually an AMHP) but do not have capacity to travel outside of their own borough 

area to respond to Mental Health Act assessments out of their borough boundary.  

Box 13: Lack of out of hour AMHP resource 

 

Issue with out-of-borough protocols: There is a current protocol in place across the AMHP 

services which states that assessments on patients who present in their local authority area will 

be assessed by that AMHP duty team on behalf of the local authority. For patients who are 

assessed under s136 and then further detained on a section 2, the 'host' duty AMHP will do the 

section  2 assessment on behalf of the other local authority. However, if a section 3 is indicated, 

the 'host' AMHP will not do the assessment as the home borough will retain aftercare 

responsibility under section 117. The AMHP from the home borough is then required to travel to 

do the section 3 assessment, which can cause a significant increase in the patients’ length of 

stay.93 

9.1.5 S12 doctor 

The use of an s12 doctor is integral to the s136 pathway. The independent s12 doctor provides 

an independent judgement alongside the AMHP to evaluate if the person detained requires an 

admission to an inpatient ward. With such a critical role, there are no standardised processes for 

recruiting or supervising s12 doctors and there are issues of availability. In addition, there can be 

significant difficulties associated with the administration requirements related to s12 doctors.  

Invoices are usually paper-based and directed to the service lines, while claims are made in 

bulk. Furthermore, as illustrated in Box 14 below, there are observed inconsistencies in payment 

protocols for the s12 doctor when patients are out-of-borough. Variability in s12 doctor skills and 

expertise has been expressed; this is despite applications for s12 approval in the London region 

being overseen by one approval panel94. 

Box 14: Unclear s12 payment protocols 

 

Potential delays to s12 doctor services adds to the existing supply side issues in providing staff 

to care for those detained under s136. 

 

                                                
92

 EDTs are not mental health specific services and provide a generic emergency response for the local authority 

covering children’s and adult services which include: older people, learning and physical disability and mental health 

services.  
93

 This is a generalisation and this protocol changes for each STP. 
94

  London Region approval panel Section 12(2) Mental Health Act 1983. Royal College of Psychiatrists. 
Available at: http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/workinpsychiatry/divisions/london/resources/section12.aspx 

Arrived in custody at 0600 and placed on constant watch and AMHP services called.  AMHP 

states that it will be passed to day shift.  Chased later and no AMHP on route. 

Resident of [X] but in [Y] custody.  Delay in doing assessment as X refused to pay and s12 

Doctors not prepared to come out until a trust agrees who is paying for the assessment. 

Page 221



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  156 

 

 

9.1.6 Emergency Department staff 

Under current protocols, EDs are used when a patient is in need of physical care. However, in 

addition to these ED attendances, patients are also being transferred to the ED due to lack of 

capacity at HBPoS sites.  

Each presentation to the Emergency Department for a non-clinically appropriate reason puts 

unnecessary additional strain on the department. In addition, a number of operational 

inefficiencies can add to the burden: 

 A lack of knowledge of roles and responsibilities within the pathway and understanding of 
the Mental Health Act and Capacity Act means care is variable and disagreements can 
occur between all professionals in the pathway; 
 

 Difficulties in managing s136 patients in the department whilst the department is full, 
leading to stress on staff and other patients; 

 

 The transfer of physical health care documentation from Emergency Departments to 

mental health trusts is not standardised; and 

 The responsibility for deciding on whether there are safeguarding concerns is often 

unclear. 

Page 222



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  157 

 

9.2 Future staffing arrangements 

9.2.1 Overview 

The reconfiguration of HBPoS sites from the current model to the consolidated model will 

coincide with a transformation of the workforce delivering mental health services along the s136 

pathway. Under the new model, 24/7 specialist services will be concentrated at the HBPoS sites. 

To ensure the best possible outcomes at these centres, an appropriate workforce model will be 

required which organises staff and establishes work practices according to patients’ needs. 

To facilitate this transformation of the workforce model, it’s important to develop: 

 Clear strategic direction and purpose so that staff at all levels understand their role in 

helping those during a mental health crisis; 

 Genuine staff engagement and involvement in all aspects of the pathway, ensuring 

that staff members are listened to and feel involved in transforming and innovating 

their area of work for the benefit of patients; 

 Improved planning of staffing requirements to ensure that the trusts attract, recruit and 

retain the appropriate number of staff to meet future needs; 

 Good values based on management and leadership – this involves recognition and 

appreciation for a job well done, with everyone feeling valued for their contribution; 

and 

 Improved approaches to communication to ensure that information can be exchanged 

more easily across the wide range if stakeholders in the system. 

There are a number of guiding principles at the heart of ensuring that staff are recognised, 

involved and engaged in order to deliver the best service to those in need. These principles of 

patient centred care include: 

 Delivering robust services that provide the best possible experiences for patients, their 

families and carers; 

 Supporting staff to raise concerns that they may have regarding poor care, safety 

concerns and morale; 

 Developing workforce to realise their full potential through the provision of learning 

opportunities for staff at every level and suitable clinical supervision; 

 Understanding the work performed by staff so that high quality and safe care are 

consistently provided to patients; and 

 Always seeking to support staff health and wellbeing. 

Noting the above principles, according to the s136 specification document, there are key criteria 

that the future workforce model needs to meet. A number of key points related to the proposed 

workforce model are: 

Page 223



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  158 

 

 Every Health Based Place of Safety should have a designated s136 coordinator available 

24/7,  who is assigned to the site at all times and is the most senior person in the Health 

Based Place of Safety team at any one time (recommended no less than a Band 6 

nurse); 

 Sufficient staff should be trained in this role to ensure reliable availability, with 

contingency in place for accommodating sickness and annual leave; and 

 Dedicated staff must be available 24/7 to ensure staff members do not come off inpatient 

wards. Similarly, if the Health Based Place of Safety is co-located with an Emergency 

Department there must be adequate staff available to ensure that the unit does not have 

to rely on members of the liaison psychiatry team to fulfil this role in addition to other 

demands. The dedicated staff group should be developed to form a specialist team 

providing speedy and expert assessment of those detained under section 136. 

The remainder of this section outlines the proposed staffing arrangements under the new model 

along the steps of the s136 pathway. 

9.2.2 Conveyance Staff 

Through improving the capacity at each individual site within the consolidated model, and a 

decreased need for site closure due to staffing issues, the number of incidents where further 

conveyance is required due to arrival at a site which is at capacity, will decrease. In addition, 

standardised procedures, for example clarification regarding responsibility for locating capacity 

at other HBPoS sites, are aimed at reducing variation along the pathway will help conveyance 

staff to navigate the mental health crisis care system. 

Both of these improvements, together with improved administration and communication 

protocols, will enable both police and LAS staff to convey the patient to the right setting first time, 

every time. LAS paramedics are vitally important at the conveyance stage in order to make an 

initial physical health assessment that allows the correct decision to be made regarding the 

appropriate place of care (ED vs. HBPoS). Conveyance in an ambulance, as opposed to a 

police care is also important for patient dignity. 

9.2.3 HBPoS staff 

To support this specification, two staffing models have been considered during the options 

appraisal process: 

 Stand Alone model (as seen at South London and Maudsley Mental Health Trust) 

 Combined model model with HBPoS and PDU (e.g. Psychiatric Decision Unit, seen at 

South West London St. Georges Mental Health Trust) 

In both models, the creation of a dedicated team of staff is expected to have significant benefits 

through addressing some of the challenges related to access and care quality: 

 Allows relationships to be built between team members, and with other professionals in 

the s136 pathway including LAS, police, ED staff and AMHPs; improved collaboration 

will benefit patient care and staff wellbeing.  

Page 224



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  159 

 

 Staff are no longer brought from other clinical areas to staff the unit: this reduces delays 

in accepting patients and prevents impacts of reduced staff numbers being felt on staff 

and patients in other clinical areas. 

 A dedicated team can undergo specific training to develop specialised skills in the care 

of s136 patients. This benefits both staff development and patient care. 

 The dedicated team can also be trained in physical health competencies that can 

provide patients with more holistic care, improve identification of non-psychiatry 

presentations and reduce the need for transfer to ED for minor physical health needs or 

‘medical clearance’. 

 Through the benefits above, working as part of an HBPoS team becomes an attractive 

career option for clinicians, thereby promoting recruitment and retention.   

Overall, the introduction of dedicated 24/7 staffing as part of the reconfiguration of the HBPoS 

sites will facilitate improved quality of assessments and resulting patient outcomes. The 

dedicated team will be able to work more closely with patients to understand their needs and 

identify the best course of action, with any plans developed handed over to the next team 

member on shift.  

At SLAM’s centralised place of safety, which has piloted the new s136 model of care for London, 

the rate of admission has fallen by 13% following implementation of the new model. This has 

been attributed in large part to improved practice following the introduction of the dedicated staff 

team, together with a close working with the Trust’s Acute Referral Centre. A further important 

impact of dedicated staffing is that on downstream inpatient wards. When staff are brought in 

from other areas to staff the s136 suite, a reduction in staff in those clinical areas will impact on 

quality of care for patients there, which will likely effect patient experience and outcomes. 

Standalone model 

Each HBPoS in the new configuration will have sufficient demand to require a dedicated staff 

team: 

 The facilities will have a designated consultant psychiatrist with overall responsibility for 

the service provision; 

 A specialty doctor will be on duty Monday to Friday and will carry out mental health 

assessments to all patients presenting to the suite. This will include making the first 

medical recommendation for those considered to require detention under the Mental 

Health Act; 

 New out of hours medical staffing rotas are being developed to ensure that the health 

based places of safety have speedy access to both junior and senior medical staff; and 

 There will be a resident junior doctor on site, out of hours, to ensure all immediate 

medical needs are addressed. 

South London and Maudsley (SLAM) 

This is an example of the standalone model.  The South London and Maudsley (SLAM) HBPoS 

site based at the Maudsley hospital has a total of six assessment rooms, four of which are 

Page 225



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  160 

 

consistently staffed. The remaining two rooms are designed to the ‘seclusion’ standard, which 

enables staff to cope with individuals who are the most unwell and display very challenging 

behaviour. The police have direct access to the seclusion area to avoid the individual having to 

go through the main entrance of the site. 

One room has an adjacent sitting room area which can be separated from the remainder of the 

unit. This is suitable for CYP or others who may have family members in attendance. Note that 

this site is available for all ages detained under s136.   

There is an s136 rota which includes a Specialty Doctor or consultant who carries out the first 

mental health assessment when the individual arrives. Where a second doctor is required for 

Mental Health Act assessment purposes, this is provided by an independent s12 doctor on the 

approved list of medical staff. 

The s136 rota includes both qualified staff and health care assistants; all staff allocated to the 

HBPoS are dedicated to s136 patients. The team includes: 

 Team leader – Band 7 x 1 

 Charge Nurses – Band 6 x 6 

 Staff Nurses – Band 5 x 12 

 Health Care Assistants – Band 3 x 11 

 Specialty Doctor – 1 

 Administrator / PA – Band 4 x 1 

This staffing establishment will provide for 5 staff to be on duty on each shift on a 24/7 basis for 

a 4 unit suite. This allows the unit to better manage peaks and troughs in activity. Furthermore, 

the experience from SLAM’s centralised place of safety illustrates that quieter periods give time 

for on-site training and for adequate breaks and reflection in what is on other occasions a high 

intensity environment; this has a positive impact on staff wellbeing and contributes to high 

retention rates. 

Box 15: Feedback on benefits of a dedicated staff team 

 

Combined model (PDU and HBPoS) 

 The concept of the combined unit is to have an assessment unit and section 136 suite co-

located, this enables, a joint workforce that can flex between the assessment unit and the 

section 136 suite, and in-depth assessment and treatment for patients who would otherwise 

have been admitted to acute wards.  

The service recognises that informed decisions on whether hospital admission may be required 

are often affected by the circumstances of the assessment. The combined unit/workforce offers 

“Having dedicated staff which aren’t taken from other teams allows a more cohesive environment 
which is more able to address patient needs in a more proactive way.”  
 
ST7 Registrar, 2017 SLAM Centralised Place of Safety 

 

Page 226



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  161 

 

a safe and stable environment through which an informed assessment can take place, and 

where appropriate arrangements can be set up following assessment. 

South West London St. Georges (SWLSTGs) 

An example of the combined model is the Psychiatric Decision Unit (PDU) model based in 

SWLSTGs. The PDU is an integrated assessment suite that encompasses the HBPoS site and 

provides interim mental health care and assessment for patients referred from liaison psychiatry 

services in Emergency Departments, crisis home treatments teams and the mental health street 

triage teams in partnership with the police and ambulance services. The SWL CCGs supported 

the proposal to develop this Psychiatric Decision Unit, which is based on a model in 

Birmingham. 

When the individual arrives at the PDU they are immediately seen by the nurse to discuss the 

nature of the crisis and what the best options may be. The time and space that the assessment 

suite offers gives patients time to think through the immediate crisis and the sort of help they 

need to recover, both over the short and longer term. It also gives staff time to carry out an 

informed assessment, create a collaborative, tailored treatment plan and make appropriate 

arrangements for on-going support in the community where feasible. The assessment suite is 

not a ward and does not have beds.  

The HBPoS adjoins the PDU and the staffing model covers both services. The PDU has 

capacity for five service users whilst the HBPoS has capacity for two individuals detained under 

s136. When there are instances where the HBPoS is at maximum capacity and others are 

waiting to be seen, the PDU can act as a step down area for low to moderate risk service users. 

This service has the core aims of: 

• Reducing demand on Emergency Departments by transferring people in mental health 

crisis to an appropriate mental health assessment unit; 

• Reducing protracted waits in ED/Emergency assessment units for beds when not 

immediately available; and 

• Offering an enhanced period of assessment and reducing unnecessary admissions giving 

a better outcome to the service user and keeping expensive acute beds only for those 

who are most in need. 

Safe staffing levels for sites under the preferred option 

Table 56 outlines the workforce requirements in order to provide safe staffing levels given 

various levels of capacity at HBPoS sites across London. This only includes staffing for the s136 

suite and excludes the wrap around services. However, it is assumed that the s136 staff when 

not utilised in the suites can be deployed flexibly to other crisis care services. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  162 

 

Table 56: Safe level staffing by capacity level 

Capacity 1 2 3 4 5 6 

 WTE  

Speciality Doctor Grade              1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Consultant's Post 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.7 

Nursing Band 03                3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0 

Nursing Band 05                3.0 6.0 9.0 12.0 15.0 18.0 

Nursing Band 06                1.5 3.0 4.5 6.0 7.5 9.0 

Nursing Band 07                1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Admin & Clerical Band 04            1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

 

HBPoS staff training and competencies 

Irrespective of which workforce model, healthcare staff working in a Health Based Place of 

Safety should be sufficiently trained in mental and physical health to safely and effectively 

perform their role. The provision of a dedicated team allows for s136 specific training to be 

delivered to a dedicated workforce and for the on-going assessment of skills and training needs; 

this will improve the quality of care for individuals detained under s136. 

Mental health skills include mental state assessments, rapid tranquilisation procedures, safe 

restraint and knowledge of relevant legislation (e.g. the Mental Health Act and Mental Capacity 

Act). In addition to mental health skills, it is expected that the staff will be trained in basic 

physical health competencies, in order to provide holistic care.  

It is furthermore anticipated that adherence to the physical health competencies set out in the 

s136 pathway (appendix 9 of ‘Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London's section 136 

pathway and Health Based Place of Safety specification’), will reduce the need for physical 

health assessments or treatment in an ED prior to HBPoS site attendance and for transfer post 

admission to the HBPoS site. This will reduce the burden on EDs, improve the timeliness of 

assessments and reduce the use of further conveyance by LAS or police between HBPoS site 

and the ED.   

Training initiatives for a dedicated staff team will, as well as improving team skills and expertise, 

have a clear role in staff development and career progression. This will have positive impacts on 

recruitment and retention, both important issues to address across mental health, as highlighted 

in the Health Education England (HEE) workforce plan95.  

The importance of staff training within the s136 pathway, and the opportunity that newly formed 

dedicated staff teams provide has been recognised by HEE. Four London mental health trusts 

successfully bid for funding to help set up innovative rotational nursing programmes for staff at 

EDs and HBPoS sites. The aim of these programmes is for HBPoS nursing staff to gain 

experience in ED, whilst ED nurses gain experience at the HBPoS sites in order to develop their 

physical and mental health care skills respectively, reduce the dependency on ED for minor 

physical health needs and develop relationships across organisational boundaries.  

 

                                                
95

 Stepping Forward to 2020/21: Mental Health Workforce Place for England (2017). Health Education 
England. Available at: https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/planning-commissioning/workforce-
planning/mental-health-workforce-plan  

Page 228



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  163 

 

A summary of the expected physical and mental health competencies are outlined in table 56 

below. Feedback (box 15 and 16) from s136 staff at SLAM highlights the benefit of a dedicated 

staff team on training and competencies.  

Box 16: Feedback on benefits of a dedicated team  

 

Table 57: Competencies of HBPoS staff 

Competencies for HBPoS staff (including nursing and medical)  

Mental state assessment 

Rapid Tranquilisation Procedure 

The use of physical intervention and safe restraint 

Risk assessment and management including risk to others, from others, to self and to health 
(including self-neglect). 

The use of the Mental Health Act, Mental Capacity Act and an overview of the Care Act. 

Observational skill including the level and manner of detail contained in written observations. 

Up to date mandatory training in Trust protocols (i.e. information governance, safeguarding, 
promoting safer and therapeutic services - PSTS). 

Liaison with families and carers. 

CPR and age appropriate life support, including the ability to use resuscitation equipment 

Physical health assessment 

Safely administer and monitor medication used or rapid tranquilisation. 

Provide monitoring and basic physical interventions e.g. hydration to support basic physical health 
status. 

Recognise and refer on the acutely deteriorating patient providing initial supportive treatment, 

“Thinking back to how the service used to be run, before even any of the dedicated team came on 

board, it was run in such an ad hoc way, it was seen as a burden so that probably translated to a poor 

quality of care for patients. People weren’t specialised and didn’t necessarily have the necessary level 

of skill required to look after patients, it really was just seen as a bolt on. So, for me I think the 

improvement in terms of patient care is massive – that’s probably the biggest contribution…I think it’s 

the skill and the knowledge and the experience of the staffing group that’s really made a difference.”  

Former Unit Manager, 2017 

Page 229



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  164 

 

including seizures, chest pain, breathlessness, lowering of consciousness. 

Manage simple superficial wounds. 

Screen and respond to non-acute illness including management of co-morbid infection and 
identification and onward referral for chronic stable disease. 

Perform basic lifestyle screen assessment. 

Assessment and management of substance misuse and intoxication. Screen for, prevent and 
manage uncomplicated alcohol or substance (including nicotine) withdrawal. 

Provide full medical examination and systems review (and if appropriate blood tests) to screen for 
co-morbid physical health conditions to support onward referral if appropriate 

 

9.2.4 Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) services 

The proposal to move from the current model of 20 HBPoS sites to 9 will have implications for 

current AMHP duty arrangements and local authority duties under section 13 of the Mental 

Health Act. There are a number of options for how this could be progressed: 

Option 1: Directly employ AMHPs as part of the HBPoS staffing establishment on a 24/7 basis. 

 Pros: Dedicated AMHP cover on site would provide a timely response in all cases. 

 Cons: Additional funding arrangements would be required to enable 24/7 dedicated 

AMPH services. This would involve significant engagement with the local Boroughs.  

 Challenges: Local authorities currently have difficulty in recruiting experienced 

AMHPs. 

Option 2: Create a dedicated single, STP-based AMHP duty service to assess all patients, 

regardless of borough of origin. This would cover both normal working hours and out of hours, 

for all assessments under the Mental Health Act, not solely Section 136 requests. 

 Pros: Actual activity and demand would be no higher than at present for individual 

AMHP duty services. 

 Cons: Depending on where the AMHPs were based, there may be travel and 

response time issues. 

 Challenges: There may be legal issues to address in order for AMHPs to act on 

behalf of other local authorities. For example, there may be warranting, authorisation 

and possibly honorary contractual arrangements in order for AMHPs to ‘act on behalf 

of’ other local authorities. 

Option 3: Each borough deploys an AMHP to respond to requests for s136 assessments for 

their borough residents at the HBPoS, as and when required 

Page 230



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  165 

 

 Pros: Local AMHPs have the knowledge of local resources, which can act as an 

alternative to hospital admission. 

 Cons: Increased travel/response time for AMHPs. 

 Challenge: Potential diversion of AMHPs from other duty work. 

To arrive at the best option for AMHP services, a more rigorous assessment of the various ways 

in which AMHPs can be commissioned is required to ensure the challenges faced by the AMHPs 

are addressed and an efficient model is created for the consolidated model. Other AMHP 

models across London should also be looked at, for example how SLAM and SWLTSTG have 

managed the AMHP workforce with a centralised site. Furthermore, this is in opportunity, given 

the overall challenges for AMHP availability across London, to explore novel AMHP 

development programmes, for example the possibility of training Trust staff as AMHPs. 

9.2.5 S12 doctor 

It is important that in the new model, further consideration is given to improving the transparency 

and consistency of acquiring s12 doctor services. More transparency is needed to ensure 

training standards have been met in relation to s12 doctors. Payment and administration 

protocols are required to ensure that s12 doctors are contracted appropriately and aligned to 

demand patterns. This will ensure optimal patient experience and reduce delay in patient care. 

9.2.6 Emergency Department staff 

When an individual detained under s136 is conveyed to an Emergency Department, the 

individual remains in police custody throughout the period in ED until one of the following occur: 

 A s12 doctor concludes that the patient has no underlying mental health disorder and the 

individual is discharged from s136; 

 ED staff accept responsibility for individual custody for the purpose of the mental health 

assessment; or 

 The individual is conveyed to the local HBPoS site. 

In any of these instances, it is vital that information about the individual’s needs and any 

associated risks are clearly documented and explained to the ED staff. It is also the 

responsibility of the ED staff to inform the AMHP services if necessary. While in the Emergency 

Department, ED staff and mental health professions should respond in a timely way to support 

appropriate assessment including following best practice to ensure liaison psychiatry see the 

individual within one hour or referral and the AMHP and s12 doctor assess within 4 hours of ED 

presentation. 

When the individual is referred to the liaison psychiatry team, the team have a key role in 

supporting the mental health assessment process but are not involved in the assessment itself. 

The team’s role includes: 

 Contributing to the decision regarding whether there is a need to transfer the individual to 

the local Health Based Place of Safety for a mental health assessment or whether this 

will occur in ED and alerting the AMHP and s12 doctor of the arrival of the individual; 

Page 231



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  166 

 

 Supporting the gathering and transfer of information relevant to the patient’s 

presentation, including obtaining collateral information from other professionals and 

family/friend and supporting the transfer of physical health care documentation to the 

Mental Health Trust; 

 Deciding whether there are safeguarding concerns, and raising a safeguard alert if 

necessary; and 

 Providing an initial mental health examination to ensure the individuals’ needs are met 

and completion of an immediate mental health risk assessment, which should include 

liaison with police, LAS, health based place of safety and ED staff. 

In addition to these activities, an assessment of both the physical and mental health needs is 

required. Some of the key steps involved at this stage are: 

 Assessment of physical health needs and handover of physical health information to the 

mental health liaison team; 

 The liaison team should concurrently form and communicate an initial assessment plan, 

including contact details for allocated liaison worker; 

 Liaison and ED staff agree together the next stages of the care plan including the time 

frame for referral and completion of the mental health assessment (if considered 

appropriate) and the time frames and nature of further physical health assessments and 

treatments; and 

 Proceed with the mental health assessment alongside medical care when there is no 

cause to believe that physical health assessment will impact significantly upon the 

patient’s mental state. 

The future operating model is expected to minimise the number of ED presentations due to 

capacity issues. Furthermore, it is expected that the future model will also reduce the demand 

for physical health care in the Emergency Department due to improved physical healthcare 

provision in the HBPoS sites, thus minimising transfers to ED for ‘medical clearance’ or minor 

physical health needs. 

In order to ensure that those patients who will still be attending ED under the new model, which 

will in particular include those with more complex physical health needs, receive high quality and 

efficient care, ED staff will need to be aware through training of, and adhere to, clear roles and 

responsibilities, as outlined in the ‘Mental Health Crisis Care for Londoners: London's section 

136 pathway and Health Based Place of Safety specification’. 

. 

  

Page 232



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  167 

 

Appendix A 
Overall pan-London ranking of HBPoS sites 

Following the analysis against the individual site criteria, the overall pan–London ranking of all 

HBPoS sites is outlined below, for the adult population group. 

Ranking HBPoS site STP Weighted score 

1 
Southwark Place of Safety Suite, ES1 Ward, 
Maudsley Hospital (new centralised site) 

South East London 13.0 

2 Highgate Mental Health Centre 
North Central 
London 

11.5 

3 Hammersmith and Fulham Mental Health Unit North West London 10.0 

3 Riverside Centre, Hillingdon Hospital North West London 10.0 

4 
Wolsey Wing, St Bernard's Hospital, Ealing 
Hospital 

North West London 9.5 

4 St Charles Hospital  North West London 9.5 

4 Gordon Hospital North West London 9.5 

4 Oxleas House South East London 9.5 

4 
Wandsworth Recovery Centre, Section 136 Suite, 
Springfield University Hospital 

South West London 9.5 

5 The Whittington Hospital 
North Central 
London 

9.0 

5 Sunflowers Court, Goodmayes Hospital North East London 9.0 

5 
Lakeside Mental Health Unit - West Middlesex 
University Hospital 

North West London 9.0 

6 City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health  North East London 8.5 

6 Green Parks House South East London 8.5 

7 
Chase Building, Chase Farm Hospital (2+ 1 
reserved , used in exceptional standard) 

North Central 
London 

8.0 

7 Crystal Ward - Newham Centre Mental Health North East London 8.0 

8 
Northwick Park Mental Health Unit, Northwick 
Park Hospital 

North West London 7.0 

9 Park Royal Centre for Mental Health North West London 6.5 

10 University College London Hospital 
North Central 
London 

6.0 

11 Royal Free Hospital 
North Central 
London 

5.5 

12 Royal London Hospital North East London 4.5 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 233



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  168 

 

STP ranking of HBPoS sites 

The table below shows the output of the individual site assessment, ranking HBPoS sites within 

their respective STPs, for the adult population group. 

Rankings HBPoS STP Weighted Score 

1 
Wandsworth Recovery Centre, Section 136 Suite, Springfield 
University Hospital South West London 9.5 

    
 

  

1 
Southwark Place of Safety Suite, ES1 Ward, Maudsley Hospital 
(new centralised site) South East London 13.0 

2 Oxleas House South East London 9.5 
3 Green Parks House South East London 8.5 

    
 

  
1 Hammersmith and Fulham Mental Health Unit North West London 10.0 
1 Riverside Centre, Hillingdon Hospital North West London 10.0 
3 Wolsey Wing, St Bernard's Hospital, Ealing Hospital North West London 9.5 
3 St Charles Hospital  North West London 9.5 
3 Gordon Hospital North West London 9.5 

4 
Lakeside Mental Health Unit - West Middlesex University 
Hospital North West London 9.0 

5 Northwick Park Mental Health Unit, Northwick Park Hospital North West London 7.0 
6 Park Royal Centre for Mental Health North West London 6.5 

    
 

  
1 Sunflowers Court, Goodmayes Hospital North East London 9.0 
2 City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health  North East London 8.5 
3 Crystal Ward - Newham Centre Mental Health North East London 8.0 
4 Royal London Hospital North East London 4.5 

    
 

  
1 Highgate Mental Health Centre North Central London 11.5 
2 The Whittington Hospital North Central London 9.0 
3 Chase Building, Chase Farm Hospital North Central London 8.0 
4 University College London Hospital North Central London 6.0 
5 Royal Free Hospital North Central London 5.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 234



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  169 

 

Overall pan-London ranking of HBPoS sites 

Following the analysis against the individual site criteria, the overall pan–London ranking of all 

HBPoS sites outlined below is for the children (under 18s) population group. 

Rankings HBPoS site STP Weighted Score 

1 
Southwark Place of Safety Suite, Maudsley Hospital (new 
centralised site) South East London 13.0 

2 Sunflowers Court, Goodmayes Hospital North East London 12.0 

3 Crystal Ward - Newham Centre Mental Health North East London 9.5 

4 Wolsey Wing, St Bernard's Hospital, Ealing Hospital North West London 9.0 

5 Green Parks House South East London 8.0 

5 
Wandsworth Recovery Centre, Section 136 Suite, Springfield 
University Hospital South West London 8.0 

6 Chase Building, Chase Farm Hospital North Central London 7.5 

7 Hammersmith and Fulham Mental Health Unit North West London 7.0 

7 
Lakeside Mental Health Unit - West Middlesex University 
Hospital North West London 7.0 

7 Riverside Centre, Hillingdon Hospital North West London 7.0 

8 Northwick Park Mental Health Unit, Northwick Park Hospital North West London 6.5 

8 Oxleas House South East London 6.5 

9 Gordon Hospital North West London 6 

10 Highgate Mental Health Centre North Central London 5.5 

10 City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health  North East London 5.5 

11 Park Royal Centre for Mental Health North West London 5.0 

12 University College London Hospital North Central London 4.5 

12 Royal London Hospital North East London 4.5 

13 Royal Free Hospital North Central London 4.0 

13 St Charles Hospital  North West London 4.0 

14 The Whittington Hospital North Central London 3.0 

 

  

Page 235



HBPoS business case – beta version March 2018 

Healthy London Partnership  170 

 

STP ranking of HBPoS sites 

The table below shows the output of the individual site assessment, ranking HBPoS sites within 

their respective STPs, for the CYP population group. 

Rankings HBPoS site STP Weighted Score 

1 
Wandsworth Recovery Centre, Section 136 Suite, Springfield 
University Hospital South West London 8.0 

    
 

  

1 
Southwark Place of Safety Suite, Maudsley Hospital (new 
centralised site) South East London 13.0 

2 Green Parks House South East London 8.0 

3 Oxleas House South East London 6.5 

    
 

  

1 Wolsey Wing, St Bernard's Hospital, Ealing Hospital North West London 9.0 

2 Hammersmith and Fulham Mental Health Unit North West London 7.0 

2 
Lakeside Mental Health Unit - West Middlesex University 
Hospital North West London 7.0 

2 Riverside Centre, Hillingdon Hospital North West London 7.0 

3 Northwick Park Mental Health Unit, Northwick Park Hospital North West London 6.5 

4 Gordon Hospital North West London 6 

5 Park Royal Centre for Mental Health North West London 5.0 

6 St Charles Hospital  North West London 4.0 

    
 

  

1 Sunflowers Court, Goodmayes Hospital North East London 12.0 

2 Crystal Ward - Newham Centre Mental Health North East London 9.5 

3 City and Hackney Centre for Mental Health  North East London 5.5 

4 Royal London Hospital North East London 4.5 

    
 

  

1 Chase Building, Chase Farm Hospital North Central London 7.5 

2 Highgate Mental Health Centre North Central London 5.5 

3 University College London Hospital North Central London 4.5 

4 Royal Free Hospital North Central London 4.0 

5 The Whittington Hospital North Central London 3.0 

 

Page 236



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

15 January 2019

Title: Borough Data Explorer: Opportunities for improved analytical capacity for health 
and wellbeing

Report of the Cabinet Member for Social Care & Health Integration

Open Report For Information

Report Author: 
Mark Tyson, Commissioning Director, Adults’ Care & 
Support

Contact Details:
E-mail: mark.tyson@lbbd.gov.uk

Board Sponsor:  Cllr Maureen Worby, Cabinet Member for Social Care & Health 
Integration, Chair of the Health & Wellbeing Board

Summary: 

In order to support delivery of the Borough Manifesto targets, the Council has developed 
a Borough Data Explorer and the first Social Progress Index at a community level.  The 
Borough Data Explorer includes a total of 91 indicators, broken down into the Borough 
Manifesto categories of: Community Engagement, Employment and Enterprise, Housing, 
Safety, Environment, Health and Wellbeing, and Skills and Education.

This can be used to compare Barking and Dagenham with other London boroughs in 
these categories, but also to analyse performance within our 17 wards and even down to 
smaller local areas – Lower Super Output Areas, typically containing populations of 
around 1500 people.  

The Social Progress Index helps us to understand the social well-being of our residents 
at ward level.  Scorecards consisting of a range of social and environmental indicators 
divided across 3 broad dimensions of social progress (Basic Human Needs, Foundations 
of Wellbeing and Opportunity) are available for each of our wards.  

The Data Explorer has the potential to open up access to analytical tools to a wide range 
of people across health, wellbeing and social care.  Presentations have been made on 
the potential of the system to a number of health and wellbeing system partners.  The 
purpose of the discussion at the Health & Wellbeing Board is to engage Board members 
in thinking about the potential of the Borough Data Explorer, sources of data that could 
be added, and ways in which it can support delivery of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy.

Members of the team who have designed and delivered the Borough Data Explorer will 
present it to the Board.  It is available for Board members and others to access and 
explore, and can be accessed at https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/boroughdataexplorer 

Recommendation(s)

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

(i) Note the presentation given by officers from the Council’s Insight Unit; and

Page 237

AGENDA ITEM 6

mailto:mark.tyson@lbbd.gov.uk
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/boroughdataexplorer


(ii) Consider opportunities for deploying the Data Explorer to support health and 
wellbeing activity, including where additional data can be contributed to improve 
the analytical opportunities available.

Reason(s)

Data is critical to targeted interventions in health and care services, and putting the ability 
to analyse anonymised data into the hands of staff, patients and residents across the 
Borough is an important element of the improvement and integration journey. 

Page 238



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

15 January 2019

Title: Update on ‘Breezie’ Pilot Project

Report of the Cabinet Member for Social Care and Health Integration

Open Report For Information

Wards Affected: ALL Key Decision: No

Report Author: 
Lewis Sheldrake, Commissioning Manager, 
London Borough of Barking and Dagenham

Contact Details:
Tel: 0208 724 8109
E-mail: lewis.sheldrake@lbbd.gov.uk

Sponsor: 
Mark Tyson, Commissioning Director, Adults’ Care and Support, London Borough of 
Barking and Dagenham

Summary: 

This report provides an update on the Breezie pilot project which aims to help isolated 
residents to get online. Data attained from the user surveys undertaken so far indicate that 
Breezie is having a significant impact on the key aims of reducing social isolation and 
increasing digital inclusion. 

Recommendation(s)

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to note the progress and current status 
of the Breezie pilot project and consider further expansion and integration opportunities to 
deliver on the outcomes of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

Reason(s)

The Board is responsible for encouraging integration and innovation in health and social 
care in Barking and Dagenham, and delivering improved health outcomes and reduced 
inequalities for its residents. The Breezie pilot is relevant work to this remit, and so it is to 
the Board’s advantage to me made aware and updated of its progress.

1. Introduction

1.1 At the portfolio meeting of the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health 
Integration on 12 September 2017, it was agreed that a pilot project would be 
implemented over the coming months to trial ‘Breezie’, which aims to help isolated 
older residents to get online. 

Page 239

AGENDA ITEM 7



1.2 Breezie is a tablet device that makes the internet accessible by removing jargon, 
clutter and confusing set-up processes. Each of these Samsung tablets is built with 
personalised home screens, featuring pre-installed apps that are picked according to 
the interests and needs of each user, like Skype so they can communicate with family 
and friends. Each device has a 4G sim built in, so runs off the mobile network, 
therefore users do not need to have the internet installed at home to use them. All 
users are shown how to use their devices through initial orientation sessions and 
ongoing phone and web-based support.

1.3 Breezie was identified as being the most appropriate device to support getting the 
older population in Barking and Dagenham online following an appraisal of 
technological options conducted in partnership with Care City. This decision was 
predominantly due to the personalised, simple and clutter free design of the user 
interface, which tackles the two main barriers to internet adoption: over-complication 
and lack of relevance. 

1.4 Adults’ Care and Support Commissioning completed the necessary procurement 
procedure and subsequently awarded a contract for the provision of 75 Breezie units 
with the software, support service and 4G internet connection for a total value of 
£70,995 for a three year period funded from the Social Grant Fund. This three year 
period is comprised of a 12 months set-up and onboarding period followed by a 24-
month subscription period for each unit once allocated to a Service User.

1.5 This paper is intended to update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the 
implementation of the pilot and provide the initial evaluation findings of the 
effectiveness of Breezie based on user survey data. Options for next steps of this 
pilot are also provided for discussion.  

2. Project planning and implementation

2.1 During the procurement phase, Adults’ Care and Support Commissioning worked 
with the provider to develop the necessary supporting documentation for the pilot 
project, including a User Participation Agreement and Personalisation Questionnaire. 
Additionally, a library of applications and websites was curated to meet the specific 
needs of prospective Breezie Users, whilst promoting key digital content which 
supports the council’s priorities.

2.2 A user survey was developed to evaluate the impact that Breezie has on reducing 
social isolation and increasing digital inclusion. To establish a baseline, this survey 
was completed with each respective user when they first received the device and has 
subsequently been revisited quarterly to track progress and enable Commissioners 
to better understand the effectiveness of the intervention. 

2.3 The Breezie pilot was promoted through a range of media. This included working 
with the Communications and Campaigns Team to develop a short video and 
accompanying webpage. This was promoted following the Council’s ‘12 days of 
Christmas’ social media campaign and sits within the Health and Social Care 
section of the council’s website. The Breezie webpage contains further information 
about the pilot, and includes a webform for friends, family members and 
professionals to nominate prospective users. 

2.4 In addition to the online promotion, the Breezie pilot project was also promoted at 
Carers Rights Day and Older Peoples Day and specific training has been provided 

Page 240

https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/helping-isolated-older-residents-get-online


to the Red Cross, as a part of the Home Not Hospital service. A press release on 
the pilot was also circulated via the Barking and Dagenham Post and the Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care and Health Integration was interviewed by BBC 
London Radio.

2.5 During the initial user nomination process, those making the referral are asked to 
state why they think the prospective user would benefit from Breezie. The key 
reasons cited are as follows:

 Loneliness

 Reduce isolation

 Improve confidence

 Increase independence

 Combat depression

 Entertainment

2.6 Over 60 devices are currently 
in regular active use. There have been a small number of cases where users have 
either returned their Breezie device or passed away. In all cases the device will be 
repurposed and allocated to a new user. Almost all users are over the age of 65, 
with an average age of 71. The oldest user is 98 years old. 82% of users are 
female. The average usage per day has progressively increased from February (1 
hour per day) to September (5 hours per day). Users are using social channels 
(email, Skype, Facebook), entertainment services (BBC, ITV, radio), keeping 
mentally engaged (Solitaire, Bingo) as well as accessing the news, weather and 
local services. 

2.7 Breezie is generally being used in 
community settings, except for a 
specific cohort of users with 
dementia based within Kallar Lodge. 
Several minor adaptations have 
been made to ensure Breezie is 
more accessible for these users, 
including colour-coded device cases 
with carry handles, headphones and 
attached styluses. As with all users, 
the devices content has been 
tailored to suit the interests of each 
person and takes account of their 
health and wellbeing needs. Several personal accounts from users at the site has 
indicated the positive impact that Breezie has had, including people seeing family 
members for the first time in several decades. 

3. Survey findings

3.1 The findings below provide an indication of the impact of Breezie. The roll out of 
Breezie was staggered over several months. For consistency, the figures within this 

Page 241



report compare the 
responses provided by 
users at the start of the 
project, with those 
collected after 3 months of 
usage. The baseline 
responses are collected via 
telephone during the initial 
onboarding process. The 
follow up survey is 
completed on screen by 
the user through their 
Breezie device. 

3.2 Users are asked a range of 
questions based on a 
number of ‘I’ statements 
across a variety of areas including social interaction, wellbeing, access to services 
and confidence in using the internet. Respondents were invited to self-score their 
level of agreement with each statement.

3.3 A key aim of the Breezie pilot was to reduce social isolation given the impact this 
can have on an individual’s wellbeing. This is a priority area for Barking and 
Dagenham as reflected within the Borough Manifesto and Ageing Well outcomes 
proposed within the new Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The findings so far 
indicate that Breezie contributes positively to these areas, with users reporting 
significant improvements following the first three month of using the device. 

3.4 72% of respondents either ‘strongly 
agreed’ or ‘agreed’ with the statement ‘I 
get as much social interaction as I would 
like’. This is a significant improvement from 
only 22% who agreed with this statement 
at the beginning of the pilot, which 
indicates the positive role that Breezie can 
play in enabling users to keep in touch with 
friends and family, particularly those who 
live further away. This enables users to 
build their social capital and resilience, 
which can in turn support independence 
and prevent, reduce and delay the 
development of health and social care 
needs. 

Page 242



3.5 Associated to the increase in social 
interaction, users also reported a 
significant increase in their overall sense 
of wellbeing from 39% at the project 
outset to 83% after 3 months. This is very 
positive from a health and social care 
perspective given the positive outcomes 
associated with wellbeing. 

3.6 One of the key benefits of digital 
inclusion is the ability to access online 
information, advice and guidance 
particularly regarding Healthcare and 

Local Services. Empowering residents to access this information independently is 
aligned to the Council’s Prevention Strategy and enables social care users to 
exercise choice and control which is in the spirit of personalisation as outlined in the 
Care Act 2014.

3.7 At the beginning of the pilot, 28% of 
Breezie users either ‘strongly agreed’ or 
‘agreed’ with the statement ‘I find it easy 
to access healthcare information’. This 
increased to 67% after 3 months of 
using Breezie. 

3.8 Similarly, a significant improvement was 
seen in users’ agreement with the 
statement ‘I find it easy to find out about 
what services are available locally’, 
which rose from 18% to 73%.

3.9 The improvement in these 
areas is believed to be in part due to 
the specific content which have been 
loaded onto users’ devices, such as 
the Care and Support Hub, NHS 
Choices and Band Together 
Routemaster along with other health 
related apps specific to each 
respective user’s needs.

3.10 Additionally, Breezie has 
enabled access to a range of online 
user-generated content. The British 
Heart Foundation, for example, 
operates an online forum for people 

seeking support and motivation in stopping smoking. Users can sign up for email 
hints and tips, post advice to others on a message board and keep a blog of their 
progress. Stopping smoking has clear public health benefits, but further social 
impact arises from the online support network. Whilst it is not possible to directly 
quantify this in financial terms, communicating with people with similar worries, 

Page 243



problems or difficulties can reduce feelings of marginalisation and foster social 
inclusion.

3.11 Underpinning the ability to access information about healthcare and other services, 
as well as participate within the online community, is users’ confidence in using the 
internet. This is a key metric of the aim to increase digital inclusion – as set at the 

outset of the Breezie pilot. After 3 
months of using Breezie, 61% of 
Breezie users reported feeling 
confident in their use of the internet 
compared with just 11% at the outset.

3.12 Increasing digital inclusion 
has the potential to bring about 
numerous benefits and improved 
outcomes for both the individual and 
public services across a range of 
areas. There is also a significant 
benefit for society in getting an 
isolated or vulnerable person to use 
the internet to reconnect with their 

community. These include decreased social exclusion – through involving members 
of marginalised groups in local activities and events. 

3.13 A key feature of the Breezie service is the ability to remotely add content to a device 
at a later stage which will facilitate the future-proofing of the intervention for the user 
in the event of their health and social care needs changing. Additionally, there is the 
option to push content to multiple devices which provides the Council with an 
additional channel of communication to Breezie users to notify them of important 
information or promote upcoming events which can further increase civic 
participation.

4. Pilot extension options

4.1 The data attained from the user surveys undertaken so far indicate that Breezie is 
having a significant impact on the key aims of reducing social isolation and 
increasing digital inclusion. Despite the wide promotion of the pilot, referrals were 
slow, and there was an understandable apprehension from many prospective users 
given the perceived complexity of using technology and the internet despite the 
comprehensive end-user support offer from the Provider.  Any expansion or 

Page 244



extension of the project would need to be considered within this context and would 
likely require a greater level of integration with front line services.

4.2 Given the flexible and personalised nature of Breezie, there are a range of options 
available for how the project could be expanded to address a range of priority areas 
within the Health and Social Care economy and support the outcomes of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. For example:

To increase residents’ healthy life expectancy by removing barriers to early 
diagnosis and intervention in 5 key areas - (Cancer, Diabetes, Liver Disease, 
Mental Health and Sexual Health).

Diabetes

o People with diabetes spend only three hours a year with a healthcare 
professional on average. For the remaining 8,757 hours they manage their 
diabetes themselves

o 80% of diabetes spending is on the complications, which can largely be 
prevented through education and lifestyle changes

o Annual inpatient care, to treat short and long term complications of diabetes, 
is estimated at between £1,800 and £2,500 per patient.

4.3 Breezie could be piloted as an intervention tool, education and self-management, 
for diabetes patients. This could include the integration of wearables, such as 
glucose and activity monitors, connected to Breezie, which can provide real time 
information to enable individuals to monitor their condition. This could be 
supplemented with condition related information, online education materials e.g. 
MyDESMOND, healthy eating tips, and group exercise programmes as 
recommended by NICE.

4.4 The total cost per user of implementation and 24 month Breezie subscription with 
end user support and 4G internet is £896 per device. Integrated wearables such as 
an iHealth gluco-monitoring System cost an additional £47.99 per device. The 
ongoing cost per user beyond the initial 24 month period works out at around £20 
per user, per month. 

5. Next steps

5.1 As outlined in Section 2.2, the survey will continue to be undertaken with each 
Breezie user quarterly which will enable Commissioners to track progress and 
better understand the effectiveness of the intervention.

5.2 Further options for expansion are being explored including the use of direct 
payments, personal budgets and other funding mechanisms to sustain the project 
beyond the initial 2 year pilot phase. 

5.3 Adults’ Care and Support will work with partners to further integrate Breezie with 
other digital solution across the health and social care economy, including the 
innovations which will be piloted by Care City through Wave 2 of the NHS 
Innovation Test Bed programme. 

Page 245

https://www.mydesmond.com/


6. Mandatory Implications

6.1 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

6.1.1 The Breezie pilot survey findings reflected within this report indicate the positive 
impact that the intervention can have on a range of areas reflected within the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment, with a particular focus on reducing social isolation 
and the wider health outcomes associated. 

6.2 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy

6.2.1 The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy outlines our aim to support older adults in 
Barking and Dagenham to live with dignity and independence enabling them to 
achieve their full potential in older life as they would in any other life stage. Given 
the flexible and personalised nature of Breezie, there are a range of options 
available for how the project could be expanded to address a range of priority areas 
within the Health and Social Care economy and support the outcomes of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

6.3 Integration
6.3.1 The Breezie intervention can improve health and social care outcomes through the 

integration of services accessible to residents through the user interface including 
access to local healthcare services and resources.

6.4 Financial Implications (completed by: Abdul Kayoum, Finance Business Partner)

6.4.1 The cost of renewing for a two-year period is £896 per device and for 75 units the 
cost of the contract will be £67,200.

6.4.2 If a decision is made to renew the contract, the service would need to ensure there 
is sufficient grant funding available. 

6.5 Legal Implications (completed by: Dr. Paul Feild Senior Governance Solicitor)

6.5.1 The Health and Social Care Act (2012) conferred the responsibility for health 
improvement to local authorities. The evidence in this report is that by providing 
easy to use tablet devices the lives of the target groups approach as set out in this 
report can be improved in terms of heath outcomes and through augmentation of 
additional monitoring devices, chronic health conditions can be better monitored. 
The evidence supports the interpretation that such devices may provide the 
opportunity to be a key component in furthering the Councils legal responsibility to 
work to improve the health of its community.

6.6 Risk Management - None

6.7 Patient / Service User Impact - None

7. Non-mandatory Implications

None

Page 246



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

15 January 2019

Title: Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

Report Author: Florence Henry – Strategy Officer, Public Health

Wards Affected: All Requires formal Member-level approval: Yes

Relevant Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Worby, Cabinet Member for Social Care and 
Health Integration 

Accountable Director: Matthew Cole, Director of Public Health

Summary

As required by the Health and Care Act 2012, a new Health and Wellbeing Strategy is 
required for 2019-2023 to follow on from the 2015-2018 strategy.  The strategy (Appendix 
1) sets a renewed vision for improving the health and wellbeing of residents and reducing 
inequalities at every stage of people’s lives. The three priority themes for the strategy have 
been were agreed by Health and Wellbeing board in January when presented with the 2017 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA):

1) Best Start in Life
2) Early Diagnosis and Intervention 
3) Building Resilience

To create this document, we have run 12 focus groups with residents to formulate the ‘I’ 
statements within this document, which outline what good health looks like to residents   
These are included within each theme of the strategy. We have also held 3 professional 
stakeholder workshops to discuss the outcomes and measures in each theme in July. After 
Health and Wellbeing Board approved the document for consultation on 7th November, the 
document has been through an 8 week online public consultation with 39 responses.

This work is evolving – we are working with commissioners and providers to integrate these 
priorities into commissioning plans. The 7 outcomes within this document will stay the same 
for the duration of this strategy, but the measures will evolve as we gain greater insight into 
our population. This document does not contain a detailed delivery plan - Commissioners 
and the Alliance of Providers will use these outcomes and priorities to develop a detailed 
delivery plan which will include outputs and targets. 

Recommendation(s):

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

(i) Approve the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy at Appendix 1 to the report for 
publication; and

(ii) Discuss the next steps to implementing the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Page 247

AGENDA ITEM 8



1. Financial Implications 

Implications completed by Feroza Begum, Interim Group Accountant:

1.1 Although this report is largely for information only, the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy assumes that it will be delivered within existing resources, especially the 
Public Health Grant, which is available to the London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham until 2021.

1.2 Under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, the Council will consider flexibilities such as 
pooled budgets and lead commissioning that can better meet the needs identified in 
the JSNA. The NHS England (London) is also under a duty in the legislation to 
encourage the use of these flexibilities by clinical commissioning groups, where it 
considers use of flexibilities would secure the integration of health services and health 
related or social care services.

2. Legal Implications 

Implications completed by Dr Paul Field, Senior Governance Solicitor 

2.1 As set out in the body of this report the Health and Social Care Act 2012 places a 
statutory duty on the Health and Wellbeing Board to prepare a Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy to meet the needs identified in the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment. Local authorities and each of its partner clinical commissioning groups 
must when exercising any functions have regard to any relevant Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA) and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 
prepared by them (s193 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012). 

2.2 When preparing JSNAs and JHWSs health and wellbeing boards must have regard 
to the Statutory Guidance and as such boards have to be able to justify departing 
from it. The proposed refreshed joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy will need to be 
been prepared and consulted on in accordance with the requirements under the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 and under the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007. Health and wellbeing boards must meet the Public 
Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010, and due regard must be given to 
the duty throughout the JSNA and JHWS process.

Page 248



Barking and Dagenham
Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy
2019-2023

Page 249

adawson_2
Text Box
APPENDIX 1



Contents
Vision 3

Foreword 4

Context 5

Strategic Framework 6

Equality and Diversity 8

Engagement, Consultation and Co-Production 9

Vision and Priority Themes 9

Priority 1 – Best Start in Life 10

 Outcome 1 13

Priority 2 – Early Diagnosis and Intervention 14

 Outcome 2 17

Priority 3 – Building Resilience 18

 Outcome 3 23

 Outcome 4 24

 Outcome 5 24

 Outcome 6 25

 Outcome 7 25

Governance 26

References and links to supporting documents 27

Vision
By 2023, as Barking and Dagenham continues to 
grow, our residents will have improved health and 
wellbeing, with less health inequalities between 
Barking and Dagenham residents and the rest of 
London: no-one will be left behind. Our residents 
will have increased resilience, empowered to 
not just survive, but to thrive. Residents will 
benefit from a place-based system of care, where 
partners across the BHR system work together 
to get upstream of care and improve the health 
of the population. Partners will increasingly focus 
on outcomes and impact, rather than outputs 
with outcomes-based commissioning working 
effectively to improve outcomes for residents.

Priority Theme 1: 
Best Start in Life

Our residents will be best prepared for school 
by the age of 5, giving them the foundations of 
resilience. 

Priority Theme 2: 
Early Diagnosis and Intervention

Our residents will be empowered to recognise 
symptoms, act on them and manage their long 
term conditions, through an increased focus on 
early diagnosis and intervention.

Priority Theme 3: 
Building individual and community strength

Our residents will be empowered to not survive  
in the face of adversity, but to thrive across the 
life-course.

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023  

2

P
age 250



Foreword
The Barking and Dagenham Health and Wellbeing 
Board has reviewed its priorities and how to tackle 
health inequalities in the borough over the next 5 
years. Across all partners, focusing on prevention 
is a priority - it offers the opportunity to improve 
outcomes for residents. Successful integrated 
prevention across partners will also reduce demand 
for high cost statutory and specialist health, social 
care and council services and help us to create 
a sustainable health and care system. Domestic 
Abuse is a priority for the Board because of the 
long-lasting social, economic and health impacts, 
making it a key public health issue for Barking and 
Dagenham. We will hold Health and Wellbeing 
Board partners to account on prioritising  
Domestic Abuse. 

As the NHS Five Year Forward View and our 
North East London Sustainability Transformation 
Plan states, we need to get to the root cause of 
problems to change the health of the population. 
Much of the borough’s poor health is linked to 
social causes, and the wider determinants of 
health: most of them can be effectively addressed 
outside of hospitals, GP surgeries and traditional 
healthcare settings. Yet, our local health and 
care system continues to focus on ill-health and 
illness rather than putting a strong emphasis 
on prevention, early intervention and building 
resilience. The Borough Manifesto recommends 
that a greater emphasis on preventative measures 
can help Barking and Dagenham to become 
a place that supports residents to achieve 
independent, healthy, safe and fulfilling lives.  

To improve health and wellbeing outcomes, we 
need to work across partners in the Integrated Care 
System (ICS) to promote a place-based system of 
care. Through working together, we can build up 
resilience in our residents, and help to influence 
the wider determinants of health, while establishing 
a sustainable model of health and social care. 
 
Since, the NHS Five Year Forward View we’ve 
been looking at new ways to engage communities 
on issues relating to health and care. Residents 
also told us during the Borough Manifesto 
consultation that they would like more say over 
their health, which is why we have co-produced 

Context
The Barking and Dagenham Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2018 follows the previous 
strategy for 2012-2015. A refresh of the strategy 
is now required for another 5 years. Our strategy 
will set out a renewed vision for improving the 
health and wellbeing of residents and reducing 
inequalities at every stage of residents’ lives by 
2023. 

This strategy describes the key health and 
wellbeing outcomes for the borough. Central to 
this is addressing the challenges that exist and 
making a difference where it is needed most. To 
create a borough where no one is left behind, we 
need to place health and wellbeing at the heart of 
what we do. We need to empower communities to 
cope with, adapt to and shape change at all levels. 
We need to build resilience for all our residents, 
including those already in touch with our services 
and for our most vulnerable residents. 

No single organisation can improve the health 
and wellbeing of our residents in isolation. A 
place-based model of health and care where 
organisations and partners work together to tackle 
the health challenges and improve the health 
of our population is needed. As we do not have 
the ability to change everything, our Health and 
Wellbeing Board have agreed a new approach 
that includes taking a system-wide focus on three 
priority areas that have the largest potential to 
create impact on our residents’ lives. The three 
priority themes within this strategy are those where 
the Board thinks there is the largest potential to 
improve health inequalities: they have the potential 
to improve health and wellbeing through-out the 
life course from childhood into adulthood, and 
older life.  

This strategy provides the direction for that shared 
goal over the next five years, overseen by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. They show our 
ambition and the outcomes we want to achieve 
in the borough:

Priority Theme 1
Best Start in Life
To give our residents healthy
pregnancies and the best platform to 
grow, develop and explore in the first 
7 years to build up their resilience.

Priority Theme 2
Early Diagnosis and Intervention
To give our residents the best chance 
of recovering from illness or disease.

Priority Theme 3
Building Resilience
Empowering our residents to not just 
survive, but to thrive.

this strategy with residents. We ran a series of 
focus groups with different community groups to 
find out what resident priorities are in terms of 
good health. We have formulated these into a 
series of ‘I’ statements which are featured within 
each theme of the strategy and outline a standard 
of what good health looks like to residents.  
‘I’ statements will ensure that the outcomes and 
plans from the strategy will be rooted in what 
residents prioritise and want. They are used 
to create a person-centred strategy which will 
encourage partners to work together to improve 
the health and care of residents. 

We would like to thank everybody that has been 
involved in developing this strategy. Residents for 
their views and support, the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, elected members and individuals who 
demonstrated their commitment to this important 
agenda. Finally, the success of any strategy is 
in its execution, and our first step is to widely 
communicate what we intend to do. We then 
begin the challenging and exciting journey of 
implementing a strategy which will deliver the 
best outcomes for local residents – to live longer, 
healthier and happier lives. 

Councillor Worby
Cabinet Member 
Social Care and Health  
Integration 
Chair of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board

 
 
Dr Jagan John
Chair of Barking and 
Dagenham CCG
Deputy Chair of the 
Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

4 5

P
age 251



Strategic 
Framework
Growth Commission Report 2016

An independent ‘Growth Commission’ was 
commissioned by the council in 2015 to consider 
how growth opportunities in the borough could 
be maximised for the benefit of all its residents. 
In early 2016, they delivered their report, with 
recommendations for achieving this.

One of the key recommendations within the 
Growth Commission is to focus on increasing 
health and life expectancy in the borough. The 
report details how to achieve goals listed including 
much more active involvement of local people and 
communities. This strategy focuses on improving 
health and life expectancy in the borough, by 
focusing on key areas which have the largest 
potential for impact.

The Growth Commission Report provided the 
impetus for the Borough Manifesto (below).

The Borough Manifesto

The Borough Manifesto, ‘Barking and Dagenham 
Together’ sets out a shared vision for the borough 
through to 2037 aimed at around 10 themes:

 • Employment, Skills and Enterprise
 • Education
 • Regeneration
 • Housing
 • Health and Social Care
 • Community and Cohesion
 • Environment
 • Crime and Safety
 • Fairness
 • Arts, Culture and Leisure

These themes all impact on the health and the 
resilience of all residents. As such, this provides 
a blueprint for reducing health inequalities in the 
long term, not only within the borough, but also 
in relation to London and England. This aim is 
explicitly stated within the Borough Manifesto’s 
targets, the majority of which are to improve key 
indicators to London and East London averages. 

In particular, the outcomes within this strategy 
focus on helping to achieve progress in the 5 
following areas of the Borough Manifesto targets:

 • Healthy life expectancy better than London
  average by 2037
 • An increased level of residents with Level 1 
  and Level 4 skills higher than the London 
  average by 2037
 • Unemployment rate lower than the London 
  average by 2037
 • Personal wellbeing and happiness above 
  the London average
 • Rate of regular physical activity higher than 
  East London by 2037.

During the Borough Manifesto consultation, 
residents also told us they wanted to have more 
of a say on their health. Because of this and the 
recommendations of the Growth Commission to 
increase community engagement, we have  
co-produced this strategy with residents. We have 
run 12 resident focus groups with a total of 128 
residents to find out resident priorities in terms of 
good health and formulated these into a series 
of ‘I’ statements which are featured within each 
theme of the strategy. 

Corporate Plan 

The 2018-2022 London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham’s Corporate Plan has been created in 
parallel to and informed by this strategy. One of 
the themes of the Plan focusing on empowering 
people and closely aligns with the strategy his 
document. The Corporate Plan’s focus is 
strengthening our services for all, and intervening 
early to prevent a problem from becoming a crisis, 
whilst protecting the most vulnerable.  

North East London Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (Draft 2016) 

The Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 
outlines how the NHS in North East London 
will become financially sustainable and deliver 
improvements to health and care services by 
2021. It sets out six key priorities:

Our population and its health challenges: 
Population and Demographic data 

Barking and Dagenham has a young and diverse 
population of around 210,700 residents in a 
densely populated urban location. Its population 
is dynamic, with the equivalent of around 1 in 
12 residents leaving and entering the borough 
between 2016 and 2017. 

Estimates suggest that as of 2019, 47% of Barking 
and Dagenham’s population will be White, 23% 
Black, 23% Asian, 5% Mixed and 2% other. 

Barking and Dagenham has the highest birth 
rate in England and Wales, with 82.6 live births 
per 1,000 women aged 15-44 in 2017. This is 
substantially higher than London and England, 
and the equivalent to around 1 in 12 women aged 
15 to 44 having a baby in a given year, compared 
with around 1 in 16 in England and London. 

As required by the 2012 Health and Social Care 
Act, this strategy has been informed by the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), which looks 
at the current and future health and social care 
needs of residents. 

The JSNA 2017, was presented to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in January 2018 and used to 
inform the decision on the three priority themes 
used in this strategy: best start in life, early 
diagnosis and intervention and building resilience.

In addition to this, the 2018 JSNA has been 
created out in parallel to this strategy and can be 
found here (add the link). It contains population 
and demographic analysis, and data relating to 
each theme. 

 • Aligning demand with the most suitable 
  type of services, including reducing demand 
  via prevention and self-care
 • Supporting self-care, locally based care and 
  high-quality secondary care services
 • Ensuring that providers can overcome the 
  financial challenges that many are facing
 • Collaborating on specialised services
 • Developing a system-wide decision-making 
  model that enables place-based care and 
  partnership working
 • Better use of physical assets.

As a joint strategy, many of the priorities relate to 
collaboration and integration of services. There 
is already considerable partnership working 
between Barking and Dagenham, Redbridge 
and Havering, including the current review of 
urgent and emergency care services and the 
joint commissioning of a pharmaceutical needs 
assessment for the three boroughs.

This strategy also builds upon the transformation 
plans developed through Barking Havering and 
Redbridge Integrated Care Partnership.  Taking 
forward the planned 6 key areas - Older People, 
Planned Care, Cancer Transformation, Children 
and Maternity, Long-term conditions and Primary 
Care. 

A framework for person-centred care has also 
been developed as part of the STP which 
emphasises prevention and draws on the social 
determinants of health. Within this strategy, we will 
focus on outcomes-based commissioning and this 
model of person-centred care through the use of 
resident-created ‘I’ statements.

In order to create a condensed document, this 
strategy does not contain a detailed delivery plan. 
It will be the role of the Alliance of Providers and 
commissioners to outline the delivery plans and 
how they are held to account.

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

6 7

P
age 252



Equality and 
Diversity
The Equality and Diversity Strategy is the 
keystone of our policy framework and notes that 
the borough faces stark health inequalities at all 
stages of the life course and outlines the council’s 
commitments to work with partners to improve 
both physical and mental health outcomes in 
vulnerable and minority groups.

As required by the Equality Act 2010, an Equality 
Impact Assessment (EIA) has been completed 
to give regard to the impact of the priorities set 
out in this strategy on residents in Barking and 
Dagenham across the protected characteristics.

The EIA found that overall the Strategy has in 
place actions that will contribute to the reduction of 
existing barriers to equality and address potential 
inequalities, as its overarching purpose is to 
address the greatest need by reducing health 
inequalities through universal and targeted action.

Firstly, the strategy is data-driven, looking at what 
the current gaps in service provision are and to 
assess what current and future demand might 
look like so that we can use resources wisely and 
effectively. The three priorities for the strategy 
were decided by the Health and Wellbeing Board 
based on the findings of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment 2017. This data looks at all groups of 
residents, including those vulnerable groups listed 
in the Equality and Diversity Strategy. 

Secondly, this document contains a series of ‘I’ 
statements, which ensure that local communities 
are represented in the strategy. Resident focus-
groups have ensured that different groups of 
protected characteristics are represented in the 
co-production of this document. We have spoken 
to community groups with disabilities, LGBT+ Groups, 
Mental Health Peer Support Groups, Carers and 
Children in Care groups amongst others. We 
have also ensured a variety of ages, genders and 
ethnicities have been spoken to, and included 
these views within each theme of the strategy in 
the form of ‘I’ statements. These ‘I’ statements will 
encourage providers and commissioners to work 
around the needs of residents. 

The Full EIA can be found
(lbbd.gov.uk/INSERTLINK).

Engagement, 
Consultation and 
Co-Production 
As the NHS Five Year Forward View outlines, we 
need to engage with communities and residents 
in new ways, involving them directly in decisions 
about the future of health and care services. This 
strategy has been co-produced with Barking and 
Dagenham residents. Through our resident focus 
groups, residents’ thoughts have been included 
in the form of ‘I’ statements, outlining what good 
health means for residents, placing them at the 
heart of this strategy. These are included within 
each theme of the strategy and will be monitored by 
the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

We also held 3 successful professional workshops 
on each theme of the strategy in July, to discuss 
the outcomes and measures to be used within the 
strategy. The outcomes, measures and pledges 
within the strategy have been developed from 
conversations with stakeholders and residents.  

The outcomes within this strategy set out what we 
want to achieve in Barking and Dagenham, the 
principles detail our commitments within this and 
the measures demonstrate how we’ll check that 
partners are on track. The Alliance of Providers 
and commissioners will use this to create detailed 
delivery plans with actions that they will take 
forward over the next 5 years to help achieve our 
ambitious outcomes.

In return, every resident has the responsibility 
to play their part and make positive and healthy 
decisions for themselves, their families and the 
community. 

Vision and Priority 
Themes  
By 2023, as Barking and Dagenham continues 
to grow, residents will have improved health and 
wellbeing, with less health inequalities between 
Barking and Dagenham residents and the rest 
of London: no-one will be left behind. This will be 
achieved by focusing on the three priority areas 
where we have the largest potential to make a 
difference. Our residents will have increased 
resilience, empowered to not just survive, but to 
thrive. Residents will benefit from partners working 
together around their needs and priorities, focusing 
on outcomes, as opposed to a focus on process 
and outputs. 

These three priority themes were decided by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board in January 2018 when 
presented with the 2017 Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment:

Priority Theme 1
Best Start in Life
To give our residents healthy pregnancies and the 
best platform to grow, develop and explore in the 
first 7 years. Evidence demonstrates that the Early 
Years shape mental and physical health for the rest 
of life, and is therefore a key time to invest.

Priority Theme 2
Early Diagnosis and Intervention
To give our residents the best chance of recovering 
from illness or disease by removing barriers to  
Early Diagnosis and Intervention in 5 key areas  
– Cancer, Liver Disease, Mental Health, Diabetes  
and Sexual Health. Focusing on Early Diagnosis 
and Intervention improves outcomes for residents, 
while being cost-effective for our services.  

Priority Theme 3
Building Resilience
Enabling our residents to not just survive, but to 
thrive across the life course. Focusing on 4 key 
areas, each at a different stage in the life course, 
we will focus on building resilience in our residents, 
even in the face of adversity. 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

8 9

P
age 253



Priority 1  
Best Start in Life
Ensuring every child has the best start in life – 
To give our residents healthy pregnancies and 
the best platform to grow, develop and explore 
in the first 7 years.

Why Best Start in Life?
There is a strong case for focusing on the first 
5 years of life in Barking and Dagenham. As 
outlined in our 2018 JSNA, we have the highest 
proportion of residents aged 0-4 in the UK. 

We expect to have around 20,300 Under 5’s in 
the borough in 2019, with this projected to grow to 
21,600 by 2023. Our 2017 birth rate was also the 
highest in England and Wales at 82.56 live births 
per 1000 women between the ages of 15 and 44. 

The Marmot Review demonstrates that the first 5 
years of life have a huge impact on almost every 
aspect of physical and mental health for the rest of 
life, including obesity and mental health. We have 
opted to have our best start in life up until the age of 
7, because we want to ensure that we prioritise the 
transition from home into school. This is to prioritise 

Enablers: What needs to change? Our pledges

managing the transition between the school and 
home effectively, and focus on providing continuity 
of care from primary and home including play and 
communication. We also know that this transition 
period is a key time to identify and support our 
vulnerable children. Evidence from Public Health 
England demonstrates that for every £1 spent in 
the Early Years, £7 would have to be spent in 
adolescence to have the same impact on health. 

Ensuring that every resident has the best start in 
life so that they are ready to start school at the 
age of 5, both improves outcomes for residents 
and is cost-effective for our services. Evidence 
also shows that the Early Years are crucial for 
protecting against adverse experiences throughout 
life. Through working in partnership to help families 
navigate through the early parenting journey, and 
providing them with support, we can improve 
outcomes for residents throughout the life course. 
 
The number of Barking and Dagenham children 
who achieved a good level of development by 
the age of 5 is lower than London. In 2016/17, 
71.6% of children in the borough achieved a good 
level of development by the age of 5.

Therefore, we will focus on ensuring our residents 
have the best start in life, to give them the 
foundations for resilience for the rest of their lives. 

1. Resilience
Work to build up a 
universal level of 
resilience across all 
Early Years Services 
to provide our under 
8s with the building 
blocks for resilience 
that they need.

5. Co-production
With services we 
provide, putting 
residents at the heart 
of service design and 
the different ways in 
which residents have 
children. 

8. Providing quality 
services through 
our workforce
Ensure that our 
services are both 
clinically effective and 
cost-effective. We will 
work to ensure that 
our staff are trained 
with the skills our 
residents require to 
give their children the 
best start in life.

6. Family based 
approach
Take a family-based 
approach to increase 
prevention and 
reduce the impacts 
of adversity and 
challenges on children 
and young people.

9. Investigating the 
drivers of adversity
Work together to 
look at the factors 
driving adversity 
and challenges in 
partnership. 

10. Speaking straight
Have honest and open 
conversations with our 
residents about their 
child’s expected level 
of development by the 
age of 5, why this is 
important and how our 
services can support 
them. 

2. Seek alternative 
community solutions 
earlier
Focus our efforts on 
utilising alternatives  
and community 
solutions earlier, 
reserving specialist  
and statutory servcies 
for our most vulnerable 
residents. 

3. Safeguarding
Focus on protecting 
vulnerable children 
within our communities. 

7. Integrated care
Work in partnership 
to ensure that health 
and social care is 
personalised, and 
delivered in the right 
place at the right time 
- in community settings 
and close to home 
where possible.

4. A focus on 
communities where 
there is largest 
potential for impact
Focus on the first 
7 years, because 
evidence shows this 
is a key time to invest 
to influence outcomes 
through-out adulthood.

Credit ©Jimmy Lee

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

10 11

P
age 254



Outcome 1
To increase the percentage of 
children in Barking and Dagenham 
who are best prepared to start school 
by the age of 5.

To ensure that children in Barking and Dagenham 
have the best start in life, we will look at outcome 
measures across the life-course. These were  
co-created by participants:

 • Decreased number of women smoking at the 
  time of delivery

 • Increased immunisation rates (at MMR2)

 • Higher proportion of children receiving their 
  2 year developmental check

 • Increased % of Barking and Dagenham 
  children achieving a good level of social and
  emotional development by the age of 5

 • Increased % of Barking and Dagenham 
  children achieving a good level of 
  development by the age of 5

 • Decreased obesity prevalence in reception 
  aged children (National Child Measurement 
  Programme)

‘I’ statements produced through 
resident focus groups

The below ‘I’ statements have been 
formulated through resident focus groups – 
they describe a good standard of health and 
wellbeing in relation to best start in life:

‘I’ statement 1
I am provided with information about how best 
to ensure my child’s health and development

‘I’ statement 2
I am supported to meet other parents in the 
community

‘I’ statement 3
I am supported to make healthy choices for 
me and my child

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

13

P
age 255



Priority 2  
Early Diagnosis and 
Intervention 
To give our residents the best chance of 
recovering from illness or disease by removing 
barriers to Early Diagnosis and Intervention 
in 5 key areas – Cancer, Liver Disease, Mental 
Health, Diabetes and Sexual Health

Why Early Diagnosis and Intervention?
As outlined in our JSNA 2018, our residents are 
affected by long-term conditions more than we 
would like. We have the highest rate of deaths 
from cancer considered preventable in London. 
Despite our young population, we have the third 
highest prevalence of chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease (COPD) in London, and the 
second highest rate of emergency COPD-related 
hospital admissions. 

Barking and Dagenham also has the third 
highest proportion of late HIV diagnosis in 
London – people whose HIV infection is diagnosed 
late have a 10-fold increased risk of dying within 
the first year, compared to those diagnosed early. 

Early diagnosis and intervention can decrease 
avoidable mortality, social costs, dependence on 
service and complications in care and management 
for a range of conditions. It is therefore key to 
improving outcomes for individuals and 
communities, while helping health services 
to effectively manage demand.

Working across partners, prioritising early diagnosis 
and intervention and looking how we can improve 
the patient journey from diagnosis can create real 
change for residents and our health care system. 
Early diagnosis and intervention decreases 
avoidable mortality, social costs, dependence 
on services and complications in care and 
management. 

Enablers: What needs to change? Our pledges

9. Investigating the 
drivers of adversity
Work together to 
look at the factors 
driving adversity 
and challenges in 
partnership. 

10. Speaking straight
Have honest and open 
conversations with our 
residents about their 
health, how services 
can support them and 
manage expectations 
around waiting times, 
and treatment delays.

3. Safeguarding
Focus on protecting 
vulnerable children 
and adults within our 
communities. 

1. Resilience
Work to build up a 
universal level of 
resilience to generate 
new ways of thinking 
around their long- 
term conditions.

2. Seek alternative 
community solutions 
earlier
Focus our efforts on 
early intervention and 
prevention. We will use 
social prescribing to 
reduce the demand to 
our high-cost specialist 
services.

4. A focus on 
communities where 
there is largest 
potential for impact
Focus on the five 
conditions which 
have been identified 
as having the largest 
potential for impacts.

5. Co-production
Put residents at the 
heart of service design 
to ensure that our 
services are designed 
around the needs of 
our residents, and 
their support needs.

6. Family based 
approach
Take a family-based  
approach to supporting 
residents with long-
term conditions. We 
hugely value the role 
of unpaid carers.

7. Integrated care
Work in partnership 
to ensure that health 
and social care is 
personalised, and 
delivered in the right 
place at the right time 
- in community settings 
and close to home 
where possible. 

8. Providing quality 
services through 
our workforce
Ensure that our 
services are safe-and 
evidence-based, and 
cost-effective. We will 
work to ensure that 
our staff are trained 
to provide the support 
our residents require.

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

14 15

P
age 256



Outcome 2
To increase healthy life expectancy 
by removing barriers to early 
diagnosis and intervention in  
5 key areas.

To achieve the ‘Borough Manifesto’ target of 
healthy life expectancy better than the London 
average by 2037, we will look at the following 
outcome measures across the 5 key conditions  
to improve early diagnosis and intervention.  
These were co-created by participants at our  
Early Diagnosis and Intervention workshop in July: 

 • Increased uptake in screening programmes  
  in the eligible population

 • Increased proportion of NHS health checks 
  completed in eligible population

 • Decreased proportion of HIV diagnosis 
  diagnosed late

 • Increased proportion of cancers diagnosed 
  at an early stage 

‘I’ statements produced through 
resident focus groups

The below ‘I’ statements have been 
formulated through resident focus groups – 
they describe a good standard of health and 
wellbeing in relation to early diagnosis and 
intervention:

‘I’ statement 4
I feel my mental health conditions are 
treated with the same respect as my physical 
conditions without stigma

‘I’ statement 5
When I am diagnosed, my family and I know 
where to find community support services, 
including emotional support

‘I’ statement 6
When I am diagnosed, I am supported with 
the information about my condition I need to 
make decisions and choices

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

17

P
age 257



Priority 3  
Building Resilience
Empowering our residents to not just survive, 
but to thrive across the life-course. 

Why resilience?
As outlined in our 2018 JSNA, we know that our 
residents face more health inequality and adversity 
in a range of areas than we would like. Our 
Borough Manifesto also highlights the scale of  
the challenge in Barking and Dagenham.

Outcomes for residents are towards the bottom 
of most London league tables. The graph below 
shows where Barking and Dagenham aspires to 
be in London league tables by 2037, alongside 
where we were in 2017 and where we are now in 
2018. The graph shows our performance one year 
into the 20-year vision of the Manifesto. Shifting 
outcomes up the league tables in sustainable ways 
will take years, and even decades to achieve. 
The targets are deliberately long-term in nature:

The 10 themes in the Borough Manifesto can 
all be seen as structural factors that impact on 
resilience – these themes empower residents to 
build resilience at a structural level. The below 
graphic demonstrates that looking at the interlink 
between these structural factors, well-being and 
social capital is important to understand how we 
can empower residents to build resilience:

Trauma-informed intervention models raise 
awareness of the impact that adversity and 
trauma can have on an individual. The borough’s 
Community Safety Partnership are also looking at 
using trauma-informed models to look at problems 
such as gang violence and substance misuse. 
Some of the above structural factors are also 

14

25

28

14 14

17 18
19

25
26

17
18

19 20

23

3231
29

17

31

27

30 3031 30 30
3232 3231

3232
30

32

11
12 13

18

31 31

Borough Manifesto Targets 2017 2018 2037

An
ti-

so
ci

al
 B

eh
av

io
ur

H
ea

lth
y 

W
ei

gh
t

H
ea

lth
y 

M
al

e 
Li

fe
 E

xp
ec

ta
nc

y

H
ea

lth
y 

Fe
m

al
e 

Li
fe

 E
xp

ec
ta

nc
y

W
as

te

Pe
rs

on
al

 H
ap

pi
ne

ss
 a

nd
 W

el
lb

ei
ng

R
ec

yc
lin

g

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
In

co
m

e

Su
rv

iv
al

 o
f N

ew
 B

us
in

es
se

s

C
yc

lin
g

W
al

ki
ng

Ed
uc

at
io

na
l A

tta
in

m
en

t

U
ne

m
pl

oy
m

en
t

D
om

es
tic

 V
io

le
nc

e 
an

d 
Ab

us
e

2. Well-being

Feeling good and 
functioning well
(NEF)

3. Social capital

Benefits from social
connections and 

norms

Community

Family

Individual

1. Structural factors

Resilience

Education

Employment, Skills
and Enterprise

Regeneration
and Housing

Community
and Cohesion Environment Fairness

Health
and Social Care

Crime
and Safety

Arts, Culture
and Leisure

protective factors within these trauma-informed 
intervention models – for instance, evidence 
demonstrates that educational attainment and 
community participation reduces the risk of young 
people being involved in violence. 

Credit ©Jimmy Lee

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

18 19

P
age 258



Solving these complex problems requires partners 
to work together and develop a place-based system 
of health and care and an integrated approach to
prevention. A collective approach is required, where 
all agencies have a shared agenda for change, 
including a common understanding of the problem. 

Building resilience 
‘the ability to cope with 
adversity and adapt 
to change’
Source: PHE (2016)

Our Approach

Resilience operates differently at different levels, and 
a one-size fits all approach won’t work. A targeted 
approach will allow us to focus on the challenges 
at hand and increase prevention. Building resilience 
in all our residents, many of whom don’t regularly 
access council, police or NHS services, requires 
a very different approach to those residents who 
need a bit more help, and are already in regular 
contact with some of our services.

Similarly, our residents who are in regular touch 
with some of our services, require a different 
approach to our most vulnerable residents, who  
are accessing our statutory and specialist services. 

Prioritising early help for residents can improve 
residents’ health and wellbeing, while importantly 
reducing demand for specialist and statutory 
services. To build resilience, evidence by Public 
Health England talks about how we can do this at 
three levels – individual, family and community:

As our residents’ transition through the life-course, 
we also need to ensure that the support to maintain 
and build their resilience is there. 

The role of this strategy is with limited resource to 
focus on the areas that have the largest potential to 
improve the health and wellbeing of residents over 
the next 5 years – we will work to build resilience 
across all these levels to empower and re-empower 
all communities and increase prevention. To do this, 
we will work towards achieving four outcomes, each 
looking at an area of the life-course and focusing 
on where we can have the biggest impact on the 
health and wellbeing of our residents in these areas.

Enablers: What needs to change? Our pledges

1. Resilience
Work to build up a 
universal level of 
resilience.

5. Co-production
Put residents at the 
heart of service design 
to ensure that our 
services are designed 
around the needs of 
our residents, and 
their support needs.

8. Providing quality 
services through 
our workforce
Ensure that our 
services are safe-and 
evidence-based, and 
cost-effective. We will 
work to ensure that 
our staff are trained 
to provide the support 
our residents require.

12. Mobilising 
communities
Work to use formal  
and informal community 
resources to help foster 
shared responsibility 
and support.

6. Family based 
approach
Commit to take 
a family-based 
approach to deal with 
domestic violence  
and abuse, child 
sexual exploitation 
and abuse.

9. Investigating the 
drivers of adversity
Work together to 
look at the factors 
driving adversity and 
challenges we’re 
facing in the borough.

10. Speaking straight
Have honest and open 
conversations with our 
residents about the 
signs of DVA, CSE  
and serious crime, 
where to get help and 
why we need to work 
together to tackle 
these problems.

2. Seek alternative 
community solutions 
earlier
Work to use alternative 
and community 
solutions earlier, 
working with the 
community and 
voluntary sector”

3. Safeguarding
Focus on protecting 
vulnerable children 
and adults within our 
communities. 

7. Integrated care
Work in partnership 
to ensure that health 
and social care is 
personalised, and 
delivered in the right 
place at the right time 
- in community settings 
and close to home 
where possible. 

11. Peer to Peer
Work to use peer to 
peer models to make 
a difference to engage 
with survivors of DVA, 
CSE and serious 
crime.

4. A focus on 
communities where 
there is largest 
potential for impact
Focus on residents  
who need a bit more 
help in key areas that 
evidence demonstrates 
impacts resilience.

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

20 21

P
age 259



Outcome 3
Improved multi-agency support 
for those with Adverse Childhood 
Experiences

The framework of Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs) can help us to understand how a focus 
on building resilience, early intervention and an 
awareness of the impact of trauma can improve 
residents’ health and wellbeing. ACEs are defined 
as traumatic experiences that occur before the 
age of 18 and have impacts on a range of mental, 
social and physical health issues for the rest of 
adulthood. These include abuse, neglect,  
domestic violence and substance misuse.

The more ACEs an individual experiences in 
childhood, the greater the risk to their overall 
health and wellbeing. Research demonstrates 
that those who face four or more ACEs within 
childhood are significantly more likely to have  
a range of health and social related problems.

Evidence also suggests that those suffering 
from ACEs are more likely to have higher 
GP use, greater use of emergency care and 
increased hospitalisation. The more ACEs an 
individual experiences in their childhood, the more 
their interaction with health services throughout 
adulthood.

These impacts show the benefits that a two-tier 
approach of provision and prevention to resilience 
can have. We have a range of strategic documents 
that outline how we will specifically focus on 
tackling these key challenges. For instance,  
Our Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy 
2018-2022 outlines our approach to Domestic 
Violence and Abuse, and our 2018-2021Community 
Safety Partnership outlines our approach to 
tackling serious violence and hate crime and 
extremism. Our Local Safeguarding Children’s 
Board Early Help Strategy outlines our approach 
to intervening early in cases of neglect, and abuse. 

If we can intervene before these problems become 
a crisis, we can help individuals while reducing the 
demand for our health, social and wider council 
services. Working across partners to look at the 
journey our residents face when dealing with 
these issues, and in particular their journey when 
referred to social care, will help us to make real 
changes to residents’ lives. 

Looking at Adverse Childhood Experiences is also 
a way in which the Community Safety Plan 2018-
2021 will work to achieve its priority of keeping 
children and young people safe. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board will work with the Community 
Safety Partnership to tackle the impacts of 
Adverse Childhood Experiences in partnership 
and increase awareness of the impact of trauma 
on behaviour: 

Heart
Disease
2.9 times

more likely

COPD
almost 4
times as

likely

Been hit in
the last 12

months
5.2 times

more likely

Cancer
1.6 times

more likely

Suicide
12.2 times
more likely

Been in
prison or 

cells in the
last 12 
months
7.9 times

more likely

To measure our progress, we will look at the 
following resilience measures over the next 5 
years:
 • Improved engagement rate through specialist 
  advocacy Domestic Violence services
 • Increased % of drug service users with 
  trauma-informed care programmes and 
  completion rates
 • Increased number of early help referrals from 
  ComSol Triage to Support visited within 72 
  hours 
 • Increased IAPT (Improving Access to 
  Psychological Therapies) completion rate per 
  100,000 population
 • Decrease % of young people reporting an 
  acceptance of unhealthy behaviours in school 
  survey

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

23

P
age 260



Outcome 6
Ageing Well: An increased level of 
residents who age well

All residents have the right to age well with dignity, 
independence and autonomy. To help monitor our 
progress, over the next 5 years we will look at the 
following resilience measures: 

 • Reduced number of first time and recurrent 
  falls in Barking and Dagenham 

 • Decreased % of adult social care users who 
  would like more social contact

 • Decreased % of adult carers who would like 
  more social contact

 • Increased % of life in good health (healthy 
  life expectancy as a proportion of life 
  expectancy) 

Outcome 7
A borough with zero tolerance to 
Domestic Abuse that tackles 
underlying causes, challenges 
perpetrators, and empowers survivors 

Domestic abuse has severe long-lasting and 
wide-ranging social, health and economic impacts 
in Barking and Dagenham. It is not ok, and we 
will not tolerate it. We will work differently across 
partners around domestic violence across the life 
course, to re-empower domestic abuse survivors 
to thrive in our communities, and to take a zero 
tolerance approach to abusive behaviours. To 
help monitor our progress and to hold ourselves 
accountable, over the next 5 years we will look at 
the following resilience measures:

 • Improved engagement rate through specialist
  advocacy Domestic Violence services

 • Reduced number of child-in-need re-referrals
  related to Domestic Abuse

 • Decreased % of young people reporting an 
  acceptance of unhealthy behaviours in school
  survey

Outcome 4
Aspiration: Increased level of 
educational attainment, skills  
and employment

Worklessness is an important public health issue. 
There is strong evidence that shows that for most 
of the population, being in ‘good’ work is better for 
residents’ mental and physical health, than being 
out of work. The income from work also allows 
residents to meet their basic needs and withstand 
financial shocks.

Within the borough, 6.9% of working age people 
are unemployed, higher than the London average 
of 5.7%. We also know that 32% of working people 
who live in the borough are paid below the London 
living wage. 15% of residents are estimated to 
be in elementary occupations, compared to the 
London average of 9%. 

The Borough Manifesto’ targets those with Level 1 
and 4 skills to be better than the London average, 
and for unemployment to be lower than the 
London average by 2037. To help achieve this, 
over the next 5 years we will look at the following 
resilience measures:

 • Increased attendance levels from those who 
  are persistently absent from school

 • Increased % of those with Level 1, Level 3 
  and Level 4 skills (attainment) 

 • Reduced % of 16-17 years old who are not in
  employment, education or training (NEET) 

 • Increased % of Barking and Dagenham Job 
  Shop outcomes sustained 

 • % of young people feeling optimistic about
  the future (Schools Survey)

Outcome 5
To improve physical and mental 
wellbeing 

At an individual level, living well at any age has 
huge impacts on resilience, health and wellbeing. 
Evidence links participation in the community, 
feelings of safety and physical activity levels to 
wellbeing. 

The Borough Manifesto’ sets an ambition for 
healthy weight to be better than the East London 
average by 2037, personal wellbeing and 
happiness to be above the London average, 
healthy life expectancy to be better than London 
average and rate of regular physical activity to be 
higher than East London by 2037. To help achieve 
these targets, over the next 5 years we will look at 
the following resilience measures:

 • Reduced level of physical inactivity levels
 
 • Increased residents using outdoor space for 
  physical activity
 
 • Increased residents participating in the 
  community 

 • Perceived community harmony (%) – think 
  that the neighbourhood is an area where 
  people get on well together (residents survey)

 • Proportion of residents feeling safe in their 
  local area during the day, and after dark 
 
 • Mental Health – “During your last general 
  practice appointment, did you feel that 
  the healthcare professional recognised and/
  or understood any mental health needs that 
  you might have had?” (Annual GP survey)

‘I’ statements produced through 
resident focus groups

The below ‘I’ statements have been formulated 
through resident focus groups – they describe 
a good standard of health and wellbeing in 
relation to early diagnosis and intervention:

‘I’ statement 7
I feel safe in my home and in my family, and 
my community, and I know where to go for help

‘I’ statement 8
I have opportunities to connect to individuals 
and communities

‘I’ statement 9
I can access mental health support services 
when I need them

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

24 25

P
age 261



References and links to supporting 
documents 
List and link all relevant documents to support the strategy, including: 

Health and Wellbeing Board Reports 
- Barking and Dagenham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2018 - 
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/Joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategy-2015-18.pdf 
- Barking and Dagenham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2017 - 
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/JSNA-2017-report.pdf 
- Creation of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Barking and Dagenham Health and Wellbeing Board, March 
2017 https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/Internet/documents/s121000/Item%208.%20Creation%20of%20the%20Joint%20
Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy.pdf 
- Update on Development of Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Barking and Dagenham Health and Wellbeing 
Board, September 2018 - https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/internet/documents/s125718/JHWS%20Update%20Report.pdf 

Best Start in Life
Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Boyce T, McNeish D, Grady M, et al. Fair Society, Healthy Lives: 
The Marmot Review. London: UCL; 2010 - 
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review 
- PHE, Health Matters: Ensuring all children have the best start in life 
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2015/08/10/ensuring-all-children-have-the-best-start-in-life/, 2015

Early Diagnosis and Intervention
- PHE, Public Health Outcomes Framework - http://www.phoutcomes.info/.

Building Resilience
- Institute of Health Inequality, The Impact of Adverse Experiences in the home on children and young people, 2015 
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/the-impact-of-adverse-experiences-in-the-home-on-children-
and-young-people/impact-of-adverse-experiences-in-the-home.pdf
- Bellis M, Hughes K, Hardcastle K, Ashton K, Ford K et al. The impact of childhood experiences on health service 
use across the life course using a retrospective cohort study, Journal of Health Services Research and Policy 
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5549819/. 2017 
ONS. Understanding well-being inequalities: Who has the poorest personal well being? 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articlesunderstandingwellbeinginequalitieswho 
hasthepoorestpersonalwellbeing/2018-07-11, 2014

Key documents
- JSNA 2018
- EIA

Internal documents/strategies which inform this strategy 
- Barking and Dagenham Together: Borough Manifesto - 
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/Barking-and-Dagenham-Together-Borough-Manifesto.pdf 
- Borough Manifesto targets rationale - https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/Targets-rationale.pdf 
- State of the Borough: Barking and Dagenham 2018 - https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/
State%20of%20the%20Borough%20report-compressed.pdf 
- North East London Sustainability and Transformation Plan, 2016 - http://eastlondonhcp.nhs.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2017/06/NEL-STP-draft-policy-in-development-21-October-2016.pdf 
- Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy (VAWG Strategy)
- Community Safety Plan 2019-2022

Governance  
Producing the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy is a statutory requirement of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. The outcomes 
and measures featured within this strategy 
will form the performance monitoring report 
which goes to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board every quarter and will be discussed 
by the board.

This strategy will be used by commissioners 
and the Alliance of Providers to create a 
detailed delivery plan, which notes the 
outputs and workstreams that will help us 
to achieve these outcomes. 

Performance management arrangements 
have been developed for the strategy in 
order to measure its effectiveness. This 
ensures responsibility and accountability of 
the outcomes and measures within it. The 
Health and Wellbeing Board will hold NHS 
and social care organisations to account 
through the strategy.

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023

27

P
age 262



Council of the Year

©2018 London Borough of Barking and Dagenham    |    Publication reference number: MC8563    |    Date: December 2018

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

15 January 2019

Title: Integrated Care Partnership Update

Report of the Cabinet Member for Social Care & Health Integration

Open Report For Information

Report Author: 
Mark Tyson, Commissioning Director, Adults’ Care & 
Support
Mark Eaton, Director of Recovery, BHR CCGs (NHS 
recovery plan, section 5) 

Contact Details:
E-mail: mark.tyson@lbbd.gov.uk

Board Sponsor:  Cllr Maureen Worby, Cabinet Member for Social Care & Health 
Integration, Chair of the Health & Wellbeing Board

Summary: 

The transformation of the health and social care economy for Barking & Dagenham, 
Havering and Redbridge is being managed through the BHR Integrated Care Partnership 
(ICP).  The ICP Board is chaired by Cllr Maureen Worby, Cabinet Member for Social 
Care & Health Integration in London Borough of Barking & Dagenham.  

The ICPB held a special session on 31 October, in which members of the Board 
reviewed the current position on governance, transformation priorities, and future 
developments of the ICPB work plan.  The discussion was positive, and reaffirmed all 
parties’ commitment to the Partnership, whilst also pushing for a clearer emphasis on 
tackling wider determinants of poor health and increasing the pace around delivering 
demonstrable change.  At the close of the workshop, the Chair issued a challenge to 
provide three clear, publicly demonstrable outcomes that would result from the 
collaborative work of the ICPB; this is currently being worked on by partners. 

This report summarises the position on governance, the current transformation 
programme priorities, and the areas that are being considered by the Board for the future 
development of the programme.  It also includes an overview of the NHS Financial 
Recovery Plan, which is being managed alongside the wider ICPB programme. 

It is for the Health & Wellbeing Board to note, and to provided feedback for shaping the 
future direction of the programme. 

Recommendation(s)

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

(i) Note the content of this report, where it details the governance and current 
direction of travel of the Integrated Care Partnership, including the issues that 
arose from its recent consideration of the programme so far; 

Page 265

AGENDA ITEM 9



(ii) Note the proposals around locality boards and any considerations around how this 
might be established;

(iii) Provide any comment back to the Integrated Care Partnership Board on the work 
that it is undertaking, and how the Health & Wellbeing Board can be more 
meaningfully involved in future; 

(iv) Agree the proposal that a further report comes back which outlines the ways in 
which the ICPB work programmes will support delivery of the Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy. 

(v) Note the presentation on the NHS Financial Recovery Programme and discuss the 
key areas of focus and any areas of concern raised by the proposed approach; 
and

(vi) Agree how the HWBB would like to receive the final version of the Recovery Plan 
when it has been updated following Regulator feedback.

Reason(s)

The Integrated Care Partnership is a collaborative programme for delivering sustainability 
in the health and care services of Barking & Dagenham, Havering and Redbridge.  It 
does not replace the decision-making arrangements of the constituent partners at this 
point, and therefore it is important that the Health & Wellbeing Board is able to review 
progress and influence the direction that the work is taking. 

1. Background

1.1 This report builds upon the previous update received by the Board in March 2018 
(minute 68) and subsequent inclusion of minutes from Integrated Care Partnership 
Board meetings in the agenda packs.  

1.2 At a workshop attended by ICPB members on Wednesday 31 October, the Board 
reaffirmed the BHR ICP vision, the importance of focussing on developing resilience 
and focussing on prevention, and confirmed partners commitment to working 
together to deliver against the identified challenges in the local health and care 
system.

1.3 At the conclusion of the workshop, the Chair of the ICP Board issued a clear 
challenge to senior leaders to develop a clear way forward for the Integrated Care 
Partnership, craft a more coherent narrative about the benefits to be delivered, and 
to identify three big tangible changes that will be delivered in the year ahead.  This 
work is underway, with consideration being given to it at both the Provider Alliance 
and the Joint Commissioning Board, to bring the thinking together for the January 
2019 meeting of the ICP Board.

Page 266



2. Governance of the Partnership

2.1 The vision and structure of the Partnership is outlined at Appendix 1, including the 
reporting lines of the Joint Commissioning Board, Provider Alliance and Health & 
Care Cabinet.  These are the three main operating groups for the Partnership, and 
their roles are:

 The Joint Commissioning Board takes a system overview of the contracting and 
planning arrangements for health and care services, and ensures that 
competing or duplicating contracts and incentives are removed;

 The Provider Alliance brings together the providers of services to plan and 
deliver the new ways to deliver health and care services that will be needed in 
an integrated care system;

 The Health & Care Cabinet is a professional and clinical collaborative that 
shapes the priorities of the emerging integrated care system and ensures that all 
developments are influenced by clinical and professional experience and 
perspective. 

2.2 The governance also includes the relationship with regulators, NHS England and 
NHS Improvement in particular, acting together in a single oversight of the health 
and care system.  This is a significant step, and only achievable because there is a 
clear structure for collaborating across BHR.  This allows a single conversation with 
the regulators about the financial pressures applying across the system, rather than 
resting with any single agency.  Whilst it is more relevant at this point in an NHS 
context, it is helpful to NHS partners to be able to operate in this way, and therefore 
assists the collaboration with local authorities on responding to the priorities that are 
locally determined. 

3. Transformation priorities

3.1 The Partnership brings together the long-term ambitions to transform services with 
the immediate priorities for system recovery and savings requirements for partners.  
It is intended that the response to immediate pressures is therefore evaluated in the 
context of what delivers the long-term vision of an integrated care system. 

3.2 Since the last update, a set of transformation workstreams have been established.  
Four of these are the primary focus of the Integrated Care Partnership Board itself, 
whilst others are being run by NHS partners under the principles and general overall 
direction set by the ICPB.  The four main priority areas are:

 Older People and Frailty;

 Mental Heath;

 Children & Young People; and

 Long-Term Conditions.

3.3 There is currently a significant amount of work being undertaken to ensure that the 
plans that are being established are genuinely reflective of all partners’ agency 

Page 267



priorities wherever possible.  A local authority lead and a clinical health-sector lead 
is being identified for each transformation workstream. 

3.4 Appendix 2 sets out the transformation programme structure.

3.5 In addition, Barking Riverside is a key priority project of the Integrated Care 
Partnership.  This is dealt with elsewhere on the agenda, but the establishment of 
locality governance is an important element of establishing joint oversight between 
the ICPB and the Health & Wellbeing Board. 

4. Integrated Care Partnership Board: agreement to the programme

4.1 Whilst the ICPB has agreed this programme in broad terms, and supported the 
development of the governance which will allow a better mechanism for 
collaboration, there are a number of areas that they have signalled for further 
development.  These are:

 A requirement to focus on developing resilience, prevention and self-care in 
order to reduce demand for acute hospital services and long term health and 
care arrangements;

 A substantial, system-wide, financial deficit, exacerbated by significant 
population growth not currently reflected in increased funding allocations;

 Difficulties in separating the wood from the trees, in mobilising a complex 
programme, ensuring joint ownership and in developing and communicating a 
coherent and compelling narrative.

4.2 It also identified some opportunities:

 The opportunity to re-focus the narrative and to identify three key priorities for 
the year ahead and to communicate these effectively to Cabinet Members, 
senior leaders, partners, staff and residents;

 Work underway to refresh Health and Wellbeing Strategies and provide a clear 
strategic and borough specific context for the Integrated Care Programme;

Specific areas for development

4.3 Prevention and Resilience
It is recognised that a greater focus is required on building resilience and that the 
existing approach of requiring that prevention activity featured in the work 
programme of each transformation priority was insufficient.  A stronger approach 
across the Partnership’s activity, supported by the wider input of local authorities 
together with their Public Health colleagues, and linked to the three Health & 
Wellbeing Strategies is therefore required.

4.4 Localities and Health and Wellbeing Boards  
At the workshop it was recognised that while localities feature heavily in the ICP 
vision, there is currently insufficient visibility or focus on how this approach is being 
delivered.  Localities need to be more clearly visible in the programme delivery.  At 
the same time, fresh thinking is required about how best to engage H&WB Boards 

Page 268



in the ICP programme.  An option that was discussed, which accords with 
discussions at Barking & Dagenham’s Health & Wellbeing Board, was that HWBBs 
could provide a mechanism for championing localities, ensuring locally-drive change 
is delivered on the ground, and for ensuring that ‘place’ is central to place-based 
care approaches. 

4.5 Clarity and transparency
There was criticism at the workshop that while on the one hand small issues 
gravitated upwards to the ICPB, it was not always clear where decisions are being 
made or who is being held accountable.  Consideration therefore needs to be given 
to where decisions are best taken, the mechanism for holding different bodies and 
organisations accountable, and for preventing duplication.  In general terms: 

 The ICPB should be used for big decisions, after due consideration by the 
appropriate governance of partners, focussing on strategy, managing sub 
regional and acute contracts;

 The JCB should act as a Programme Board, holding Transformation Streams to 
account and ensuring that these are jointly owned, adequately resourced and 
accountable for delivery;

 The Health and Care Cabinet is responsible for providing clinical assurance, 
direction and oversight;

 Transformation Boards should operate consistently and be accountable to the 
JCB.

This also related to the discussion about the meaningful involvement of Health & 
Wellbeing Boards. 

4.6 Communication and Engagement
The Partnership needs to do much better: co-design needs to feature in each 
transformation stream, better ways of working with the community sector are 
required.  As well as clinical leadership, localities require citizen involvement and 
local leadership.  A substantial programme of communication is required to set out 
the purpose and successes of the Integrated Care Programme.

4.7 Joint Transformation Fund
This has been identified as a priority in order to give clear resources that help the 
collaborative work to have impact; it was agreed that this should be progressed 
further.

4.8 System-wide Health and Care Budget
Work is underway as part of the submission to NHSE of a Financial Plan in 
December 2018 to create a single system-wide budget position.  However, given 
timescales this is currently a more NHS-focused activity, and will need to be further 
developed to include a meaningful understanding of the local authority contribution 
to a system budget.  As well as setting out a route towards equilibrium, 
consideration should also be given to how to prioritise investment in prevention, 
localities and resilience and how to operationalise a capitated approach to 
budgeting, where appropriate.

Page 269



4.9 Other issues that should be in scope
There was some discussion about the omission of issues around disability, 
including learning disability, in the scope of the programme (for example, the 
reporting lines of the Transforming Care Programme Board) and that, since this was 
a major concern for local authorities, it should have greater prominence.  This was 
also the case for some of the routine joint planning forums such as A&E Delivery 
Board. 

Next steps for the ICPB

4.10 The above issues have all been considered by the Joint Commissioning Board, with 
various ways forward being proposed.  

4.11 Partners are considering the establishment of a joint programme office for 2019/20 
which will ensure that there is the resource in place to set the pace that is desired 
by all partners. Mark Eaton, Director of Recovery for BHR CCGs has established 
resources to support the transformation programmes, and partners need to consider 
their contributions to form a jointly owned programme office. 

4.12 The BHR Directors of Public Health, have proposed a framework of measures 
around prevention which will be considered by the Joint Commissioning Board on 
28 January 2019, and which sets outcome indicators under four domains: the wider 
determinants of health; our health behaviour and lifestyles; the places and 
communities in which we live; and an integrated care system.  This is intended to 
help to reframe the discussion on the transformation priorities.

4.13 All organisations’ communications leads are engaged in a network, led by Rowan 
Taylor, Head of Communications for BHR CCGs, and are beginning to consider the 
staff and public communication priorities to support delivery of the transformation 
workstreams. 

5. NHS Financial Recovery Programme

5.1 The presentation attached at Appendix 3 is provided to give the HWBB an update 
on the progress of the Financial Recovery Plan for the BHR System that is being 
jointly submitted by the CCGs, BHR University Trust (BHRUT) and NELFT (North 
East London Foundation Trust) to bring the NHS Partners/System back to financial 
balance by March 2021.

5.2 The document was submitted to regulators (NHS England for the CCGs and NHS 
Improvement for BHRUT and NELFT) in December 2018 and will be approved with 
any revisions by the partner boards in January 2019 during which process the 
document will be made fully available to the public, partners and wider 
stakeholders.

5.3 This is an ambitious plan that relies on transforming services and improving 
outcomes for patients as the core driver for financial recovery across multiple 
organisations and which will have both financial benefits to and will need support 
from our Social Care and Public Health colleagues.

Page 270



6. Next steps and issues for the Health & Wellbeing Board to consider

6.1 The Health & Wellbeing Board will wish to note the governance and transformation 
plans for the Integrated Care Partnership. 

6.2 The Board may wish to consider the plan for the establishment of the Locality 4 
Board for Barking Riverside, and how the other locality boards may be established 
in order to strengthen the role of the Health & Wellbeing Board is overseeing 
delivery of ICPB programmes in Barking & Dagenham.

6.3 It may also want to decide on what further routine reporting the Health & Wellbeing 
Board would want in order to be assured that they have a routine input and 
oversight of the delivery of the ICPB agenda in this borough, and that it delivers the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy. 

6.4 Finally, the Board will wish to be assured that the work of the ICPB is supporting 
delivery of its Health & Wellbeing Strategy.  Now that there is an emerging stronger 
transformation plan for the ICPB, and the HWBS has been agreed in final form, the 
HWBB may want to request a further report in due course setting out the ways in 
which the ICP programme delivers the Health & Wellbeing Strategy.

7. Mandatory Implications

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

7.1 The ICPB programme is based upon the analysis that informed the Strategic 
Outline Case for the Accountable Care System, which was itself drawn from the 
analytical work of the three public health teams which was set out in the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessments.  The programme is consistent with delivering the 
findings of the JSNA in Barking & Dagenham. 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy

7.2 The new Health & Wellbeing Strategy has three key priorities: early identification of 
disease; best start in life; and resilience.  The work of the ICPB, and the 
transformation priorities that have been identified, provides the framework in which 
these priorities can be taken forward.  It is difficult at this point to draw the precise 
connections between the Strategy and the ICPB transformation priorities.  It is 
recommended that this be brought back as a further report. 

Integration

7.3 The fundamental purpose of the Integrated Care Partnership arrangements is to 
facilitate the integration of services, both in Barking & Dagenham (through locality 
delivery arrangements) and across BHR. 

Page 271



Financial Implications (completed by: Katherine Heffernan, Group Manager, 
Serice Finance) 

7.4 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report which is an 
update for the Health and Wellbeing Board on work currently underway. Where 
some of matters touched on in this report have financial implications in future for the 
Council and its partners these will need to be taken formally through our 
governance processes and the implications will be considered in full at that point as 
part of our normal due diligence.  

Legal Implications (completed by: Dr. Paul Feild Senior Governance Solicitor

7.5 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 conferred the responsibility for health 
improvement to local authorities. In addition, the Council as a best value authority 
under the Local Government Act 1999 has a duty to secure continuous 
improvement in services. The Health and Well-Being Board terms of reference 
established its function to ensure that the providers of health and social care 
services work in their delivery in an integrated manner. 

Risk Management

7.6 None. 

Patient/Service User Impact

7.7 These work outlined in this paper seeks to deliver an improved and sustainable 
health and care system, with greater transparency and accountability for changes to 
health and care services which are planned either in Barking & Dagenham, or 
across BHR or ELHCP, for service users, patients and residents. 

8. Non-mandatory Implications

8.1 None

9. List of Appendices:

Appendix 1: Vision and Structure of the Integrated Care Partnership

Appendix 2: Structure of the Transformation Programme for the BHR ICP 

Appendix 3: NHS System Recovery Plan presentation

Page 272



The vision behind our integrated care journey

“To accelerate improved health and 
wellbeing outcomes for the people of 
Barking & Dagenham, Havering and 
Redbridge and deliver sustainable 

provision of high quality health and 
wellbeing services”.  

✓ Priorities of the three borough Health & Wellbeing Strategies
✓ Close the sustainability gap in services in health and care
✓ Deliver the priorities for local people set out in the Sustainability & 

Transformation Plan for North East London

P
age 273

adawson_3
Text Box
APPENDIX 1



BHR Integrated Care Partnership

✓ Strongly 
grounded in a 
locality model, 
responsive to 
local needs but 
sharing some 
operating 
principles 
across the BHR 
patch

P
age 274



BHR Locality Model Vision

The public

Lo
ca

lit
y 

de
liv

er
y 

m
od

el

Care navigation

Clinical Pharmacist

GPwSI

Home Visiting Team

Health Visitors

Optometry

CAMHS

Public Health messages and 
training

Need to align with 
demographic changes

Voluntary SectorSocial care

Community 
Nursing

Pharmacy

Physician Associates
Triage access to primary care; 

upskill reception staff

N
ew

 a
gi

le
 w

or
kf

or
ce

 m
od

el
GP Hubs

Care  coordination

Community 
services

Mental Health

Specialist Nursing

Managing demand;
New referral pathways to acute; experienced GP A&E triage 

rotation; Consultant advice; Teleheath

H
o

s
p

it
a

ls

Queens

King George Hospital

Goodmayes hospital

Planned care will be supported f or early  

discharge enabling shorter length of  
stay  in hospitals

Urgent and emergency care attendances will be re-directed 
back into the locality model where appropriate

Hospital clinicians spend more time 

in the locality  and outside of  the 
hospital 

Services provided by Community Hubs:
• GP / community nursing walk-in clinics

• Health and wellbeing programmes

• Employment support 
• Housing support 

• Healthy living prevention activities 
• Education (adults and schools)

• Welfare and housing support

• Work and skills support

Enabled by:
• Strong and more joined up IT platforms

• A single communication strategy and message, so 
ev eryone in the ACO knows who the patient should 
be ref erred to and who they have already seen

• Educating the population to empower them to be 

responsible for their own care 
• Prev entative care programmes – home adaptation 

and healthy lifestyle
• Educating the population so they are aware of how 

the health system works, and who they should go 

to, rather than turning up at A&E

MASH
Multi Agency 

Safeguarding Hub

Contributors to the design of 
the locality model:

GPs
Local authority

members
Clinicians (NELFT 

and BHRUT)
Voluntary sector

We hav e spoken with almost 8,000 people who work in health and care, or liv e, in Barking and Dagenham, Havering and Redbridge; the outputs of these conversations and surveys have fed into 

the dev elopment of the locality model. 

Locality model
A geographically  

aligned community  of 

care with a minimum 
population of  50,000 

supported by  a 

network of  8-15 GP 

practices
Population 

segmentation of:

▪ Children
▪ Chronic elderly

Childrens’ 
Centres

The public

.

.

.

.

Locality model

✓ Clinical and professional local 
leadership in the locality model

✓ Wide engagement: a developing 
network of contributors to 
development of the health and 
care model

P
age 275

http://www.iconarchive.com/show/vista-people-icons-by-icons-land/Medical-Nurse-Male-Dark-icon.html
http://www.iconarchive.com/show/medical-icons-by-icons-land/People-Doctor-Female-icon.html
http://www.iconarchive.com/show/vista-people-icons-by-icons-land/Office-Customer-Female-Light-icon.html
http://www.iconarchive.com/show/free-large-boss-icons-by-aha-soft/Old-Boss-icon.html


Short Term Structure

Integrated Care

Programme Board

NHS System  

Oversight Group  
(NHSE/I)

NHS Recovery Board  

(NRB)

Joint NHS Programme  

Management Office  
(PMO)

Transformation

Boards

BHR Health &

Care Cabinet

Joint   

Commissioning  
Board

Approvals

Monitoring  

& Guiding

Delivery

ProviderAlliance

East London Health  

& Care Partnership  

(ELHCP)

Local Partner Governance Systems As Needed  

(See Section 2 of this document)

See Later  
Slides

Integrated Care System Governance, including NHS Financial Recovery 

P
age 276



5

▪ New Contract Formfor
18/19

▪ Shift QIPP focus to  
Transformation

▪ Complete SLR process with  
NELFT

▪ Planning for primary care  
at scale

▪ Joint Regulator Meetings  
and assurance regime

▪ Focus on System Control  
Total

▪ Develop Integrated Care
System Pilot Model

▪ Agree Governance
Arrangements

▪ Prepare for Shadow Year

2018/19
Transition Year

▪ Continue shared NHS Financial  
Recovery approach

▪ Shadow Integrated Care System,  
fully engaged with Local  
Authorities

▪ Joint shadow Control Total

▪ Continued Joint assurance
regime and joint Regulator
Meetings

▪ Focus on Transformation across  
entire Health & Social Care  
System with partners

▪ Refine Integrated CareSystem
model

2019/20
Shadow Year

▪ Integrated CareSystem

▪ Single Control Total within NHS
system

▪ Continued Joint Regulator  
Meetings

▪ Achieve NHS System Financial  
Recovery and run rate balance

▪ Implement IntegratedCare
System across BHR

2020/21
Implementation

▪ New Contract Form for 18/19

▪ Shift QIPP focus to  
Transformation

▪ Complete SLR process with
NELFT

▪ Planning for primary care at
scale

▪ Joint Regulator Meetings and  
assurance regime

▪ Develop 3 year system recovery
plan

▪ Focus on System Control Total

▪ Develop Integrated Care System  
Pilot Model

▪ Agree Governance
Arrangements

▪ Prepare for Shadow Year

2018/19
Transition Year

The broad pacing of the Programme, 2018/19 – 2020/21

Our partnership maturity and developing accountability

P
age 277

adawson_4
Text Box
APPENDIX 2



The Transformation Programme

New delivery  
model achieving  
improved health  
and wellbeing  
outcomes for  
local people

Vision

.

.

.

.

BHR
Boar
syste

Joint Commissioning
d; Developing cross  
m strategic

commissioning to deliver  
integrated care system vision

Primary  
care

Develop primary  
care at scale  

including workforce  
and supporting  

delivery of more  
integrated care  
through GP Fed  

development

Planned  
care

Care in right place,  
first time, reducing  

inappropriate  
activity, and  

improving effective  
decision making

Unplanned  
care

Reducing  
inappropriate  

demand, admissions  
and ensuring  

appropriate length of  
stay (reducing  

delayed discharges)

Older people, frailty & end of life

Children & Young People

Long term conditions

Mental health

Medicines optimisation

Maternity

Cancer

Frailty

To be scoped

Diabetes & AF

B
ar

ki
n

g 
R

iv
e

rs
id

e;
 p

la
ce

 b
as

e
d 

ca
re

m
o

d
e

l

Key enablers
including:
▪ Develop Joint  

Commissioning  
opportunities

▪ Population Health
management

▪ New digital platform
▪ Robust workforce  

plan
▪ Robust comms and

engagement
▪ Fit for purpose  

estates

High impact transformation areas targeted to address key
challenges using principles of integrated care vision

BHR Provider Alliance

Development of Integrated Care System delivery model

Care and  
quality  
challenges

£

Funding and  
efficiency  
challenges

System  
challenges

Health and  
wellbeing  
challenges

Prevention

Moving care  
upstream to  

prevent  
deterioration,  
includes wider  
determinants of  

health. Focussedon  
prevention of  
disease and ill  

health

P
age 278



Plans taking shape for the major transformation workstreams

Of principal interest to the ICPB:
✓ Older People, Frailty and End of Life

• Frailty Project
✓ Children & Young People

• Project to be confirmed
✓ Mental Health
✓ Long-Term Conditions

• Atrial fibrillation
• Diabetes

• Plus place-based care project at 
Barking Riverside

Other major NHS recovery 
workstreams:
✓ Medicines Optimisation
✓ Maternity 
✓ Cancer

Enabling 
workstreams:
✓ Primary Care
✓ Unplanned Care
✓ Planned Care 
✓ Prevention

P
age 279



Plans taking shape for the major transformation workstreams

✓ Plans in development
✓ Transformation Boards 

meeting, shaping membership 
and starting their work

✓ Joint Commissioning Board, 
Provider Alliance and the 
Health & Care Cabinet all 
considering wider system 
conditions that enable these 
transformations to have pace 
and impact

P
age 280



NHS Financial Recovery Plan 2018-2021

Update for Health & Wellbeing Boards (HWBB)

P
age 281

adawson_5
Text Box
APPENDIX 3



Statement of Intent

The FRP sets out a challenging transformational change programme that 

focuses on improving quality and outcomes for the patients we serve whilst 

concurrently returning the system to financial balance thus allowing the NHS 

Partners within BHR to continue to meet the current and future needs of our 

population and also to facilitate the move toward a true Integrated Care System 

across Health & Care.

We do not under-estimate the scale of the cultural, clinical and managerial 

challenge that the plans laid out in this document will bring to the NHS Partners 

in BHR and the need throughout this process to bring our public, partners (in 

the widest possible sense) and our respective teams with us on the 

transformational journey we are committing to.

We will be relentless in ensuring that as we move toward Financial Recovery for 

the BHR System that quality, safety, access and delivery of our constitutional 

standards are at the heart and centre of our system recovery and at no point 

will they be compromised.

P
age 282



NHS Financial Recovery Plan Key Timeline

16th October 18 – NHS Regulators asked partners to pull together existing plans into a 

coordinated single plan for the BHR System and since then we have:

Shared Existing Analysis & Plans between Partners

Identified New Shared Opportunities

Accelerated Clinical Engagement Activities

Pulled Together a Coordinated Plan

Sought Approvals by NHS Boards

17th December 18 – Presentation to Regulators

December – Revision of FRP Based on Regulator Feedback

January – Boards Review Final Version via Public Meetings

P
age 283



FRP Development Process

Initial BHR NHS

Financial Recovery Plan 

(December 2018)

JSNA, Public 

Health Data & 

HWB Strategies

NHS Data Sets, 

RightCare and 

GIRFT Programme

Existing Plans, 

Clinical & Other 

Feedback

Winder Public & 

Clinical 

Engagement

Regulator & 

Partner Feedback 

& Review

Testing of 

Planning 

Assumptions

Further Iterations of the 

BHR NHS FRP

(On-Going to March 2021)

P
age 284



BHR NHS Financial Position Overview

BHR CCGs (£m) BHRUT (£m) NELFT (£m) SYSTEM DEFICIT (£m)

2014/15 13.07 -37.95 -1.80 -26.68

2017/18 -21.10 -60.90 11.00 -71.00

2018/19 0.00 -60.00 3.50 -56.50

-80.00

-70.00

-60.00

-50.00

-40.00

-30.00

-20.00

-10.00

0.00

10.00

20.00

A
xi

s 
Ti

tl
e

BHR System Deficit

The projected deficit for 18/19 takes into account the projected work being undertaken by BHRUT and 

also assumes that the BHR CCGs can fully mitigate the in-year pressures arising from elsewhere in the 
North East London System.

P
age 285



Understanding the Current Deficit

Area Narrative

Demographics

Partial contributor but does not explain 

variance to North Central & East London 

(NCEL) peers

Historic Under-

Funding

Has been a historic contributor (and remains 

so to some degree for Redbridge)

Primary Care 

Capacity

Capacity and infrastructure issues have 

contributed to the deficit position

Prevalence Gaps
Need to close prevalence gaps is a 

contributor

Community 

Activity

Spend and activity appear consistent with 

NCEL Peers and this needs further 

investigation.

Secondary Care 

Spend

Excess spend is a resulting factor from the 

contributory factors above

P
age 286



Closing the Financial Deficit

Internal 

Efficiencies & Cost 

Reduction

Focusing on all areas of spend from running costs to 

estates to reduce expenditure without impacting 

patient care, quality, safety or access.

System Level 

Programmes

System Wide Transformational Programmes

(see next slide)

P
age 287



System Level Programmes

Older People 

Programme

Reduce Non-Elective Admissions across the BHR System and 

increase the number of patients who die in their preferred place of 

death.

This will be taken forward by the Older People Transformation Board

Outpatient

Activity 

Reduction 

Programme

This aims to reduce Outpatient Activity to bring Care Closer to 

Home and support the repatriation of work from Out of Area 

settings.

This will be taken forward by the Planned Care Programme Board

Long Term 

Conditions 

Programme

Close the prevalence gaps further and proactively manage 

patients to convert current non-elective activity into elective 

activity.

This will be taken forward by the LTC Transformation Board

These programmes will deliver benefits to patients in terms of 

improved outcomes and more care closer to home as well as financial 

and operational benefits to the NHS and Local Authorities.

P
age 288



Next Steps

1. Revise plan in light of Regulator Feedback

2. Approve via the Partner Boards

3. Work up of plans with more detail to test assumptions

4. Communications and engagement programme

5. Mobilise for delivery

6. Align programme to Local Authority Plans and quantify 

benefits for inclusions in those plans

P
age 289



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

15 January 2019

Title: Forward Plan 

Report of the Chief Executive

Open Report For Information

Wards Affected: None Key Decision: No

Report Authors:
Alan Dawson 
Democratic Services, Law and Governance 

Contact Details:
Telephone: 020 8227 2348
E-mail: alan.dawson@lbbd.gov.uk 

Sponsor:
Cllr Worby, Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Summary:

Attached at Appendix A is the draft March edition of the Forward Plan for the Health 
and Wellbeing Board, showing the known business items to be presented to the Board 
in the coming months.  The Forward Plan is an important document in terms of both 
planning the business of the Board and also ensuring that information on future key 
decisions is published at least 28 days before the meeting.  The Forward Plan also 
helps the local community and partners to know what decisions will be taken at future 
Board meetings. 

Recommendation(s)

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the draft March 2019 edition of the 
Board’s Forward Plan, as set out at Appendix A to the report.

Public Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report:  None

List of Appendices
 Appendix A – Draft March 2019 Forward Plan 

Page 291

AGENDA ITEM 10



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

HEALTH and WELLBEING BOARD
FORWARD PLAN 

Draft March 2019 edition

Publication Date: 11 February 2019

P
age 293



THE FORWARD PLAN

Explanatory note: 

Key decisions in respect of health-related matters are made by the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Key decisions in respect of other Council 
activities are made by the Council’s Cabinet (the main executive decision-making body) or the Assembly (full Council) and can be viewed on 
the Council’s website at http://moderngov.barking-dagenham.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=180&RD=0.   In accordance with the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 the full membership of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board is listed in Appendix 1.

Key Decisions

By law, councils have to publish a document detailing “Key Decisions” that are to be taken by the Cabinet or other committees / persons / 
bodies that have executive functions.  The document, known as the Forward Plan, is required to be published 28 days before the date that the 
decisions are to be made.  Key decisions are defined as:

(i) Those that form the Council’s budgetary and policy framework (this is explained in more detail in the Council’s Constitution)
(ii) Those that involve ‘significant’ spending or savings
(iii) Those that have a significant effect on the community

In relation to (ii) above, Barking and Dagenham’s definition of ‘significant’ is spending or savings of £200,000 or more that is not already 
provided for in the Council’s Budget (the setting of the Budget is itself a Key Decision).

In relation to (iii) above, Barking and Dagenham has also extended this definition so that it relates to any decision that is likely to have a 
significant impact on one or more ward (the legislation refers to this aspect only being relevant where the impact is likely to be on two or more 
wards).  

As part of the Council’s commitment to open government it has extended the scope of this document so that it includes all known issues, not 
just “Key Decisions”, that are due to be considered by the decision-making body as far ahead as possible.  

Information included in the Forward Plan

In relation to each decision, the Forward Plan includes as much information as is available when it is published, including:
 
 the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made;
 the decision-making body (Barking and Dagenham does not delegate the taking of key decisions to individual Members or officers)

P
age 294

http://moderngov.barking-dagenham.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=180&RD=0


 the date when the decision is due to be made;

Publicity in connection with Key decisions

Subject to any prohibition or restriction on their disclosure, the documents referred to in relation to each Key Decision are available to the 
public.  Each entry in the Plan gives details of the main officer to contact if you would like some further information on the item.  If you would 
like to view any of the documents listed you should contact Alan Dawson, Democratic Services Manager, Ground Floor, Town Hall, 1 Town 
Square, Barking IG11 7LU (telephone: 020 8227 2348, email: alan.dawson@lbbd.gov.uk )

The agendas and reports for the decision-making bodies and other Council meetings open to the public will normally be published at least five 
clear working days before the meeting.  For details about Council meetings and to view the agenda papers go to 
https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/Internet/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=-14062 and select the committee and meeting that you are interested in.

The Health and Wellbeing Board’s Forward Plan will be published on or before the following dates during 2018/19: 

Edition Publication date
March 2019 edition 11 February 2019
June 2019 edition 13 May 2019

P
age 295

mailto:alan.dawson@lbbd.gov.uk
https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/Internet/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=-14062


Confidential or Exempt Information

Whilst the majority of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s business will be open to the public and media organisations to attend, there will 
inevitably be some business to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information.

This is formal notice under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 
that part of the meetings listed in this Forward Plan may be held in private because the agenda and reports for the meeting will contain exempt 
information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.  Representations may be made to the Council about why a particular decision should 
be open to the public.  Any such representations should be made to Alan Dawson, Democratic Services Manager, Ground Floor, Town Hall, 1 
Town Square, Barking IG11 7LU (telephone: 020 8227 2348, email: alan.dawson@lbbd.gov.uk).

Key to the table 

Column 1 shows the projected date when the decision will be taken and who will be taking it.  However, an item shown on the Forward Plan 
may, for a variety of reasons, be deferred or delayed.  It is suggested, therefore, that anyone with an interest in a particular item, especially if 
he/she wishes to attend the meeting at which the item is scheduled to be considered, should check within 7 days of the meeting that the item 
is included on the agenda for that meeting, either by going to https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/Internet/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=669&Year=0 or by 
contacting Alan Dawson on the details above.

Column 2 sets out the title of the report or subject matter and the nature of the decision being sought.  For ‘key decision’ items the title is 
shown in bold type - for all other items the title is shown in normal type.  Column 2 also lists the ward(s) in the Borough that the issue relates 
to.

Column 3 shows whether the issue is expected to be considered in the open part of the meeting or whether it may, in whole or in part, be 
considered in private and, if so, the reason(s) why.

Column 4 gives the details of the lead officer and / or Board Member who is the sponsor for that item.

P
age 296

mailto:alan.dawson@lbbd.gov.uk
https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/Internet/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=669&Year=0


Decision taker/ 
Projected Date

Subject Matter

Nature of Decision

Open / Private
(and reason if 
all / part is 
private)

Sponsor and 
Lead officer / report author

Health and 
Wellbeing 
Board:
12.3.19

Older People's Housing Pathway   

The Board will be provided with an update on the Older People’s Housing Pathway 
and will be asked to consider and comment on its key findings and 
recommendations.

 Wards Directly Affected: All Wards

Open Louise Hider-Davies, Head of 
Commissioning, Adults Care 
and Support
(Tel: 020 8227 2861)
(louise.hider-
davies@lbbd.gov.uk)

Health and 
Wellbeing 
Board:
12.3.19

Homelessness Strategy   

The Board will receive an update on the development of the Council’s 
Homelessness Strategy.

 Wards Directly Affected: All Wards

Open Graeme Cooke, Director, 
Inclusive Growth
(Tel: 020 8227 3735)
(graeme.cooke@lbbd.gov.uk)

Health and 
Wellbeing 
Board:
12.3.19

Update on Tobacco Harm Reduction Action Plan   

The Board will be presented with an update report on the progress of the actions of 
the Tobacco Harm Reduction Action Plan.

 Wards Directly Affected: All Wards

Open Matthew Cole, Director of 
Public Health
(Tel: 020 8227 3657)
(matthew.cole@lbbd.gov.uk)

P
age 297



Health and 
Wellbeing 
Board:
12.3.19

LGBT+ Community Needs Assessment   

The main aim of the community needs assessment is to increase insights into the 
needs and assets of the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Trans (LGBT+) community in 
Barking and Dagenham. The assessment covers aspects such as health and 
wellbeing, community safety and cohesion, communication and community 
engagement and access to and experience of services. 

The Board will be asked to endorse the needs assessment and engage partners in 
taking forward the recommendations.

 Wards Directly Affected: All Wards

Open Matthew Cole, Director of 
Public Health
(Tel: 020 8227 3657)
(matthew.cole@lbbd.gov.uk)

P
age 298



APPENDIX 1

Membership of Health and Wellbeing Board:

Cllr Maureen Worby (Chair), LBBD Cabinet Member for Social Care and Health Integration
Dr Jagan John (Deputy Chair), Barking and Dagenham Clinical Commissioning Group
Elaine Allegretti, LBBD Director of People and Resilience 
Cllr Evelyn Carpenter, LBBD Cabinet Member for Educational Attainment and School Improvement 
Bob Champion, North East London NHS Foundation Trust
Matthew Cole, LBBD Director of Public Health 
D.I. John Cooze, Metropolitan Police
Dr Nadeem Moghal, Barking Havering and Redbridge University Hospitals NHS Trust
Sharon Morrow, Barking & Dagenham Clinical Commissioning Group
Cllr Margaret Mullane, LBBD Cabinet Member for Enforcement and Community Safety 
Cllr Lynda Rice, LBBD Cabinet Member for Equalities and Diversity 
Nathan Singleton, Healthwatch Barking and Dagenham (CEO Lifeline Projects)

P
age 299



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 
	3 Minutes - To confirm as correct the minutes of the meeting on 7 November 2018
	4 Barking Riverside: Developing the health and care model and specification for a Health and Wellbeing Hub
	5 Health-Based Places of Safety
	Health-based places of safety - Appx A - ELHCP report
	Health-based places of safety - Appx B
	Health-based places of safety - Appx C

	6 Borough Data Explorer: Opportunities for improved analytical capacity for health and wellbeing
	7 Update on 'Breezie' Pilot Project
	8 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 2023
	JHWS Report - App. 1 (Strategy)

	9 Integrated Care Partnership Update
	ICPB update - Appx 1 Governance
	ICPB update - Appx 2 Programme
	ICPB update - Appx 3 NHS Financial Recovery Overview

	10 Forward Plan
	Forward Plan  - App. A




